What works to increase the use of evidence for policy decision-making: A systematic review

Promise Nduku

Pan-African Collective for Evidence (PACE)

Jennifer Stevenson

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie)

John Ategeka

PACE

Tanya Mdlalose

PACE

Tafadzwa Mutanha

PACE

Shannon Shisler

3ie

Suvarna Pande

3ie

Laurenz Mahlanza-Langer

PACE

Systematic Review Report

May 2025

This preprint is currently being reviewed for publication by the Campbell Collaboration.









About the Research Commissioning Centre

The Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) Research Commissioning Centre (RCC) has been established to commission and manage research to enhance development and foreign policy impact. Led by the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), the University of Birmingham, and an unmatched consortium of UK and global research partners, the RCC aims to commission different types of high-quality research in FCDO's key priority areas.

About systematic reviews

Systematic reviews appraise and synthesise the available high-quality evidence to answer specific research questions in a rigorous, objective and stepwise process. These reviews follow scientifically recognised review methods, and they are peer-reviewed and quality-assured according to internationally accepted standards.

About this systematic review

This report presents the findings of a systematic review that brought together the empirical literature on interventions targeting the use of evidence in policy decision-making. We aimed to identify mechanisms, policies and programmes with promising evidence of effectiveness, and areas where further primary research would help consolidate the evidence base.

Funding

Funding for this systematic review has been provided by the UK's Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO) through the Research Commissioning Centre. The content of this report does not necessarily reflect the views of FCDO or 3ie and its partners who manage the Research Commissioning Centre. The authors bear sole responsibility for the content of this report, and any errors and omissions are the authors' sole responsibility.

Please direct any comments or queries to the corresponding author, Promise Nduku, at the Pan-African Collective for Evidence (PACE): promisen@pace-evidence.org

Suggested citation

Nduku, P, Stevenson, J, Ategeka, J, Mdlalose, T, Mutanha, T, Shisler, S, Pande, S, and Mahlanza-Langer, L. 2025. *What works to increase the use of evidence for policy decision-making: A systematic review.*

Table of contents

1.	Bac	kground	13
	1.1	The problem, condition or issue	13
	1.2	The intervention	13
	1.3	How the intervention might work	15
	1.4	Why it is important to do this review	17
2	Obj	ectives	19
3	Met	hods	20
	3.1	Criteria for considering studies for this review	20
	3.1.	1 Types of studies	21
	1.1.	1 Types of participants	23
	1.1.	2 Types of intervention	24
	3.1.	2 Types of outcome measures	25
	3.2	Search methods for identification of studies	27
	3.3	Data collection and analysis	28
	3.3.	1 Selection of studies	28
	3.3.	2 Data extraction and management	28
	3.3.	3 Critical appraisal	29
	3.3.	4 Criteria for the determination of independent findings	30
	3.3.	5 Measures of treatment effect	31
	3.3.	6 Unit of analysis issues	34
	3.3.	7 Data synthesis	34
	3.3.	8 Assessment of heterogeneity	35
	3.3.	9 Sensitivity analysis	35
	3.3.	10 Treatment of qualitative research	35
4	Res	sults	36

	4.1 D	escription of studies	36
	4.1.1	Results of the search	36
	4.2 In	cluded studies	37
	4.2.1	Geography	38
	4.2.2	Interventions	41
	4.2.3	Outcomes	43
	4.2.4	Study design	44
	4.2.5	Population	45
	4.3 R	isk of bias in included studies	47
	4.4 Q	uality Appraisal of Qualitative studies	49
	4.5 S	ynthesis of results	50
	4.5.1	Mechanisms, activities and outcomes	51
	4.5.2	Quantitative synthesis	52
	4.6 Q	ualitative synthesis	82
5	Discu	ssion	. 104
	5.1 S	ummary of findings	. 104
	5.1.1	Overview of the evidence base	. 104
	5.1.2	Research question 1: Impact of EIDM interventions	. 104
	5.1.3 of EID	Research question 2: Factors influencing the design, implementation and im M interventions	ipact . 106
	5.1.4	Overall completeness and applicability of evidence	. 109
	5.1.5	Quality of the evidence	. 110
	5.1.6	Agreement and disagreements with other studies or reviews	. 110
	5.1.7	Potential biases in the review process	. 111
6	Autho	or's Conclusions	. 112
	6.1 N	ature of the evidence base	. 112
	6.2 Im	npact of EIDM interventions	. 113

	6.3	3	Factors influencing the design, implementation and impact of EIDM intervent 115	ions
	6.4	1	Implications for policy and practice	116
	6.5	5	Implications for research	117
Ac	:kr	າວw	ledgements	118
Co	ont	tribu	utions of authors	118
De	cl	arat	ions of interest	118
Di	ffe	eren	ces between protocol and review	118
Sc	our	rces	of support	118
Pl	an	s fo	r updating the review	118
7	I	Refe	erences	119
8	4	Арр	endices	180
	8.1	1	Appendix A: Search Strategy	180
	8	8.1.′	1 Appendix A.1 Overall Search Terms	180
	8.2	2	Appendix B: Search Sources	184
	8	8.2.′	1 Appendix B.1 Electronic academic databases	184
	8	8.2.2	2 Appendix B.2. Grey literature sources	185
	8.3	3	Appendix C: Data extraction and critical appraisal	194
	8	8.3.′	1 Appendix C.1 Descriptive data extraction tool (all included studies)	194
	ð	8.3.2	2 Appendix C.2 Descriptive extraction tool for mapping project cycle	198
	8	8.3.3	3 Appendix C.3 Critical appraisal tool	198
	8	8.3.4	4 Appendix C.4 Critical appraisal tool for qualitative studies	203
	8.4	1	Appendix D: Characteristics of studies	210
	ą	8.4.′	1 Appendix D.1 Characteristics of included impact evaluations	210
	8	8.4.2	2 Appendix D.2 Included studies (research question 2)	212
	8.5	5	Appendix E: Outcome measures	236
	8.6	6	Appendix F: Forest plots from meta-analysis	240
	8	8.6. ⁻	1 Access to evidence use interventions	240

8.6.2	Skills to use evidence interventions	241
8.7 A	ppendix G: Detailed risk of bias assessments	242
8.8 A	ppendix H: R output	261
8.8.1	Appendix H.1: R-output from Interaction/Skills/Structure/Access on Motivatio 261	n
8.8.2	Appendix H.2: R outputs meta-analysis	261

Plain language summary

No one-size-fits-all solutions: A systematic review of what works, for whom, and why in promoting evidence use in policymaking

The review in brief

Most EIDM interventions positively influence decision-makers' likelihood of using evidence. Demand-led intervention design and implementation enhance EIDM effectiveness by prioritizing evidence users.

What is this review about?

Policies based on robust evidence achieve intended outcomes. Understanding EIDM mechanisms and impacts sustains evidence-informed policymaking. EIDM interventions work through six mechanisms: raising awareness, aligning policy questions, improving evidence communication, fostering researcher-decision-maker interactions, enhancing policymakers' skills, and influencing decision-making structures. This review assesses EIDM interventions' impact on evidence use, behavioural changes, and socio-economic outcomes.

What is the aim of this review?

This systematic review synthesizes rigorous evidence on interventions supporting EIDM among policymakers. It examines intervention effectiveness as well as design, context and implementation factors, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), analysing 164 quantitative and qualitative empirical studies.

What are the main findings of this review?

What studies are included?

This review applies an effectiveness-plus approach, analysing what works, how, why, for whom, and in what context. It includes 18 counterfactual impact evaluations, 97 qualitative and mixed-method evaluations, 43 practitioner reflections, and 12 policy case studies. Impact evaluations cover multiple countries, with LMIC-focused empirical studies included for contextual analysis.

What are the impacts of EIDM interventions?

Capacity-building programs show promise for improving policymakers' EIDM skills. Studies on evidence accessibility suggest small positive effects but do not necessarily enhance policymakers' ability to interpret and apply the evidence. Most counterfactual studies fail to assess both intermediate outcomes and evidence use impacts, limiting quantitative analysis of whether targeting multiple behavioural constraints is more effective than addressing a single one. Due to heterogeneity in measurements, most findings rely on one or two studies.

What factors influence the design, implementation and impact of EIDM interventions?

Limited skills and training hinder evidence users' engagement with research. Similarly, evidence producers often lack the capacity to communicate findings effectively. External

challenges such as political instability, armed conflict, and health crises disrupt EIDM efforts, whereas political commitment fosters success.

Capacity-building initiatives work best when well-structured, blended, contextually adapted, led by skilled trainers, and held in accessible locations. Producing concise, visually engaging, and multilingual evidence enhances policymakers' engagement. Targeted messages have a greater impact in departments with established research cultures.

Organizational and individual factors significantly impact success. Barriers include limited resources, poor communication, resistance to change, and weak engagement networks. Conversely, strong leadership support, high-quality data, and monitoring mechanisms improve outcomes.

What do the findings of this review mean?

Researchers and policymakers play crucial role in bridging the evidence-action gap. Programs integrating multiple mechanisms, such as training and improved research access, achieve better results. Policymakers engage more with clear statistical data, cost-effectiveness insights, and comparative evidence. Strengthening capacity-building efforts is essential, incorporating diverse learning methods, high-quality materials, and adaptability to local contexts. Training specialists to translate research into actionable insights enhances evidence-policy links. Equipping policymakers with the right tools fosters a culture where evidence consistently informs decisions .

Effective communication and follow-ups are key to EIDM success. Meetings should be scheduled at convenient times for decision-makers. Research briefs alone rarely change beliefs; active stakeholder collaboration drives policy impact. Research outputs must align with policymakers' priorities and be presented in engaging, accessible formats.

For researchers, critical evidence gaps remain. Future studies should explore broader policy environments beyond health and assess how evidence quality affects decision-making. Rigorous methodologies combining impact evaluations with qualitative research are needed to understand intervention effectiveness. Standardizing measures of evidence use ensures consistency in evaluations. Increased impact evaluation research, especially in LMICs, is necessary to assess both short-term behavioural shifts and long-term structural changes in evidence use.

How up-to-date is this review?

This review is based on an updated search of an existing evidence gap map, conducted in January 2023. This Campbell Systematic Review was published in May2025.

Executive summary

Background

The utilisation of evidence-informed decision-making (EIDM) is essential for effective policy making. However, the impact of, and the factors influencing, the success and sustainability of EIDM interventions, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), remain underexplored. A systematic review of the existing evaluation literature on EIDM initiatives in policymaking was therefore undertaken to identify mechanisms, policies and programmes with promising evidence of effectiveness, and areas where further primary research would help consolidate the evidence base.

Objectives

We collected, appraised, and synthesised all the available empirical evidence on what works to support EIDM by policymakers. We aimed to answer the following research questions:

- 1. What are the impacts of interventions to support evidence-informed decision-making by policymakers?
- 2. What are the factors which have influenced:
 - a. the impact of these interventions in LMICs?
 - b. their design and implementation in LMICs?

In answering these questions, our goal was to estimate the overall impact and relative effectiveness of different EIDM interventions, identify factors or configurations of factors that support or hinder the effectiveness of these interventions in LMICs and to identify gaps and areas for future primary research regarding the design, implementation, and evaluation of these interventions.

Methods

We conducted a mixed-methods systematic review, employing an 'effectiveness plus' approach with two parallel review modules to answer the two review research questions. An effectiveness plus approach combines answering questions of what works with an equal emphasis on why and how it works, for whom, in what context, etc. To identify studies for the review, we updated the search of an existing evidence gap map that fully overlapped with the review's scope (Nduku et al. 2024a), involving a scientific and exhaustive search. To address research question 1, we only included counterfactual impact evaluations. We largely relied on narrative synthesis to bring study findings together due to the limited number of studies and substantial heterogeneity. Where meta-analysis was possible, we used inverse-variance weighted random effects models. We appraised each impact evaluation included in the systematic review using an adapted version of the Cochrane risk of bias tool for randomised and non-randomised studies. To address research question 2, we undertook a thematic synthesis using inductive coding techniques to identify common descriptive themes that were configured into analytical themes. The thematic synthesis aimed to identify themes related to the interplay of intervention design, intervention implementation, target population and contextual variables with intervention outcomes and effects. Intervention design factors related to the design and planning of the evaluated intervention, including intervention components and the sequence that they were implemented. Intervention implementation factors related to the implementation of the intervention in practice, normally emerging while the intervention was implemented and not known in advance. Contextual factors included external influences beyond the intervention's control including political context, societal factors such as norms, economic factors such as a recession, and cultural factors such as beliefs.

Study selection criteria

The study selection criteria for our review were guided by a conceptual framework developed by Langer and colleagues (Langer et al. 2016; Nduku et al. 2024a), which draws on Michie and colleagues (2011) behaviour change framework. We included studies of interventions targeting the use of evidence in policy decision-making that worked through one or more of six possible mechanisms of change: (1) building Awareness for EIDM, (2) building Agreement on policy-relevant questions and the evidence needed to answer them, (3) providing communication of, and Access to, evidence, (4) supporting Interaction between decisionmakers and researchers, (5) supporting decision-makers to develop Skills in accessing and using evidence, and (6) influencing decision-making Structures and Processes. 'Intervention' could refer to a programme, strategy action or practice that actively intervened in the decisionmaking status quo. We included studies that explored the impact or influence of EIDM interventions on the use of evidence in policy design or implementation, on the intermediary components of behaviour change, that is capability, opportunity, and motivation (COM) to use evidence, or socio-economic impacts resulting from EIDM practice. These could be measured at the individual, team, organisational (e.g. government ministry) or institutional level (e.g. government-wide). We were interested specifically in EIDM involving policymakers at any level of government, including elected officials or civil servants. It also covered individuals working in multilateral organisations. We did not place restrictions around 'policy decision-making behaviours and processes', and these could include for example starting or amending a policy, stopping a programme or changing the process for making decisions. We were interested in studies from any policy area, including education, health, economic policy and environmental policy.

To address review question 1, we included Randomised Controlled Trials (RCTs) and Quasi-Experimental Designs (QEDs). These could take place in any country. To address review question 2, we included studies from LMICs that used any empirical evaluation design to assess an EIDM intervention, covering both quantitative and more qualitative designs. This included any qualitative or mixed-methods studies attached to the programmes evaluated in RCTs and QEDs identified to address review question 1. This ensured that our systematic review included a broad set of evidence on EIDM in LMICs. We included both academic and grey literature. We only included studies published in English.

Overview of the evidence base

We included a total of 164 empirical studies of EIDM interventions in the review, 18 of which were counterfactual impact evaluations.

Of the counterfactual impact evaluations we used to address research question 1, half had been published in the last five years. Most of these tested an intervention that worked through an access to evidence mechanism, but we did find a smaller number testing policymaker skills focused interventions and multi-mechanism of change approaches. Most studies evaluated impact on one part of the EIDM intervention logic model, rather than testing both intermediate and evidence use outcomes, with only seven of the eighteen evaluating the impact on an indicator of evidence use by policymakers. Importantly, most of the impact evaluations took place entirely in a high-income country. Six of the studies were rated as being at a low risk of bias with the rest being rated as having some concerns or being at a high risk.

To address research question 2, we included 152 studies: 97 qualitative and mixed methods evaluations, 43 reports providing practitioner reflections and 12 policy case studies. A significant proportion of this literature comes from public health - almost 70 per cent of the studies included to address research question 2 - but there are emerging literatures working across multiple areas of government and from environmental policy. Several policy areas including economic growth, transport and education are underrepresented. Around 40 per cent of this evidence base is concentrated in five African countries, namely South Africa, Nigeria, Uganda, Kenya and Burkina Faso. As was the case for the impact evaluation literature, the least assessed mechanism was awareness of EIDM with the most frequently assessed mechanisms of change being policymaker interaction with researchers, access to evidence and building skills of policymakers.

Summary of findings

Research question 1: Impact of EIDM interventions

Overall, it was challenging to synthesise and draw generalisable conclusions on EIDM intervention effectiveness given the small number of counterfactual studies and differences in focus, intervention and control conditions, context and outcomes. Given this heterogeneity, most of our individual findings are drawn from just one or two of the 18 studies. That said, most of the EIDM interventions evaluated in the included studies had a positive effect on intermediate conditions and activities that enhance the likelihood of decision-makers using evidence compared to business as usual with a few notable exceptions. The largest consistent effect sizes on motivation and capability to use evidence we found in the review were in an evaluation of a programme providing quantitative research methods training to junior ministers in Pakistan, although this may be at least partially due to the use of outcome measures that were closely linked to the intervention.

There is very tentative causal evidence of promise for capacity building programmes targeting the EIDM skills of policymakers. Three studies found positive effects across indicators of evidence use in policymaking, capability and opportunity to use evidence. These studies targeted local and state public health policy teams in the USA and junior ministers in Pakistan. However, these three studies were rated as being at a high risk of bias or having some concerns.

The few studies that tested making evidence more accessible for policymaking generally found small, positive effects on measures of policymakers' capability to use evidence, although interventions in this category did not directly target building policymakers' knowledge and skills to use this evidence. However, a study from Canada found that the use of tailored, targeted evidence messages had a much greater effect on reported evidence use in public health departments that already had a strong culture of valuing research evidence relative to departments that did not have this culture. Several studies that varied the source of research

evidence and communication of results found that these factors can affect accessibility, beliefs and evidence use outcomes:

- Providing more statistical data on variation, presenting impact evaluation results sideby side with other results for comparison and providing cost effectiveness data may increase policymakers' updating of beliefs when presented with new evidence.
- Contextually framed narratives around systematic review evidence improved accessibility and clarity of the information for participants at a guidelines workshop in Kenya, although they did not improve correct understanding about intervention effectiveness.
- Global health actors in Francophone Africa were more likely to report using the findings
 of a policy brief when the author was reported as an African funder or international
 organisation compared to a European or North American organisation, but less likely
 if it was an African university compared to a European or North American University.
- Policy briefs on the topic of agriculture and nutrition that included an opinion from a sector expert or researcher improved the likelihood of participants informing someone about the messages of the brief, although receiving a brief largely did not translate into self-reported evidence use.

A rapid response model linking researchers with policymakers in the USA demonstrated particular promise for improving evidence use and researcher-policy engagement. Organisational and individual characteristics were found in other studies to have significant influences on the effectiveness of EIDM interventions. When tailored, targeted evidence messages were combined with a knowledge broker in public health departments in Canada, there was a positive effect on evidence use in those departments with a low organisational research culture but a negative effect in organisations that already placed a high value on research evidence. In another study, policy briefs on the topics of agriculture and nutrition created evidence-accurate beliefs among those with no prior views but had little effect when readers had strong prior views.

Most of the counterfactual studies evaluated impact on one part of the EIDM intervention logic model, rather than evaluating impact on both intermediate and evidence use outcomes. This prevented us from being able to quantitatively test a key hypothesis that interventions that work through targeting multiple behavioural constraints to EIDM - specifically capability, opportunity and motivation to use evidence - are more effective at shifting evidence use than those targeting a single pathway.

Research question 2: Factors influencing the design, implementation and impact of EIDM interventions

The qualitative synthesis identified key factors influencing the impact of EIDM interventions, organised into population characteristics, intervention design features, context and implementation factors. We identified a total of 49 descriptive themes configured into 11 analytical themes. An overview of the 11 analytical themes, organised by the four groups of factors above, is as follows:

Population characteristics

 Evidence users' lack of skills and experience as well as inadequate training may affect the ability and opportunity to engage and use evidence while evidence producer's limited skills and experience may impact ability to engage with evidence users and provide relevant evidence.

Contextual factors

2. Disease outbreaks, political instability, political cycles, and armed conflicts can disrupt EIDM interventions while political will and commitment tend to promote the successful implementation of EIDM interventions

Intervention design factors

- 3. Designing structured, blended, and contextualised EIDM capacity-building programs facilitated by skilled trainers in safe and convenient locations can enhance the impact of these initiatives to promote the capability to use evidence by policymakers
- 4. Producing **relevant**, **succinct evidence** products that are **visually appealing** and **translated into numerous languages** can enhance **more in-depth engagement with evidence**, and thereby can promote the use of evidence by policymakers
- 5. **Diversity of stakeholders**, consistent and **effective communication** can promote fruitful collaborative engagements whereas **high cost of engagement** along with a lack of policymaker **incentives** may hinder the effective implementation of policy dialogue elements and stakeholder collaboration
- 6. **Timing** of interventions and engagements as well as **time constraints** and **scheduling challenges** can affect stakeholders' participation in EIDM interventions

Implementation factors

- 7. A lack of resources, staff and capacities affects utilisation of evidence
- 8. Poor **digital connectivity**, **communication**, and a poor **flow and accessibility** of information create an inadequate provision of and access to evidence
- 9. Leadership support and organisational valuing of evidence can drive EIDM, but limited stakeholder engagement in monitoring and evaluation may hinder evidence utilisation, potentially leading to divergent opinions and alignment challenges during decision-making
- 10. **Conflicting interests** and **resistance to change**, **high turnover** of policymakers and **workplace confidentiality** may affect the implementation of EIDM activities
- 11. **Delays in data provision**, poor **data quality** causing mistrust in administrative data, and data collection hurdles may affect the implementation of EIDM interventions and effective use of evidence in policymaking

Conclusions and implications

We believe this is the first systematic review to comprehensively identify and synthesise both the impact evaluation and broader empirical literature on applied EIDM interventions working through a range of mechanisms of change. We have brought together a diverse body of literature on interventions targeting EIDM in policymaking. We present a summary of the implications for practice and policy below.

We see a huge opportunity for the sector to increase the use of the full range of impact evaluation methods available to evaluate the impact or contribution of interventions targeting EIDM. The emerging counterfactual literature we identified is fragmented and lacks an agreed set of outcome measures of evidence-use, relying heavily on self-reported measures. There were also very few studies included for research question 2 that attempted to comprehensively assess contribution or impact of EIDM using a theory-based, qualitative approach, with a few notable exceptions. Although some of the types of interventions of relevance to this review are difficult to test using counterfactual impact evaluation methods, such as co-production approaches and awareness raising campaigns, recent RCTs such as Hjort and colleagues (2020) in Brazil and Mehmood and colleagues (2024) in Pakistan demonstrate that robust, counterfactual evaluations of EIDM interventions can successfully be done with promising results.

Few of the included impact evaluations combined a robust counterfactual approach with exploration of implementation, context and stakeholders' experience of participation in the relevant programmes. Where impacts on evidence use in policymaking were measured in impact studies, it was typically self-reported by those working in policy and with typically no discussion of what quality use of research evidence would look like. We encourage future studies to explore creative approaches and use triangulation wherever possible to capture changes to the use of evidence from different perspectives given the inherent complexity and challenges with measuring this process.

There are structural patterns in the evidence base in terms of what EIDM interventions are designed, implemented, and evaluated that hinder systems level change for evidence-use. We are missing evaluation evidence on programmes that work through building awareness of EIDM, getting agreement and changing structures and processes. We summarise these key gaps in terms of mechanisms and outcome areas for the included evaluations.

- We identified few evaluations and no impact evaluations of programmes or policies that worked through the awareness mechanism -specifically, building awareness for, and positive attitudes towards, EIDM, such as social marketing around the norm to use evidence and awareness raising campaigns.
- We identified few evaluations and no impact evaluations of programmes or policies that worked through the agreement mechanism specifically building mutual understanding and agreement on policy-relevant questions and the kind of evidence needed to answer them, including co-production approaches and use of Delphi panels
- We also did not identify any impact evaluations that individually tested approaches involving policymaker researcher interactions or changes to structure and processes.
- None of the studies explored impacts on downstream, socio-economic outcomes that might result from EIDM interventions.

However, there were several recurring themes emerging from the quantitative and qualitative synthesis that are worth highlighting. The benefits of demand-led intervention design and implementation components was a cross-cutting finding, and EIDM practice and research stands to improve if it centres evidence users more prominently. The significance of targeting programmes and exploring differences in impact depending on an organisation's existing

value and culture of research was also a finding that was reflected in both quantitative and qualitative synthesis.

The small number of impact evaluations evaluating the impact of capacity building programmes on the skills of policymakers provided tentative evidence on their potential to improve indicators of evidence use in policymaking, capability and opportunity to use evidence, although we were unable to explore quantitatively which design features were associated with greater impact. The qualitative synthesis found that structured, blended, and contextualised EIDM programs facilitated by skilled trainers in safe and convenient locations was suggested to enhance the effectiveness of these initiatives.

The qualitative synthesis suggested that capacity building initiatives should not only focus on building evidence users' capability to engage with the evidence but also promote evidence producers' ability to engage with users including understanding the policymaking environment. An impact evaluation of the Research-to-policy Collaboration model in the USA was one of the only impact studies to involve capacity building of researchers to build their knowledge of policy processes, increase their preparedness to work with government and on best practices for knowledge translation and demonstrated particularly promising results (Crowley et al. 2021a). While more impact research is needed to test such models in other contexts, it suggests such capacity building should be an important component of EIDM interventions that link researchers with policymakers.

Finally, the qualitative synthesis brought up several contextual challenges when delivering EIDM interventions with government actors in LMICs that clearly remain important barriers to successful intervention implementation and that should be considered at all stages of programme design and delivery. These include a lack of staff resources and capacities in government departments and among evidence brokers to support the production of evidence products, high-turnover of policymakers, poor internet and digital connectivity and limited accessibility to databases and journals. In addition, disease outbreaks, changes in the political climate and armed conflicts were some of the most common factors reported as disrupting EIDM interventions.

Considering all the above, we present a summary of implications for practice and for research below. We indicate where implications draw upon findings of just one or two impact evaluations and therefore generalisability may be limited.

Keywords

Evidence-informed decision-making, policymakers, interventions, low- and middle-income countries, systematic review, mixed methods, quantitative synthesis, qualitative synthesis.

Summary of implications for practice and research

	Implications for practice		Implications for research
•	To affect behaviour change, multi-mechanism and multi-component interventions may be required that target different elements of the evidence-to-policy journey (e.g., capacity-building paired with access). When presenting impact evaluation results to policymakers, consider providing more statistical data on variation, presenting impact evaluation results side-by side with other results for comparison and providing cost effectiveness data to increase policymakers' responsiveness to the evidence (tested in two impact studies only).	•	More impact evaluation evidence is needed, particularly in LMICs, including impact evaluations that evaluate both the intermediate outcomes of interest and evidence use. This will allow us to explore to what extent having an effect on multiple intermediate, behavioural factors - capability, opportunity, motivation - makes it more likely that evidence use during policy making will follow. It will also allow exploration of variation in effectiveness, including across different contexts. Consider combining robust impact approaches with qualitative or mixed method exploration of implementation, context and stakeholders' experience of participation in the relevant
•	Consider capacity building programmes to build the skills of policymakers to improve capabilities and use of research evidence. Design flexible, consistently structured EIDM capacity-building activities that are delivered with sufficient training materials, and blended learning techniques and tailored to the local context with facilitation by experienced and politically sensitive facilitators, to promote the successful implementation of these initiatives. Ensure that the duration and regularity of capacity-building workshops are sufficient for participants to achieve capacity development goals. It is also important to target evidence brokers with training to enhance their understanding of the policymaking process and best practice in knowledge translation.	•	programmes. Future studies would benefit from this design to understand if as well as how and why interventions are effective or not. Further work needs to look at developing standardised, robust measures of evidence use in policy making, going beyond self- reported assessments. Future studies could also include multiple sources of information, including objective measures of evidence use, to triangulate against self-reported metrics.

	Implications for practice		Implications for research
•	Establish to what extent an organisation values research evidence and has an existing culture of evidence use when designing programmes. Consider attempting to measure it as a part of impact evaluations to explore variation in effects by these characteristics. Choosing venues for meetings and workshops should balance convenience and safety for public officials and other stakeholders to encourage participation. Meetings and workshops to promote evidence use by policymakers need to be carried out at the convenience of relevant stakeholders (especially policymakers) to maximise attendance and participation. Diverse stakeholders should be included in policy dialogues and advocacy efforts to improve the facilitation of mutual and collaborative engagement in implementing effective decision-making. Establish effective communication and consistent follow-ups to improve the success of policy dialogues and capacity-building efforts.	•	There are structural patterns in the evidence base that need to be addressed through future funding of EIDM evaluation. New studies can meaningfully fill absolute evidence gaps in the awareness and agreement mechanisms. In addition, more evidence is needed in areas outside of health policy making. Little is known about the effect of the quality of research evidence on evidence use from the evidence user's perspective. This is an important question for future studies to address. Consider including studies published in languages other than English in future systematic reviews to facilitate learning from other evidence systems.
•	Consider providing financial incentives to engage stakeholders in EIDM processes, particularly participation in meetings and workshops.		
	policymakers' information needs and are structured in an easy-to- read and visually appealing way to promote engagement with and use of evidence. Consider that provision of policy briefs alone may		

Implications for practice	Implications for research
not result in more evidence-accurate beliefs when readers have strong prior views (tested in one impact study only).	

1. Background

1.1 The problem, condition or issue

Effective and equitable public policies and programmes present a major pathway for socioeconomic development. The systematic use of data and evidence during decision-making is a cornerstone in the design and implementation of such policies and programmes. Evidence can be used at various stages of the policy cycle. An idealised version of the policy cycle stages formed the basis of our coding framework is presented in Figure 1.

Figure 1: Illustrative policy cycle



Note: Policy cycle figure adapted from Jann and Wegrich (2017)

Evidence-informed decision-making (EIDM) can improve policies and programmes in at least three ways. First, from an economic perspective, the use of evidence allows decision-makers to zoom in on the most impactful and cost-effective policies maximising the gains of the investment of scarce public resources. Second, from a political perspective, using evidence and data transparently during decision-making can enhance accountability and citizens' trust in policymaking and proposed policies and programmes. Third, from an equity perspective, data and evidence can serve as a proxy for groups and viewpoints traditionally excluded from decision-making contexts. In order to advance policies and programmes to tackle inequities, data and evidence is required to substantiate the extent of the effects of these policies and how the public policy issues can best be addressed

However, data and evidence are not the only input for policy decision-making and other factors such as politics, contexts, ideologies, budget considerations, etc play a critical role. This has been acknowledged since the inception of the evidence movement in the health care sector, with the first models for evidence-based medicine explicitly defining evidence as one input for decision-making in a practice setting (with the other two being clinical expertise and patient values) (Sackett and Rosenberg 1995)). Decision-makers are usually supported by a range of policy and research professionals, both within government as well as in trusted organisations, who give advice, and prepare and collate information and evidence on their behalf. These actors also play crucial roles in the EIDM process.

1.2 The intervention

The systematic review was concerned with interventions able to enhance and support the use of evidence in policy decision-making. In the absence of an agreed-on overarching theory of how EIDM occurs, we applied and refined a conceptual framework developed by Langer and colleagues for the Art and Science of Using Evidence project (Langer et al. 2016; Nduku et al. 2024a). This framework covers interventions targeting evidence use in decision-making, categorised by six identified mechanisms of change, which are the processes through which EIDM can be achieved. The primary outcome of interest was the behaviour of using evidence, which can be further broken down into the intermediary components of capability, opportunity, and motivation (COM) to use evidence. We recognise that EIDM interventions can target

behaviour (B) change at different levels, such as individuals or organisations. These four elements—evidence use interventions, mechanisms of change, behavioural outcomes, and levels of intervention—served as the conceptual tools for examining the evidence base. Detailed descriptions of the framework and interventions are provided in the protocol (Nduku et al. 2024b).

We categorised evidence use interventions in the included studies based on the underlying mechanisms driving them. We identified six such mechanisms from previous studies (e.g., Gough et al. 2011; Nutley et al. 2007), barriers and facilitators research on decision-makers' use of evidence (e.g., Oliver et al. 2014), and existing empirical frameworks (e.g., Moore et al. 2011). Interventions were assumed to operate through individual mechanisms or a combination of mechanisms. Table 1 below outlines these six evidence-use mechanisms.

Table 1. Conceptual framework to structure EIDM interventions	s according to mechanisms of
change (source: Langer et al. 2016)	

Mechanism	Description	Example of linked activity
Awareness (M1)	Building awareness for, and positive attitudes towards, evidence-informed decision-making (EIDM).	 Social marketing of the norm to use evidence (e.g., Sense About Science)
	This mechanism emphasises the importance of decision-makers' valuing the concept of EIDM.	 Awareness raising campaigns (e.g., March for Science)
Agree	Building mutual understanding and agreement on	Co-production approaches
(M2)	policy-relevant questions and the kind of evidence needed to answer them.	Delphi panels
		Inter-professional education
	This mechanism emphasises the importance of building mutual understanding and agreement on policy questions and what constitutes fit-for-purpose evidence.	
Access	Providing communication of, and access to,	Knowledge repositories
(M3)	evidence.	 Communication campaigns and strategies
	This mechanism emphasises the importance of decision-makers receiving effective communication of evidence and convenient access to evidence.	 Policy briefs

Interact (M4)	Interaction between decision-makers and researchers ¹ .	 Networks and communities of practice Events and conferences (e.g., science cafés)
	decision-makers interacting with researchers to build trusted relationships, collaborate, and gain exposure to a different type of social influence.	Knowledge brokers
Skills (M5)	Supporting decision-makers to develop skills in accessing and making sense of evidence.	 Capacity-building (e.g., workshops and formal training courses)
	This mechanism emphasises the importance of decision-makers having the necessary skills to locate, appraise, synthesise evidence, and integrate it with other information and political needs etc.	 Mentoring programmes Adult learning Online learning
Structure & Process	Influencing decision-making structures and processes.	SecondmentsOrganisational supports
(M6)	This mechanism emphasises the importance of decision-makers' psychological, social, and environmental structures and processes (for example, mental models, professional norms, habits, organisational and institutional rules) in providing means and barriers to action.	 (e.g., embedded knowledge brokers) Rapid Response Services Institutionalisation (e.g., National Evaluation Systems) Evidence checklists

1.3 How the intervention might work

Increasing the use of evidence by decision-makers relies on behaviour change. Specifically, this involves decision-makers using evidence to influence policy debates, policy choices, and policy implementation. Michie and colleagues (2011) developed a method to characterise interventions and link them to an analysis of the targeted behaviour, the COM-B model. In this 'behaviour system', three essential conditions—capability, opportunity, and motivation (COM)—interact to generate behaviour (B), which in turn influences these components. These conditions influencing behaviour (B) change therefore constitute the intermediary outcomes in addition to the main outcome behaviour of evidence-informed decision-making. Any given intervention might alter one or more components in this 'behaviour system' (see Figure 2). Our

individuals in official research positions.

¹ Use of the term researcher denotes anyone conducting research and is not confined to appointed

systematic review has adopted Michie's definitions of capability, motivation, and opportunity, which we define as the capability, motivation, and opportunity to use evidence²





Behaviour change can occur at both the organisational and individual levels. For the purposes of this systematic review, behaviour was organised into four levels consisting of:

- 1. Individual behaviour
- 2. Team-level behaviour
- 3. Organisational behaviour (e.g., a government ministry, an individual NGO)
- 4. Institutional behaviour (e.g., government-wide, system-specific)

There is no theoretical consensus explaining how interventions can effectively influence decision-makers' use of evidence. Laurenz and colleagues (2016) therefore integrated the individual components of this conceptual framework to create a simple logic model that outlines how evidence use interventions are assumed to affect decision-makers' consideration of evidence (Figure 2). This model illustrates how interventions may influence evidence use through a single mechanism or a combination of multiple mechanisms. By applying these mechanisms, interventions can affect one or more components of behaviour change, namely capability, opportunity, and/or motivation to use evidence. These COMs then facilitate the final outcome of evidence use. A COM component can therefore be understood as an intermediate outcome on the causal pathway to the final outcome. COMs can work either in isolation or in combination.

Using this logic model allowed us to categorise interventions according to the applied intervention mechanisms (M1 - M6, outlined in Table 1). We could then unpack the impact of these interventions on evidence use through a COM configuration as intermediate outcomes.

² Capability is defined as the individual's psychological and physical capacity to engage in the activity concerned. It includes having the necessary knowledge and skills. Motivation is defined as all those brain processes that energise and direct behaviour, not just goals and conscious decision-making. It includes habitual processes, emotional responding, as well as analytical decision-making. Opportunity is defined as all the factors that lie outside the individual that make the behaviour possible or prompt it (Michie et al. 2011).



Figure 3: EIDM intervention logic model based on Science of Using Science conceptual framework (Langer et al. 2016)

1.4 Why it is important to do this review

Oliver and colleagues' (2022) systematic review of research-policy engagement activities, identified a significant expansion of initiatives to encourage greater use of evidence in

decision-making since 2010, finding 1,923 initiatives being undertaken by 513 organisations globally in 2020. This included initiatives to build decision-maker skills around evidence use, promoting engagement through incentives and rewards and building professional partnerships. However, they found that a significant proportion of this dynamic activity is going unevaluated. This review focused on systematically mapping research-policy engagement initiatives and existence of associated evaluations in the UK only, with a small sample of initiatives outside the UK. The authors also identify that a useful next step would be to more fully synthesise this evidence base for the different activities they identified in different contexts. Thus, a systematic review of the impact of research-policy engagement evaluations globally was deemed a valuable extension of this review.

In addition, and despite Oliver and colleagues' (2022) findings on the amount of activity going unevaluated, there are an increasing number of robust counterfactual evaluations that test the impact of strategies to encourage EIDM using experimental and guasi-experimental methods. For example, Hjort and colleagues (2020) conducted an experiment with 1,818 municipality mayors in Brazil, where half the mayors were invited to attend a research-information session on the effectiveness of taxpayer reminder letters, as demonstrated by consistent RCT evidence. Fifteen to twenty-four months later, they found that the simple approach of providing access to research evidence increased the probability that the tax policy was implemented by 10 percentage points. In the USA, Crowley and colleagues (2021) evaluated the impact of a formal outreach model between federal lawmakers working on child and family policy issues and researchers, to encourage congressional use of research evidence. They observed positive impacts on a range of evidence use related outcomes, including research use observed in legislation brought in by the treatment group of congressional offices as well as greater perceived value of research for understanding policy issues. There is also a valuable body of other types of primary research around initiatives to strengthen EIDM, including crosscountry efforts such as Vogel and Punton (2018) and Lester and colleagues (2020), that explore questions of how, when and for whom these initiatives are effective.

Other recent studies have quantitatively explored the factors influencing the use of evidence in decision making. For example, Xu and colleagues (2024) investigated the preferences of United States (US) government civil servants for evidence with different characteristics. They found that state-level civil servants preferred programmatic evidence local to their state, indicating positive effects across various demographic groups and that was more recent. They also preferred research created by university teams or independent government teams. DellaVigna and colleagues (2024) explored how 30 US cities adopted nudge-focused RCT results into policy. They found low rates of adoption of RCT results into policy (27%). The key factor influencing adoption was whether the communications nudge tested in the RCT were implemented via preexisting communication processes compared to introducing a new communication. This was mainly attributed to organisational inertia as modifications to already established systems are incorporated into ongoing processes more easily.

To facilitate learning from this dynamic body of research, Nduku and colleagues' (2024a, in press) evidence gap map (EGM) collected, organised, and visualised the available empirical, global evidence on interventions to support evidence-informed policymaking across different policy sectors. The map indicates that despite a global evidence base of more than 600 studies, there is a lack of evidence in several areas, including mechanisms working through raising awareness of EIDM. Empirical studies in this area typically focus on measuring

intermediate outcomes of capability, motivation and opportunity to use evidence rather than attempting to measure actual change in evidence use. Additionally, they found synthesis gaps of the evaluation literature across the six mechanisms of change that they explored in the map. While the growth of EIDM and initiatives to encourage the use of evidence by policymakers is exciting, it is not clear which of these programmes and initiatives to support evidence use work best and why. This indicates there are several areas where research is needed, including to understand the contexts that can support evidence use in decisionmaking and how to improve practice in this area.

The FCDO has approved funding for research on this topic, to address some of these research gaps and to inform EIDM practice for themselves and their partners. Topics of interest include when, where and how evidence is used in policymaking, the barriers and facilitators to evidence use, and what works to address these barriers and drive the uptake of evidence by decision-makers. A systematic review of the existing evaluation literature on EIDM initiatives in policymaking was therefore agreed as a first step to identify mechanisms, policies and programmes with promising evidence of effectiveness, and areas where further primary research would help consolidate the evidence base.

2 Objectives

We aimed to collect, assess, and synthesise all the available empirical evidence on what works to support EIDM by policymakers. In doing so, we aimed to answer two research questions:

- 1. What are the impacts of interventions to support evidence-informed decision-making by policymakers?
- 2. What are the factors which have influenced:
 - a. the impact of these interventions in low-and-middle income countries LMICs?
 - b. their design and implementation in LMICs?

Specifically, we were interested in studies which set out to evaluate interventions aiming to increase policymakers' use of evidence, for example capacity-building programmes to enhance decision-makers' skills to access evidence or interventions aiming to connect decision-makers and researchers. We did not search for evaluations of interventions that focused only on enhancing the supply of research, such as financial incentives to produce better-quality or more research. While supply-side interventions can be an important tool to enhance EIDM, the focus of this systematic review was on the more direct use of evidence by policy decision-makers. Interventions such as research co-production, engagement and rapid response services were of relevance to this review, however, as they target decision-makers' demand for evidence.

By answering these research questions, we aimed to meet the following objectives:

• To estimate the overall impact and relative effectiveness of different evidence use interventions;

- To identify factors or configurations of factors that support or hinder the effectiveness of these interventions in LMICs;
- To identify gaps and areas for future primary research regarding the design, implementation, and evaluation of these interventions.

3 Methods

We conducted a systematic review of the existing empirical evidence (Gough et al. 2017) following guidelines for systematic reviews in social systems published by the Campbell Collaboration (2020). We used an 'effectiveness plus' (Snilstveit 2012) approach with two parallel review modules to answer the review questions on the extent to which interventions have been effective at supporting EIDM as well as what factors influence their impact. An effectiveness plus approach combines answering questions of what works with an equal emphasis on why and how it works, for whom, in what context, etc

To answer the first review question, we included primary studies that measured the effects of interventions and whose design could reliably attribute observed effects to the applied interventions, specifically Randomised Controlled Trials (RCTs) and Quasi-Experimental Designs (QEDs). We synthesised individual effects into overall estimates of treatment effects using statistical meta-analysis where possible. For the second review question, we included any form of empirical evaluation of an evidence use intervention that addressed research question 2 and applied qualitative evidence synthesis approaches to synthesise the results of these evaluation studies.

3.1 Criteria for considering studies for this review

We used detailed inclusion criteria to determine what studies to include in this systematic review. We adopted the PICOS (Population, Intervention, Comparator, Outcome and Study design) framework to develop our inclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria defined the precise characteristics of the studies that were included in the review. We excluded all studies not meeting these criteria from this review. As indicated above, we defined two sets of inclusion for research question (1) and (2) respectively. We provide an overview in Table 2, followed by a discussion of each individual criterion.

Review question 1	Review question 2
What are the impacts of interventions to support evidence-informed decision- making by policymakers?	What are the factors that have influenced the design, implementation, and impact of interventions to support evidence-informed decision- making by policymakers in LMICs?

Table 2: Overview of inclusion criteria for the systematic review

Population	Country: Studies in any country	Country: LMICs as defined by the World Bank classification of economies.	
	Time: There is no limitation on the pu People: Policymakers	blication date of the study.	
Intervention	Applied interventions to support the use of evidence in policymaking. Programmes, strategies, actions, practices, etc that actively intervene in the current decision-making status quo with the aim of making decision-making more receptive to evidence use.		
Comparator	Studies that identify a N/A comparison/control group		
Outcome	Evidence use outcomes as per conceptual framework.		
Study design	Experimental designs (RCTs) or quasi-experimental designs with non-random assignment that allow for causal inference.	Any form of empirical evaluation of an evidence use intervention where 'empirical' is defined as a study applying a structured approach to both data collection and data analysis.	

3.1.1 Types of studies

For review question (1), we included studies that assessed the effects of interventions using experimental designs or quasi-experimental designs with non-random assignment that allow for causal inference, in line with Lwamba and colleagues (2021). Specifically, we included the following:

- Randomised controlled trials (RCTs), with assignment at individual, household, community, or other cluster level, and quasi-RCTs using prospective methods of assignment such as alternation.
- Non-randomised studies with selection on unobservables:

- *i.* Regression discontinuity designs, where assignment is done on a threshold measured at pre-test, and the study uses prospective or retrospective approaches of analysis to control for unobservable confounding.
- *ii.* Studies using design or methods to control for unobservable confounding, such as natural experiments with clearly defined intervention and comparison groups, which exploit natural randomness in implementation assignment by decision-makers (e.g., public lottery) or random errors in implementation, and instrumental variables estimation.
- Non-randomised studies with pre-intervention and post-intervention outcomes data in intervention and comparisons groups, where data are individual-level panel or pseudo-panels (repeated cross-sections), which use the following methods to control for confounding:
 - i. Studies controlling for time-invariant unobservable confounding, including difference-in-differences, or fixed- or random-effects models with an interaction term between time and intervention for pre-intervention and post-intervention observations.
 - ii. Studies assessing changes in trends in outcomes over a series of time points (interrupted time series, ITS), with or without contemporaneous comparison (controlled ITS), with sufficient observations to establish a trend and control for effects on outcomes due to factors other than the intervention (e.g., seasonality).
- Non-randomised studies with control for observable confounding, including nonparametric approaches (e.g., statistical matching, covariate matching, coarsenedexact matching, propensity score matching) and parametric approaches (e.g., propensity-weighted multiple regression analysis).

We excluded all studies from the first review question that did not fall under any of the criteria defined above. Examples of excluded study types are studies without a comparison group that used pre-intervention and post-intervention outcome data only, simulation studies that aimed to predict the effect of a certain intervention, observational studies with no control for selection bias, life-cycle analysis, process evaluations, and acceptability studies.

For review question (2), we included a broad range of different study designs covering all empirical evaluation designs where 'empirical' was defined as a study applying a structured approach to both data collection and data analysis. This covers both predominantly quantitative and predominantly qualitative evaluation designs. This approach ensured that our systematic review included a broad set of evidence on EIDM in LMICs in relation to our second review question. To be eligible for inclusion in our review question (2), studies must have explored the factors that influenced the design, implementation, and impact of an applied EIDM intervention.

We excluded the following types of evidence and study designs for either review question:

• Conceptual and theoretical studies, for example frameworks and models, not based on empirical data.

- Opinion pieces, commentaries, and op-eds.
- Studies merely reporting data, for example monitoring data and administrative data without a structured analysis.
- Studies reporting an analysis of data without a structured approach to collect and quality assure the available data, for example secondary analysis, big data.
- Studies reporting on both data collection and analysis, but where no EIDM intervention was assessed.
- We also excluded certain types of publications:
 - o Newspaper articles, blogs, opinion pieces, other social media
 - o Books and book chapters.
 - o Honours thesis

1.1.1 Types of participants

We included studies that focused on the populations specified below:

Geography: For research question (1), we included studies in any country. For research question (2), we only included studies that assessed an EIDM intervention conducted in an LMIC as defined by the World Bank classification of economies³. Where studies took place in multiple countries or regions including HIC countries or regions, their empirical data needed to be disaggregated for LMICs or regions for the study to be included

Time: There was no limitation on the publication date of the study.

People: We included policy decision-making behaviours and processes at the following levels:

- 1. individual
- 2. team
- 3. organisational (e.g., a government ministry / agency)
- 4. institutional (e.g., government-wide, system-specific)

Policymakers for the purpose of our review could refer to any individual working in a government department at any level of government (i.e. national, and sub-national), including elected officials or civil servants that either could or should contribute to a policy process. It also covered individuals working in multilateral organisations, such as agencies and funds in the United Nations system, the World Bank and Inter-American Development Bank. We did not place restrictions around the concept of 'policy decision-making behaviours and processes' and this remained open to any form of decision-

³ https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/new-world-bank-country-classifications-income-level-2022-2023

making behaviours and processes, e.g., starting or amending a policy, stopping a programme, changing the process for making decisions.

Language: We considered only English publications due to resource constraints, and so we may have missed relevant studies published in other languages. However, the evidence map that this systematic review used as a source of studies did include studies in the following languages: Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Portuguese, Russian, and Spanish. The map found a significant proportion of the included studies were published in English, with 25 in Chinese and two in Portuguese. Both academic and grey literature were eligible for inclusion in the review.

1.1.2 Types of intervention

We only included studies which set out to evaluate or assess the effects of interventions aiming to increase policymakers' use of evidence. Such interventions can take many forms, for example capacity-building programmes to enhance decision-makers' skills to access evidence or interventions aiming to connect decision-makers and researchers (e.g., science cafés). We included all types of such EIDM interventions, and we applied the mechanism structure introduced above to group interventions into categories for synthesis. We included either single or multi-component EIDM interventions, regardless of scale or intensity. This could include nudge type interventions if the nudge targeted EIDM. If an intervention of any scale targeted policymakers' decision-making more broadly it was not included in the review, for example, Banuri and colleagues (2019).

Interventions needed to focus on policymakers' use of evidence. We defined evidence in this context broadly as research-based evidence (where research was defined as a systematic investigative process employed to increase or revise current knowledge). For the purposes of this systematic review, we employed a broad conceptualisation of research that included not only scientifically based research but extended to administrative data and statistics collected in the course of service and benefit provision (such as school-level datasets). We excluded studies that focused on the use of information more generally, for example those that provided opinion surveys, citizen preference surveys and market research.

We excluded interventions that focused on the uptake or implementation of evidence-based practices or programmes (e.g., interventions to increase doctors' washing of hands). In the implementation science literature, there are many evaluations of interventions in which evidence use is understood as the adoption of an evidence-based practice. The targeted behaviour change in this case is practitioners' implementation of a new practice, which happens to be evidence-based. Gray and colleagues (2013) term this type of intervention as fostering the uptake of 'empirically supported interventions (ESI)', as opposed to interventions aiming to increase EIDM.

We also excluded supply-side interventions, such as financial incentives to produce more or better-quality research. While supply-side interventions are an important tool to enhance EIDM, for example, by increasing the policy-relevance of research, the focus of this systematic review was on the direct use of evidence by policy decision-makers (the art and science of using evidence). Supply-side interventions in this context were outside the scope of this review as they do not directly target decision-makers and rather aim to improve the research enterprise itself (such as through funding channels) or to change researchers' behaviour. It is

beyond the project's ability to assess the lengths of the causal chain from this change in research supply to decision-makers' use of evidence. Interventions such as co-production and engagement were, however, of relevance to this review in case they targeted decision-makers' demand for evidence and were not narrowly focused on enhancing the supply of research.

Finally, we excluded studies that used experimentation or other methods solely to attempt to reveal policymakers' beliefs and biases when interpreting data or research studies or to understand decision-making. However, if they also evaluated the effects of an intervention aiming to increase those policymakers' use of evidence or opportunity, motivation, or capability to do so, we included them in the review. An example study to illustrate this criterion is Vivalt and Colville (2023). They ran experiments with policy makers and researchers attending World Bank and IDB workshops to ascertain their prior beliefs about intervention effectiveness, before exposing them to new evidence, randomly varying whether the evidence presented was positive or negative or more or less certain. The goal was to explore the presence of behavioural biases, in this case asymmetric optimism and variance neglect, and therefore the results of this part of the experiment were out of scope of the review. However, they also tested a mechanism to overcome this bias, specifically providing more detailed statistical information, which is in scope and therefore included in this review.

3.1.2 Types of outcome measures

We included studies that reported data on either primary or intermediary evidence use outcomes. As indicated above, studies merely assessing the uptake of evidence-based interventions or practices (e.g., washing of hands) were excluded from our review. Essentially, this approach is synonymous with evaluating a common adoption of a new practice and its performance. If studies aimed to evaluate an intervention to increase evidence use, outcomes needed to be structured to capture changes in evidence use, that is the practice of EIDM (Thompson et al. 2007). In our systematic review, the targeted behaviour change was the use of evidence rather than the adoption of individual evidence-based practices. Unfortunately, this distinction is often not made explicit in the wider literature. For this systematic review, we analysed the reported outcome measures in the included studies in order to ensure that the outcomes met our definition of EIDM.

Primary outcomes: This refers to outcomes assessing whether decision-makers use of evidence has changed as a result of the applied EIDM intervention. Our systematic review focused on two primary outcomes of interest.

(1) Evidence Use

This refers to the practice of evidence-informed decision-making (EIDM). We defined EIDM as:

"a process whereby multiple sources of information, including the best available research evidence, are consulted before making a decision to plan, implement, and (where relevant) alter policies, programmes, and other services" (Langer et al. 2016).

EIDM or evidence use as an outcome is therefore not the alignment of the policy content with the available evidence-base, but the extent to which the policy formulation process was

informed by evidence. Or, to put it differently, EIDM as an outcome implies that the decisionmaker has engaged with the evidence and acted upon it in some way. Acting upon it may not necessarily mean that the evidence has been used to inform policy or practice developments. It could simply mean that the findings have been considered during policy discussions. This indicates that a policy decision in which evidence was considered but not fully integrated should still be considered as evidence informed.

Furthermore, there are different ways in which evidence can inform a decision. Based on Weiss' (1979) typology of evidence use, two types of evidence use apply to this study:

Instrumental evidence use is a direct use of evidence, knowledge, and insights. It refers to the concrete application of evidence, such as in the taking of specific policy decisions or implementation of practice interventions.

Conceptual evidence use highlights evidence's enlightenment function. This is when evidence influences how policymakers and practitioners think about issues, problems, or potential solutions. Evidence findings may change their opinion but not necessarily a particular action.

Relevant indicators for the primary outcomes of evidence use include but are not limited to: research evidence being referenced in policy documents, or utilised in programme or guideline development; EIDM indicators, e.g., Global EIDM index (Dobbins et al. 2009); evidence of decision-makers' behaviour change, e.g., accessing, appraising, considering evidence as part of a decision-maker's daily practice.

Lastly, evidence use for policy decision-making can occur at two stages: first, at the policy design stage and, second, at the policy implementation stage. For evidence use to influence socio-economic development, both policy design *and* implementation have to be effective and equitable. Where possible, we coded evidence use outcomes for the respective stage in the policy cycle. This information was used to answer the broader question on design and implementation of EIDM. For the meta-analysis, we grouped studies by whether they measured evidence use for policy design or evidence use for policy implementation.

(2) <u>Socio-economic impact</u>⁴

This refers to the impact of an increased use of evidence on development indicators. For example, a sustained practice of EIDM can be associated with better health outcomes such as reduced mortality rates. Likewise, evidence use can affect educational outcomes such as increased test scores and grade pass rates. Indicators of development impact are not prespecified and can be cross-sectoral covering all 17 SDGs.

Intermediary outcomes: This refers to outcomes assessing intermediate conditions and activities that enhance the likelihood of decision-makers using evidence. As above, we separated intermediate outcomes using Michie and colleagues' (2011) COM model of

⁴ We did not expect many studies covering the pathway from evidence use to socio-economic impact. Arguably, this last step in the causal chain is beyond the control of the applied EIDM intervention and as a result the applied intervention should not be assessed against outcome.

behaviour change (Table 3). These could be measured through self-report by policymakers but could also be measured through researchers' perceptions.

Table 3. Intermediary outcomes

 Capability to use evidence 	This refers to decision-makers having the required psychological and physical capacity to engage in EIDM. It includes having the necessary knowledge and skills. Indicators of this intermediate outcome include test scores evaluating respondents' knowledge of EIDM concepts as well as critical appraisal skills.
2. Motivation to use evidence	This refers to the brain processes that energise and direct behaviour, not just goals and conscious decision-making. It includes habitual processes, emotional responding, as well as analytical decision-making. Indicators of this intermediate outcome include attitudes towards evidence or decision-makers' reported intention to use evidence.
 Opportunity to use evidence 	This refers to all the factors that lie outside the decision- makers' control that make the EIDM possible or prompt it. Indicators of this intermediate outcome include access to evidence databases or organisational processes for EIDM.

3.2 Search methods for identification of studies

For this review, we updated the search of an existing evidence gap map that fully overlapped with the review's scope and was conducted in January 2023 (Nduku et al. 2024a). The search strategy followed by Nduku and colleagues (2024a) designed a scientific and exhaustive search for evidence with the help of an information scientist. The search strategy was based on three pillars: (i) an exhaustive and replicable search of the indexed academic literature; (ii) an in-depth search of available grey literature sources; and (iii) a forward and backward search including key informants.

For this review, we first updated the searches for all academic evidence on EIDM in the eight academic databases including PubMed, Web of Science, Scopus, and EBSCO Host (ERIC, PsycINFO, Business Source Complete, Communication and Mass Media complete, and Political Science Complete). A combination of key terms was adopted and included **evidence use terms** (e.g., "evidence use" OR "evidence utilisation" "research use" OR "research utilisation" OR "knowledge use" OR "knowledge utilisation" OR "evaluation use" OR "evidence into action terms (e.g., "evidence broker*" OR "evidence champion*"); evidence broker*" OR "research champion*"); evidence-informed decision-making terms (e.g., "evidence-based" OR "evidence-informed"); and policy- and decision-

making terms (e.g., policy OR policies OR decision* OR "decision-making" OR "decision making" OR "policy-making" OR "policy making" OR policymaking).

Second, we also carried out search updates in grey literature sources such as websites of specialist organisations to find studies meeting our inclusion criteria that are outside of the indexed academic literature and that were published since the previous search was conducted, from January 2023 onwards. These searches utilised key words only given the websites' limited search capabilities. Third, we conducted backward and forward citation-tracking of key authors and publications on Google Scholar for all newly identified studies. We did not conduct citation screening of included studies due to resource constraints given the size of the evidence in the map used as the foundation for this systematic review which constitute 672 studies. Appendix A presents the comprehensive search strings applied whilst Appendix B presents a full list of all the academic and grey literature search sources.

3.3 Data collection and analysis

3.3.1 Selection of studies

We used review management software (EPPI-Reviewer 4) to manage the entire review process. We imported all potentially relevant citations gathered from the academic sources above into EPPI-Reviewer 4. They were subjected to a detailed screening process to assess eligibility using the inclusion criteria highlighted above, and we recorded decisions made about each citation on the same platform. We recorded search results from organisational websites and the citation searches in MS Word and only transferred studies deemed to be relevant for the review to EPPI-Reviewer 4. We manually captured studies that were not already on EPPI-Reviewer on the software. Before proceeding with screening, we excluded all duplicates of titles from the review using the duplicate control function on EPPI Reviewer 4.

We tested reviewer bias (interrater reliability) at the start of each stage of the screening process using a Kappa analysis (CEE 2013). Two reviewers screened a common random sample of 10% of abstracts. We calculated the level of agreement between the number of articles rejected or accepted by the Kappa statistic on a scale that ranges from 1 (perfect agreement) and -1 (strong disagreement). The individual screening was only permissible once we achieved a Kappa statistic score of 0.85 or above. A third-party arbitrator resolved any disagreements at both stages of the screening process. We report the screening process using a PRISMA flow chart in the results section.

3.3.2 Data extraction and management

We used a predefined data extraction tool to extract data systematically and transparently from the included primary studies. We present the data extraction tool in the protocol. We migrated the tool into EPPI-Reviewer 4 to extract the information required for the evidence synthesis. We entered the data directly into the EPPI-Reviewer database. We extracted data from full-text reports on the following:

1. Descriptive data including authors, publication date and type, as well as other information to characterise the study including country, type of intervention, outcome, population, and context.

2. Information on intervention design, implementation fidelity, factors that influenced design, implementation and impact, and possible programme mechanisms.

We also mapped studies that were included to address research question one according to where in the policy cycle the interventions were seeking to drive evidence use. Appendix C.2 describes the tool for the descriptive extraction. We defined a policy process as a sequence of steps through which policies are developed, implemented, and assessed, usually understood and organised in a cycle (Jann and Wegrich, 2017). The steps in the policy cycle for the purposes of this review were:

- Agenda setting: Identifying issues that require policy attention
- Policy formulation: Developing potential solutions to address identified issues
- Decision-making: Choosing a course of action from available options
- Implementation: Putting the chosen policy into practice
- Evaluation: Assessing the outcomes and impacts of the implemented policy

To ensure consistency of coding quality, two reviewers piloted the data extraction tool, working independently on a random sample (10%) of eligible studies selected to test the tool on the complete range of the included impact evaluation designs and methods. We repeated the process until we achieved a very high level of consistency, defined by a minimum Kappa statistic score of 0.85, in the reviewers' application of codes and the tool was deemed final. Following the piloting stage, individual reviewers coded the remaining studies, with a subset of these coded by different combinations of two reviewers independently extracting information from each study and then comparing their decisions to minimize coder drift. We resolved any uncertainties or disagreements via discussion, with a third-party arbitrator resolving any outstanding disagreements.

3.3.3 Critical appraisal

For review question (1), we applied a critical appraisal tool to assess the impact of bias on the trustworthiness of primary impact evaluations included in the systematic review. Trustworthiness refers to the confidence of the review team that the findings reported in the included studies used for the synthesis were rigorous and credible. To assess the risk of bias of the primary studies, we used an adapted version of the Cochrane risk of bias tool (ROB 2) for randomised studies of interventions (Higgins et al. 2016) and the ROBINS-I tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomized studies of interventions (Sterne et al. 2016). We have previously used this adapted version of the tool in international development reviews, including a Campbell Collaboration systematic review (Stewart et al. 2015; Ategeka et al. 2022). We provide the tool in the protocol (Nduku et al. 2024b) and Appendix C.3 also presents the critical appraisal tool.

Sterne and colleagues (2016) used a domain-based risk of bias tool covering the following six indications of trustworthiness: (i) selection bias; (ii) confounding bias; (iii) bias due to departures from applied interventions; (iv) bias due to missing data; (v) bias due to measurement of outcomes; and (vi) bias due to selection of the reported result. Each domain of bias received a low, moderate, high or critical risk of bias rating, allowing for a transparent calculation of the overall risk of bias score for each study. We included studies with a critical risk of bias in the review but excluded them from the synthesis. We piloted the risk of bias tool using a similar approach to that used for the piloting of the data extraction tool. Two reviewers

independently assessed each study and then came together to compare their decisions. Where these reviewers disagreed about the risk of bias rating for a particular study, a third reviewer was consulted.

We used the following decision rules:

A single critical risk of bias judgement in any of the domains leads to a critical overall judgement.

2 or more high risk of bias judgements in any of the appraisal domains lead to an overall high risk of bias rating.

2 or more moderate risk of bias judgements in any of the appraisal domains lead to an overall moderate risk of bias.

For review question (2), we conducted critical appraisal assessments of the included studies based on the three distinct groups: qualitative/mixed methods evaluations, practitioner reflections and policy case studies. Appendix C4 provides the detailed tool used to evaluate the studies focusing on methodological rigor, design defensibility, context and reflexivity. The tool applies a set of methodological appraisal criteria, assessing whether the research design is clearly specified and justified. This includes evaluating whether the study provides a strong rationale for its design, clearly articulates its research question, and acknowledges potential limitations. The appraisal criterion considered aspects like the justification for study design, appropriateness of data collection methods, and the clarity of research objectives. Additionally, the tool incorporates a criterion for assessing the research sample, ensuring that studies include an appropriate and representative sample size while minimizing biases.

Two reviewers independently assessed the studies with a third reviewer randomly selecting studies for quality appraisal. We used similar decision rules as quantitative studies to categorize the studies into high, moderate, low or critical quality –

- 2 or more high critical appraisal judgements in any of the 6 appraisal domains lead to an overall high risk of bias / low quality rating.
- 2 or more moderate critical appraisal judgements in any of the 6 appraisal domains lead to an overall moderate risk of bias / moderate quality rating.
- For a study to be rated of low risk of bias / high quality at least 5 appraisal domains need be rated as of low critical appraisal.

3.3.4 Criteria for the determination of independent findings

Given the small number of included studies, it was not feasible to include dependent findings in any analysis (as we would lack sufficient power to detect effects). We dealt with dependent effect sizes through data processing and selection techniques, which utilise several criteria to select one effect estimate per study.

Complex data structures are a common occurrence in meta-analyses of impact evaluations. There are numerous scenarios through which these complex structures with dependent effect sizes might occur. For example, there could be several publications that stem from one study, or several studies based on the same data set. Some studies might have multiple treatment arms that are all compared to a single control group. Other studies may report outcome measurements from several time points or use multiple outcome measures to assess related
outcome constructs. All such cases yield a set of statistically dependent effect size estimates (Borenstein et al. 2009).

The research team assessed the extent to which relationships exist across the studies included in the review and avoided double counting of identical evidence by linking papers before data analysis. Where we had several publications reporting on the same effect, we used effect sizes from the most recent publication. We utilised information provided in studies to support these assessments, such as sample sizes, programme characteristics and key implementing and/or funding partners.

We extracted effects reported across different outcomes or subgroups within a study, and where information is collected on the same programme for different outcomes at the same or different periods, information on the full range of outcomes over time was extracted. Where studies reported effects from multiple model specifications, we adopted the author's preferred model specification. If this was not stated or was unclear, we extracted effect data from the most precise model (e.g., the model with the smallest standard error). Where studies reported multiple outcomes or evidence according to sub-groups of participants, we recorded and reported data on relevant sub-groups separately. Further information on criteria for determining independent effect sizes is presented below.

We dealt with dependent effect sizes through data processing and selection techniques, which utilised several criteria to select one effect estimate per study. For studies with outcome measures at different time points, we followed De La Rue and colleagues (2017) and synthesise outcomes measured immediately after the intervention (defined as 1-6 months) and at follow-up (longer than six months) separately. If multiple time points exist within these periods, we adopted the most recent measure. We anticipated that some of the interventions that we included in our review would be ongoing programmes and the follow-up would, therefore, reflect duration in a programme rather than time since the intervention. When such studies report outcome measures at different time points, we identified the most common follow-up period and included the follow-up measures that match this most closely in the meta-analysis. When studies include multiple outcome measures to assess related outcome constructs, we followed Macdonald and colleagues (2012) and selected the outcome that appeared to reflect the construct of interest most accurately without reference to the results.

If studies included multiple treatment arms with only one control group and the treatments represent separate treatment constructs, we calculated the effect size for treatment A versus control and treatment B versus control and include them in separate meta-analyses according to the treatment construct. Where different studies report on the same programme but use different samples (e.g., from different regions, or separately for men and women) we included both estimates, treating them as independent samples, provided effect sizes are measured relative to separate control or comparison groups.

3.3.5 Measures of treatment effect

We extracted quantitative data for outcome measures, including outcome descriptive information, sample size in each intervention group, outcomes means and standard deviations, and test statistics (e.g., t-test, F-test, p-values, 95% confidence intervals) using Excel (see the preliminary data extraction form in Appendix C.1). We stored effect size data and conducted any necessary cleaning in Excel. Following the screening and descriptive data

extraction process of ensuring consistency in coding quality, two reviewers piloted the effect size data extraction tool, working independently on a random sample (10%) of included studies to test the tool across a range of the included impact evaluation designs and methods. Once a minimum Kappa statistic score of 0.85 was achieved, following a round of repeating the process for the tool was considered to be finalised. After the piloting stage, individual reviewers coded the remaining studies and a third reviewer checked all data extracted.

An effect size expresses the magnitude (or strength) and direction of the relationship of interest (Valentine et al. 2015; Borenstein et al. 2009). We extracted data from each study to calculate standardised effect sizes for cross-study comparison wherever possible. For continuous outcomes comparing group means in a treatment and control group, we calculated the standardised mean difference (SMDs), or Cohen's d, its variance and standard error using formulae provided in Borenstein and colleagues (2009). An SMD is a difference in means between the treatment and control groups divided by the pooled standard deviation of the outcome measure. Cohen's d can be biased in cases where sample sizes are small.

Therefore, in all cases we adjusted using Hedges' method, adjusting Cohen's d to Hedges' g using the following formula (Ellis, 2010):

$$g \cong d \left(1 - \frac{3}{4(n_T + n_C) - 9}\right)$$

We chose an appropriate formula for effect size calculations in reference to, and dependent upon, the data provided in included studies. For example, for studies reporting means (X) and pooled standard deviation (SD) for treatment (T) and control or comparison (C) at follow up only:

$$d = \frac{x_{Tp+1} - x_{Cp+1}}{SD}$$

If the study does not report the pooled standard deviation, it is possible to calculate it using the following formula:

$$SD_{p+1} = \sqrt{\frac{(n_{Tp+1}-1)SD_{Tp+1}^2 + (n_{Cp+1}-1)SD_{Cp+1}^2}{n_{Tp+1} + n_{Cp+1} - 2}}$$

Where the intervention is expected to change the standard deviation of the outcome variable, we used the standard deviation of the control group only.

For studies reporting means (\underline{X}) and standard deviations (SD) for treatment and control or comparison groups at baseline (p) and follow up (p+1):

$$d = \frac{\Delta \underline{X}_{p+1} - \Delta \underline{X}_p}{SD_{p+1}}$$

For studies reporting mean differences (Δ _X) between treatment and control and standard deviation (SD) at follow up (p+1):

$$d = \frac{\Delta \underline{X}_{p+1}}{SD_{p+1}} = \frac{\underline{X}_{Tp+1} - \underline{X}_{Cp+1}}{SD_{p+1}}$$

For studies reporting mean differences between treatment and control, standard error (SE) and sample size (n):

$$d = \frac{\Delta X_{p+1}}{SE\sqrt{n}}$$

As primary studies have become increasingly complex, it has become commonplace for authors to extract partial effect sizes (e.g., a regression coefficient adjusted for covariates) in the context of meta-analysis. For studies reporting regression results, followed the approach suggested by Keef and Roberts (2004) using the regression coefficient and the pooled standard deviation of the outcome. Where the pooled standard deviation of the outcome is unavailable, we utilised regression coefficients and standard errors or t-statistics to do the following, where sample size information available each is in group: $d = t \sqrt{\frac{1}{n_T} + \frac{1}{n_C}}$

where n denotes the sample size of the treatment group and control. We used the following where only the total sample size information (N) is available, as suggested in Polanin and Snilstveit (2016):

$$d = \frac{2t}{\sqrt{N}} \qquad Var_d = \frac{4}{N} + \frac{d^2}{2N}$$

We calculated the t-statistic (t) by dividing the coefficient by the standard error. If the authors only report confidence intervals and no standard error, we calculated the standard error from the confidence intervals. If the study does not report the standard error but reports t, we extracted and use this as reported by the authors. In cases in which significance levels are reported rather than t or SE (b), then t was imputed as follows:

- Prob > 0.1: t = 0.5
- Prob ≤ 0.1 to Prob > 0.05: t = 1.8
- Prob \leq 0.05 to Prob > 0.01: t = 2.4
- Prob ≤ 0.01 : t = 2.8.

Where outcomes are reported in proportions of individuals, we calculated the Cox-transformed log odds ratio effect size :

$$d = LogOddsRatiov x \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\pi}$$

where OR is the odds ratio calculated from the two-by-two frequency table.

Where outcomes were reported based on proportions of events or days, we used the standardised proportion difference effect size:

$$d = \frac{p_T - p_C}{SD(p)}$$

where p_t is the proportion in the treatment group and p_c the proportion in the comparison group, and the denominator is given by:

$$SD(p) = \sqrt{p(1-p)}$$

where p is the weighted average of p_c and p_t :

$$p = \frac{n_T \, p_T + n_C \, p_C}{n_T + n_C}$$

An independent reviewer evaluated a random selection of 10 percent of effect sizes to ensure that the correct formulae was employed in effect size calculations.

3.3.6 Unit of analysis issues

Unit of analysis errors can arise when the unit of allocation of a treatment is different from the unit of analysis of effect size estimate, and this is not accounted for in the analysis (e.g., by clustering standard errors at the level of allocation). We assessed studies for unit of analysis errors (The Campbell Collaboration 2019), and where they exist, we corrected for by adjusting the standard errors according to the following formula (Higgins et al. 2020; Waddington et al. 2012; Hedges 2009):

$$SE(d)' = SE(d) * \sqrt{1 + (m-1)c}$$

where m is the average number of observations per cluster and c is the intra-cluster correlation coefficient. Where included studies used robust Huber-White standard errors to correct for clustering, we calculated the standard error of d by dividing d by the t-statistic on the coefficient of interest.

3.3.7 Data synthesis

We applied two different synthesis approaches for the two distinct review modules. For review question (1), we applied statistical meta-analysis where data allowed.

We conducted statistical meta-analyses of studies that were assessed to be sufficiently similar and only combined studies using meta-analysis when we identified two or more effect sizes using a similar outcome construct and where the comparison group stated is judged to be similar across the two (the approach taken by Wilson and colleagues (2011)). We combined studies in the same analysis when they evaluated the same intervention type and the same outcome type (that is, evidence use, the three intermediate outcome categories or socioeconomic impact). We used the *metafor* package in R to undertake meta-analysis (Viechtbauer 2010). Where there were too few studies or included studies were considered too heterogeneous in terms of interventions or outcomes, we discussed the individual effect sizes along the causal chain narratively. We anticipated heterogeneity across studies, and so we adopted inverse-variance weighted, random effects meta-analytic models (Julian P. T. Higgins and Thompson 2002) to account for this.

We conducted separate analyses for the major outcome categories for each mechanism where possible: that is, by evidence use, socio-economic impact and the three categories of intermediate outcomes (capability, motivation, opportunity to use evidence).

We anticipated that we would have a limited number of included impact evaluations, and therefore it would be unlikely to be able to undertake moderator analysis to try to explain variations in effect sizes. This was the case for this review.

3.3.8 Assessment of heterogeneity

To visibly examine variability in the effect size estimates, we used forest plots to display the estimated effect sizes from each study along with their 95% confidence intervals. Subsequently, and acknowledging the limitations of quantification of heterogeneity and the different strengths of statistical approaches, the following tests for heterogeneity were conducted: calculation of the Q- statistic as a statistical test of heterogeneity (Hedges and Olkin 2014); and calculation of the i2 and Tau2 statistic to provide estimates of the magnitude of the variability across study findings caused by heterogeneity (Higgins and Thompson 2002; Higgins 2003; Borenstein et al. 2009).

3.3.9 Sensitivity analysis

The main objective of the sensitivity analysis is to serve as a visual tool that allows informal comparisons to determine whether the results of our meta-analyses are sensitive to the methodological decisions of the review team. To test the robustness of the results of the meta-analysis, we planned to conduct sensitivity analyses. related to (i) the methods of the primary studies and (ii) the methods of the review. It involves examining whether the results were sensitive to study design, the risk of bias associated with the study, the degree of missing/incomplete data, and the way outcomes are measured and the timing at which they are measured. However, due to a limited number of studies in each meta-analysis, we were unable to conduct sensitivity analysis for this review.

3.3.10 Treatment of qualitative research

We applied thematic synthesis as our preferred approach to the qualitative evidence synthesis. Thematic synthesis depends on the availability of sufficient in-depth qualitative studies and empirical primary data reported across the identified evidence-base and linked to groups of interventions and outcomes along the review's logic model. The objective of this synthesis approach was to identify analytical themes on factors that have influenced the design, implementation and impact of the interventions of interest.

Following Thomas and Harden's (2008) thematic synthesis approach, we applied inductive coding techniques to first identify common descriptive themes based on the reported findings of the primary studies. We used EPPI-Reviewer's in-built qualitative synthesis coding software

to illustrate the link between the inductive codes in the primary studies and the identified descriptive themes. In a second step, following the identification of descriptive themes, we configured them into higher level analytical themes, which present the results of the thematic synthesis. Again, this configuration from descriptive to analytical themes is conducted in EPPI-Reviewer and we produced an overview table of both types of themes and their linkages for transparency in this final synthesis step. The process of configuring descriptive and analytical themes from the inductive coding applied the same consistency checks as the general data extraction process outlined above. That is, two reviewers piloted the data extraction tool, working independently on a random sample (10%) of eligible studies selected to test the tool on the complete range of types of studies. The process was repeated until there was a very high level of consistency, defined by a minimum Kappa statistic score of 0.85.

The process of generating inductive codes, descriptive themes, and final analytical themes was configured around the analytical lenses derived from the research question 2 of this review, detailed below. We synthesised the extracted qualitative evidence regarding the interplay of four groups of factors with the intervention effect, outcome, or impact.

- I. *Intervention design*: any factor that is related to the design and planning of the applied intervention. Design and planning of an intervention refers to the blueprint or schedule of the intervention and will typically outline what components the intervention consists of and in what sequence they will be applied.
- II. *Intervention implementation*: any factor that is related to the implementation of the intervention in practice. This refers to variables that emerge while the intervention is applied and are usually not known in advance. For example, there may be contextual factors that have influenced a lack of attendance or uptake.
- III. Context: any factors related to external influences beyond the programme's control that affect intervention design, implementation or impact. This can refer to political factors such as types of governance, societal factors such as norms, economic factors such as a recession, and cultural factors such as beliefs.

4 Results

This section reports on the main findings of the systematic review. We begin with an overview of the search and screening results, followed by a description of the characteristics of the included studies for both research questions, and the trends observed in the evidence base. Finally, we discuss the results from the quantitative and qualitative synthesis respectively.

4.1 Description of studies

4.1.1 Results of the search

The PRISMA flowchart presented in Figure 4 indicates the process of searching for evidence for inclusion in the systematic review.

We began the review by updating the search of an existing evidence gap map that fully overlaps with the review's scope (Nduku et al. 2024a). As described above, the search for this evidence map was conducted in January 2023, and the search results for the map are reported

in full in Nduku and colleagues (2024a). The updated search, conducted across January and February 2024, identified 9,820 academic and 27 grey literature search hits respectively. We deduplicated the results using EPPI-Reviewer. After the removal of duplicates, we were left with 8,298 papers to screen at title and abstract level. A total of 8,038 studies were excluded at the title and abstract screening stage, with the main reason being that they were not on the topic of EIDM. We then screened the remaining 260 studies at full-text for inclusion. As a result, we excluded a further 204 studies largely due to the studies being "diagnostic evidence⁵". The full list of reasons for exclusion are provided in Figure 3. The list of studies excluded at full text for both the evidence map search conducted in January 2023 and the update in January - February 2024 are available on request. This left us with 56 newly included papers in the evidence gap map to make a total of 673 papers, including the 617 papers that were already included in the 2023 evidence map.

4.2 Included studies

We then used a two-stage process to identify relevant studies for the systematic review. Stage one entailed screening all 673 studies included in the updated evidence map to identify studies that focused on policymakers⁶. We identified a total of 365 studies that fit this criterion. The studies excluded at this stage because they did not focus on policymakers as the population of interest are listed in the reference list. In the second stage, we screened this sub-set of studies to identify studies to address our two research questions:

- For the first review question on the impacts of interventions to support EIDM by policymakers, we looked for evaluations from any country that used an experimental design (RCTs) or a quasi-experimental design with non-random assignment that allows for causal inference (described in the methods). We identified 18 impact evaluations reported in 21 papers to answer review question 1.
- For the second review question on the influence of population, context, design, and implementation factors on the impact of interventions to support EIDM by policymakers in LMICs, we looked for any empirical evaluation that took place in an LMIC. We identified 152 papers that took place in an LMIC to answer review question 2.

There were six papers that we included in the analysis for both review questions one and two⁷. We therefore included a total of 164 studies reported in 167⁸ papers in the systematic review.

⁵ Studies featuring empirical data but no EIDM intervention.

⁶Nduku et al's (2024a) evidence map also included studies targeting evidence use by practitioners such as doctors, teachers, nurses etc. which were not in scope for this review.

⁷ As a result, the total does not tally to 170 studies but 164.

⁸We identified 3 linked papers.

Figure 4. Overview of the search and screening process



4.2.1 Geography

Most of the impact evaluations addressing review question 1 took place entirely in high-income countries (11 out of 18), specifically, the USA (n = 8), Canada (n = 1), the UK (n = 1), and Australia (n = 1). Three studies took place across multiple countries. Vivalt and Colville (2023) conducted their experiment at World Bank and Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) policy workshops in the USA, Mexico, Senegal, Nigeria and Portugal. Two studies that tested the impact of policy briefs in different forms circulated the briefs to participants in various countries (Masset et al. 2013, also reported in Beynon et al. 2012; Fillol et al. 2022). Fillol and colleagues (2022) targeted Francophone African countries (Benin, Burkina Faso, Chad, Guinea, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Senegal and Togo) and the main development funding nations in the region (Belgium, Canada, France and Switzerland). Masset and colleagues (2013), also reported in Beynon et al. Services department and 3ie which spanned those based in high, middle and low-income countries. We identified one study each respectively from Ethiopia, Brazil, Kenya and Pakistan (Rogger and Somani 2023; Hjort et al. 2020; Opiyo et al. 2013; Mehmood et al. 2024).

Country	Number of studies
USA	8
Canada	1

UK	1
Francophone African countries (Benin, Burkina Faso, Chad, Guinea, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Senegal and Togo) and the main development funding nations in the region (Belgium, Canada, France and Switzerland)	1
Brazil	1
Pakistan	1
Kenya	1
Ethiopia	1
Multi-country studies in high-, middle- and low-income countries	2
USA, Mexico, Senegal, Nigeria and Portugal	1

The 152 studies included to address the review question 2, which we limited to studies from LMICs only, were conducted across 63^9 countries. Since there were studies reporting interventions in multiple countries, this yields a greater number of intervention "contexts", and we use the number of these intervention "points" for analysis to ensure a more accurate reporting of geographical coverage. We identified 363 different contexts. A large cluster of the empirical evidence, approximately 40% (142/363) is concentrated in five African countries namely South Africa (n = 41), Nigeria (n = 32), Uganda (n = 32), Kenya (n = 20) and Burkina Faso (n = 17). This is highlighted in Figure 5B below. In terms of the socioeconomic setting of the LMICs, a majority of the 212 economic contexts were in lower-middle-income countries (n = 98, 46%), followed by low-income countries (n = 51, 24%).

The majority of the impact evaluations included to address research question 1 took place in the region of the Americas, while the largest group of studies to address research question 2 were from Africa. Considering WHO regions, we found a total of 23 regional intervention contexts from the 18 impact evaluation studies and a total of 185 regional intervention "contexts" from the 152 studies included to address research question 2. For the former, most of the regional focus was on the Americas (n = 13, 54%), followed by the European and the African region (n = 4, 7% for both). Conversely, for the qualitative evidence base, the largest group is in the African region (n = 137, 74%), followed by the South-East Asian region, which has 9% (n = 17). The region with the fewest regional intervention contexts is the region of the Americas (n = 5, 3%). These results are depicted in Figure 6 below.

⁹One study does not specify the country of investigation.

Figure 5. Distribution of studies by country

Panel A - Quantitative studies; Panel B - Qualitative studies

Panel A



Note: The map does not include multi-country studies that do not report effects separately for each country.





4.2.2 Interventions

We organised the interventions evaluated in the included studies according to six possible mechanisms of change, that is, the processes by which EIDM might be achieved.. It was common for studies across the whole review to evaluate interventions that combined multiple mechanisms of change. In addition, one study included multiple treatment arms testing different mechanisms of change. Therefore, the number of mechanisms identified is higher than the number of included studies.

In the 18 included impact evaluations, the most frequently used mechanisms of change were access to evidence (n = 15) followed by building the skills of policymakers (n = 7) and interaction of decision-makers and researchers (n = 3). Eleven of the included studies tested an intervention that worked solely through the access to evidence mechanism, that is, providing effective communication of, and access to, evidence. Most of the included studies in this category (n = 8) tested design elements of effective communication and dissemination of evidence rather than making it more generally convenient to access. We identified three studies that tested an intervention which worked solely through building the skills of policymakers to access and / or make sense of evidence. We did not find any impact evaluation evidence that assessed the effects of interventions working through awareness of EIDM or agreement mechanisms. They were not tested on their own or in combination with other mechanisms of change in the framework.

We identified five studies that combined multiple mechanisms of change. Three evaluations, reported in five papers, tested an intervention that combined access to evidence activities plus interaction with decision-makers, building skills and structure and process mechanisms (Dobbins et al. 2009; Crowley et al. 2021a; 2021b; Wilson et al. 2017a; 2017b) In addition, Scott and colleagues (2023) evaluated the SciComm Optimizer for Policy Engagement (SCOPE) model, which combined activities working through the access and interaction mechanisms, while Hjort and colleagues (2020) evaluated an intervention that worked through access and skills mechanisms.

Three studies did not clearly focus on any specific step on the project cycle. In terms of individual steps of the cycle, seven studies reported in nine papers targeted evidence use during agenda setting, seven studies in nine papers targeted policy formulation, 13 studies reported in 15 papers targeted use during decision-making and seven studies reported in eight papers had interventions focused on implementation. Three studies reported in four papers targeted the evaluation stage of the policy cycle.

Most of the evaluated interventions targeted evidence use at multiple stages of the policy cycle. The highest concentration of included counterfactual studies targeted evidence use across the agenda setting, policy formulation, and decision-making stages (Wilson et al. 2017a; 2017b; Dobbins et al. 2009; Toma and Bell 2022; Mehmood et al. 2024; Hjort et al. 2020). Two studies (Vivalt and Covile 2023; Rogger and Somani 2023) specifically referenced evidence at the decision-making step within the policy cycle. Several interventions appeared to centre on evidence use during decision-making and implementation (Beynon et al. 2012; Noia et al. 2003; Nellies et al. 2019). Some interventions in the included studies adopted a broader scope, targeting all stages of the policy cycle, from agenda-setting, decision-making, decision implementation, policy formulation to evaluation (Scott et al. 2023; Crowley et al. 2021a; 2021 b). Brownson and colleagues (2017) focused on decision-making, implementation and evaluation. Similarly, Dobbins and colleagues (2009) targeted policy formulation, decision-making, and implementation steps within the cycle. Finally, three studies did not clearly target any specific stage of the policy cycle (Brownson et al. 2011; Opiyo et al. 2013; Makkar et al. 2016). There were some similarities in the spread of intervention mechanisms being evaluated in the studies included for research question 2. In the 152 included studies, the least assessed mechanism was the awareness of EIDM mechanism, with 8 studies, indicating a lack of both impact evaluation and qualitative evaluation evidence for this mechanism of change. A total of 47 studies assessed the structures and process mechanism, while 27 studies considered the agreement on evidence and policy needs mechanism. The most frequently assessed mechanisms of change were interaction with decision-makers (n = 92), access to evidence (n = 80), and building skills of policymakers (n= 56). Of these, a small number of studies assess interventions working through a single mechanism of change. There are 17 studies (e.g., Bashir et al. 2016; Amadou et al. 2020; Mehmood, 2024) that evaluate interventions applying the skills mechanism as a sole mechanism of change, 11 applying the structures and process mechanism (Phillips et al. 2014; Tirivanhu et al. 2017; Goldman et al. 2018) and nine applying the access mechanism (e.g., Munyoro (2019; McKay et al. 2022; Robson et al. 2023). Six studies evaluate interventions working through the interaction mechanism as a sole mechanism of change (e.g., Norton et al. 2016; Oronje, 2017; Sakala et al. 2023). One study evaluated interventions working through

each of the awareness (Carrasco et al. 2023) and agreement (Doughman et al. 2017) mechanisms as the sole mechanism of change, respectively.

A majority of the studies assess interventions applying mechanisms of change that are paired with other intervention mechanisms. The most frequent pairing of intervention mechanisms are the access and interaction mechanisms (n = 55), skills and interaction (n = 30), agreement and interaction (n = 21), structure and process and interaction (n = 21), access and skills (n = 20) and access and structures and processes (n = 19). The least frequent pairings are the awareness and structures and processes (n = 4), access and awareness (n = 4), skills and agreement (n = 3), awareness and agreement (n = 2), as well as awareness and skills (n = 2) mechanisms.





4.2.3 Outcomes

The studies included to address both research questions 1 and 2 broadly looked at similar outcome areas. None of the impact evaluations addressing research question 1 measured a socio-economic outcome, and only three of the studies included to address research question 2 explored influence on a socio-economic outcome (development impact).

For the impact evaluations included for research question 1, seven of the included studies attempted to measure the impact of the intervention on evidence use by policymakers, either at the individual, team, or institutional level. All seven measured an indicator of evidence use for policy design, while two of the seven also included an indicator of evidence use for policy implementation. Appendix Table 3 in Appendix E presents an overview of how these seven studies attempted to measure evidence use. Seventeen of the eighteen included studies measured an intermediate outcome, either capability to use evidence, motivation to use evidence, or opportunity to use evidence. Thirteen studies measured an indicator of capability

to use evidence, twelve studies measured an indicator of motivation to use evidence, and three studies measured an indicator of opportunity to use evidence (Figure 8).

For the studies included for research question 2, the largest explored outcome was evidence use for policy design (n = 77). In contrast, evidence use for policy implementation was not assessed frequently (n = 20). In terms of intermediate outcomes influencing evidence use, studies reported on capability to use evidence (n = 61), opportunity to use evidence (n = 54), and motivation to use evidence (n = 52).





Note: The number of studies in the figure add up to more than the total number of studies as some studies looked at multiple outcomes

4.2.4 Study design

We used different study design inclusion criteria for research questions 1 and 2. To address research question 1, we included counterfactual impact evaluations, specifically RCTs and quasi-experimental designs. For research question 2, we included any empirical evaluation from an LMIC that explored the factors that have influenced the design, implementation, and impact of EIDM interventions. We used broader inclusion criteria for this question to ensure that our systematic review included the broader and diverse evidence base on EIDM in LMICs. We defined 'empirical' as a study applying a structured approach to both data collection and data analysis.

Most of the included impact evaluation studies were randomised controlled trials (n = 15). The remaining studies either used a quasi-experimental, controlled before-and-after design (n = 2), specifically Wilson and colleagues (2017a; 2017b) and Jacobs and colleagues (2014), or an interrupted time series design in the case of Makkar and colleagues (2016) (n = 1).

An examination of the studies included to address research question 2 revealed that most were programme or policy evaluations without a counterfactual impact component (n = 35), followed by exploratory studies (n = 32), practitioner reflections (n = 30) and case studies (n = 32).

= 29), as shown in Figure 9. The least common designs were document reviews (6), counterfactual based evaluations $(n = 6)^{10}$ and user-feedback designs (n = 5).



Figure 9. Study designs in included studies

4.2.5 Population

This section describes the impact evaluation evidence base for the first research question. Due to the size of the evidence base, we did not code the policymaker population in detail for research question 2, but we report on the policy areas of each included study.

The 18 included impact evaluations targeted a diverse set of policymakers in terms of policy area, level of government and role. Hjort and colleagues (2020) targeted municipality mayors in Brazil, who oversee local public services such as education, health, sanitation, and transportation as well as local taxation. Crowley and colleagues (2021a, 2021b) targeted US congressional offices working on child and family policy. Rogger and Somani (2023) targeted their evidence briefing at civil servants working at the federal, regional and district levels of the Ethiopian government, specifically those working on agriculture, education, health, revenue, and trade policy. Mehmood and colleagues (2024) studied the effect of quantitative research methods training on junior ministers entering service in Pakistan. Toma and Bell (2022) targeted staff at several US federal government agencies involved in developing, interpreting, or making decisions using evidence. Scott and colleagues (2023) targeted US state legislators and their staffers who sat on committees related to health.

¹⁰ This refers to six impact evaluations included in review question 1.

Several studies specifically targeted health policymakers. Brownson and colleagues (2011) targeted their policy briefs at state-level health policy makers, specifically legislative staff, state legislators, and executive branch administrators. Brownson and colleagues (2017) targeted their EIDM training at chronic disease control staff working in state and local health departments in government or community-based coalitions, while Jacobs and colleagues (2014) targeted their EIDM training to four local health departments in the USA. Dobbins and colleagues (2009) targeted their knowledge broker and messaging programme at Canadian regional and local public health departments. Wilson and colleagues (2017a; 2017b) targeted regional health policymakers (Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs)) in England. Makkar and colleagues (2016) targeted employees from state and federal-level health agencies in Australia.

A small number of studies explored impact on a mixed population that included policymakers but also practitioners and researchers. Masset and colleagues (2013), also reported in Beynon and colleagues (2012) targeted their policy briefs at people on contact lists held by the IDS Knowledge Services department and 3ie, which included government actors, academics, NGOs and international aid organisations, with the large majority of respondents involved in nutrition and agriculture. Fillol and colleagues (2022) targeted global health actors in French speaking African countries, including those from national governments, international organisations, development banks, civil society and academic institutions. Vivalt and Coville (2023) studied policymakers, policy practitioners and researchers attending World Bank or Inter-American Development Bank workshops. Nellis and colleagues (2019) studied mid-level and senior policymakers and practitioners working in Washington DC in the USA. Opiyo and colleagues (2013) studied the impact of varying the format of systematic review findings for health professionals on a guideline development panel, which included both policy and clinical health professionals. Finally, Di Noia and colleagues (2003) worked with a mixed population of policymaking organizations, community agencies and schools involved in drug abuse prevention programming.

The 152 studies included to address research question 2 involved policymakers working primarily in the health sector (n = 108, 68%), significantly more than any other sector as shown in Figure 10 below¹¹. Fourteen percent (n = 22) of the studies were not sector-specific whilst 6% (n = 9) took place with policymakers from the environmental sector. The policy areas targeted by the fewest studies are agriculture; economic development; employment; financial; science, technology and innovation; transport and youth development with one study from each of the sectors.

¹¹ A total of 158 policy intervention "points" were generated from the 152 studies included to address review question 2, since some studies covered more than one policy area.





4.3 Risk of bias in included studies

We present the summaries of the risk of bias assessment for the included RCTs and QEDs in Figures 11a and 11b respectively, with the full assessment included in Appendix G. We assessed almost half of the included impact evaluations (n = 7) as having some concerns about the risk of bias.

We included 15 RCTs in the review, reported in 16 papers. We rated one of these papers as having a high risk of bias overall, seven studies as having some concerns overall and seven studies reported in seven papers as having a low risk of bias overall. Three studies were rated as being at risk of bias due to attrition at follow-up (Brownson et al. 2011; Brownson et al. 2017; Masset et al. 2013; Beynon et al. 2012). Brownson and colleagues (2017) were rated as being at a risk of bias due to confounding from differences in observable characteristics between treatment and control group participants. Six of the included RCTs did not clearly describe a process and method for randomisation, although we did not rate them down on this criterion if there appeared to be no other issues with randomisation and the studies demonstrated balance between intervention and control groups. Eight of the RCTs were rated as being of low risk of bias due to departures from intended interventions. The remaining seven were rated as being at risk of bias due to possible contamination of the control group or implementation challenges that may have threatened the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention. All the RCTs were rated as having a low risk of bias from the selection of results reported.

We included three quasi-experimental studies in the review, reported in four papers. The two controlled-before and after studies were both rated as having a high risk of bias (Wilson et al.

2017a; 2017b; Jacobs et al. 2014). The key reasons that we rated Wilson and colleagues' (2017a; 2017b) study as having a high risk of bias were due to the selection process for receiving treatment, where some of the very small number of participants requested to be in either control or intervention, and the high attrition at follow-up. The key reason that we rated Jacobs et al.'s (2014) study as having a high risk of bias were due to the differences between the intervention and control group participants in observable characteristics, some differential attrition at follow-up, and the risk of social desirability bias in the outcome measure. The interrupted time series study, Makkar and colleagues (2016) was appraised using a separate tool explicitly for interrupted time series studies.

				Risk c	of bias		
		D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall
	Hjort et al. 2020	+	-	+	+	+	+
	Crowley et al. 2021a	+	+	+	+	+	+
	Crowley et al. 2021b	+	+	+	+	+	+
	Brownson et al. 2017	X	+	X	+	+	×
	Dobbins et al. 2009	+	+	+	+	+	+
	Rogger & Somani, 2023	+	-	+	+	+	-
	Di Noia et al. 2003	+	+	+	+	+	+
ybı	Opiyo et al. 2013	+	+	+	+	+	+
Stl	Toma & Bell, 2022	+	+	+	-	+	+
	Vivalt et al. 2023	-	+	+	-	+	-
	Fillol et al. 2022	-	+	+	-	+	-
	Mehmood et al. 2024	-	-	+	+	+	-
	Nellis et al. 2019	+	-	+	-	+	-
	Brownson et al. 2011	+	-	X	+	+	-
	Beynon et al. 2012	+	-	X	+	+	-
	Scott et al. 2023	+	-	+	+	+	+
		D4. Disculuted					

Figure 11a. Summary of risk of bias assessment of included RCTs

D1: Bias due to confounding D2: Bias due to departures from intended interventions



D3: Bias due to missing/incomplete data (attrition) D4: Bias in measurement of outcomes D5: Bias in selection of results reported

Risk of bias D1 D2 D3 D4 D5 D6 Overall Jacobs et al. (2014) +--+-Study -+++Wilson et al. (2017a) +++Wilson et al. (2017b) -D1: Bias in selection of participants into the study Judgement D2: Bias due to confounding D3: Bias due to departures from intended interventions High Some concerns D4: Bias due to missing/incomplete data (attrition) Low D5: Bias in measurement of outcomes D6: Bias in selection of results reported

Figure 11b. Summary of risk of bias assessment of included QEDs

4.4 Quality Appraisal of Qualitative studies

Figure 12. Summary of critical appraisals



Qualitative critical appraisal ratings

We present the summaries of the critical appraisal for the included qualitative studies in Figure 12, with the full assessment tool detailed in Appendix C4. Based on the qualitative critical appraisal sheet, the overall quality of studies varied significantly across different appraisal categories.

Overall, the quality of studies assessed ranged from high to critical. Of the 97 unique qualitative studies assessed, 23 percent (23 studies) were high quality studies, 45 percent (44 studies) were moderate, 21.6 percent (21 studies) of the papers were low and 9 percent (9 studies) were critical. High-quality studies demonstrated methodological rigor, well-justified

research designs, and transparency in linking data to findings. Moderate-quality studies exhibited some gaps, such as insufficient explanations of sampling choices or limited discussions on research limitations. Low-quality studies, however, often lacked critical details on research design, data analysis, or contextual factors, making their findings less reliable.

Most studies (n = 96) clearly articulated their research questions and provided a rationale for their study design, ensuring that their methodologies were well-justified. However, a subset of studies (n = 25) lacked detailed explanations for their methodological choices, which raised concerns about the robustness and reliability of their findings.

Regarding participant selection and sampling, studies that employed purposive or reasoned sampling approaches were generally rated higher. These studies ensured that selected participants were relevant to the research objectives with appropriate samples (n = 40). Conversely, some studies failed to explain why certain locations (n = 46) or participant groups were chosen (n = 23), limiting the generalizability and applicability of their findings. Inadequate justification of sampling decisions was noted as a recurring issue in studies that were rated lower in quality.

Data collection and analytical rigor also varied among the studies. Many demonstrated strong methodological rigor, employing systematic data collection strategies that ensured depth, detail, and transparency (n = 60). These studies explained how analytical categories were generated, making their findings more credible. However, a few studies lacked sufficient detail on their analytical frameworks, making it unclear how findings were derived from the collected data. This limitation raised concerns about the potential for biases in interpretation.

In terms of credibility of claims and interpretation of data, higher-quality studies effectively distinguished between raw data, analytical frameworks, and interpretation (n = 55). These studies provided a clear link between evidence and conclusions, making their claims more defensible. On the other hand, some studies failed to establish this connection clearly, leading to arguable or doubtful findings (n = 32).

Most studies (n = 90) included context; however, the degree varied from mention (n = 27) or consideration (n = 38) to a central role (n = 25) in the analysis. However, several studies lacked reflexivity (n = 89), failing to discuss the role of researchers in the interpretation of findings. Studies that did not adequately consider the impact of ideological perspectives and researcher biases were deemed less transparent, reducing confidence in their conclusions.

4.5 Synthesis of results

In this section, we report the results of the synthesis of impact evaluations that **answer the first research question**: What are the effects of interventions to support evidence-informed decision-making by policymakers? We identified 20 papers corresponding to 18 unique impact evaluation studies that met our inclusion criteria.

Given the broad scope of this review in terms of intervention mechanism and outcomes, this is a very limited evidence base upon which to draw conclusions about intervention effectiveness, and there are several absolute gaps in terms of mechanism-outcome areas. We begin by presenting a disaggregated description of the characteristics of the evidence

base for each intervention by the associated outcomes, before presenting the results of the quantitative synthesis, organised by mechanism and outcome.

4.5.1 Mechanisms, activities and outcomes

Table 3 provides an overview of the distribution of studies across the mechanisms and outcomes they evaluate. In the table, we first present a mapping of the six individual mechanisms and five outcomes, followed by the cases where multiple mechanisms were combined together within a single study. These add up to more than the total number of included studies as Dobbins and colleagues (2009) was a multi-arm trial that tested two interventions that fell into different mechanism categories, and studies typically measured multiple outcomes that fell into different categories.

	Inte	Intermediate outcomes F						
	Capability to use evidence	Motivation to use evidence	Opportunity to use evidence	Evidence use	Socioeconomi c outcomes	Total outcomes		
Awareness	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Agreement	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Access	7	6	1	3	0	17		
Interaction	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Skills	3	3	1	2	0	9		
Structure & Process	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Interventions as combinations of mechanisms								
Access & Skills	1	0	0	1	0	2		
Access, Interaction	0	1	0	0	0	1		

Table 3. Overview of distribution of studies by intervention and outcome



Note: These add up to more than the total number of included studies as Dobbins and colleagues (2009) was a multi-arm trial that tested two interventions that fell into different mechanism categories, and studies typically measured multiple outcomes that fell into multiple different categories. Each individual cell in the table indicate number of studies for each intervention-outcome combination. The total studies for each intervention and outcomes are cumulated from this spread, indicated by the following spectrum -

0 1 2 3 6 8 9 12 17

Eleven of the included studies tested an intervention that worked through the access mechanism. This mechanism emphasises the importance of decision-makers (1) receiving effective communication of evidence and (2) having convenient access to evidence. Most of the included studies in this category test design elements of communication and dissemination rather than making evidence more generally convenient to access. A key characteristic of this body of evidence is that most of the identified studies have an active control group (i.e., a control group that received evidence in some form). This contrasts with, for example, a study testing the provision of knowledge repository access compared to business as usual. We characterise these studies in Appendix D.

We did not identify any impact evaluations of programmes or policies that worked through the awareness mechanism, which captures awareness for, and positive attitudes towards, EIDM. Nor did we identify any evaluation of – or an agreement mechanism, which – specifically builds building mutual understanding and agreement on policy-relevant questions and the kind of evidence needed to answer them. They were not tested on their own nor in combination with other mechanisms in the framework. Examples of activities that fall into these two categories include social marketing around the norm to use evidence and awareness raising campaigns (Awareness), and co-production approaches and use of Delphi panels (Agreement). The impact of interventions working through the awareness and agreement mechanisms are therefore absolute gaps in the impact evaluation literature. We also did not identify any impact evaluations that tested interventions working through policymaker–researcher interactions or changes to structure and processes individually.

4.5.2 Quantitative synthesis

We synthesised the results of the included studies using a combination of narrative discussion of standardised effect sizes and statistical meta-analysis wherever possible, organised by mechanism and outcome. We highlight in text if results come from a study rated as having a high risk of bias, and forest plots also indicate explicitly which studies were rated as having a low risk of bias or as having some concerns.

1. Access to evidence interventions

Summary of key findings

- Eleven studies tested an intervention that worked through the access mechanism alone (Table 4). Three of these took place with policymakers in an LMIC, specifically Kenya, Ethiopia and Francophone Africa. Eight of these tested how different approaches to evidence communication and presentation influenced uptake, rather than impact of making evidence more accessible to policymakers generally. Most of the studies compared to an active control group receiving evidence rather than business as usual. Although a number of studies measured an indicator of capability to use evidence, interventions in this category did not directly target building policymakers' knowledge and skills to use this evidence.
- It was difficult to synthesise and draw generalisable conclusions given the differences in focus, intervention and control conditions, and outcomes across studies. Therefore, most of our findings come from just one or two studies. Most studies evaluated impact on one part of the EIDM intervention logic model, rather than testing both intermediate and evidence use outcomes.
- The few studies that tested making evidence more accessible found small, positive effects on outcomes.
- Source of the evidence and design can be important:
 - Global health actors in Francophone Africa were more likely to report using the findings of a policy brief when the author was reported as an African funder or international organisation compared to a European or North American organisation, but less likely it was an African university compared to a European or North American University (Fillol et al. 2022). Policy briefs on the topic of agriculture and nutrition that included an opinion from an expert or researcher improved the likelihood of participants informing someone about the messages of the brief although receiving a brief largely did not translate into evidence use (Beynon et al. 2012).
 - Providing more statistical data on variance and presenting impact evaluation results side-by side with other results for comparison may increase policymakers' updating of beliefs when presented with new evidence (Vivalt and Colville 2023; Toma and Bell 2022).
 - Contextually framed narratives around systematic review evidence improved accessibility and clarity of the information for participants at a guidelines workshop in Kenya, although they did not improve correct understanding about intervention effectiveness (Opiyo et al. 2013).
 - Individual and organisational characteristics can be important:
 - Policy briefs created evidence-accurate beliefs among those with no prior views but had little effect when readers had strong prior views (Masset et al. 2013).

 Tailored, targeted evidence messages had a much greater effect on evidence use in organisations that already valued research evidence (Dobbins et al. 2009).

The effects of access interventions on evidence use

We included three studies that evaluated the impact of a programme working through an access mechanism on evidence use (Figure 13). This mechanism emphasises the importance of decision-makers receiving effective communication of evidence and convenient access to evidence. We were not able to combine these in a statistical meta-analysis due to the diversity in comparison conditions.

Fillol and colleagues (2022) measured the impact of being sent a policy brief on self-reported instrumental use of the reported evidence. Those who received a policy brief from an African organisation were slightly less likely to report using the evidence compared to those that received a policy brief from a North American or European organisation, although this was not statistically significant (-0.13 SMD, 95% CI: -0.58 to 0.33). However, this varied by type of organisation. Participants who received a policy brief from an African university were significantly less likely to report using the brief findings than those from a European / North American university (-0.52 SMD, 95% CI: -0.98 to -0.06). In contrast, participants who received a brief from an African international organisation or donor were more likely to report using the brief than the European or North American equivalent, although these results were not statistically significant (respectively: 0.46 SMD, [95% CI: -0.06 to 0.98], and 0.39 SMD, [95% CI: -0.11 to 0.87]). Compared to participants who received briefs that said they were from donor organisations, participants that received a policy brief signed by a university said they were less likely to use the evidence (-0.11 SMD, 95% CI: -0.45 to 0.22), while those that received a brief from an international organisation said they were more likely to use the evidence (0.15 SMD, 95% CI: -0.21 to 0.50), but again, these differences were not statistically significant.

Looking at similar messenger effects on evidence use, Beynon and colleagues (2012) varied whether the contents of a policy brief on agriculture and nutrition was presented alone, presented with the view of a well-known sector expert or with the view of an unnamed researcher on a number of different self-reported evidence use actions three months later, such as whether the recipient of the brief had changed current policies/ practice or reviewed current policies / practice. The authors did not find a clear pattern of effects on reported evidence use actions by type of policy brief, as shown by the effect sizes presented in Figure 13.

Dobbins and colleagues (2009) evaluated the impact of sending tailored, targeted messages with summarised systematic review evidence to public health departments in government in Canada, combined with access to a repository of systematic review evidence. They evaluated impact on two evidence use measures: a general measure asking participants to report on the extent to which research evidence was considered in a recent planning decision and the number of well evidenced programmes and policies being implemented in their department. They found that intervention public health departments were less likely to report using research evidence in a recent program decision - although they note that both groups improved over time to some extent. These effects were not statistically significant (-0.32 SMD, 95% CI: -0.83 to 0.19). However, the authors found a significant, large positive effect on the

number of programmes with good effectiveness evidence underlying them being implemented in a department (0.66 SMD, 95% CI: 0.14 to 1.17). The moderator analysis, which we were not able to calculate standardised effect sizes for, found that organisational research culture was related to the strength of this effect. For departments with an organisational research culture rated as low, there was a smaller positive effect on the number of evidence-based programmes whereas there was a larger positive effect for departments with a stronger organisational research culture. Organisation research culture was self-reported and defined as the extent to which the participant reported that their organisation valued the use of research evidence in decision-making. The authors suggest that their generic evidence use measure, where they found a negative although statistically insignificant effect, may be too vague to obtain reliable and valid responses from participants, in comparison to their more concrete measure of implementation of specific evidence-based programmes.

Study	Intervention description	Population Country	Total sample size(s)	Evidence Use (3 studies) SMD [95% CI]	Capability to use (7 studies) SMD [95% Cl]	Opportunity to use evidence (1 study) SMD [95% CI]	Motivation to use evidence (5 studies) SMD [95% CI]
Masset et al. (2013) Beynon et al. (2012)	Varied whether the contents of a policy brief were presented alone, with the view of a well-known sector expert or with the view of an unnamed researcher.	IDS and 3ie mailing lists, as well as a wider set of 7 communities of practice. Made up of researchers, policymakers, practitioners and others. Multi-country study	807 participants (201, 201 and 203 in the three intervention groups respectively, 202 control)	-0.43 [- 0.80; - 0.07] to 0.20 [-0.15; 0.56]	0.11 [-0.16; 0.38]		-0.01, [-0.38; 0.35] to 0.49 [0.12; 0.86]
Dobbins et al. (2009)	Sent tailored, targeted messages with summarised systematic review evidence , combined with access to its repository	Public health departments Canada	108 health departments (36 departments in each of the 3 intervention groups)	-0.32 [-0.83; 0.19] to 0.66 [0.14; 1.17] ª			

Table 4. Studies evaluating the effects of access to evidence interventions

Study	Intervention description	Population Country	Total sample size(s)	Evidence Use (3 studies) SMD [95% CI]	Capability to use (7 studies) SMD [95% Cl]	Opportunity to use evidence (1 study) SMD [95% CI]	Motivation to use evidence (5 studies) SMD [95% CI]
Fillol et al. (2022)	Sent seven different versions of a policy brief with the same core content to global health actors, varying the types of authors presented in terms of type of organisation or location. All trial arms received a version of the policy brief.	Global health actors Francophone African countries	233 participants	-0.52 [-0.98; -0.06] to 0.46 [-0.06; 0.98] ^a			-0.80 [-1.27; - 0.34] to 0.56 [0.07 to 1.06]ª
Rogger and Somani (2023)	Sent evidence briefings with summarised administrative data on the population they were serving on errors made by officials about their population.	Civil servants in federal, regional, district level government Ethiopia	1455 public officials (1001 intervention, 454 control)		0.10 [0.00;0.21]		

Study	Intervention description	Population Country	Total sample size(s)	Evidence Use (3 studies) SMD [95% CI]	Capability to use (7 studies) SMD [95% Cl]	Opportunity to use evidence (1 study) SMD [95% CI]	Motivation to use evidence (5 studies) SMD [95% CI]
Brownson et al. (2011)	Tested different versions of the same policy brief on the topic of screening to reduce breast cancer mortality , varying a more narrative (story) presentation of evidence compared to a data driven presentation, and whether local or state level data is presented. All trial arms received a version of the policy brief.	State-level policy makers—legislative staff, legislators, and executive branch administrators USA	291 state level policymakers (66 received policy brief -1, 66 policy brief -2, 78 policy brief - 3, 68 policy brief – 4)		-0.09 [-0.42 to 0.23] to 0.00 [-0.31 to 0.31] ª		0.00 [-0.32 ; 0.32] to 0.12 [- 0.19 ; 0.43]ª
Opiyo et al. (2013)	Packaged systematic review results in three different formats in the context of a guidelines	Health professionals on a guideline development panel -	77 participants (Each of the 77particpants in each of the 3 intervention				-0.06 [-0.40; 0.28] to 0.40 [0.05; 0.74] ª

Study	Intervention description	Population Country	Total sample size(s)	Evidence Use (3 studies) SMD [95% CI]	Capability to use (7 studies) SMD [95% CI]	Opportunity to use evidence (1 study) SMD [95% CI]	Motivation to use evidence (5 studies) SMD [95% CI]
	development workshop. Specifically, systematic review reports alone, systematic reviews with summary-of- findings tables, and 'graded-entry' formats (a 'front-end' summary and a contextually framed narrative report plus the systematic review reports)	policy and clinical professionals Kenya	groups received each format)				
De Noia et al. (2003)	Varied whether summarised information about adolescent substance abuse and research evidence about effective programmes was	Mixed population - Policy-making organization, community agencies, schools USA	188 professionals (55 received pamphlets, 64 received CDs, 69 received information over the internet)		-0.20 [-0.56; 0.15] to 0.58 [0.23; 0.93] ª	0.38 [0.02 to 0.74] to 0.52 [0.17; 0.88]ª	

Study	Intervention description	Population Country	Total sample size(s)	Evidence Use (3 studies) SMD [95% CI]	Capability to use (7 studies) SMD [95% Cl]	Opportunity to use evidence (1 study) SMD [95% CI]	Motivation to use evidence (5 studies) SMD [95% CI]
	shared through different modes, specifically through the internet, CDs or printed pamphlets.						
Vivalt and Colville (2023)	Varied how much quantitative information on point estimates and their variance was provided to participants in the context of World Bank and IDB policy workshops.	Policy professionals and researchers attending World Bank or IDB workshops Multi-country study	314 participants		0.23 [0.01; 0.45] to 0.30 [0.08; 0.52] ª		
Toma and Bell (2022)	Undertook a lab in the field experiment where the impacts and total costs were presented to participants.	Staff in 22 federal government agencies whose role involves developing, interpreting, making	191 employees		0.14 [0.02; 0.25] to 0.20 [0.08; 0.32] ª		

Study	Intervention description	Population Country	Total sample size(s)	Evidence Use (3 studies) SMD [95% CI]	Capability to use (7 studies) SMD [95% Cl]	Opportunity to use evidence (1 study) SMD [95% CI]	Motivation to use evidence (5 studies) SMD [95% CI]
	Programmes and their impact were either presented side-by-side on one page rather than in isolation or presented with an impact calculator - the annual cost per person impacted.	decisions using research evidence USA					
Nellis and colleagues (2019)	Undertook an experiment , varying whether professionals saw single study impact evaluation results, meta-analytic results or a "placebo" presentation on upcoming research.	Mid-level and senior policymakers and practitioners active in Washington DC USA	55 participants (Each of 55 particpants in each intervention group and placebo received each type of information)		Unable to calculate standardised effect size – see narrative summary		

Study	Intervention description	Population Country	Total sample size(s)	Evidence Use (3 studies) SMD [95% CI]	Capability to use (7 studies) SMD [95% Cl]	Opportunity to use evidence (1 study) SMD [95% CI]	Motivation to use evidence (5 studies) SMD [95% CI]
Makkar et al. (2016)	Sent tailored articles and blogs, drawing on evidence from the Web CIPHER online tool designed to help policymakers better engage with research.	Employees from state and federal-level health agencies Australia	392 policymakers				Unable to calculate standardised effect size – see narrative summary

^aThese studies included an active control group and therefore a negative coefficient is a reduction in the outcome compared to another treatment, rather than business as usual.

	Figure 13	Effect of	access	interventions	on evidence	use outcomes
--	-----------	-----------	--------	---------------	-------------	--------------

Author Year Intervention - Outcome		Standa Dif	rdiseo fferen	d Mean ce		SMD	95	5%-CI
Beynon et al. 2012 [•] Policy brief (simple) - Reviewed policies / practice Policy brief (expert) - Reviewed approach intervention research Policy brief (researcher) - Commissioned related research Policy brief (simple) - Changed policies/practice Policy brief (simple) - Commissioned related research Policy brief (simple) - Commissioned related research Policy brief (expert) - Changed policies/practice Policy brief (simple) - Reviewed approach intervention research Policy brief (expert) - Reviewed policies/practice Policy brief (researcher) - Changed policies/practice Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $p = 0.77$	-	*		· · · ·		-0.43 -0.16 -0.10 -0.07 -0.05 -0.03 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.20	[-0.80; [-0.52; [-0.46; [-0.43; [-0.43; [-0.43; [-0.41; [-0.40; [-0.35; [-0.35; [-0.35; [-0.34; [-0.30; [-0.15;	-0.07] 0.21] 0.25] 0.30] 0.32] 0.33] 0.33] 0.38] 0.38] 0.36] 0.40] 0.56]
Dobbins et al. 2009** Tailored messaging - Evidence used in program decision Tailored messaging - Implementing evidence based approaches Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 86\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.4076$, $\rho < 0.01$	-					-0.32 0.66	[-0.83; [0.14;	0.19] 1.17]
Fillol et al. 2022* Policy brief (African university) - Instrumental evidence use Policy brief (African author) - Instrumental evidence use Policy brief (university) - Instrumental evidence use Policy brief (IO) - Instrumental evidence use Policy brief (African donor) - Instrumental evidence use Policy brief (African IO) - Instrumental evidence use Policy brief (African IO) - Instrumental evidence use Heterogeneity: $J^2 = 57\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0628$, $p = 0.04$ Heterogeneity: $J^2 = 31\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0172$, $p = 0.10$	 -1	-0.5		0.5	- 	-0.52 -0.13 -0.11 0.15 0.38 0.46	[-0.98; [-0.58; [-0.45; [-0.21; [-0.11; [-0.06;	-0.06] 0.33] 0.22] 0.50] 0.87] 0.98]
** indicates low risk of bias, * indicates some concerns								

Summary

- Source may affect evidence use. Differences in self-reported use were observed depending on the geographical location of the policy brief author presented to global health actors in Francophone Africa (Fillol et al. 2022). However, a study testing the effects of whether a policy brief was presented alone, with the view of a well-known sector expert or an unnamed researcher did not overall find a clear pattern of effects on reported evidence use and largely did not have statistically significant, positive results (Beynon et al. 2012).
- Targeted and tailored messaging summarising systematic review evidence with access to an online registry of research evidence was effective in increasing the implementation of evidence-based programmes in one evaluation in Canada (Dobbins et al. 2009). The extent to which an organisation already valued research evidence positively influenced impact on self-reported evidence use.

The effect of access interventions on capability to use evidence

We included seven studies that evaluated the impact of a programme working through an access mechanism on an indicator of capability to use evidence. We were able to include two of these studies in a meta-analysis. Rogger and Somani (2023) evaluated the impact of evidence briefings to public officials with summarised administrative data on the population

they were serving on errors made by officials about their population. Beynon and colleagues (2012), also reported in Masset and colleagues (2013), evaluated the impact of sending a simple version of a policy brief on the topic of biofortification and home garden effectiveness on evidence-accurate beliefs about effectiveness for both topics. We created a synthetic, or average, standardised effect size for the two similar outcomes from this study. The remaining studies are discussed narratively and presented in forest plots.

Access interventions had a small positive and statistically significant effect on *capability to use evidence*. The overall weighted average effect from two included estimates is 0.10 standard deviations (95% CI: 0.01 to 0.20; p = .03) (Figure 14). There is no heterogeneity across included estimates (Q(1) = 0.001, p = .98, $\hat{\tau}^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = 0.0.\%$). Given the small number of included studies, this result should be interpreted with caution.





Note. A synthetic effect size was created for Beynon et al. (2012)

We now discuss the results of the studies that evaluate the impact of access to evidence on capability to use evidence, but that we were unable to combine in a statistical meta-analysis due to the heterogeneity in control condition (Figure 15).

We were unable to calculate standardised effect sizes from Nellis and colleagues (2019) due to insufficient information presented in the paper, therefore we present the narrative results from their experiment with policymakers and practitioners that varied presentation of results from their Metaketa initiative of coordinated RCTs. In this experiment, each participant was presented at varying points with results from a meta-analysis of Metaketa results, a single Metaketa study, results from an external single study not conducted by them and a placebo presentation. The participants were asked to make predictions about the results of an unseen study after each of these presentations. They found that participants responded most to meta-analytic results compared with the placebo or the external study, in terms of improvement in

prediction about results of an unseen study and changing beliefs about the effects of intervention. However, these are not significantly stronger than the inferences from the single study in most cases. They did not find that the participants placed more weight on positive results, or more weight on the results they saw at the beginning of the experiment or the end of the experiment (consistency or recency bias).

Beynon and colleagues (2012) also evaluated whether the simple version of a policy brief increased the chance of the participants having an opinion about the effectiveness of the interventions in the policy brief (specifically home gardens and biofortification), compared to placebo. We did not include this outcome measure in the meta-analysis because of the dependence of effect sizes. They found that the policy brief did result in a moderate increase in the proportion of participants that had a view on biofortification (0.27 SMD, 95% CI: 0.003 to 0.54). While there was also a small increase in the proportion of participants that had a view on home gardens, this increase was not statistically different from the control group (0.15 SMD, 95% CI: -0.12 to 0.42). The authors also varied whether the contents of a policy brief were presented alone (results included in the meta-analysis above), presented with the view of a well-known sector expert or with the view of an unnamed researcher. They assessed impact on the beliefs about the effectiveness of the interventions presented (evidenceaccurate beliefs) and whether they had an opinion about the intervention effectiveness. There was not a strong pattern of differences in terms of change in beliefs depending on the type of policy brief. Specifically, for those receiving the sector expert framed briefs, there was a very small but non-significant increase in evidence-accurate beliefs about home garden effectiveness (0.06, 95% CI: -0.21 to 0.34) and no change for biofortification (0.01 SMD, 95% CI: -0.26 to 0.29). For those receiving the researcher-framed briefs, there was a similarly very small non-significant increase in evidence accurate beliefs about home garden effectiveness (0.05 SMD, 95% CI: -0.23 to 0.32) and a moderate but still non-significant increase in evidence-accurate beliefs about biofortification (0.22 SMD, 95% CI: -0.05 to 0.49).

There were similar results for the different types of policy briefs in terms of whether they increased the proportion of people with an opinion about biofortification effectiveness. There was a moderate increase in opinions for the policy brief with a sector authority view compared not receiving the policy brief (0.27 SMD [95% CI: -0.006 to 0.54]), and a large increase in opinions for the policy brief with a researcher view compared to not receiving the policy brief (0.42 SMD [95% CI: 0.14 to 0.69]). However, the effects for opinions on home gardens were not significant (sector authority view compared to not receiving the policy brief: 0.02 SMD [95% CI: -0.25 to 0.30], researcher view compared to not receiving the policy brief: 0.05 SMD [95%: -0.22 to 0.32]). When looking at sub-groups however, they did find that the policy brief had little effect on changing the beliefs of participants who held strong prior beliefs at the beginning of the study but had a greater effect on creating evidence-accurate beliefs among those that did not have prior beliefs.

Brownson and colleagues (2011) varied whether the contents of a policy brief on cancer prevention were presented alongside state level data or data that was local to the participant, as well as whether it included a story or focused on data only. In terms of brief understandability, all treatment groups found the briefs to be understandable. There were very small non-significant differences in views on understandability between a policy brief that was data-focused at the local-level compared to a data focused at the state level brief (-0.09 SMD, 95% CI: -0.42 to 0.23), between a policy brief that was story focused with state level data

compared to the state level data brief (0.00 SMD, 95% CI: -0.31 to 0.31) and between a brief that was story focused with local data compared to the state level data brief (-0.09 SMD, 95% CI: -0.41 to 0.23).

Toma and Bell (2022) varied whether presenting impact evaluation results and total cost of a hypothetical programme individually to US federal policymakers or presenting two sets side by side resulted in greater sensitivity to the results of the impact evidence. They found that presenting impact and cost results side by side instead of one by one individually led to a moderate increase in the sensitivity to the evidence of 0.20 standard deviation units (95% CI: 0.08 to 0.32). The authors measured sensitivity to impact using the relationship between a percent-change in program impact and a percent-change in assessments of program value by policymakers.

Two studies varied the quantitative information provided alongside quantitative evidence (Vivalt and Coville 2023; Toma and Bell 2022). Toma and Bell (2022) found that by providing the annual cost per additional person impacted alongside impact evaluation results and total cost of a hypothetical programme, US federal policymakers' sensitivity to the impact evidence increased by 0.14 standard deviation units (95% CI: 0.02 to 0.25), compared to those policymakers that just saw the hypothetical impact results and total cost. The theory behind this approach was that providing policymakers with the annual cost per person impacted, although calculable from the other information provided, would reduce the cognitive burden of assessing impact and make those policymakers more sensitive to assessing the value of the programmes. Vivalt and Coville (2023) tested whether providing additional statistical information to policymakers, policy practitioners, and researchers alongside point estimates leads to greater updating of beliefs when presented with new evidence. They found that compared to just providing the point estimate, providing confidence intervals, interguartile ranges (IQR), and min and max value of the data increased belief updating by 0.30 standard deviation units (95% CI: 0.08 to 0.52). Compared to just providing the point estimate and confidence intervals, providing confidence intervals, IQR, and min and max value of the data increased belief updating by 0.23 standard deviation units (95% CI: 0.01 to 0.45).

We identified one study that tested the provision of evidence via different formats. Opiyo and colleagues (2013) varied the presentation of systematic review findings in the context of a clinical guideline development process in Kenya. Healthcare policymakers and other professionals received either full systematic review reports alone, systematic reviews with summary-of-findings tables, or graded-entry reports, which included a 'front-end' summary, a contextually framed narrative report plus the full report. They found that the summary of findings table and graded entry versions had slightly negative, although statistically non-significant, effects on correct understanding about relevant intervention effectiveness (respectively to -0.13 SMD, [95% CI: -0.47 to 0.21] and -0.10 SMD, [95% CI: -0.44 to 0.24]).

One study tested provision of evidence via different dissemination channels (Di Noia et al. 2003), providing an evidence pamphlet on the problem of drug abuse and evidence-based programmes for prevention via the internet, a print copy in the mail and CD. They found the largest results for dissemination via the internet compared to print copies in terms of perceived self-efficacy for obtaining programmes (0.58 SMD, 95% CI: 0.23 to 0.93) and self-efficacy for recommending programmes (0.31 SMD, 95% CI: -0.04 to 0.66), with a very small, non-statistically significant effect on perceived self-efficacy for identifying programmes (0.08 SMD,
95% CI: -0.27 to 0.43). They found a large positive effect for provision via CD compared to print copies for perceived self-efficacy for obtaining programmes (0.48 SMD, 95% CI: 0.12 to 0.84), but a very small negative, statistically non-significant effect for self-efficacy for recommending programmes (-0.05 SMD, 95% CI: -0.40 to 0.30) and a moderate but not significant reduction in self-efficacy for identifying programmes (-0.20 SMD, 95% CI: -0.56 to 0.15).

Figure 15: Effect of access interventions on capability to use evide	nce outcomes
--	--------------

Author Year Intervention - Outcome	Standardised Mean Difference	SMD	95%-CI
Beynon et al. 2012* Policy brief (expert) - belief effectiveness bio-fortification Policy brief (expert) - opinion home garden effectiveness Policy brief (researcher) - belief effectiveness home gardens Policy brief (researcher) - opinion home garden effectiveness Policy brief (expert) - belief effectiveness home gardens Policy brief simple - opinion about home garden effectiveness Policy brief (researcher) - belief effectiveness bio-fortification Policy brief (expert) - opinion biofortification effectiveness Policy brief (researcher) - opinion biofortification effectiveness Policy brief (researcher) - opinion biofortification effectiveness Policy brief (researcher) - opinion biofortification effectiveness Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $p = 0.47$		0.01 [0.02 [0.05] 0.05 [0.06] 0.22 [0.27] 0.27] 0.42]	-0.26; 0.29] -0.25; 0.30] -0.23; 0.32] -0.22; 0.33] -0.21; 0.34] -0.12; 0.42] -0.05; 0.49] -0.01; 0.54] 0.00; 0.54] 0.14; 0.69]
Brownson et al. 2011 * Policy brief (local data) - brief understandable Policy brief (story, local data) - brief understandable Policy brief (story, state data) - brief understandable Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $p = 0.90$		-0.09 [-0.09 [0.00 [-0.42; 0.23] -0.41; 0.23] -0.31; 0.31]
Opiyo et al. 2013" SR summary of findings - correct understanding SR graded-entry - correct understanding Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $p = 0.91$		-0.13 [-0.10 [-0.47; 0.22] -0.44; 0.24]
Di Noia et al. 2003** Evidence briefing CD - self-efficacy identifying programs Evidence briefing CD - self-efficacy recommending programs Evidence briefing internet - self-efficacy identifying programs Evidence briefing internet - self-efficacy recommending programs Evidence briefing internet - self-efficacy obtaining programs Evidence briefing internet - self-efficacy obtaining programs Evidence briefing internet - self-efficacy obtaining programs Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 66\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0625$, $p = 0.01$		-0.21 [-0.05 [0.08 [0.31 [0.48 - 0.58	-0.56; 0.15] -0.41; 0.31] -0.27; 0.43] -0.04; 0.66] 0.12; 0.84] 0.23; 0.93]
Vivalt et al. 2023* More data provided (Mean, CI, IQR, min, max value vs. Mean, CI, IQR) - beliefs updating More data provided (Mean, CI, IQR, min, max value vs. Mean, CI) - beliefs updating More data provided (Mean, CI, IQR, min, max value vs. Mean) - beliefs updating Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 17\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0027$, $p = 0.30$	<u>*</u> 	0.06 [0.23 0.30	-0.16; 0.28] [0.01; 0.45] [0.08; 0.52]
Toma et al. 2022* Impact calculator - sensitivity to impact evidence Side by side results - sensitivity to impact evidence Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $p = 0.44$ Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 33\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0078$, $p = 0.06$	-0.5 0 0.5	0.14 0.20	[0.02; 0.25] [0.08; 0.32]

Summary

• The small number of studies testing different approaches to evidence presentation and dissemination do not find clear patterns of difference on capability to use evidence depending on how evidence was presented. The impact of a policy brief on evidence accurate beliefs did not vary in terms of the brief form, specifically whether it was presented with the view of a sector expert, an unnamed researcher or without an expert view (Masset et al 2013.; Beynon et al. 2012). A study in the USA did not find differences on brief understandability depending on whether the brief presents data that is more local to the participant vs regional data, or includes a story compared to data only (Brownson et al. 2011).

- However, policy briefs had little effect on changing the beliefs of participants who held strong prior beliefs but had a greater effect on creating evidence-accurate beliefs among those who did not (Masset et al 2013; Beynon et al. 2012).
- Providing additional, supporting statistical information to policymakers led to greater updating of beliefs when presented with new evidence (Vivalt and Colville 2023). Presenting impact evaluation results side by side compared to presenting results individually or providing the annual cost per additional person impacted can improve sensitivity to programme impact data (Toma and Bell 2022)¹².
- Summary of findings or contextually framed narratives around systematic review evidence did not improve correct understanding about intervention effectiveness in a guidelines development workshop in Kenya (Opiyo et al. 2013).
- While there was some evidence that dissemination via the internet was more effective than provision via print or CDs, this study is over 20 years old and modes of communication have changed drastically.

The effect of access interventions on opportunity to use evidence

We included one study that tested access to evidence on opportunity to use evidence (Di Noia et al. 2003), specifically on self-reported accessibility of information. They found a large positive, statistically significant effect of providing an evidence summary via the internet compared to a printed pamphlet (0.52 SMD, 95% CI: 0.17 to 0.88), and a smaller positive effect by CD compared to a printed pamphlet (0.38 SMD, 95% CI: 0.02 to 0.74).

Summary

• Providing evidence summaries via the Internet had a greater effect on increasing accessibility and the opportunity to use the evidence than CDs and printed pamphlets. However, as discussed above, this study is over 20 years old, and modes of communication have changed drastically.

The effect of access interventions on motivation to use evidence

We identified five impact evaluations of programmes that worked through an access mechanism that measured an indicator of motivation to use evidence. We present below the results of four of these studies in Appendix Figure 1. These were too diverse in terms of control condition to combine in a statistical meta-analysis. These studies largely evaluated different approaches to effective communication and dissemination of research evidence. We were unable to calculate reasonable effect sizes for Makkar and colleagues (2016), so we present results narratively instead.

¹² Toma and Bell (2022) measure sensitivity to impact using the relationship between a percent-change in program impact and a percent-change in assessments of program value by policymakers.

Opiyo and colleagues (2013) varied the presentation of systematic review findings in the context of a clinical guideline development process in Kenya. They found that the graded entry versions of systematic reviews with a contextually framed narrative improved reported accessibility and clarity of the information (0.40 SMD, 95% CI: 0.05 to 0.74). They found a very small negative, but not statistically significant effect, of being provided with the summary of findings table compared to the full systematic report only (-0.06 SMD, 95% CI: -0.40 to 0.28).

We were unable to calculate reasonable effect sizes from Makkar and colleagues' (2016) evaluation using the information presented in the paper, therefore we present the narrative results from their interrupted time series study. In this study, the authors sent Australian policymakers tailored articles and blogs, drawing on evidence from the Web CIPHER online tool designed to help policymakers better engage with research. Web CIPHER used the web and emails to provide access and delivery of health research, and the authors evaluated the impact on usage of the online tool. They found that publication of tailored articles that were relevant to particular policy organisations' goals resulted in increased, and sustained usage of the tool by some organisations targeted but not all. In general, page views of articles were higher for the targeted policy organisations. Publication of blogs were not associated with increases in usage of the online tool.

Fillol and colleagues (2022) evaluated the impact of sending seven different versions of a policy brief with the same core content to global health actors in French speaking African countries, varying the types of authors presented in terms of type of organisation or location. As well as the instrumental evidence use reported above, they measured impact on perceived quality of knowledge in the briefs. Like the impacts on instrumental use, participants that received a policy brief from an African university were significantly less likely to report that they thought the knowledge in the brief was of high quality than participants that received the same policy brief from a European / North American university (-0.80 SMD, 95% CI: -1.27 to -0.34). Overall, those that received a policy brief from an African organisation were slightly less likely to report that the knowledge was of high quality compared to those that received a policy brief from a North American or European organisation, although this was very small and not statistically significant (-0.08 SMD, 95% CI: -0.54 to 0.38). Participants that received a brief from an African international organisation or donor were more likely to report the knowledge in the brief as being high quality compared to the European or North American equivalent (respectively: 0.47 SMD, 95% CI: -0.06 to 0.98 and 0.56 SMD, 95% CI: 0.07 to 1.06).

Brownson and colleagues (2011) varied whether the contents of a policy brief on cancer prevention were presented alongside state level data or data that was local to the participant, as well as whether it included a story or focused on data only. They measured whether the briefs were found to be credible and whether they were likely to be shared and likely to be used. The authors report that all treatment groups found their versions of the briefs to be credible, and so there were no patterns of difference between a policy brief that was story-focused at the local-level compared to a data focused at the state level brief (0.00 SMD, 95% CI: -0.32 to 0.32) or a policy brief that included local level data compared to a state level data brief (0.00 SMD 95% CI: -0.32 to 0.32). A story-focused brief with state level data had a small positive effect on brief credibility, although this finding was not statistically significant (0.12 SD, 95% CI: -0.19 to 0.43). There were no strong patterns of difference on the outcomes of policy brief likely to be used or likely to be shared between different versions of the brief, as can be

seen in Appendix Figure 1. Their exploratory analysis indicated that there was a difference in the likelihood of use, however, from different groups of policymakers. Legislative staff members who collate evidence and help produce legislative proposals were found to be the most likely to use the story focused, state data brief (0.29 SMD, 95% CI: -0.02 to 0.61), although this difference was not statistically significant, in comparison to legislators and executive staff members. Legislators themselves reported they would be more likely to use the data focused state level brief compared to the story focused state brief (0.31 SMD, 95% CI: -0.009 to 0.62).

Beynon and colleagues (2012) reported on the impact of different versions of a policy brief on a number of indicators capturing motivation to use evidence, as can be seen in the forest plot in Appendix Figure 1 in Appendix F. This included whether participants would inform someone about the messages of the brief, whether they would read the full report of the studies in the brief, re-read the brief and whether they reported they would change policies or practice. While there was no difference between the various versions of the brief and the control group for a number of motivation related outcomes, they did find a moderate positive effect for the expert framed version compared to the control group (0.33 SMD, [95% CI: 0.05 to 0.60)] and a small but non-significant positive effect for the researcher versions of the brief compared to the control group (0.13 SMD, [95% CI: -0.13 to 0.40]) on whether they said they would inform someone about the messages.

They found moderate but non-significant positive effects on whether they did inform someone about the messages of the brief (respectively for experts: 0.34 SMD, [95% CI: -0.03 to 0.70], and researchers: 0.21 SMD, [95% CI: -0.15 to 0.56]). This is in comparison to the effect on informing someone after the brief messages for participants who received the simple version of the brief (0.07 SMD, 95% CI: -0.30 to 0.43). They also found a large positive effect on whether the participants went on to write a blog or article about the contexts of the brief for those that received the expert framed brief (0.49 SMD, 95% CI: 0.12 to 0.86) and a moderate positive but non-significant effect for those that received the researcher framed brief (0.25 SMD, 95% CI: -0.11 to 0.60). This is in comparison to the simple version of the brief that had no effect on whether a participant went on to write a blog or article compared to the control group (-0.01 SD, 95% -0.38 to 0.35).

Summary

- The presentation and source of evidence affected motivations to use it in some cases. Contextually framed narratives around systematic review evidence improved the accessibility and clarity of the information (Opiyo et al. 2013). Moreover, evidencecommunication from different types of institutions affected motivations. Compared to European and North American counterparts, knowledge in a policy brief was more likely to be labelled high quality by participants in French-speaking African countries when it came from African international or donor organisations but less likely to be labelled high quality when from African universities compared to European and North American universities (Fillol et al. 2022).
- There were no clear patterns in terms of impact on the motivation to use evidence depending on whether a policy brief presented data that was more local to the participant vs regional data, or whether it included a story compared to data only (Brownson et al. 2011). Policy briefs that included an opinion from an expert or researcher did improve the

likelihood of participants informing someone about the messages of the brief (Beynon et al. 2012).

2. Skills to use evidence interventions

Case study: Masset and colleagues (2013) and Beynon and colleagues (2012): An RCT testing the impact of a policy brief

Masset and colleagues (2013), also reported in Beynon and colleagues (2012), was one of the only impact evaluations included in the review that evaluated outcomes at multiple stages of the EIDM intervention logic model. They used an RCT to test the impact of various versions of a policy brief on biofortification and home garden interventions on self-reported evidence use as well as measures of capability to use evidence and motivation to use evidence. Some participants received a simple version of the brief, whereas some received a brief including a sector expert's view or the view of an unnamed researcher to test authority effects. The evidence included in each brief was the same. They found the following results:

- Capability to use evidence: The impact of the brief on recipients' evidence-accurate beliefs appeared to be independent of the specific version of the brief. However, they found that the policy briefs had little effect on changing the beliefs of participants who held strong prior beliefs about an intervention but had a greater effect on creating evidence-accurate beliefs among those who did not.
- Motivation to use evidence: policy briefs that included an opinion from an expert or researcher did improve the likelihood of participants stating they had written a blog about the brief, that they intended to inform someone about the messages of the brief and then whether they went on to do this. However, there were no clear patterns of impact on other measures of motivation to use evidence such as seeking further information.
- Evidence use: the evaluation did not overall find a clear pattern of effects on reported evidence use by version of the brief and largely the brief did not result in respondents stating they would review or change their policy or practice on biofortification or home gardens.

The authors ultimately concluded that overall, the policy briefs had a limited impact in their study and that more experiments are needed to assess the impact of different research dissemination methods.

Summary of key findings

- Three studies tested an intervention that worked solely through training and skills building of policymakers in EIDM and quantitative research (Table 5). One of these used a quasi-experimental design to evaluate the programme and two were rated as having a high risk of bias (Jacobs et al. 2014; Brownson et al. 2017). One of the included took place in an LMIC, in Pakistan (Mehmood et al. 2024).
- Effects were largely positive across outcomes, including evidence use, capability, and opportunity to use evidence.

• A study of a programme providing quantitative research methods training to junior ministers in Pakistan finds particularly large and consistent effects, including on their willingness to use funds for and run RCTs, while potentially reducing willingness to use funds for data which cannot provide causal attributions (Mehmood et al. 2024).

	Intervention description	Country Population	Total sample size(s)	Evide nce Use (2 studie s) SMD [95% CI}	Capabi lity to use (3 studies) SMD [95% Cl}	Opportu nity to use evidence (1 study) SMD [95% CI}	Motivati on to use evidenc e (3 studies) SMD [95% CI}
Mehm ood et al. (2024)	Training in quantitative research methods	Pakistan Junior ministers	190 ministers (70 intervention, 120 control)	0.52 [0.23; 0.80]	0.34 [0.05; 0.62]		1.25 [0.95,1.5 5]
Brown son et al. (2017)	Impact of a multi- day training in EIDM plus follow- up technical assistance	USA State health policy professionals	12 states (6 intervention, 6 control)	0.10 [- 0.07; 0.26]	0.33 [0.17; 0.50]	0.26 [0.10; 0.43]	-0.02 [- 0.18; 0.14]
Jacob s et al. (2014)	Delivery of 9- module training curriculum on EIDM	USA Local health department staff	396 staff (82 intervention, 214 comparison)		0.34 [0.11; 0.56]		-0.13 [- 0.35,0.1 0]

Table 5. Studies evaluating the effects of skills to use evidence interventions on evidence use

The effects of policymakers skills to use evidence interventions on evidence use

Policymaker skills interventions had a moderate positive but not statistically significant effect on evidence use. The overall weighted average effect from the two included estimates is 0.29 standard deviations (95% CI: -0.12 to 0.70; p = .17). We included two studies in a statistical meta-analysis on the impact of programmes that worked primarily through building the skills of policymakers in EIDM on their use of evidence. Mehmood and colleagues (2024) tested the impact of a training in quantitative research methods for junior ministers in Pakistan on whether they sent a letter recommending a policy for which there is RCT evidence – specifically deworming in schools – or a letter recommending a budget allocation for deworming to the federal government. Brownson and colleagues (2017) evaluated the impact of a multi-day training on evidence-based decision making for US health policymakers on their self-reported use of research evidence and their department's use of programme evaluation in decision-making. The training was followed up with additional training and support, including for building an organisation culture of EIDM and building evaluation capacity. This study was

rated as having a high risk of bias. Further details of the meta-analysis, including the forest plot, can be found in Appendix F (Appendix Figure 2).

Mehmood and colleagues (2024) also measure the impact on other proxies related to evidence use, specifically whether the junior ministers also sent more letters recommending orphanage renovation policies or increased funds and school renovation policies or increased funds. These were policies for which no RCT evidence was provided but which were under spending review in the relevant budget cycle and thus served as placebo policies. We did not include this outcome measure in the meta-analysis because of the dependence of effect sizes and because the outcome was qualitatively different from those in the meta-analysis. For these placebo outcomes, they found no change or limited change in requests. There was no difference in letters sent about orphanage renovation policies (0.03 SMD, 95% CI: -0.26 to 0.31) and a small negative, non-statistically significant effect on letters sent about school renovation policies (-0.10 SMD, 95% CI, -0.38 to 0.19).

Summary

• Training programmes for policymakers in evidence-based decision-making and quantitative research methods had a moderate positive effect on the use of evidence.

The effects of policymakers skills to use evidence interventions on capability to use evidence

Skills interventions had a moderate positive and statistically significant effect on *capability to use evidence*. The overall weighted average effect from the three included estimates is 0.33 standard deviations (95% CI: 0.21 to 0.46; p< .001) (Figure 16). We included three studies in a statistical meta-analysis on the impact of programmes that worked primarily through building the skills of policy makers in EIDM on their capability to use evidence. These were Mehmood and colleagues (2024) and Brownson and colleagues (2017) described above, as well as Jacobs and colleagues (2014). Jacobs and colleagues (2014) evaluated the delivery of a nine module Evidence-Based Public Health (EBPH) training curriculum to local health department staff in the USA. Both Jacobs and colleagues (2014) and Brownson and colleagues (2017) report effects on a measure of the EIDM skills gap. These two studies were rated as having a high risk of bias. Mehmood and colleagues (2024) evaluate capability to use evidence through scores from regular policy assessments conducted as part of their routine ministerial training, for example on research methods, as well as the correct answer when ministers were asked about the reasons to run an RCT. We combined these measures into a synthetic effect size to include in the meta-analysis.

As Figure 16 shows, there is no heterogeneity across included estimates (Q(2) = 0.0002, p = .99, $\hat{\tau}^2 = 0.00, I^2 = 0.0.\%$). Given the small number of included studies, this result should be interpreted with caution.

Figure 16. Forest plot showing observed outcomes and estimates of the random-effects model for the effect of skills interventions on capability to use evidence.



Note. A synthetic effect size was created for Mehmood and colleagues (2024)

Jacobs and colleagues (2014) also report on an additional outcome measure related to capability, that is, the self-reported availability of EIDM competencies for study participants, either in their own skillset or among others in their department. We did not include this outcome measure in the meta-analysis because of the dependence of effect sizes. Similar in magnitude to the studies in the meta-analysis, they find a moderate positive, statistically significant effect on this measure of 0.29 standard deviation units (95% CI: 0.06 to 0.51).

Summary

• Training programmes for policymakers in evidence-based decision-making and quantitative research methods had moderate statistically significant positive effects on capabilities to use evidence.

The effects of policymakers skills to use evidence interventions on motivation to use evidence

We included three studies (three effect sizes) that measured the impact of programmes that worked primarily through building the skills of policymakers in EIDM on their motivation to use evidence. Mehmood and colleagues (2024) measured attitudes towards quantitative evidence. Jacobs and colleagues (2014) measured the perceived importance of EIDM competencies. Finally, Brownson and colleagues (2017) measured perceived supervisory expectations for EIDM in their department, for example, whether their direct supervisor expected them to use EIDM. Two of the studies were rated as having a high risk of bias – Jacobs and colleagues (2014) and Brownson and colleagues (2017).

As Figure 17 shows, both Brownson and colleagues (2017) and Jacobs and colleagues (2014) did not find that EIDM training resulted in improvements in motivation to use evidence

(respectively, -0.02 SMD, 95% CI: -0.18 to 0.14 for Brownson et al. 2017, and -0.13 SMD, 95% CI: -0.36 to 0.10, Jacobs et al. 2014).

Figure 17. Forest plot showing observed outcomes and estimates of the effect of skills interventions on motivation to use evidence.

Outcome Author Year, Intervention	Standardised Mean Difference	SMD	95%-CI
Brownson et al. 2017 Training in EBDM - supervisory expectations for EBDM	+	-0.02	[-0.18; 0.14]
Jacobs et al 2014 Training in EBDM - importance of EBDM competencies		-0.13	[-0.36; 0.10]
Mehmood et al. 2024* Training in quant research methods - attitude to quant evidence		⊢ 1.25	[0.95; 1.55]
Mehmood et al. 2024 Wilingess to pay for correlational evidence Wilingess to pay for advice Attitude to qualitative evidence (self-report) Wilingess to pay for RCT evidence Would run an RCT Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 77\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0720$, $p < 0.01$ Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 91\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.1785$, $p < 0.01$		-0.40 -0.01 0.09 0.31 0.37 1.5	[-0.69; -0.11] [-0.30; 0.28] [-0.20; 0.37] [0.02; 0.60] [0.09; 0.66]
** indicates low risk of bias * indicates some concerns			

In contrast, Mehmood and colleagues (2024) measured the impact on several indicators of motivation to use evidence and found substantial effects of quantitative methods training. They found a very large positive effect on attitudes towards quantitative evidence in policymaking four months after training (1.25 SMD, 95% CI: 0.95 to 1.55). They found a small but non-statistically significant effect on attitude towards qualitative evidence (not included in their training) of 0.09 standard deviation units (95% CI: -0.20 to 0.37). They found a larger positive effect on whether the minister suggested they would run an RCT (0.38 SMD, 95% CI: 0.09 to 0.66) and their willingness to pay for evidence from public funds for results from a RCT on the impact of deworming (0.31 SMD, 95% CI: 0.02 to 0.60). They found a large and statistically significant reduction in the ministers' willingness to pay for evidence from public funds for correlational data on incomes of schools with and without deworming programme of -0.40 standard deviation units (95% CI: -0.70, -0.11) and no change on willingness to pay for evidence from senior public officials on the impact of deworming policy (-0.01 SMD, 95% CI: -0.30 to 0.28).

Summary

 While evidence from the studies with a high risk of bias indicates no effect on motivation to use evidence, the results from the one included high-quality study suggest that skills interventions may increase willingness to use funds for and run RCTs, while potentially reducing willingness to use funds for data which cannot provide causal attributions.

The effects of skills to use evidence interventions on opportunity to use evidence

Brownson and colleagues (2017) were the only included study to measure the impact of a skills intervention on an indicator of opportunity to use evidence, specifically self-reported access to evidence and skilled staff in their department. They found a moderate positive, statistically significant effect on this outcome of 0.26 standard deviation units (95% CI: 0.10 to 0.43). This study was rated as having a high risk of bias.

3. Multi-mechanism interventions

Summary of key findings

- Five studies tested an intervention that worked through two or more mechanisms of change (Table 8). Only one of these took place in a LMIC, in Brazil.
- The Research to Policy Collaboration rapid response model linking researchers with policymakers in the USA shows promise for improving evidence use and researcher-policy engagement, in this case with congressional offices (Crowley et al. 2021a; Crowley et al. 2021b). This was one of the only studies included in the review that used an objective rather than self-reported measure of evidence use, specifically use of research evidence language in legislation. The model involved training of researchers in the policy process and best practice for knowledge translation as well as facilitating interactions between them and congressional offices
- Tailored, targeted evidence messages combined with a knowledge broker had a positive effect on evidence use in public health organisations in the USA with a low organisational research culture but had a negative effect in organisations that placed a high value on research evidence (Dobbins et al. 2009).
- A study of an information session for municipality mayors in Brazil that presented on the value of impact evaluation and the research evidence around increasing tax compliance demonstrated that in some contexts, targeted provision of evidence to senior policymakers can lead to policy implementation (Hjort et al. 2020).

	Intervention description	Country Population	Total sample size(s)	Mechanisms of change	Evidence Use (3 studies)	Capability to use (2 study)	Opportunity to use evidence (1 study)	Motivation to use evidence (3 studies)
Crowley et al. (2021a and 2021b)	A rapid response programme targeting both researchers and congressional offices (Research-to-Policy Collaboration (RPC)	USA Researchers and US congressional offices working on child and family related policy	96 congressional offices (48 intervention, 48 control) 226 researchers (151 intervention, 75 control)	Access, Policymaker- researcher interaction, Skills development, Structure and process	0.25 [-0.15; 0.65]			0.06 [-0.34; 0.46]
Dobbins et al. (2009)	Impact of access to an online knowledge repository, tailored messaging on content from the repository, plus access to a full- time knowledge broker	Canada Public health departments	108 health departments (36 departments in each of the 3 intervention groups)	Access, Policymaker- researcher interaction, Skills development, Structure and process	-0.06 [-0.57; 0.46]ª			
Wilson et al. (2017a)	Access to demand-led evidence briefing services	United Kingdom	9 Clinical Commissioning Groups	Access, Policymaker- researcher interaction, Skills development,		-0.10 [-0.54; 0.34] to 0.01 [-0.40 to 0.42]	-0.17 [-0.61; 0.27] to -0.09 [- 0.49; 0.32]	-0.27 [- 0.72,0.17]

Table 8. Studies evaluating the effects of interventions combining multiple mechanisms of change

and (2017b)	Intervention A involved the briefing service plus a push of tailored evidence, intervention B involved the briefing service plus a push of untailored evidence	Clinical Commissioning Groups of regional public health services	(2 in intervention A, 2 in intervention B, 4 in control)	Structure and process			
Hjort et al. (2020)	Research information session on the value of impact evaluation, on the RCT evidence base around tax compliance nudges, combined with provision of policy briefs	Brazil Municipality mayors / municipality-level government	1,818 municipalities (881 intervention, 937 control)	Access, Skills development	0.10 [0.00; 0.20]	0.14 [0.04; 0.24]	
Scott et al. (2023)	An intervention that connected legislative staff iwith researchers by email, within the context of the COVID- 19 pandemic	USA Researchers and state- level legislators working on health committees and their staff	4,050 state level legislators (3,034 intervention, 1,016 control)	Access, Policymaker- researcher interaction			0.03 [-0.03; 0.10]

^aThese studies included an active control group and therefore a negative coefficient is a reduction in the outcome compared to another treatment, rather than business as usual.

Evidence use

We included three multi-mechanism studies that measured indicators of evidence use in policymaking, presented in Figure 18. Crowley and colleagues (2021a) evaluated the impact of a rapid response programme targeting both researchers and congressional offices in the USA, described as an outreach model for supporting legislative use of research evidence regarding child and family policy issues (Research-to-Policy Collaboration (RPC)). The programme combined activities working through access to evidence, policymaker-researcher interaction, skills and structure and processes mechanisms of change. The model involved training of researchers in the policy process and best practice for knowledge translation as well as facilitating interactions between them and congressional offices. They found that the programme moderately improved the instances of congressional offices introducing new legislation on child and family topics that contained research evidence language by 0.25 standard deviation units (95% CI: -0.15 to 0.65), and moderately reduced the instances of new legislation that did not contain research evidence language by (-0.26 SMD, 95% CI: -0.66 to 0.13). They also found a moderate positive effect on the level of researcher policy engagement (0.23 SMD, 95% CI: -0.57 to 0.46).

Dobbins and colleagues (2009) evaluated the impact of access to an online knowledge repository, tailored messaging on content from the repository, plus access to a full-time knowledge broker for public health departments in Canada. The knowledge broker made sure that the decision-makers received accessible, relevant research when needed, helped them to develop their skills and capacity for EIDM, and translated evidence into the local context. The programme combined activities working through access to evidence, policymakerresearcher interaction, skills and structure, and processes and mechanisms of change. In contrast to Crowley and colleagues (2021a), they found a small negative although statistically insignificant effect on the outcomes of interest, specifically, the extent to which evidence was used in a recent program decision in the last 12 months (-0.06 SMD, 95% CI: -0.57 to 0.46) or the sum of 12 different evidence-based policies and programmes being implemented by the department (-0.08 SMD, 95% CI: -0.59 to 0.43). However, their moderator analysis, which we were not able to calculate standardised effect sizes for, found that organisational research culture was related to the effect. For departments with an organisational research culture rated as low, there was a positive effect on the number of evidence-based programmes whereas there was a negative effect for departments with a stronger organisational research culture. Organisation research culture was self-reported and defined as the extent to which the participant reported that their organisation valued the use of research evidence in decisionmaking. The authors suggest one explanation for this may be that knowledge brokers spent more time on developing department capacity, which may have slowed down decision-making in these departments.

Figure 18. Effect of multiple mechanisms

Interaction, skills, structure/process, and access mechanism combinations

Outcome Author Year, Intervention	Standardised Mean Difference	SMD	95%-CI
Evidence Use Crowley et al. 2021a**, Research-to-Policy Collaboration - Legislation without evidence language – Dobbins et al. 2009**, Knowledge broker service - extent evidence used in program decision Crowley et al. 2021a**, Research-to-Policy Collaboration - Researcher policy engagement Crowley et al. 2021a**, Research-to-Policy Collaboration - Legislation with evidence language Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 40\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0247$, $p = 0.17$		-0.26 -0.06 0.23 0.25	[-0.66; 0.13] [-0.57; 0.46] [-0.03; 0.49] [-0.15; 0.65]
Capability to Use Evidence Wilson et al. 2017b, Perceived organisational capacity to use research evidence Wilson et al. 2017b, Perceived organisational capacity to use research evidence Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $\rho = 0.71$		-0.10 0.01	[-0.54; 0.34] [-0.39; 0.42]
Opportunity to Use Evidence Wilson et al. 2017b, Contact between policymakers and researchers (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Contact between policymakers and researchers (self-report) Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $\rho = 0.78$		-0.17 -0.09	[-0.62; 0.27] [-0.49; 0.32]
Motivation to Use Evidence Wilson et al. 2017b, Behavioural control around research use (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Institutional support for policymaker - researcher contact (self-report) Crowley et al. 2021b**, Researcher concern (self-report): policymakers' support for research Crowley et al. 2021b**, Researcher concern (self-report): policymakers' use of scientific evidence Wilson et al. 2017b, Fayal status during policymaker - researcher contact (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Equal status during policymaker - researcher contact (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Group norms: use of research (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Equal status during policymaker - researcher contact (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Behavioural control around research use (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Group norms: use of research (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Behavioural control around research use (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Behavioural control around research use (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Equal status during policymaker - researcher contact (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Equal status during policymaker - researcher contact (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Equal status during policymaker - researcher contact (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Equal status during policymaker - researcher contact (self-report) Wilson et al. 2017b, Policymaker - researcher common group identify (self-report		-0.43 -0.37 -0.34 -0.34 -0.32 -0.29 -0.28 -0.27 -0.26 -0.25 -0.23 -0.12 -0.08 -0.06 -0.06 -0.06 -0.06 -0.04 -0.03 -0.01 0.06 0.14	[-0.84; -0.02] [-0.87; 0.02] [-0.81; 0.08] [-0.60; -0.08] [-0.76; 0.13] [-0.74; 0.15] [-0.73; 0.16] [-0.72; 0.17] [-0.71; 0.18] [-0.64; 0.18] [-0.58; 0.21] [-0.53; 0.29] [-0.49; 0.33] [-0.47; 0.35] [-0.47; 0.35] [-0.47; 0.35] [-0.48; 0.40] [-0.44; 0.47] [-0.44; 0.47] [-0.44; 0.47] [-0.44; 0.46] [-0.27; 0.55]
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 2\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0010$, $p = 0.43$ Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 15\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0073$, $p = 0.23$	-0.5 0 0.5		_ , ,

** indicates low risk of bias, * indicates some concerns

Access and skills mechanism combinations

Outcome Author Year, Intervention	Standardised Mean Difference	SMD	95%-CI
Evidence Use Hjort et al. 2020**, Evidence-based policy adoption	-	- 0.10	[-0.00; 0.20]
Capability to Use Evidence Hjort et al. 2020**, Accuracy of beliefs about intervention effectiveness Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $p = 0.60$, , , , =	0.14	[0.04; 0.24]
	-0.2 -0.1 0 0.1	0.2	

** indicates low risk of bias, * indicates some concerns

Access and interaction mechanism combination

Outcome Author Year, Intervention	Standardised Mean Difference	SMD	95%-CI
Motivation to use evidence Scott et al. 2023 **, SciComm Optimizer for Policy Engagement (SCOPE) - Research evidence in COVID19 social media posts		0.03 [-0	.03; 0.10]
** indicates low risk of bias, * indicates some concerns	-0.05 0 0.05		

Hjort and colleagues (2020) evaluated an intervention that worked through the combination of **providing access to evidence and supporting development of policymaker skills.** This evaluation tested a research information session for Brazilian municipality mayors at a national conference that introduced the idea of impact evaluation and presented findings from impact studies testing reminder letters on tax compliance. Mayors were also provided with a policy brief summarising these findings. They found a small positive, statistically significant effect on evidence use through the adoption of tax reminder letters in municipalities 15 to 24 months after the intervention of 0.10 standard deviation units (95% CI: 0.00 to 0.20). The authors undertook exploratory analysis to assess whether effects varied by the characteristics of the mayors and the municipalities that they represented, suggesting they could not identify clear evidence of heterogeneity likely due to small sample sizes.

Capability to use evidence

We included two studies (reported in three papers) that measured an indicator of capability to use evidence. Wilson and colleagues (2017a; 2017b) evaluated access to two different demand-led evidence briefing services for clinical health commissioning groups in England. They found that both versions of the evidence briefing service they tested did not have a positive effect on perceived organisational capacity to use research; specifically, -0.10 SMD (95% CI: -0.54 to 0.34) for the tailored evidence version of the briefing service and 0.01 SMD (95% CI: -0.40 to 0.42) for the untailored evidence version. This study was rated as high risk of bias.

Hjort and colleagues' (2020) evaluation that tested a research information session for Brazilian municipality mayors found *a small positive effect on their capability to use evidence,* specifically a significant increase in the accuracy of beliefs about effectiveness of reminder letters in municipalities 15 to 24 months after the intervention of 0.14 standard deviation units (95% CI: 0.04 to 0.24).

Motivation to use evidence

We included three studies that measured an indicator of motivation to use evidence, shown in Figure 18. Wilson and colleagues (2017b) measured a range of indicators of motivation to use evidence, including the reported value of the instrumental use of research evidence, while Crowley and colleagues (2021a) measured the policy makers' value of the use of evidence in policy making and researcher concerns around policy makers use of research. Wilson and colleagues' (2017b) evaluation was rated as having a high risk of bias. Both were evaluations of a programme that combined supporting **researcher - policymaker interaction, skills, structure/process and access mechanisms** on indicators of motivation to use evidence.

Crowley and colleagues (2021a) found a statistically significant, positive effect on policy makers' value of the conceptual use of research evidence in policy making (0.42 SMD, 95% CI: 0.02 to 0.82). They found a very small, positive but non-statistically significant effect on the value for the instrumental use of research evidence in policy (0.06 SMD, 95% CI: -0.34, 0,46). At the same time, the programme reduced researcher's concerns about policy makers support for research (-0.34 SMD, 95% CI: -0.60 to -0.08) and use of scientific evidence in decision-making (-0.34 SMD, 95% CI: -0.60 to -0.08).

In contrast, Wilson and colleagues (2021a) found a range of largely negative although statistically insignificant effects on motivation to use evidence related indicators. These ranged from a -0.43 standard deviation unit (95% CI: -0.87 to 0.02) effect on policy maker perceptions of researchers to 0.14 standard deviation units (95% CI: -0.27 to 0.55) on self-reported intentions to use research evidence in decision-making. However, as noted above this study was rated as being at a high risk of bias.

Scott and colleagues (2023) were the only study in the review to test an intervention that worked through the mechanism combination of providing access to evidence and supporting interaction of policymakers and researchers. They evaluated the SciComm Optimizer for Policy Engagement (SCOPE) model, which connected legislative staff in the USA with researchers by email, within the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. They found a very small positive effect, although statistically insignificant and close to zero, on the count of social media posts of targeted policymakers that used research evidence language to talk about the COVID-19 pandemic (0.03 SMD, 95% CI: -0.03 to 0.10). Their secondary analysis indicated that targeted legislators produced 67% more COVID-related social media posts including research evidence language in the categories of data and analytics and 28% more posts on conceptual use of research evidence but saw control group legislators posting 69% more about knowledge generation

Opportunity to use evidence

We included one study (reported in two papers) that measured an indicator of opportunity to use evidence (Wilson et al. 2017a; 2017b), specifically self-reported contact between policymakers and researchers. They evaluated access to two different demand-led evidence briefing services for clinical health commissioning groups in England. They found a small negative effect of both versions of the service, although these were not statistically significant (tailored service: -0.17 SMD, [95% CI: -0.61 to 0.27], untailored version: -0.09 SMD, [95% CI: -0.49 to 0.32]). This study was rated as having a high risk of bias.

4.6 Qualitative synthesis

Having reported the findings of the synthesis to understand the impacts of interventions to support EIDM by policymakers, in this section, we report the results of the qualitative synthesis for the second review question on the factors that have influenced the design, implementation, and impact of these interventions in LMICs.

We identified 152 studies that met our inclusion criteria, including 6 impact evaluations included in the first review question. We included three broad types of studies to address research question 2: (i) qualitative and mixed methods evaluations of EIDM interventions, (ii) reports providing practitioner reflections on delivery of EIDM interventions and (iii) policy case

studies that reported on EIDM interventions in the context of a particular policymaking case. We identified 97 qualitative and mixed methods evaluations, 43 reports providing practitioner reflections and 12 policy case studies.

As indicated above, this thematic synthesis aimed to identify themes related to the interplay of intervention design, intervention implementation, target population and contextual variables with intervention outcomes and effects. In total, we identify 49 descriptive themes configured into 11 analytical themes, which we discuss in more detail below. Table 9 provides an overview of the 11 analytical themes, including a short summary of each, as well as the descriptive themes on which the analytical themes are configured.

Table 9. High-level findings of the qualitative evidence synthesis focussed on identifying the factors that have influenced the design, implementation, and impact of EIDM interventions in LMICs

Descriptive themes based on the inductive coding of primary studies' findings	Number and type of studies per theme	Analytical themes derived from the configuration of descriptive themes
 Limited skills and experience Lack of training and capacity development Conceptual understanding of evidence 	Total: 25 studies Qualitative/mixed methods evaluations (n = 14) Practitioner reflections (n=9) Policy case studies (n = 2)	 5.4.1 Analytical theme 1: Evidence users' lack of skills and experience as well as inadequate training may affect the ability and opportunity to engage and use evidence while evidence producers' limited skills and experience may impact ability to engage with evidence users and provide relevant evidence. (Population) Policymakers' limited capacity to access and assess scientific publications, engage with researchers, and use evidence products such as evaluation reports may lead to challenges in the utilization of evidence. Insufficient research skills and training of policymakers may impede their ability to assess the quality of evidence and discern pertinent information to develop informed decisions. Respectively, limited training of researchers in evidence brokering and a lack of understanding of the policymaking process may affect the efficient production and dissemination of evidence as well as interactions (e.g. conducting policy dialogues effectively) with policymakers to promote evidence use.
 Disease outbreaks (e.g. COVID-19) and natural disasters Armed conflicts Political will and commitment 	Total: 30 studies Qualitative / mixed- methods evaluations (n = 20) Practitioner reflections (n = 7)	 5.4.2 Analytical theme 2: Disease outbreaks, political instability, political cycles, and armed conflicts can disrupt EIDM interventions, while political will and commitment tend to promote their successful implementation. (Context) Disease outbreaks such as COVID-19 and Ebola can disrupt EIDM activities such as policy dialogues, face-to-face meetings, capacity-building, and mentorships, as well as straining

Descriptive the inducti primary ste	e themes based on ive coding of udies' findings	Number and type of studies per theme	Analytical themes derived from the configuration of descriptive themes
 Pol interimenterim enterimente	litical and personal erests	Policy case studies (n = 3)	resources meant for these activities. Armed conflicts that affect the implementation of programs and data collection activities impede EIDM processes.
 Pol inst But 	litical cycles and stability reaucracies		Political and personal interests may affect the uptake of evidence-informed recommendations for decision-making. They can derail evidence-informed proposals that relate to policy issues and reforms. Weak political systems may present operational challenges to EIDM organisations and repressive political environments stifle freedom of expression, public voices, and civil society – which fosters open dialogue required for EIDM. Changes in the political climate (e.g., shifts in government structure) and instability (e.g., disputed elections) affect knowledge translation and evidence-generation-related activities such as science-based dialogues. Bureaucracies can constrain the implementation of knowledge translation activities, affecting the evidence provision's timeliness and decision-makers' ability to access evidence.
			among relevant stakeholders.
• Ble	ended learning	Total: 21 studies	5.4.3 Analytical theme 3: Designing structured, blended, and contextualised EIDM capacity-building programs facilitated by skilled trainers in safe and convenient locations
• Co	ntextualised training	Qualitative / mixed- methods evaluations	can enhance the impact of these initiatives to promote the capability to use evidence by
 Dui 	ration of capacity- ilding initiatives	(n = 14)	(Design)
 Ski Loc and 	illed facilitators cation for meetings d training	Practitioner reflections (n = 6) Policy case studies	Designing flexible, consistently structured EIDM capacity-building activities that are delivered with sufficient training materials, blended learning techniques, and tailoring to the local context, and facilitated by experienced and politically sensitive facilitators can promote the successful implementation of these initiatives. The duration and regularity of capacity-building workshops are an important consideration to ensure that participants achieve capacity development goals,

Descriptive themes based on the inductive coding of primary studies' findings	Number and type of studies per theme	Analytical themes derived from the configuration of descriptive themes
 Coordination of workshops and dialogues 	(n = 1)	thereby enhancing capabilities to use evidence. Choosing venues for meetings that balance convenience and safety for public officials and other stakeholders can foster participation. In planning capacity-building workshops and policy dialogues, logistics and pre-meeting organisations must be well coordinated with clearly stated objectives to avoid delays and confusion among participants.
 Relevance of content in evidence products Visual design of evidence products Translation of evidence Adaptation to time constraints 	Total: 8 studies Qualitative/mixed methods evaluations (n = 7) Practitioner reflections (n = 0) Policy case studies (n = 1)	 5.4.4 Analytical theme 4: Producing relevant, succinct evidence products that are visually appealing and translated into numerous languages can enhance more in-depth engagement with evidence and thereby can promote the use of evidence by policymakers. (Design) Providing evidence products (e.g. policy briefs) to policymakers that match their information needs in an easy-to-read and visually appealing format is an important design factor that can enhance the use of evidence by policymakers. It is also important to ensure that evidence products contain explicit most up-to-date information translated into numerous languages to sustain relevance and attain wider reach. The use of jargon and unfamiliar vocabulary may hinder comprehension and subsequent use of evidence. Policymakers often face time constraints and large volumes of evidence pieces to policymakers. It is important to note that developing a common language and adapting a format for presenting evidence to the right stakeholders at the right time may be challenging in some contexts.
 Diversity of stakeholders 	Total: 44 studies	5.4.5 Analytical theme 5: Diversity of stakeholders, consistent and effective communication can promote fruitful collaborative engagements whereas the high cost of

Descriptive themes based on the inductive coding of primary studies' findings	Number and type of studies per theme	Analytical themes derived from the configuration of descriptive themes
 Incentives High cost of engagement Policy dialogue elements Stakeholder collaboration 	Qualitative / mixed- methods evaluations (n = 26) Practitioner reflections (n = 13) Policy case studies (n = 5)	engagement along with a lack of policymaker incentives may hinder the effective implementation of policy dialogue elements and stakeholder collaboration. (Design) Establishing an enabling environment for productive policy dialogues is crucial for mutual and collaborative engagement. Professional incentives can drive the realisation of knowledge translation activities by encouraging attendance and participation in policy dialogues. However, post-project and limited incentives may pose challenges to effective participation, while relevant and tailored learning opportunities can contribute to increased participation. Negotiating stakeholder participation can present challenges due to its multi-sectoral nature and the growing number of involved parties, potentially resulting in high engagement costs stemming from expensive consultations and time-intensive processes. Implementers' adaptability may play a key role in securing partner buy-in for evidence promotion and trust-building between researchers and policymakers, which are essential for effective dialogues. Sharing regional experiences may cultivate collaboration and evidence use, along with regular dialogue facilitated by close relationships and effective communication. Including government officials as facilitators can further enhance collaboration and engagement.
 Time constraints Timing of interventions and engagements Scheduling challenge 	Total: 33 studies Qualitative/mixed methods evaluations (n = 24) Practitioner reflections (n = 7)	 5.4.6 Analytical theme 6: Timing of interventions and engagements as well as time constraints and scheduling challenges can affect stakeholders' participation in EIDM interventions. (Design) If interventions and engagements are not carried out at the convenience of relevant stakeholders, participation and attendance may be negatively affected thus limiting the benefits of EIDM-related activities. Misalignment of schedules can negatively affect stakeholder engagement in EIDM discussions. Time constraints and logistical issues, limiting follow-up

Descriptive themes based on the inductive coding of primary studies' findings	Number and type of studies per theme	Analytical themes derived from the configuration of descriptive themes
	Policy case studies (n = 2)	discussions and longer-term assessments affect decision-making processes and engagements for policymakers. Busy schedules among high-ranking officials, policymakers, researchers, and other stakeholders may hinder effective engagement with evidence, leading to limited collaboration, inadequate skill development, and challenges in accessing and utilising research data for decision-making.
 Lack of staff Limited funding Limited resources and capacities 	Total: 42 studies Qualitative / mixed- methods evaluations (n = 27) Practitioner reflections (n = 13) Policy case studies (n = 2)	 5.4.7 Analytical theme 7: A lack of resources, staff and capacities affects utilisation of evidence (Implementation) A lack of funding affects the implementation of EIDM activities such as workshops and dialogues. Limited resources and capacities hinder government personnel and other stakeholders' ability to conduct and support the utilisation of evidence. This is particularly the case where government departments and evidence brokers do not have sufficient staff dedicated to supporting the translation and uptake of evidence. A sufficient number of skilled staff within government departments may be imperative to enhance coordination and collaboration to promote effective evidence utilization.
 Stakeholder discord Digital connectivity challenges Information accessibility issues 	Total: 39 studies Qualitative / mixed- methods evaluations (n = 27) Practitioner reflections (n = 11)	 5.4.8 Analytical theme 8: Poor digital connectivity, communication, and a poor flow and accessibility of information create an inadequate provision of and access to evidence. (Implementation) Limited internet connectivity, stakeholder discord, and communication challenges may impede evidence utilisation. These obstruct the effective dissemination and comprehension of evidence for policymakers. In reverse, clear communication and improved access facilitate evidence uptake and integration into policy processes. This necessitates enhancing collaboration and

Descriptive themes based on the inductive coding of primary studies' findings	Number and type of studies per theme	Analytical themes derived from the configuration of descriptive themes
 Lack of clarity and clear communication 	Policy case studies (n = 1)	strategic communication efforts to overcome obstacles and maximise evidence utilisation for informed decision-making.
 Active leadership and organizational valuation of evidence Lack of leadership 	Total: 29 studies Qualitative / mixed- methods evaluations (n = 21)	5.4.9 Analytical theme 9: Leadership support and organizational valuing of evidence can drive EIDM, but limited stakeholder engagement in monitoring and evaluation may hinder evidence utilization, potentially leading to divergent opinions and alignment challenges during decision-making.
 Limited use and appreciation of monitoring and evaluation (M&E) Sharp differences of opinion Lack of shared vision and alignment 	Practitioner reflections (n = 8) Policy case studies (n = 0)	Strong senior leadership involvement can be crucial for enhancing research to policy relations and role delineation within the leadership hierarchy further facilitates effective collaboration and decision-making. A lack of an established culture for verifying evidence, weak ownership at less- senior levels of decision-making, and limited decision-making authority among implementers may hinder evidence use. Aligning goals between the research team and the research users can foster greater stakeholder engagement and emphasize collaboration and a shared vision, highlighting the importance of advocacy and leadership in promoting evidence use. A lack of coordination within and between government agencies may inhibit collaboration, while decentralization can empower less senior-level officials to make evidence-informed decisions, emphasising the importance of autonomy in policy implementation.
 Lack of interest by policymakers 	Total: 21studies	5.4.10 Analytical theme 10: Conflicting interests and resistance to change, high-turnover of policymakers and workplace confidentiality may affect the implementation of EIDM activities.

Descriptive themes based on the inductive coding of primary studies' findings	Number and type of studies per theme	Analytical themes derived from the configuration of descriptive themes
 Organisational restructure Resistance to change Workplace confidentiality 	Qualitative / mixed- methods evaluations (n = 12) Practitioner reflections (n = 7) Policy case studies (n = 2)	(Implementation) Conflicting interests, limited awareness, high turnover in governmental positions, and political and legal constraints are commonly reported challenges that disrupt the implementation of EIDM interventions. These barriers could impede consistent participation and disrupt continuity in policymaking efforts. Additionally, workplace confidentiality poses a complex challenge, impeding the acquisition of accurate data and restricting access to crucial insights from researchers. This reluctance to share information may undermine the credibility of findings and impede the ability to draw comprehensive conclusions necessary for effective policymaking.
 Mistrust in administrative data Difficulty in collecting and using data 	Total: 11 studies Qualitative / mixed- methods evaluation (n = 7) Practitioner reflections (n = 3) Policy case studies (n = 1)	 5.4.1 Analytical theme 11: Delays in data provision, poor data quality causing mistrust in administrative data, and data collection hurdles may affect the implementation of EIDM interventions and effective use of evidence in policymaking (Implementation) Mistrust in government data further complicates evidence use, while participant confusion and data collection hurdles lead to decreased engagement and potential duplication of efforts. Inconsistent administrative data quality and accessibility issues impede efficient planning and decision-making processes.

We next discuss each of the 11 analytical themes in more detail below.

5.4.1 Analytical theme 1: Evidence users' lack of skills and experience as well as inadequate training may affect the ability and opportunity to engage and use evidence while evidence producer's limited skills and experience may impact ability to engage with evidence users and provide relevant evidence (Population)

Included studies consistently indicated that the limited capacity of policymakers to access and assess scientific publications, engage with researchers, and use evidence products may lead to challenges during the implementation of EIDM interventions. For instance, according to Phillips and colleagues (2014) the South African government lacked evaluation capacity leading to departments struggling with compiling evidence into reports that could be used to inform policies. In Goldman and colleagues' (2018) assessment of the emergence of national, government-wide evaluation systems in Africa, specifically in Benin, Uganda, and South Africa, identified capacity issues across the three countries. The study notes that in South Africa, policymakers have limited capacity to use evaluation reports. Consequently, as part of an advocacy campaign to promote the use of Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E), a 3-day course for the three levels of public services was conducted and trained 250 officials. In addition, the existence of few evaluation organisations and limited resources to compile evidence negatively affected evidence utilisation in South Africa (Goldman et al. 2018). In an evaluation of a multisite knowledge transfer strategy by Dagenais and colleagues (2013) implemented in Mexico, Nicaragua, South Africa and Cameroon, very few participants were noted to have the skills required to read and understand scientific publications, and several mentioned that generally reading research documents is not a norm. In the INASP (2016a) study on approaches to developing capacity for the use of evidence in policymaking, there was a reported knowledge and skills gap among civil servants and parliamentary staff in a myriad of areas including how to access research, how to effectively search databases, and how to assess the quality and credibility of the research and other types of evidence. The need for skills and knowledge by policymakers was highlighted in Mijumbi-Deve and colleagues' (2022) study. Respondents consented to the fact that a particular set of skills such as reading and understanding research or synthesising evidence are important for rapid review findings to be used effectively and efficiently.

Furthermore, included studies identified capacity gaps in the production of strong policy briefs, reports, infographics as well as oral presentations. Several Parliament officers involved in Munyoro's (2019) assessment of the Parliament of Zimbabwe's informatics database for providing evidence-based information for decision-making were not sufficiently skilled in information management and technology which affected the sustainability of the project, thereby impeding their ability to access and engage with the evidence. In a structured reflection of lessons learned from evidence-to-policy initiatives, El-Jardali and colleagues' (2014) participants acknowledged that developing evidence briefs was burdensome and lengthy due to a lack of skilled human resources. This structured reflection drew on a number of sources and data from Knowledge Translation Platforms in Argentina, Nigeria, Bangladesh, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Ethiopia, Uganda, Sudan and Zambia.

Limited experience of researchers in evidence brokering and a lack of understanding of the policy environment may affect adequate interactions with evidence users, efficient

production and dissemination of evidence. A World Health Organisation (2021) study reported that modest experience in conducting policy dialogues coupled with poor cooperation between researcher and policy-makers was a major factor that posed systemic challenges during the development of an evidence brief in the Republic of Moldova. Even with established dialogue and stakeholder engagement, it can be challenging for researchers to bridge the gap between science and practice and understand all aspects of the policymaking process such that whilst there is a need to foster the use of evidence by decision-makers, it is also crucial to educate scientists in the policy-making field (Brites et al. 2021). Mijumbi-Deve and colleagues' (2022) study highlights the importance of researcher capacity beyond the traditional technical capacities including the capability to engage with and negotiate review questions. As described by a policymaker from Ethiopia who reiterates that "And I think the other important thing is to understand the decision makers' world because if you are a researcher, you don't always understand what is on pressure and the issues on the policymakers' side" p.6., thereby emphasising the need for researcher understanding of the policy environment. This was also attributed to the fact that centres supporting EIDM were generally established within academic institutions, hence the limited experience in carrying out structured activities in relation to engagement and adequately responding to policy needs. The Building Capacity to Use Research Evidence (BCURE)¹³ program emphasised how important it is for evidence advocates to think and work politically by assessing the context and potential for change through a political economy lens. BCURE was more successful in driving key mechanisms when partners identified entry points within sectors or government institutions that had already shown interest in evidence, had clear incentives for reform and a mandate to promote the use of evidence. The program also capitalised on windows of opportunity for partnership and reform, often leveraging existing institutional credibility and relationships to gain initial access. In addition, BCURE fostered relationships with individual champions who fulfilled the role of "gatekeepers and advocated for the program which helped facilitate its progress (Vogel and Punton 2018).

5.4.2 Analytical theme 2: Disease outbreaks, political instability, political cycles, and armed conflicts can disrupt EIDM interventions while political will and commitment tend to promote the successful implementation of EIDM interventions. (Context)

Disease outbreaks such as COVID-19 and Ebola as well as armed conflicts can disrupt EIDM activities such as policy dialogues, face-to-face meetings, capacity-building, and mentorships, as well as straining resources meant for these activities. The global COVID-19 pandemic impacted the integrated knowledge translation in non-communicable diseases project in South Africa across five sites that included face-to-face meetings, a key mode of engagement as their stakeholder engagement strategy (Mpando et al. 2021). This resulted in a shift from physical to virtual meetings and caused delays in some of the planned meetings. Primary research in South Africa was placed on hold due to restricted access to clinics (Mpando et al. 2021). The implementation of the capacity-building and mentorship (CBMP) program in

¹³ The BCURE programme was launched by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) to strengthen capacity of policy in low-and-middle income countries to make evidence-based decisions. The programme was implemented in Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Sierra Leone, Liberia, South Sudan, Pakistan, Zimbabwe, South Africa.

Ethiopia was negatively affected by the COVID-19 pandemic (Tilahun et al. 2021), while the Ebola virus affected the implementation of the Building Capacity to Use Research Evidence (BCURE) program activities in West Africa as it caused severe delays and withdrawal of an international adviser in Liberia. As a result, there was limited support for the revision of a cabinet manual (Vogel and Punton 2016). In Cameroon, the outbreak of poliomyelitis and subsequent response put a strain on resources and time available to policymakers to engage in the Policy BUDDIES initiative (Langlois et al. 2016). Armed conflicts can affect the implementation of programs and data collection activities, thereby impeding EIDM processes. For instance, in South Sudan, the outbreak of the civil war negatively impacted the Africa Cabinet Decision-Making (ACD) program, as some activities had to be stopped for a period (Vogel and Punton 2016). In the BCURE program, it was also difficult to conduct interviews with participants in Pakistan due to security concerns (Vogel and Punton 2018).

Changes in the political climate and political and personal interests may affect the uptake of EIDM activities and recommendations for decision-making. As an example, in Brites and colleagues' (2021) study on science-based stakeholder dialogues for environmental policy implementation, even though dialogues resumed successfully, political changes, and institutional instability impaired the reach of the dialogues in Brazil. The BCURE program faced challenges related to government setting dynamics across all contexts including regular changes in personnel which required the rebuilding of relationships. As a result, there was significant investment in staff resources to maintain and rebuild new relationships with program sponsors as well as managing expectations of program participants. Additionally, the evaluation of the BCURE program also highlights the political nature of decision making as one of the most prevalent barriers to EIDM. Political and personal priorities were often seen to overshadow the evidence. Evidence use is limited by existing norms and standards whilst, individual policy maker potential financial gains priorities and preferences affect the use of evidence. The study showed that political cycle pressures tend to block the use of evidence with governments and politicians been more keen to deliver their political agendas, creating the need for fast reactive decision making leaving little room to consider the evidence. Furthermore, in some cases evidence was used politically, particularly at higher levels of decision-making structures. (Vogel and Punton 2016). Jessani and colleagues' (2017) study on enhancing evidence-informed decision-making in Kenya was conducted just before the May 2013 elections and this may have affected the number of policymakers who were willing and able to partake in the study. The potential change in government structure and governance brought concerns with political upheaval and time constraints due to engagement with the potential transition (Jessani et al. 2017).

Bureaucracies can constrain the implementation of knowledge translation activities, affecting the timeliness of evidence provision and decision-makers' ability to access evidence. For example, the implementation of knowledge translation and evidence generation to increase the impact of vector control in Malawi were delayed due to stakeholder consultations, bureaucratic procedures, and political uncertainty emanating from the disputed election of May 2019 (Mwendera et al. 2022). Porter and Goldman (2013) report that bureaucratic procedures involving multiple reporting channels wasted time and effort while reporting on the evidence was seen as a redundant process which caused delays in using the information.

Political will, commitment, and support can promote the successful implementation of EIDM program activities. One example emerges in Nigeria where political support was a key enabler

of the successful implementation of activities in a capacity-building initiative for the Health Policy Research Group (HPSR) in endemic disease control that enjoyed the audience and support of the Commissioner of Health, enabling a series of meetings and regular communication via platforms such as WhatsApp (Onwujekwe et al. 2020). In contrast, a program manager in Enugu state highlighted a lack of political support from key decisionmakers in the Health Ministry as a major stumbling block to the proposed reactivation of a research unit. In Vogel and Paton's (2016) evaluation of the BCURE programme, political will was noted as a key barrier to EIDM. Respondents indicated that numerous top-level directors are deployed politically, and political priorities are advanced over insights from the evidence. Kawooya and colleagues (2020b) study in Uganda provides a similar example of the importance of political support, where a respondent noted that: "Then also you can [also] think about the political support was also key, because Mukono has most of the time been working with our political leaders and they have helped us a lot especially in mobilization, supporting some of the things that are supposed to be approved by the local council" p.13. Regime changes can enable EIDM to effectively drive evidence use. For instance, the change in a mandate of the Kenyan Ministry of Health meant that all departments attained the responsibility for policy which promoted the growth in demand for evidence (Vogel and Punton, 2016).

5.4.3 Analytical theme 3: Designing structured, blended, and contextualised EIDM capacity-building programs facilitated by skilled trainers in safe and convenient locations can enhance the impact of these initiatives to promote the capability to use evidence by policymakers. (Design)

In designing EIDM capacity-building activities, consistent structure, providing sufficient training materials, using blended learning techniques, tailoring content to local context, and facilitation by experienced trainers can promote the successful implementation of EIDM initiatives. For example, in a practical reflection on combining workshops and mentorships to build capacity in demand and use of evidence in government organizations, Stewart and colleagues (2017) highlighted that they were flexible with meeting dates and times for structured EIDM workshops in South Africa and Malawi in order to retain attendees and were also adaptable with workshop content depending on the needs of participants. Results of an evaluation of the Evidence-Informed Decision-Making in Nutrition & Health (EVIDENT) in Africa project involving participating organisations from Ethiopia, Ghana, Morocco, South Africa, Tanzania and Uganda showed that the blended learning techniques adopted to include both theory and practicals were effective in promoting EIDM in nutrition and health (Motani et al. 2019). Participants in the policy dialogue to support maternal, newborn and child health evidence use in policymaking project in Nigeria (Johnson, 2020) stressed the need for practical capacity acquisition sessions to ensure a minimum understanding of topics to be discussed in policy dialogues as well as workshops that allowed for group activities and interactive discussions among stakeholders. The knowledge brokering program to promote research use in Burkina Faso saw training sessions that were developed in Quebec being adapted to the realities of Burkina Faso which enhanced the relevance of the course content (Dagenais et al. 2015). However, some participants indicated that there were not enough teaching materials which potentially affected the impact of this program. Similar challenges also emerged in Zambia where consistency issues such as a lack of curriculum and discrepant trainer performance was problematic (Kasonde and Campbell 2012). In Yehia and El Jardali (2015), participants

found the utilization of a skilled facilitator to be one of the most helpful aspects of the policy dialogues.

The duration and regularity of capacity-building workshops are important to ensure that participants develop the necessary skills to use evidence. The results from Uneke and colleagues' (2015a) study focusing on enhancing health policymakers' skills in infectious disease control reveals that the two-day information literacy workshop was insufficient to adequately enhance the knowledge and skills of policymakers. In an evaluation of a capacity development program that focused on health economics among producers and users of evidence in Nigeria, some aspects that were highlighted to be considered for future improvement were training duration, regularity of training, and choice of peer educators to achieve capacity development goals (Ezenduka and Onwujekwe 2022). It is important that the duration of capacity building initiatives allow for sensible measurement of the impact of these initiatives. For example, Vogel and Punton (2018) report that relative to the aims and objectives of the program to attain a systemic change in government settings, the BCURE program was too short which limited adequate identification and measurement of longer-term effects.

The co-production experimentation by Culwick and colleagues (2019) reflects the *importance of hosting meetings in safe and convenient spaces.* The study indicates that the choice of venues required a balance between the convenience of public officials and other stakeholders to foster participation. However, this also proved to be challenging as one participant was unwilling to freely speak on a university campus. A flexible approach and reflection concerning safe and neutral space for different participants had to be adopted.

5.4.4 Analytical theme 4: Producing relevant, succinct evidence products that are visually appealing and translated into numerous languages can enhance more in-depth engagement with evidence, and thereby can promote the use of evidence by policymakers. (Design)

The provision of evidence products such as policy briefs that match policymakers' information needs in an easy-to-read and visually appealing format was reported as an important design factor that can enhance the use of evidence. For example, Jones and Walsh (2008) purport that policy briefs as communication tools need to be conceptually engaging and visually appealing to make an impact on an audience. Given that policymakers have constrained time to read, briefs need to draw the users' attention and the information should be presented in a manner that is easily remembered (Jones and Walsh 2008). In the Supporting Policy-relevant Reviews and Trials (SUPPORT) project that supported policymakers in Argentina, China, Colombia, South Africa and Uganda several participants indicated a mismatch between the content provided in evidence summaries and their information needs. In Ogbonnaya and colleagues (2021) assessment of the usefulness (and areas of improvement) of policy briefs and policy dialogues as knowledge translation tools, 88.9% suggested no changes to the short policy brief provided, while only 5.6% of the respondents indicated that the policy briefs provided could be made shorter for easier reading as well as the incorporation of local literature in the synthesis. Policymakers often face time constraints (Jones and Walsh 2008) and large volumes of evidence can affect complete engagement; hence, it is imperative to provide succinct evidence pieces to policymakers.

Included studies comprising this theme indicated that it is important to ensure that evidence products are easy to read and contain explicit and the most up-to-date information to sustain relevance and attain wider reach. For example, to promote the use of evidence in tobacco control in West Africa, results were presented in an easy-to-read format including policy notes that focused on policy recommendations, available in both English and French (Mane et al. 2020). In Rosenbaum and colleagues' (2011) study the use of jargon and unfamiliar vocabulary in evidence summaries hindered comprehension and inclusivity, thereby curtailing the use of evidence presented. Some participants in the study proposed shorter and clearer presentation of the evidence. When policymakers find it difficult to navigate through extensive and complex documents, it can act as a barrier to the effective use of evidence. As a further reflection of the need to have relevant up-to-date research in evidence products, an evaluation of user experiences of a clearing house for health policy and systems revealed that the house's website did not have all up-to-date information, possibly hindering evidence use (Mutatina et al. 2019). Developing a common language and adapting a format for presenting evidence to the right stakeholders at the right time may be challenging in some contexts. The project evaluation of EVIDENT in Africa by Motani and colleagues (2019) highlights the need to be adaptive and consider quicker alternatives such as rapid reviews given time constraints. Among other, the study found the production of systematic reviews laborious and timeconsuming such that many planned evidence synthesis outputs were not produced.

5.4.5 Analytical theme 5: Diversity of stakeholders, consistent and effective communication can promote fruitful collaborative engagements whereas high cost of engagement along with a lack of policymaker incentives may hinder the effective implementation of policy dialogue elements and stakeholder collaboration. (Design)

The inclusion of diverse stakeholders in policy dialogues and advocacy efforts was highlighted in several studies as an important feature which may improve the facilitation of mutual and collaborative engagement in implementing effective decision-making. Engaging a broad range of stakeholders, from affected communities to government officials, may foster ownership, sustained interest, and effective implementation of policies. For instance, Gichane and colleagues (2019) emphasised that involving diverse stakeholders from the earliest stages in the adaptation of Zambia's National Family Planning Guidelines helped build sustained government interest and ownership. Similarly, the World Health Organisation (2021) found that comprehensive stakeholder consultations positively influenced the use of evidence in policymaking by increasing opportunities and champions for evidence use in Lebanon. However, negotiating stakeholder participation can present challenges due to its multi-sectoral nature and the growing number of involved parties, potentially resulting in high engagement costs arising from expensive consultations and time-intensive processes, as noted in the Lawson (2016) study in the Ghana context. Additionally, structural issues, such as slow decision-making processes and poorly structured forums, can hinder dialogue. Dovlo and colleagues (2016) found that slow decision-making in Chad's Ministry of Health affected the dialogue process, while in Cabo Verde poorly structured forums hindered discussion and debate.

Effective communication and consistent follow-up also emerged as key components of successful policy dialogues and capacity-building efforts. Early recognition of convening

power, regular meetings, and proactive communication can help sustain engagement and interest among stakeholders. For example, the INASP (2016b) study highlighted the importance of consistent communication in the success of training and capacity-building projects in Nigeria. This consistent communication can foster ongoing discussions and the continued use of evidence in policymaking processes, as seen in Gichane and colleagues (2019) where regular meetings sustained government involvement and interest in Zambia. Yehia and El Jardali (2015) demonstrated that an integrated Knowledge Translation (KT) model, "which aligns the research efforts of researchers with the needs of policymakers and infuses public dialogue with an understanding of research evidence" p.2, was essential for strengthening relationships and ensuring ongoing engagement among stakeholders in Lebanon. In addition to effective communication as a successful policy dialogue enabler, building trust could also play a key role. As elaborated by Miszczak and Patel (2018), trust fostered through established relationships was crucial for effective communication and coproduction of knowledge in the context of South Africa, while in the Stewart and colleagues (2017) study in Malawi and South Africa trust developed with facilitators helping participants overcome initial doubts about mentorship programs.

Motivation and incentives, both financial and non-financial, can play a significant role in engaging stakeholders in EIDM processes. Keita and colleagues (2017) noted that positive perceptions of the research topic and design, as well as non-financial motivations, could facilitate the volunteer participation of potential steering committee members in Burkina Faso, Nigeria, Senegal and Sierra Leone. This was exemplified in Hjort and colleagues (2020), whereby participants in Brazil took part in the study "based on their interest in the participation incentive (lottery tickets) p.10." However, the decision to not pay incentives affected participation, as seen in Vogel and Punton (2017) in the VakaYiko project in Zimbabwe and the UJ-BCURE project in Malawi contexts, where participation issues arose due to expectations of monetary incentives. Furthermore, policymakers might be more inclined to use evidence if there are personal incentives such as recognition of their positive contributions as seen in Uganda (Kawooya et al 2020b).

Kasonde and Campbell (2012) also highlighted how databasing core issues within the research community in Zambia revealed a lack of incentives for collaboration among researchers, hindering the sharing of information and effective evidence utilization within the research community. The interest of individuals in participating in policy development and research, as well as the adaptability of projects to partner requirements, can be crucial for success. Miszczak and Patel (2018) emphasized the importance of individual interest in policy areas for engagement success in South Africa while Motani and colleagues (2019) reported on how the flexibility of the EVIDENT project in adapting to partners' requirements ensured buy-in and successful implementation in Africa. Understanding the intricate dynamics of motivation and incentives within policy processes is essential for fostering active stakeholder engagement and promoting evidence-informed decision-making.

5.4.6 Analytical theme 6: *Timing of interventions and engagements as well as time constraints and scheduling challenges can affect stakeholders' participation in EIDM interventions.* (Design)

Interventions to support and promote evidence use by policymakers need to be carried out at the convenience of relevant stakeholders for maximum participation and attendance. If policymakers are unable to attend and participate, the potential impact of the interventions and engagements could be limited. In Burkina Faso, the issue of timing was evident as respondents highlighted the absence of policymakers during a workshop that was conducted a week before the presidential elections. Respondents stressed the importance of having decision-makers present to not limit the impact of the workshop, further emphasising that the timing was not ideal (McSween-Cadieux & colleagues 2018). Approximately 9 % of the potential participants in Kenya in the study by Opiyo and colleagues (2013) attributed non-attendance to the timing of the meeting.

Scheduling conflicts also emerged as barriers to stakeholder participation in the study by Mbonye and Magnussen (2013) in Uganda, which noted that policymakers had busy schedules that hindered their full participation in the workshop for translating evidence into policy. In consensus, Ogbonnaya and colleagues (2021) noted stakeholders' busy schedules as an obstacle to attendance in Nigeria—policymakers were often occupied with other political engagements and therefore it was difficult for them to take part in knowledge transfer activities. In addition, scheduling meetings or interviews with government officials with the aim of capacity building was difficult especially in Bangladesh and Pakistan owing to excessive workloads (Vogel & Punton 2018). Stewart and colleagues (2017) as well as Waqa and colleagues (2013) underline the issue of non-attendance among participants due to scheduling challenges. In Fiji, only 45% of invitees participated in one workshop; and, further, did not complete the intervention which was 12-18 months long. The truncated government calendar which was used to address state affairs posed a challenge for scheduling events with the relevant officials to foster capacity building (Waqa et al. 2013).

In Burkina Faso, the busy schedules of high-ranking officials hindered opportunities for engagement (Robson et al. 2023; Dagenais, Queuille, & Ridde 2013). In a study by Young and colleagues (2018) in South Africa, participation was also a challenge. For example, policymakers were not able to collaborate with researchers as they often had to reschedule meetings on short notice due to competing priorities which negatively affected dialogues for evidence use. In other instances, knowledge brokers did not set time to engage with high-level ranking officials to promote knowledge sharing. This issue was also evident in a study conducted in Africa based on experiences of participants from Ethiopia, Ghana, Morocco, South Africa, Tanzania and Uganda in the EVIDENT program by Motani and colleagues (2019) where time was a barrier to participation and implementation of activities to promote EIDM. In addition, Young and colleagues (2018) noted that policymakers and researchers found it difficult to schedule meetings as some of the intervention activities were time-consuming. Similar sentiments were highlighted in Lebanon where the response rate to policy dialogues was low and this was attributed to participants' busy schedules as well as limited time to complete the survey and engage fully in the dialogues (Yehia and El Jardali 2015).

5.4.7 Analytical Theme 7: A lack of resources, staff and capacities affects utilisation of evidence. (Implementation)

A recurring theme in included studies was that a lack of financial resources and adequate staffing can undermine the implementation of EIDM activities and utilisation of evidence for

informed decision-making, respectively. The critical role of adequate funding in facilitating effective decision-making processes and sustaining knowledge transfer initiatives is evident across various contexts. Due to limited financial resources, fewer activities were implemented in a knowledge brokering program in Burkina Faso, which included the provision of researchbased evidence, facilitating knowledge transfer and application of the evidence, conducting evidence dissemination workshops and developing partnerships between knowledge producers and decision-makers. Other planned activities in the program included the development of policy briefs and follow-up discussions with decision-makers (Mc Sween-Cadieux et al. 2019). Deliberative dialogues to enhance decision-making between a health faculty and policymakers in Kenya were hindered by financial, time, and spatial resource constraints which affected engagement (Jessani et al. 2016). Financial constraints were further highlighted in Malawi during the development of a knowledge translation platform. Inadequate funding in the initial stages of development resulted in activities being paused continuously, affecting the sustainability of knowledge transfers (Berman et al. 2015). In Bangladesh and Uganda, funding for policy analysis institutes came from donors; however, when the finances were depleted, it was difficult to sustain the efforts of the think tanks (Bennett et al. 2012). A respondent in a Nigerian study by Uzochukwu and colleagues (2016) stated "...from the local point of view, governments of states are not always interested in research. In most cases, little or no budgets are made for research. Even where there are fiscal releases they are hardly used for research p.11." This further supports the studies above that noted limited funding as a barrier to evidence utilisation. Oronje and Zulu (2018) also noted challenges with capacity building among members of African parliaments such as being limited to small-scale training workshops due to limited financial resources. Conducting the workshops at a larger scale would have been more beneficial as a larger audience could have been reached and developed skills for evidence use.

The importance of having sufficient resources (financial and nonfinancial) was noted in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, and Vietnam. Hajeebhoy and colleagues (2013) reported that sufficient human, financial and technical resources were a facilitator for the successful development of evidence-based advocacy. In addition, in the VakaYiko program in Ghana, South Africa and Zimbabwe (2016a), an international consortium facilitated knowledge transfer as well as skills development for national organisations to developing capacity for evidence use in policymaking (INASP 2016a). The availability of resources enhanced active dissemination and promotion of evidence thus providing pertinent information to policymakers and encouraging the adoption of EIDM practices.

Insufficient staffing, especially in government departments, poses a significant barrier to effective evidence use in policymaking. For example, a lack of staff affected the range of government policy and programme evaluations that could be conducted thus impeding evidence use in South Africa (Goldman et al. 2018; Griessel et al. 2019). In Malawi, Technical Working Groups (TWGs) required more staff to ensure functionality to enable EIDM through coordination and collaboration (Sakala et al. 2022). The lack of staff and resources to develop the capacity for the use of evidence in policymaking was further reiterated in the INASP (2016a) VakaYiko program. The study highlighted common issues that are faced by a majority of research and information departments in government including understaffing, unreliable internet or other challenges with IT services, and minimal budget allocation for research which all impede engaging with evidence. Furthermore, the lack of staff affected the impact of another knowledge brokering program in Burkina Faso as only one junior broker was available

full-time to facilitate the activities (Mc Sween-Cadieux et al. 2019; Dagenais et al. 2016). In Burkina Faso, Zida and colleagues (2017) found that data generation for use by policymakers was challenging as there was an absence of support staff who were skilled in data management. Insufficient resource allocation towards data generation resulted in gaps or inadequate evidence, showcasing the pivotal role of resources.

5.4.8 Analytical theme 8: Poor digital connectivity, communication, and a poor flow and accessibility of information creates an inadequate provision of and access to evidence. (Implementation)

Poor digital connectivity affects various aspects of EIDM in multiple LMICs. Mbonye and Magnussen (2013) noted that in Uganda poor internet connectivity affected the organisation and running of research evidence workshop discussions, limiting the sharing of vital research materials between researchers and policymakers. Unreliable internet connectivity and restricted access to research databases impeded the accessibility of research evidence needed for urgent policy making decisions in Uganda. In a study by Onwujekwe and colleagues (2020), poor Information and communication technologies (ICT) accessibility and availability, compounded by the need for individuals to fund their own ICT costs, hindered effective communication and access to evidence in Nigeria. According to Norton (2019), health professionals in LMICs faced restricted access to scientific publications and publishing opportunities due to unreliable internet connectivity. In Uganda, Mbonye and Magnussen (2013) also found that inadequate internet connectivity hindered effective communication between researchers and policymakers, thus impeding the dissemination and utilization of vital research materials. Inadequate internet connectivity and poor ICT accessibility exacerbate communication challenges, particularly in resource-constrained settings. However, in some cases as noted in Uganda, the availability of resources such as computers and reliable Internet enables policymakers to access evidence thus promoting its use (Kawooya et al. 2020b). According to Uneke and colleagues (2019) in Nigeria, low email usage reduced the response rate to email surveys limiting access to contextualized knowledge for health policymaking. Issues such as spam filters, outdated contact information, and low response rates further affected effective engagement with stakeholders.

Poor communication affected several aspects of EIDM implementation and activities including negatively impacting data access, implementation flexibility, team relations, dissemination of findings, skill matching, and result clarification. As reported by Mijumbi-Deve and colleagues (2022) in Lebanon, Ethiopia and South Africa, decision-makers preferred emails due to their busy schedules but often did not respond, making it difficult for researchers to effectively communicate and follow up. This hindered the provision and subsequent use of evidence in decision-making processes. In Burkina Faso, Dagenais and colleagues (2013) stated that the difficulties in reaching targeted groups posed a challenge for information dissemination. In a study by Paing and colleagues (2021) in Myanmar, a lack of structured communication processes between policymakers and researchers prevented access to existing relevant data and obstructed the planning of appropriate research to fill data gaps. This communication issue was a key barrier to creating effective policies. Dagenais and colleagues (2016) in Burkina Faso noted poor team communication and difficulties in accessing decision-makers hindered the effective transfer and utilization of research evidence. Additionally, communication challenges within the team were significant obstacles. According to Struyk and Haddaway (2012), in countries such as Kenya, Argentina, Bangladesh, Guatemala, Indonesia,

India, Mexico, Nigeria, Philippines, Tanzania, and Uganda, weak communication of early findings affected the effective dissemination and utilization of research evidence which was a critical barrier to the implementation of program findings.

When access to research was limited, key stakeholders such as policymakers and practitioners found it challenging to obtain the necessary evidence to inform their decisions. For example, Sakala and colleagues (2023) reported that user fees for online journal databases were a significant barrier to accessing research evidence within Malawi's Ministry of Health. Moranker and Mirkuzie (2016) also noted that limitations in accessing relevant databases due to paid subscriptions restricted evidence availability for Ethiopia's health planners and policymakers. If data is stored in inaccessible formats or behind paywalls, only a select few benefit from the insights, leaving many decision-makers without critical information that shapes effective policies. In South Africa, Cockburn and colleagues (2016) highlighted that the data and knowledge generated did not directly translate into practice or policy due to issues related to the format, accessibility, and usability of information. The impediments to effective communication, connectivity, accessibility, and information flow presented significant barriers to evidence utilization in decision-making processes and policy implementation. Challenges such as difficulties in reaching diverse target groups and uncertainties regarding the dissemination of information to higher authorities hindered the seamless transmission of evidence. Clear communication and better access to information helped policymakers use and integrate evidence into their decisions.

5.4.9 Analytical theme 9: Leadership support and organisational valuing of evidence can drive EIDM, but limited stakeholder engagement in monitoring and evaluation may hinder evidence utilisation, potentially leading to divergent opinions and alignment challenges during decision-making. (Implementation)

Integrating evidence into decision-making processes may be challenging due to barriers such as the lack of established norms for verifying the best available evidence when formulating policies and weak ownership at lower levels. In some contexts, evidence is not prioritised due to its lack of perceived value, as one respondent cited in Vogel and Punton (2016) stated that "the underlying barrier for Evidence-Informed Policy Making (EIPM) seems to be that evidence is not valued as an input or as a norm, and so is not prioritised" p.32. However, valuing evidence at an organisational level can act as a facilitator of EIPM, as seen, for instance, in South Africa and India, where establishing data management systems led to the integration of data and research into organisational processes, thereby stimulating demand for information and analytical services (Vogel and Punton 2016). In the Ranchod (2017) study on building the Research-Policy Nexus in South Africa, enhanced relations between researchers and policymakers were attributed to the strong senior leadership involved in steering research use. This led to a clear delineation of roles and functions within the leadership hierarchy. Additionally, the EVIDENT-focused study by Motani and colleagues (2019) that included participants from Ethiopia, Ghana, Morocco, South Africa, Tanzania and Uganda highlighted the necessity of leadership skills for stakeholder engagement, conflict resolution, and teamwork in diverse contexts to facilitate effective collaboration. Furthermore, Kawooya and colleagues (2020) exemplified how decentralisation in Uganda could empower lower-level officials to address policy concerns by granting them autonomy in decision-making, enabling impactful evidence-informed decisions.

Another emerging theme identified was the *importance of aligning goals within the research* team and with users to improve stakeholder engagement. As demonstrated in the study by Miszczak and Patel (2018), the success of Knowledge Translation Platforms in South Africa, was facilitated by a mutual interest in areas such as energy and space economy shared by both institutions. Policymakers also highlighted that internal priorities could aid in translating evidence into practice, as demonstrated by Uzochukwu and colleagues (2016) in Nigeria. However, donors' agendas, which may not align with the host country's priorities, could hamper the implementation of evidence-informed approaches. The lack of coordination within and between government agencies in countries in the Vaka Yiko program (INASP 2016a) and in Uganda (Kawooya et al. 2020b), also posed significant challenges. Collaboration could also be affected by a lack of shared vision among key agencies and institutional divisions within ministries. Cockburn and colleagues (2016) reflected on how, within a year into the KwaZulu-Natal Sandstone Sourveld (KZNSS) Research Programme in South Africa, a lack of shared understanding of research requirements disrupted the collaboration process. Additionally, White and colleagues (2018) reported that an agenda overly influenced by key partners in South Africa potentially hindered open and transparent engagement with external experts and leadership, limiting their participation in the collaborative engagement process. Moreover, the fragmentation of Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) functions among government departments and a lack of shared vision across central agencies hindered stakeholder engagement and evidence use in Africa (Stephen & Goldman 2013). This inconsistency may lead to ineffective data collection and analysis, making cohesive evidence-informed policymaking challenging and causing stakeholders to struggle with engagement due to unclear roles and objectives, leading to fragmented and inefficient use of evidence.

5.4.10 Analytical theme 10: Conflicting interests and resistance to change, high turnover of policymakers and workplace confidentiality may affect the implementation of EIDM activities. (Implementation)

A lack of interest and engagement from policymakers in EIDM can stem from a combination of issues, including *competing interests, resistance to change, high turnover in governmental positions, political and legal constraints, lack of awareness, and operational challenges.* Addressing these barriers can require targeted strategies to align personal and professional incentives in order to improve awareness and advocacy efforts that create supportive operational environments. In Uganda, Mijumbi and colleagues (2014) pointed out that a lack of awareness and competing interests among top-level decision-makers hindered their engagement with evidence-based initiatives. Onwujekwe and colleagues (2020) posit that personal interests, such as career advancement, are significant enablers of successful implementation activities in Nigeria. Policymakers who see potential personal or professional benefits were seen to be more likely to engage with EIDM. This keen interest promoted dedication and commitment among individuals, driving the effective execution of tasks.

Resistance to change and reluctance to engage with new initiatives can hinder evidence integration into policymaking. According to Uzochukwu and colleagues (2016), in Nigeria, resistance to change among policymakers and stakeholders significantly obstructed the integration of evidence into policymaking. This resistance challenged efforts to bridge the gap between research and policy, limiting the effectiveness of EIDM initiatives. According to Goldman and colleagues (2013), in South Africa, managerial reticence due to limited public disclosure caused by restrictive access to information reduced transparency and hindered
effective decision-making mainly because of incomplete or outdated evidence. The INASP (2016b) study noted that initial reluctance among senior policymakers to engage with new projects, such as the Improving Information Literacy for Urban Service Planning and Delivery (INFO-LIT) project aimed at improving information literacy for urban service planning.

Organisational restructuring and political instability in African Ministries of Health can hinder effective evidence-informed decision-making, underscoring the need for flexible strategies and robust communication. According to Sakala and colleagues (2022), the organisational restructure and changes within the Ministry of Health in Malawi, Burkina Faso, Sierra Leone, and Kenya had a mixed impact on EIDM. While reducing the number of technical working groups aimed to enhance efficiency, challenges in coordination and continuity due to frequent personnel changes and political shifts persisted. According to Mwendera and colleagues (2022), high staff turnover was also experienced in the Malawian Ministry of Health, with three different ministers during the life of the Partnership for Increasing the Impact of Vector Control (PIIVeC) project. The instability hindered continuity and the effective implementation of evidence-based policies and practices. Effective EIDM implementation required flexible, well-coordinated strategies and robust communication mechanisms to navigate these challenges and ensure the integration of evidence into policy and practice.

Workplace confidentiality also impacted the implementation of EIDM activities. This impact manifested in various ways, through access to perspectives and insights from individuals within organizations. For example, in Uganda, Mijumbi-Deve and colleagues (2022) noted that fourteen individuals did not respond to interview invitations or declined to participate, citing reasons such as a lack of knowledge about the review centres or not being permitted to speak on behalf of their workplaces. This restriction on communication limited the researchers' ability to gather comprehensive data, thereby affecting the guality and breadth of insights necessary for informed decision-making in health policy and systems in Uganda. Doughman and colleagues (2017) in Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, Senegal and Zambia highlighted that leadership requesting analysis was not aware that their country representatives are often hesitant or refused to communicate with the Bureau, even confidentially. Confidentiality concerns, therefore, limited the quantity and quality of information collected from key informant interviews, which was crucial to gaining insights for driving EIDM to ensure effective policymaking. The same was observed by Oronje and colleagues (2019) in the study of the Strengthening Capacity to Use Research Evidence (SCURE) in health sector policy-making project in Kenya and Malawi. The study reported that policymakers and stakeholders with informal or confidential political roles are often inaccessible, making it difficult to involve them in the knowledge translation process.

5.4.11 Analytical theme 11: Delays in data provision, poor data quality causing mistrust in administrative data, and data collection hurdles may affect the implementation of EIDM interventions and effective use of evidence in policymaking. (Implementation)

Effective decision-making in public health can be hampered by delays in data provision, unreliable data quality, and technical challenges in data collection, as evidenced by multiple studies across various countries. For example, in Zida and colleagues' (2017) study in Burkina Faso, when health information feedback, statistics, and indicators were not available promptly, it became challenging to support decision-making processes. This delay in data provision hindered the ability of policymakers and health officials' to make informed decisions crucial for the effectiveness of health information systems. In Ethiopia, Moranker and Mirkuzie (2016) indicated that evidence was not used effectively as health planners and policymakers did not have adequate time to access all relevant data which undermined evidence-based decision-making by increasing the likelihood of decisions being based on intuition, or outdated practices rather than on current, reliable research.

The effectiveness of EIDM efforts was influenced by the quality and reliability of data, the technical tools used for data collection, stakeholder biases, and the understanding and use of data by policymakers and implementers. Kawooya and colleagues (2020a) in Uganda, stated that unreliable or incomplete government data led to mistrust among policymakers, impacting the effective use of evidence in policymaking. This mistrust hindered informed decision-making and the development of effective policies. Phillips and colleagues (2014) highlighted that the quality of administrative data was a major challenge in South Africa, with data often being patchy and inconsistent across sectors. This lack of quality and common data standards hindered decision-making and affected the implementation of policies and programs due to incomplete or unreliable data systems. Participant errors and confusion regarding study communications had a detrimental effect on the EIDM processes by reducing the number of valid responses and complicating the data collection process.

The challenges encountered in data collection, reliability, and utilization across various studies in Cambodia, Uganda, and multiple African countries underscore significant barriers to effective policymaking and decision-making processes. Bossba (2023) in Cambodia noted that during the COVID-19 pandemic, technical problems with data collection tools led to disruptions and delays in the data collection process. The absence of physical assistance to resolve these technical issues exacerbated the problem, affecting the timeliness and reliability of the collected data. A study by Courtenay-Quirk and colleagues (2016) in South Africa, Swaziland and Tanzania emphasized the laborious process of inputting and updating data, which was further complicated by the absence of de-duplicated data and the lack of detailed disaggregation at lower sub-national levels. These issues hindered efficient planning and the effective use of evidence in decision-making.

5 Discussion

5.1 Summary of findings

5.1.1 Overview of the evidence base

In this review, we synthesised the findings from a total of 164 empirical studies of EIDM interventions, 18 of which were counterfactual impact evaluations and 152 were empirical evaluations of EIDM interventions that took place in an LMIC. As expected, a significant proportion of this literature comes from public health but there are emerging literatures working across multiple sectors of government and from environmental policy.

5.1.2 Research question 1: Impact of EIDM interventions

The quantitative synthesis focused on the effects of interventions aimed at supporting evidence-informed decision-making by policymakers from any country and at any level of

government. Due to the limited number of studies and substantial heterogeneity, we largely relied on narrative synthesis to bring findings together. Where meta-analysis was possible, we used inverse-variance weighted random effects models to account for anticipated heterogeneity. However, it was challenging to synthesise and draw generalisable conclusions on EIDM programme effectiveness given the differences in focus, intervention and control conditions, and outcomes across studies. Therefore, most of our findings come from just one or two studies. While more rigorous evidence is needed increase the strength of our conclusions, we present some tentative findings from the impact evaluations evidence below:

- Most of the EIDM interventions evaluated in the included studies had a positive effect on intermediate conditions and activities that enhance the likelihood of decision-makers using evidence compared to business as usual with a few notable exceptions. The largest consistent effect sizes on motivation and capability to use in evidence we found in the review were in a study a programme providing quantitative research methods training to junior ministers in Pakistan (Mehmood et al. 2024), discussed more below.
- 2. There is very tentative evidence of promise for capacity building programmes targeting the EIDM skills of policymakers: Three studies found positive effects across indicators of evidence use in policymaking, capability and opportunity to use evidence. These studies targeted local and state public health policy teams in the USA and junior ministers in Pakistan. The studies from the US targeted both individual and organisation level EIDM processes, although we rated both as being at high risk of bias. The study of the programme providing quantitative research methods training to individual junior ministers in Pakistan found particularly large and consistent effects, including on their willingness to use funds for and run RCTs, while potentially reducing willingness to use funds for data which cannot provide causal attributions (Mehmood et al. 2024). The reason for the large observed effect sizes may be at least partially due to the use of outcome measures that were closely linked to the intervention. In addition, the evaluation did not assess actual policy decisions. This study was rated in the critical appraisal as having some concerns.

3. Source of the evidence and communication of results can affect accessibility, beliefs and evidence use outcomes:

Providing more statistical data, presenting impact evaluation results side-by side with other results for comparison and providing cost effectiveness data may increase policymakers' updating of beliefs when presented with new evidence (Vivalt and Colville 2023; Toma and Bell 2022). Contextually framed narratives around systematic review evidence improved accessibility and clarity of the information for participants at a guidelines workshop in Kenya, although they did not improve correct understanding about intervention effectiveness (Opiyo et al. 2013).

Global health actors in Francophone Africa were more likely to report using the findings of a policy brief when the author was reported as an African funder or international organisation compared to a European or North American organisation, but less likely if it was an African university compared to a European or North American University (Fillol et al. 2022). Policy briefs on the topic of agriculture and nutrition that included an opinion from an expert or

researcher improved the likelihood of participants informing someone about the messages of the brief although this did not translate into increased use of evidence (Beynon et al. 2012).

- 4. The few studies that tested making evidence more accessible for policymaking generally found small, positive effects on capability to use evidence. For example, Rogger and Somani (2023) evaluated sending evidence briefings to public officials working on agriculture, education, health, revenue, and trade policy in Ethiopia with summarised administrative data on the population they were serving, finding that it reduced errors in beliefs about their population. However, they did not go on to assess whether this resulted in changes in public officials' behaviour.
- 5. A rapid response model in the USA linking researchers with policymakers demonstrated promise for improving evidence use and researcher-policy engagement, in this case with congressional offices (Crowley et al. 2021a; Crowley et al. 2021b). This was one of the only studies included in the review that used an objective measure of evidence use rather than a self-reported measure, specifically use of research evidence language in legislation.
- 6. Organisational and individual characteristics can have significant influences on the effectiveness of EIDM interventions:

In an RCT in the USA, the use of tailored, targeted evidence messages had a much greater effect on reported evidence use in public health departments that already had a strong culture of valuing research evidence. In contrast, when evidence messages were combined with a knowledge broker, there was a positive effect on evidence use in those departments with a low organisational research culture but a negative effect in organisations that already placed a high value on research evidence (Dobbins et al. 2009). Policy briefs on the topics of agriculture and nutrition created evidence-accurate beliefs among those with no prior views but had little effect when readers had strong prior views (Masset et al. 2013; Beynon et al. 2012).

5.1.3 Research question 2: Factors influencing the design, implementation and impact of EIDM interventions

The qualitative synthesis aimed to identify factors influencing the design, implementation, and impact of interventions in LMICs. It involved a thematic synthesis of 152 studies, applying inductive coding techniques to identify common descriptive and analytical themes. The thematic synthesis aims to identify themes related to the interplay of intervention design, intervention implementation, population and contextual variable with intervention effects and outcomes of EIDM interventions. We identified a total of 49 descriptive themes configured into 11 analytical themes related to population characteristics, contextual factors, design features and implementation factors. A summary of the qualitative evidence synthesis focusing on the interplay of these factors with the effects of EIDM interventions is presented below

Population factors

Analytical theme 1: Evidence users' lack of skills and experience as well as inadequate training may affect the ability and opportunity to engage and use evidence while evidence producer's limited skills and experience may impact ability to engage with evidence users

and provide relevant evidence. For example, a multisite evaluation of knowledge transfer strategy implemented in Mexico, Nicaragua, South Africa and Cameroon indicated that few participants had the skills required to read and understand scientific publications, with several mentioning that reading research documents is not a norm (Dagenais et al. 2013).

1. Contextual factors

Analytical theme 2: Disease outbreaks, political instability, political cycles, and armed conflicts can disrupt EIDM interventions while political will and commitment tend to promote the successful implementation of EIDM interventions. The global COVID-19 pandemic impacted the integrated knowledge translation in non-communicable diseases project in South Africa (Mpando et al. 2021) across five sites that included face-to-face meetings, a key mode of engagement as their stakeholder engagement strategy. This resulted in a shift from physical to virtual meetings and caused delays in some of the planned meetings. Primary research in South Africa was placed on hold due to restricted access to clinics (Mpando et al. 2021).

2. Design factors

Analytical theme 3: Designing structured, blended, and contextualised EIDM capacitybuilding programs facilitated by skilled trainers in safe and convenient locations can enhance the impact of these initiatives to promote the capability to use evidence by policymakers. For example, in a practical reflection on combining workshops and mentorships to build capacity in demand and use of evidence in government organizations, Stewart and colleagues (2017) highlighted that they were flexible with meeting dates and times for structured EIDM workshops in South Africa and Malawi in order to retain attendees and were also adaptable with workshop content depending on the needs of participants.

Analytical theme 4: Producing relevant, succinct evidence products that are visually appealing and translated into numerous languages can enhance more in-depth engagement with evidence, and thereby can promote the use of evidence by policymakers. To promote the use of evidence in tobacco control in West Africa, results were presented in an easy-to-read format including policy notes that focused on policy recommendations, available in both English and French (Mane et al. 2020).

Analytical theme 5: **Diversity of stakeholders**, consistent and **effective communication** can promote fruitful collaborative engagements whereas **high cost of engagement** along with a lack of policymaker **incentives** may hinder the effective implementation of policy dialogue elements and stakeholder collaboration. The World Health Organisation (2021) found that comprehensive stakeholder consultations positively influenced the use of evidence in policy making by increasing opportunities and champions for evidence use in Lebanon.

Analytical theme 6: Timing of interventions and engagements as well as time constraints and scheduling challenges can affect stakeholders' participation in EIDM interventions. In Burkina Faso, the issue of timing an intervention was evident as respondents highlighted the absence of policymakers during a workshop that was conducted a week before the presidential elections. Respondents stressed the importance of having decision-makers present to not limit the impact of the workshop, further reiterating emphasising that the timing was not ideal (McSween-Cadieux and & colleagues (2018).

3. Implementation factors

Analytical Theme 7: A **lack of resources**, **staff** and **capacities** affects utilisation of evidence. Due to limited financial resources, fewer activities were implemented in a knowledge brokering program in Burkina Faso, which included the provision of research-based evidence, facilitating knowledge transfer and application of the evidence, conducting evidence dissemination workshops and developing partnerships between knowledge producers and decision-makers. Other planned activities in the program included the development of policy briefs and followup discussions with decision-makers (Mc Sween-Cadieux et al. 2019).

Analytical theme 8: Poor digital connectivity, communication, and a poor flow and accessibility of information create an inadequate provision of and access to evidence. Mbonye and Magnussen (2013) found that in Uganda, poor internet connectivity affected the organisation and running of research evidence workshop discussions, limiting the sharing of vital research materials between researchers and policymakers. Unreliable internet connectivity and restricted access to research databases also impeded the accessibility of research evidence needed for urgent policy making decision.

Analytical theme 9: Leadership support and organisational valuing of evidence can drive EIDM, but limited stakeholder engagement in monitoring and evaluation may hinder evidence utilisation, potentially leading to divergent opinions and alignment challenges during decision-making. In the Ranchod (2017) study on building the Research-Policy Nexus in South Africa, enhanced relations between researchers and policymakers were attributed to the strong senior leadership involved in steering research use.

Analytical theme 10: **Conflicting interests** and **resistance to change**, **high turnover** of policymakers and **workplace confidentiality** may affect the implementation of EIDM activities. For instance, In Uganda, Mijumbi and colleagues (2014) pointed out that a lack of awareness and competing interests among top-level decision-makers hindered their engagement with evidence-based initiatives, making it difficult to involve them in the knowledge translation process.

Analytical theme 11: Delays in data provision, poor data quality causing mistrust in administrative data, and data collection hurdles may affect the implementation of EIDM interventions and effective use of evidence in policymaking. As highlighted by Zida and colleagues' (2017) study in Burkina Faso, when health information feedback, statistics, and indicators were not available promptly, it became challenging to support decision-making processes. This delay in data provision hindered the ability of policymakers and health officials' ability to make informed decisions crucial for the effectiveness of health information systems.

A recurring theme from the qualitative synthesis concerns the value of demand-led intervention design and implementation components present. Evidence users' skills are an important element to promote evidence use. Capacity building initiatives should not only focus on building evidence users' capability to engage with the evidence but also promote evidence advocates' ability to engage with these users, including understanding the policymaking environment. The design of evidence products should consider the users to provide relevant content that addresses their needs, allowing more in-depth engagement with evidence. In addition, designing engagement activities such as policy dialogues at the convenience of policymakers given their time constraints, coupled with effective communication and provision

of incentives, are key considerations to promote fruitful collaborative engagements. In terms of implementation, we see that leadership support and organisational valuing of evidence can drive EIDM, stressing the importance of institutionalisation of evidence use in government bodies to create sustainable appetite for evidence use. However, there are implementation factors affecting the utilisation of evidence by decision-makers that need acknowledgement. To navigate through these, it may require more concerted efforts to promote policymakers' access to evidence and eventual evidence use. These relate to lack of resources, staff and capacities, poor digital connectivity, delays in data provision, and poor data quality. Hence, EIDM practice and research stands to improve if it centres evidence users more prominently.

5.1.4 Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

We included a total of 164 empirical studies of EIDM interventions, 18 of which were counterfactual impact evaluations and 152 which were empirical evaluations of EIDM interventions that took place in an LMIC. As expected, a significant proportion of this literature comes from public health, but there are emerging literatures working across multiple sectors of government and from environmental policy. Several policy areas including economic growth, transport and education are underrepresented in the empirical literature. Most of the impact evaluations addressing review question 1 took place entirely in high-income countries (11 out of 18). The 152 studies included to address the review question 2, which we limited to studies from LMICs only, were conducted across 63 countries. Since there were studies reporting interventions in multiple countries, this yields a greater number of intervention contexts (n =363). A significant minority of this evidence is concentrated in five African countries namely South Africa, Nigeria, Uganda, Kenya and Burkina Faso.

We mapped the 18 included counterfactual impact evaluations according to six individual mechanisms of change and five outcomes, revealing a limited evidence base with absolute gaps in certain mechanism-outcome areas. The size and heterogeneity limited the extent to which these included studies were able to address the first research question of the review. The interventions were diverse, targeting various policy areas and government levels, including local public services, health policy, and federal agencies, and mainly focused on interventions working through access to evidence and policymaker skills mechanisms of change. Most of the studies tested an intervention that worked through an access to evidence mechanism, but we did find a smaller number testing policymaker skills focused interventions and multi-mechanism of change approaches. Most studies evaluated impact on one part of the EIDM intervention logic model, rather than testing both intermediate and evidence use outcomes. Most of the included impact evaluations (17 of 18 studies) measured an intermediate outcome, either capability to use evidence, motivation to use evidence, or opportunity to use evidence.13 studies measured an indicator of capability to use evidence. 12 studies measured an indicator of motivation to use evidence, and three studies measured an indicator of opportunity to use evidence. Only seven of the included studies attempted to measure the impact of the intervention on actual evidence use by policymakers. All seven measured an indicator of evidence use for policy design, while two of the seven also included an indicator of evidence use for policy implementation.

Absolute gaps included impact evaluations of programmes or policies that worked through the awareness mechanism, impact evaluations of programmes or policies that worked through the agreement mechanism and impact evaluations that individually tested approaches

involving policymaker – researcher interactions or changes to structure and processes. None of the studies explored impacts on downstream, socio-economic outcomes that might result from EIDM interventions.

There were similarities in the spread of intervention mechanisms being evaluated in the studies included for research question 2. In the 152 included studies, the least assessed mechanism was the awareness of EIDM mechanism. The most frequently assessed mechanisms of change were interaction with decision-makers, access to evidence and building skills of policymakers.

5.1.5 Quality of the evidence

Both syntheses indicated methodological challenges, including size of the evidence base and heterogeneity across studies in terms of intervention and control condition, type of policymaker and policymaking context. Although the heterogeneity in the impact evaluation evidence base included to address research question one and the limited number of studies resulted in significant challenges for drawing conclusions, we identified several well conducted RCTs that we appraised as having a low risk of bias. This included studies such as Hjort and colleagues (2020) in Brazil and Crowley and colleagues (2021) in the USA. Only one of the included RCTs was appraised as having a high risk of bias (Brownson et al. 2017), largely due to presenting significant differences between intervention and control group participants in their observable characteristics.

One of the major challenges in the impact evaluation literature is the non-uniform nature of outcomes and the reliance on short-term, self-reported measures. If the impacts on evidence use in policymaking were measured in studies, it was typically self-reported by those working in policy, and there was generally no discussion of what would constitute the quality use of research evidence. In addition, few of the included impact evaluations combined a robust counterfactual approach with exploration of the influence of implementation, context and stakeholders' experience of participation in the relevant programmes. Institutional context is likely to be particularly influential for the types of interventions included in this review, and therefore this is a significant gap in the evidence base.

5.1.6 Agreement and disagreements with other studies or reviews

We believe this is the first systematic review to comprehensively bring together the EIDM intervention impact evaluation and qualitative evaluation literature across different policy areas and geographical regions. However, several existing systematic reviews have summarised different parts of the evidence base.

Langer and colleagues' (2016) systematic review of reviews is the most comprehensive in terms of intervention, policy area and geographical scope, synthesising the evidence from 36 reviews on the efficacy of interventions targeting use of research evidence in decision-making (Langer et al., 2016). Although conducted almost ten years ago, they found similar research gaps to this review, including an absence of evidence of interventions building awareness of, and positive attitudes towards, EIDM and interventions building agreement on policy-relevant questions and what constitutes fit-for-purpose evidence. They also found that most reviews focused on intermediate outcomes, with only eight reviews considering evidence use.

Oliver and colleagues' (2014) review of barriers and facilitators to use of evidence by policymakers picked up similar factors as our analysis exploring the factors that have influenced the design, implementation, and impact of EIDM interventions. Barriers included poor access to relevant research, lack of time or opportunity to use research evidence, and policymakers and other users not having knowledge of research methods. They found that collaboration and relationships between policymakers and researchers were an important factor. In addition, most of the research they identified focused on policy actors' perceptions about factors affecting the use of research evidence through short interviews or surveys, with a considerable number surveying only researchers.

We also identified several systematic reviews focusing on the effectiveness of individual EIDM interventions or individual policy areas. In health, for example, Petkovic and colleagues' (2018) Campbell Collaboration systematic review searched for evaluations of approaches that summarised systematic review evidence for health policymakers, including policy briefs (Petkovic et al., 2018). While the six impact evaluations they identified indicated that summary of findings and graded entry summaries are easier to understand than complete reports, insufficient evidence was available to establish that they lead to increased use of systematic review evidence in policymaking. Like the findings of this review, they concluded that there is little impact evaluation evidence to inform the design of evidence summaries, and that future research should consider measuring the uptake of systematic review evidence and incorporate qualitative evaluations in our review, we extended their review to offer additional findings, for example, around producing relevant, succinct evidence products that are visually appealing and translated into numerous languages to enhance more in-depth engagement with evidence.

Verboom and Baumann (2020) mapped the global qualitative literature on the use of research evidence in health policymaking, touching upon the qualitative intervention literature on improving evidence use. Unlike our review, the authors focused only on the descriptive characteristics of the 319 studies they identified and included qualitative literature from high-income countries. They found that while most studies are still from North America, Western Europe and Australia, there is a growing proportion of studies from low- and middle-income countries, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa. A finding of the review that was not picked up explicitly in our analysis is that the literature focuses overwhelmingly on the use of research in the policy activities of technical rather than political decision-makers. They suggest this may be partly due to the higher degree of availability of civil servants for research participation, but that future research on political decision-making would help to produce a more complete view of the relationship between research and policy processes. In addition, like our review and other systematic reviews, they find that few studies involved direct observation of policymaking processes and decisions and that most rely on collecting retrospective information on perceptions.

5.1.7 Potential biases in the review process

This section presents the main limitations of our review approach that have affected our findings. Our inclusion criteria for the review focused on studies of applied interventions to support the use of evidence in policymaking, that is, programmes, strategies, and actions that actively intervened in the current decision-making status quo. It is possible that we might have

missed diagnostic studies or other types of institutional evaluations that explored existing structures and processes that have previously been intended to enhance evidence use.

Although we searched a long list of organisational databases and sources of grey literature, a significant number of these were primarily sources of health literature. Combined with the focus on applied interventions, this may have led to a bias towards identifying the evidence base in public health.

There were challenges in drawing complementary insights through sensible integration of the two review modules since the quantitative and qualitative analyses were based on different sets of included studies with different geographical foci. Future research could consider the qualitative synthesis only of studies linked to the impact evaluations.

Due to resource constraints, we only included studies published in English in our review, which means we may have missed relevant studies published in other languages. However, the evidence map that this systematic review used as a source of studies did include studies in the following languages: Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Portuguese, Russian, and Spanish. The map found a significant proportion of the included studies were published in English, with 25 in Chinese and two in Portuguese. An initial screen of these studies indicated that very few of these focused on policymakers and therefore would not be included in this review.

We were also unable to complete the critical appraisals of qualitative studies independently in duplicate. Only 5% of the studies of the full sample of studies (97) were appraised by third reviewer. We were also not able to integrate the qualitative critical appraisal findings into the analysis itself, so we can only comment on the overall quality of the evidence, without reference to specific findings or interventions.

Finally, we identified very few impact evaluations to address the first research question in our review and therefore some of our conclusions and implications stem from a very small body of evidence.

6 Author's Conclusions

6.1 Nature of the evidence base

This review brings together a diverse body of literature on interventions targeting evidenceinformed decision-making in policymaking. We believe it is the first systematic review to comprehensively identify and synthesise both the impact evaluation and broader empirical literature on EIDM interventions working through a range of mechanisms of change.

The evidence base remains dominated by studies from health, with almost 70 per cent of the studies from LMICs (review question 2) emanating from EIDM interventions targeting health policy makers. There are a small number of evaluations of programmes working across multiple government policy areas and from the environmental sector but several policy areas, including economic growth, transport and education are underrepresented in the LMIC empirical literature. While we believe there are generalisable lessons to be learned about EIDM interventions from across different policy areas, there are also area specific challenges, for example around the production and use of research evidence for economic policy making, that mean that new research is desperately needed in these areas.

We find a small and emerging body of counterfactual impact evaluations of EIDM interventions, with half of these being published in the last five years. This emerging literature is fragmented and lacks an agreed set of key indicators and outcome measures of evidenceuse, relying heavily on self-reported measures. Although some of the types of interventions of relevance to this review are difficult to test using counterfactual impact evaluation methods, such as co-production approaches and awareness raising campaigns, recent RCTs such as Hjort and colleagues (2020) in Brazil, Crowley and colleagues (2021) in the USA and Mehmood and colleagues (2024) in Pakistan demonstrate that robust, counterfactual evaluations of EIDM interventions can successfully be done with useful and promising results. Although we did not include studies using theory-based, qualitative approaches to assess the contribution or impact of EIDM interventions for research question 1, we did note when studies included for research question 2 did this. There were very few studies included for research question 2 that attempted to comprehensively assess contribution or impact using such an approach, with a few notable exceptions such as Vogel and Punton's (2018) realist evaluation of the Building Capacity to Use Research Evidence (BCURE) programme and Asiimwe and Engel's (2020) tracer study of Parliamentary Capacity Strengthening Initiatives implemented by CLEAR-AA and Twende Mbele, aimed at improving evidence use in African parliaments. We therefore see a huge opportunity for the sector to increase the use of the full range of impact evaluation methods available to evaluate the impact or contribution of interventions targeting EIDM. This chimes with the findings of other recent evidence reviews, including Oliver and colleagues (2022). There are a growing number of methodological resources to support such work, including The Use of Research Evidence Methods Repository and PACE's overview of measures to assess EIDM initiatives¹⁴. Equally, it is important that funding is made available for evaluation alongside programming targeting evidence use by policy makers to make sure lessons can be learned from the dynamic work going on in this sector.

6.2 Impact of EIDM interventions

Overall, it was difficult to synthesise and draw generalisable conclusions on intervention effectiveness given the differences in focus, intervention and control conditions, and outcomes across studies. This inhibits cross-learning and diffusion of innovations. Therefore, most of our findings on effectiveness come from just one or two studies, and we rely primarily on narrative reporting of individual studies rather than meta-analysis. In addition, most studies evaluated effects on one part of the EIDM intervention logic model, rather than testing both intermediate and evidence use outcomes. This prevented us from being able to quantitatively test a key hypothesis that interventions that work through targeting multiple behavioural constraints to EIDM - specifically capability, opportunity, and motivation to use evidence - are more effective at shifting evidence use. Few of the included impact evaluations combined a robust counterfactual approach with exploration of implementation, context, and stakeholders' experience of participation in the relevant programmes. Where impacts on evidence use in policymaking were measured in impact studies, it was typically self-reported by those working in policy, and there was typically no discussion of what quality use of research evidence would look like. However, recent impact evaluations have developed innovative approaches to measuring aspects of evidence use in policymaking that rely on existing data, including reviewing research evidence language used in new legislation (Crowley et al. 2021a) and

¹⁴ <u>https://uremethods.org/about-us/ and https://prezi.com/view/ybFXNH4XZHtPcK1mb7R8/</u>

reviewing letters from junior ministers regarding the recommendation of well-informed policies or programmes in letters to more senior policymakers (Mehmood et al. 2024). This is a promising development, and we encourage future studies to explore creative approaches such as these and use triangulation wherever possible to capture changes to the use of evidence from different perspectives, given the inherent complexity and challenges with measuring this process.

There are structural patterns in the evidence base in terms of what EIPM interventions are designed, implemented, and evaluated that hinder systems-level change for evidence-use. We are missing evaluation evidence on programmes that work through building awareness of EIDM, getting agreement and changing structures and processes. We summarise these key gaps in terms of mechanisms and outcome areas for the included impact evaluations.

- We did not identify any impact evaluations of programmes or policies that worked through the awareness mechanism -specifically, building awareness for, and positive attitudes towards, EIDM, such as social marketing around the norm to use evidence and awareness raising campaigns.
- We did not identify any impact evaluations of programmes or policies that worked through the agreement mechanism specifically building mutual understanding and agreement on policy-relevant questions and the kind of evidence needed to answer them, including co-production approaches and use of Delphi panels
- We also did not identify any impact evaluations that individually tested approaches involving policymaker researcher interactions or changes to structure and processes.
- None of the studies explored impacts on downstream, socio-economic outcomes that might result from EIDM interventions.

There were several recurring themes emerging in the quantitative and qualitative synthesis that are worth highlighting. The benefits of demand-led intervention design and implementation components present a recurring theme, and EIDM practice and research stands to improve if it centres evidence users more prominently. The importance of targeting programmes and exploring differences in impact depending on an organisation's value of research was also a finding that emerged from both quantitative and qualitative synthesis. The qualitative synthesis identified organisational value of research evidence as a key driver of impact. Dobbins and colleagues' (2009) RCT in the USA was the only included impact evaluation that explored variation in effectiveness of EIDM strategies by differences in an organisation's culture of research evidence, which was self-reported and defined as the extent to which the participant reported that their organisation valued the use of research evidence in decision-making. However, they found substantial differences in results, finding that the use of tailored, targeted evidence messages had a much greater effect on reported evidence use in public health departments that already had a strong culture of valuing research evidence. In contrast, when evidence messages were combined with a knowledge broker, there was a positive effect on evidence use in those departments with a low organisational research culture but a negative effect in organisations that already placed a high value on research evidence. It may therefore also be valuable to attempt to routinely measure organisational research use culture as part of evaluations.

There is tentative, observational evidence from across the review that single-mechanism interventions may only improve intermediate outcomes, although we lack counterfactual impact evaluation evidence that directly compares single vs multi-mechanism and behaviour change component approaches. The few studies that look at evidence use do either combine mechanisms or combine targeted CMOs. The qualitative synthesis identified barriers and facilitators to EIDM impact that can only be addressed in programme designs that target multiple mechanisms. As noted above, of the 152 studies included in the qualitative synthesis, a majority of the studies assess interventions applying mechanism of change that are paired with other intervention mechanisms. Overall, single mechanism interventions are in the minority of programmes being evaluated, suggesting that practitioners are typically designing and evaluating interventions targeting multiple mechanisms

The qualitative synthesis identified population factors influencing the success and sustainability of EIDM interventions in LMICs. Evidence users' lack of skills and experience, as well as inadequate training, was consistently reported as affecting their ability and opportunity to engage with and use research evidence. However, the small number of impact evaluations testing capacity building programmes targeting the EIDM skills of policymakers provided very tentative evidence of promise for improving indicators of evidence use in policymaking, capability, and opportunity to use evidence. Unfortunately, due to the limited number of impact evaluations exploring this mechanism, we were unable to quantitatively explore which intervention design features were associated with greater impact. However, the qualitative synthesis identified some consistently reported key features for consideration when designing capacity-building activities. Designing structured, blended, and contextualised EIPM capacity-building programmes facilitated by skilled trainers in safe and convenient locations was suggested to enhance the impact of these initiatives. In addition, it is important that capacity building initiatives are of adequate length to allow participants to achieve development goals whilst also allowing sufficient time to measure programme impact, a priority consideration for donors and funders, and other key stakeholders.

The qualitative synthesis also identified evidence producers' limited skills and experience in the policy making process as impacting their ability to engage with evidence users and provide relevant or contextualised evidence. With this in mind, we found that one of the impact evaluations with the most promising results was of the Research-to-policy Collaboration model in the USA (Crowley et al. 2021a; 2021b), one of the only to involve capacity building of researchers to build their knowledge of policy processes, increase their preparedness to work with offices in Congress and on best practices for knowledge translation. Not only did this model increase the amount of legislation that included research evidence language, it also improved researcher knowledge of policy processes, such as lobbying, as well as broader motivation to engage with policy makers. Although more impact research is needed to test such models in other contexts, it suggests that such capacity building should be an important component of EIDM interventions, linking researchers with policymakers.

6.3 Factors influencing the design, implementation and impact of EIDM interventions

Finally, our qualitative synthesis brought up a number of contextual and implementation challenges when delivering EIDM interventions with government actors in LMICs. Disease outbreaks, changes in the political climate, armed conflicts, and bureaucracies have disrupted

EIDM interventions while political will and commitment tend to promote the successful implementation of EIDM interventions. In addition, a lack of staff resources and capacities in government departments and among evidence brokers to support the production of evidence products were consistently noted as implementation challenges. Conflicting interests, high turn-over of policymakers, and workplace confidentiality were common issues affecting the implementation. Poor internet and digital connectivity, and limited accessibility to databases and journals remain key barriers to the flow of research evidence to policy. While we are far from the first to point out these challenges (e.g., Oliver et al. 2014), they clearly remain important barriers to successful EIDM intervention implementation that should be considered and built into all stages of programme design and delivery.

Considering all the above, we present some implications for practice and for research below. We indicate where implications draw upon findings of just one or two impact evaluations and therefore, generalisability may be limited.

6.4 Implications for policy and practice

- To affect behaviour change, multi-mechanism and multi-component interventions may be required that target different elements of the evidence-to-policy journey (e.g., capacity-building paired with access).
- When presenting impact evaluation results to policymakers, consider providing more statistical data on variation, presenting impact evaluation results side-by-side with other results for comparison, and providing cost-effectiveness data to increase policymakers' responsiveness to the evidence (tested in two impact studies only).
- Consider capacity building programmes to build the skills of policy makers to improve capabilities and use of research evidence. Design flexible, consistently structured EIDM capacity-building activities that are delivered with sufficient training materials, and blended learning techniques and are tailored to the local context with facilitation by experienced and politically sensitive facilitators, to promote the successful implementation of these initiatives. Ensure that the duration and regularity of capacity-building workshops are sufficient for participants to achieve capacity development goals, which is a key consideration for donors and funders among other relevant stakeholders. It is also important to target evidence brokers with training to enhance their understanding of the policymaking process and best practice in knowledge translation.
- Establish the extent to which an organisation values research evidence and has an existing culture of evidence use when designing programmes, and consider attempting to measure as a part of impact evaluations to explore variation in effects by these characteristics.
- Choosing venues for meetings and workshops should balance convenience and safety for public officials and other stakeholders to encourage participation. Meetings and workshops to promote evidence use by policymakers need to be carried out at the convenience of relevant stakeholders (especially policymakers) to maximise attendance and participation.

- Diverse stakeholders should be included in policy dialogues and advocacy efforts to improve the facilitation of mutual and collaborative engagement in implementing effective decision-making.
- Establish effective communication and consistent follow-ups to improve the success of policy dialogues and capacity-building efforts.
- Consider providing financial incentives to engage stakeholders in EIDM processes, particularly participation in meetings and workshops.
- Ensure that evidence products such as policy briefs match policy makers' information needs and are structured in an easy-to-read and visually appealing way to promote engagement with and use of evidence. Consider that provision of policy briefs alone may not result in more evidence-accurate beliefs when readers have strong prior views (tested in one impact study only).

6.5 Implications for research

- More impact evaluation evidence is needed, particularly in LMICs, including impact evaluations that evaluate both the intermediate outcomes of interest and evidence use. This will allow us to explore to what extent having an effect on multiple intermediate, behavioural factors - capability, opportunity, motivation - makes it more likely that evidence use during policy making will follow. It will also allow exploration of variation in effectiveness, including across different contexts.
- Consider combining robust impact approaches with qualitative or mixed method exploration of implementation, context, and stakeholders' experience of participation in the relevant programmes. Future studies would benefit from this design to understand if as well as how and why interventions are effective or not.
- Further work needs to look at developing standardised, robust measures of evidence use in policy making, going beyond self-reported assessments. Future studies could also include multiple sources of information, including objective measures of evidence use, to triangulate against self-reported metrics.
- Future studies should consider integrating aspects of qualitative appraisals fully into research design and analysis.
- There are structural patterns in the evidence base that need to be addressed through future funding of EIDM evaluation. New studies can meaningfully fill absolute evidence gaps in the awareness and agreement mechanisms. In addition, more evidence is needed in areas outside of health policy making.
- Explore the effect of the quality of research evidence on evidence use from the evidence user's perspective.
- Consider including studies published in languages other than English in future systematic reviews to facilitate learning from other evidence systems.

Acknowledgements

This review builds on a previous body of research funded by the World Health Organisation under the leadership of Tanja Küchenmüller and implemented by PACE. This previous body of research curated an exhaustive evidence map on what works to support evidence-use. This systematic review builds on this evidence map.

We are grateful to colleagues at the FCDO, Marie Gaarder, John Young and the Campbell Collaboration peer reviewers for useful feedback on the protocol for this systematic review and for comments on the draft findings of the review at an internal event at the FCDO in June 2024. We are also grateful to Megha Bhattacharyya for her assistance in preparing this report.

Contributions of authors

The review is being led by a team at the Pan-Africa Collective for Evidence (PACE): Laurenz Mahlanza-Langer, Promise Nduku, John Ategeka, Tafadzwa Mutanha, Tanya Mdlalose, Ruvimbo Nhandara.

The review is being supported by a team at 3ie: Jennifer Stevenson, Shannon Shisler, Suvarna Pande.

Declarations of interest

There are no reported conflicts of interest on this review. Several of the review authors are involved with the International Development Coordination Group of the Campbell Collaboration. However, the IDCG editor for this review is not involved in the review.

Differences between protocol and review

The large number of qualitative studies coupled with limited resources precluded us from including the quality of the included evidence for research question 2 in the synthesis work. Future synthesis efforts should consider the quality of the qualitative evidence in drawing conclusions

Sources of support

Funding for this systematic review has been provided by the UK's Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO) through the Research Commissioning Centre. The FCDO RCC has been established to commission and manage research to enhance development and foreign policy impact. Led by the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), the University of Birmingham, and an unmatched consortium of UK and global research partners, the RCC aims to commission different types of high-quality research in FCDO's key priority areas.

Plans for updating the review

The authors do not have plans to update the review at this time.

7 References

Included impact evaluations to address research question 1

- Beynon, P., C. Chapoy, M. Gaarder, and E Masset. 2012. "What Difference Does a Policy Brief Make?"
- Brownson, RC, P Allen, RR Jacob, A deRuyter, M Lakshman, RS Reis, and Y Yan. 2017. "Controlling Chronic Diseases through Evidence-Based Decision Making: A Group-Randomized Trial." *Preventing Chronic Disease* 14 (November):E121. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd14.170326.
- Brownson, RC, EA Dodson, KA Stamatakis, CM Casey, MB Elliott, DA Luke, CG Wintrode, and MW Kreuter. 2011. "Communicating Evidence-Based Information on Cancer Prevention to State-Level Policy Makers." <u>https://sci-hub.mksa.top/10.1093/jnci/djq529</u>.
- Crowley D M, Scott J T, Long E C, Green L, Israel A, Supplee L, Jordan E, et al. 2021. "Lawmakers' Use of Scientific Evidence Can Be Improved." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 118 (9). <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2012955118</u>.
- Crowley D, M, Scott J T, Long E C, Green L, Giray C, Gay B, Israel A, Storace R, McCauley M, and Donovan M. 2021. "Cultivating Researcher-Policymaker Partnerships: A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Model for Training Public Psychologists." *American Psychologist* 76 (8): 1307–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000880</u>.
- Di Noia J, Schwinn TM, Dastur ZA, and Schinke SP. 2003. "The Relative Efficacy of Pamphlets, CD-ROM, and the Internet for Disseminating Adolescent Drug Abuse Prevention Programs: An Exploratory Study." https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2836853/pdf/nihms180835.pdf.
- Dobbins, M, SE Hanna, D Ciliska, S Manske, R Cameron, SL Mercer, L O'Mara, K DeCorby, and P Robeson. 2009. "A Randomized Controlled Trial Evaluating the Impact of Knowledge Translation and Exchange Strategies." *Implementation Science : IS* 4 (September):61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-4-61</u>.
- Fillol, A, E McSween-Cadieux, B Ventelou, MP Larose, UBN Kanguem, K Kadio, C Dagenais, and V Ridde. 2022. "When the Messenger Is More Important than the Message: An Experimental Study of Evidence Use in Francophone Africa." *HEALTH RESEARCH POLICY AND SYSTEMS* 20 (1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-022-00854-x</u>.
- Gareth, Nellis, Dunning Thad, Grossman Guy, Macartan Humphreys, Susan D Hyde, McIntosh Craig, and Reardon Catlan. 2019. "Learning about Cumulative Learning: An Experiment with Policy Practitioners."
- Hjort, J, D Moreira, G Rao, and F Santini J. 2020. "How Research Affects Policy: Experimental Evidence from 2,150 Brazilian Municipalities."

- Jacobs, Julie A., Kathleen Duggan, Paul Erwin, Carson Smith, Elaine Borawski, Judy Compton, Luann D'Ambrosio, et al. 2014. "Capacity Building for Evidence-Based Decision Making in Local Health Departments: Scaling up an Effective Training Approach." *Implementation Science* 9 (1): 124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-014-0124-x</u>.
- Makkar, SR, M Howe, A Williamson, and F Gilham. 2016. "Impact of Tailored Blogs and Content on Usage of Web CIPHER – an Online Platform to Help Policymakers Better Engage with Evidence from Research."
- Masset, E., M Gaarder, P Beynon, and C Chapoy, 2013. "What is the impact of a policy brief? Results of an experiment in research dissemination," Journal of Development Effectiveness, 5(1), 50-63.
- Mehmood, Naseer S., and D.L. Chen. 2024. "Training Policymakers in Econometrics,"
- Opiyo, N, S Shepperd, N Musila, E Allen, R Nyamai, A Fretheim, and M English. 2013. "Comparison of Alternative Evidence Summary and Presentation Formats in Clinical Guideline Development: A Mixed-Method Study." <u>https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article/file?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0055067&type</u> <u>=printable</u>.
- Rogger, Daniel, and Ravi Somani. 2023. "Hierarchy and Information." *Journal of Public Economics* 219.
- Scott, J Taylor, K Megan Collier, Jessica Pugel, Patrick O'Neill, Elizabeth C Long, Mary A Fernandes, Katherine Cruz, Brittany Gay, Cagla Giray, and D Max Crowley. 2023.
 "SciComm Optimizer for Policy Engagement: A Randomized Controlled Trial of the SCOPE Model on State Legislators' Research Use in Public Discourse." Implementation Science 18 (12).
- Toma, M, and E Bell. 2022. "Understanding and Increasing Policymakers' Sensitivity to Program Impact."
- Vivalt, Eva, and Aidan Coville. 2023. "How Do Policymakers Update Their Beliefs?" <u>https://econpapers.repec.org/article/eeedeveco/v 3a165 3ay 3a2023 3ai 3ac 3a</u> <u>s0304387823000767.htm</u>.
- Wilson, PM, K Farley, L Bickerdike, A Booth, D Chambers, M Lambert, C Thompson, R Turner, and IS Watt. 2017a. "Does Access to a Demand-Led Evidence Briefing Service Improve Uptake and Use of Research Evidence by Health Service Commissioners? A Controlled before and after Study." <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0545-4</u>.
 - —. 2017b. Effects of a Demand Led Evidence Briefing Service on the Uptake and Use of Research Evidence by Commissioners of Health Services: A Controlled before and after Study. Health Services and Delivery Research. Southampton (UK): NIHR Journals Library. <u>https://doi.org/10.3310/hsdr05050</u>.

Included studies to address research question 2

- Abd, E., M.S. Razik, and M.R. Salem. 2019. "From Public Health and Demographic Research to Decision Making: An Intervention Study in Giza Governorate-Egypt." *Evaluation and Program Planning* 77:101704.
- Agweyu, A., N. Opiyo, and M. English. 2012. "Experience Developing National Evidence-Based Clinical Guidelines for Childhood Pneumonia in a Low-Income Setting-Making the GRADE?" *BMC Pediatrics* 12:1–12.
- Ali, B., and A.A. Osman. 2016. "Capacity Building for Decision Makers to Use Evidence in Policy Making in Sudan." <u>https://www.inasp.info/sites/default/files/2018-04/VakaYiko%20%E2%80%93%20GCRT%20study.pdf</u>.
- Amadou, M., E. Johnson, G. Tougri, A. Berthe, and I. Sombie. 2020. "Qualitative Evaluation of a Knowledge Transfer Training Programme in Maternal and Child Health in Burkina Faso, West Africa." *African Journal of Reproductive Health* 24 (4): 101–8.
- Amisi, M.M., T. Buthelezi, and S. Magangoe. 2020. "Use of Evidence in a Complex Social Programme: Case of an Evaluation of the State's Response to Violence against Women and Children in South Africa." In Using Evidence in Policy and Practice, 92– 114. Routledge.
- Aryeetey, R., M. Holdsworth, C. Taljaard, W.A. Hounkpatin, E. Colecraft, C. Lachat, and R. Verstraeten. 2017. "Evidence-Informed Decision Making for Nutrition: African Experiences and Way Forward." *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 76 (4): 589– 96.
- Ashford, L.S., R.R. Smith, R.M. Souza, F.F. Fikree, and N.V. Yinger. 2006. "Creating Windows of Opportunity for Policy Change: Incorporating Evidence into Decentralized Planning in Kenya." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 84 (8): 669–72.
- Asiimwe, E., and H. Engel. 2020. "Tracer Study Report: Effects of the Parliamentary Capacity Strengthening Initiatives Implemented by CLEAR-AA and Twende Mbele Between." <u>http://www.twendembele.org/reports/effects-of-the-parliamentarycapacity-strengthening-initiatives-tracer-study-report/</u>.
- Awang, S., B. Agins, I.R. Mohd Ujang, D.N. Narayanan, N.W. Zulkifli, and N. Hamidi. 2023. "Development of the National Policy for Quality in Healthcare for Malaysia." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 21 (1): 119.
- Ayuso-Mateos, J.L., M. Miret, P. Lopez-Garcia, A. Alem, D. Chisholm, O. Gureje, and G. Thornicroft. 2019. "Effective Methods for Knowledge Transfer to Strengthen Mental Health Systems in Low-and Middle-Income Countries." *BJPsych Open* 5 (5): 72.
- Ba-Nguz, A., A. Shah, J.S. Bresee, K.E. Lafond, K. Cavallaro, A. Shefer, and J.F. Seward.
 2019. "Supporting National Immunization Technical Advisory Groups (NITAGs) in Resource-Constrained Settings. New Strategies and Lessons Learned from the Task Force for Global Health's Partnership for Influenza Vaccine Introduction." *Vaccine* 37 (28): 3646–53.

- Bennett, S., A. Corluka, J. Doherty, V. Tangcharoensathien, W. Patcharanarumol, A. Jesani, and A. Aikins. 2012. "Influencing Policy Change: The Experience of Health Think Tanks in Low-and Middle-Income Countries." *Health Policy and Planning* 27 (3): 194–203.
- Bennett, S., L. Paina, F. Ssengooba, D. Waswa, and J.M. M'Imunya. 2013. "The Impact of Fogarty International Center Research Training Programs on Public Health Policy and Program Development in Kenya and Uganda." *BMC Public Health* 13:1–11.
- Berman, J., C. Mitambo, B. Matanje-Mwagomba, S. Khan, C. Kachimanga, E. Wroe, and D. Kathyola. 2015. "Building a Knowledge Translation Platform in Malawi to Support Evidence-Informed Health Policy." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 13:1–5.
- Braa, J., A. Heywood, and S. Sahay. 2012. "Improving quality and use of data through data-use workshops: Zanzibar, United Republic of Tanzania." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 90:379–84.
- Brites, A.D., K. Mello, P.A. Tavares, J.P. Metzger, R.R. Rodrigues, P.G. Molin, and G. Sparovek. 2021. "Science-Based Stakeholder Dialogue for Environmental Policy Implementation." *Conservation and Society* 19 (4): 225–35.
- Carrasco, M., S. Ohkubo, A. Preaux, C. Galavotti, A. Mickler, L. Raney, and H. Quinn. 2023. "Assessing Use, Usefulness, and Application of the High Impact Practices in Family Planning Briefs and Strategic Planning Guides." *Global Health: Science and Practice* 11 (4).
- Cash-Gibson, L., G. Guerra, and V.N. Salgado-de-Snyder. 2015. "SDH-NET: A South– North-South Collaboration to Build Sustainable Research Capacities on Social Determinants of Health in Low-and Middle-Income Countries." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 13:1–9.
- Club, T.W.C.H.J. 2022. "Not Just a Journal Club–It's Where the Magic Happens": Knowledge Mobilization through Co-Production for Health System Development in the Western Cape Province, South Africa." *International Journal of Health Policy and Management* 11 (3): 323.
- Cockburn, J., S. O'Donoghue, C. Taylor, M. Rouget, J.R. Mukherjee, E. Douwes, and D. Roberts. 2016. "Evaluating the Outcomes and Processes of a Research-Action Partnership: The Need for Continuous Reflective Evaluation." *Bothalia-African Biodiversity & Conservation* 46 (2): 1–16.
- C.O.H.R.E.D.Working Group. 2000. "Lessons in Research to Action and Policy: Case Studies from Seven Countries." *The Council on Health Research for Development*.
- Courtenay-Quirk, C., H. Spindler, A. Leidich, and P. Bachanas. 2016. "Building Capacity for Data-Driven Decision Making in African HIV Testing Programs: Field Perspectives on Data Use Workshops." *AIDS Education and Prevention* 28 (6): 472–84.
- Cruz, V.O., and G. Walt. 2013. "Brokering the Boundary between Science and Advocacy: The Case of Intermittent Preventive Treatment among Infants." *Health Policy and Planning* 28 (6): 616–25.

- Culwick, C., C.L. Washbourne, P.M. Anderson, A. Cartwright, Z. Patel, and W. Smit. 2019.
 "CityLab Reflections and Evolutions: Nurturing Knowledge and Learning for Urban Sustainability through Co-Production Experimentation." *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 39:9–16.
- Dagenais, C., E. McSween-Cadieux, P.A. Somé, and V. Ridde. 2016. "A Knowledge Brokering Program in Burkina Faso (West Africa): Reflections from Our Experience." *Health Systems & Reform* 2 (4): 367–72.
- Dagenais, C., L. Queuille, and V. Ridde. 2013. "Evaluation of a Knowledge Transfer Strategy from a User Fee Exemption Program for Vulnerable Populations in Burkina Faso." *Global Health Promotion* 20 (1_suppl): 70–79.
- Dagenais, C., T.D. Somé, M. Boileau-Falardeau, E. McSween-Cadieux, and V. Ridde. 2015. "Collaborative Development and Implementation of a Knowledge Brokering Program to Promote Research Use in Burkina Faso, West Africa." *Global Health Action* 8 (1): 26004.
- D'Ambruoso, L., M. Merwe, O. Wariri, P. Byass, G. Goosen, K. Kahn, and R. Twine. 2019.
 "Rethinking Collaboration: Developing a Learning Platform to Address under-Five Mortality in Mpumalanga Province, South Africa." *Health Policy and Planning* 34 (6): 418–29.
- Datta, A. 2017. "Improving Effectiveness of Evidence Use to Support Zimbabwe's Youth." INASP. http://www.inasp.info/sites/default/files/201804/LRI%20%E2%80%93%20Zim%20M oY%20case%20study.pdf.
- Datta, A., L. Shaxson, and M. Tshangela. 2016. "Enhancing the Use of Evidence in South Africa's Department of Environmental Affairs: Lessons Learned." INASP. <u>https://www.inasp.info/sites/default/files/201804/VY%20%E2%80%93%20SA%20lesson%20learned.pdf</u>.
- Doughman, D., K. Kantengwa, and I. Hakizinka. 2017. *Using Knowledge Brokerage*. The Social Realities of Knowledge for Development. Brighton: IDS.
- Dovlo, D., J. Nabyonga-Orem, Y. Estrelli, and A. Mwisongo. 2016. "Policy Dialogues–the 'Bolts and Joints' of Policy-Making: Experiences from Cabo Verde, Chad and Mali." *BMC Health Services Research* 16:327–35.
- Drimie, S., and T. Quinlan. 2011. "Playing the Role of a 'Boundary Organisation': Getting Smarter with Networking." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 9:1–8.
- El-Jardali, F., J. Lavis, K. Moat, T. Pantoja, and N. Ataya. 2014. "Capturing Lessons Learned from Evidence-to-Policy Initiatives through Structured Reflection." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 12:1–15.
- Ezenduka, C.C., and O.E. Onwujekwe. 2022. "Evaluating a Capacity Development Intervention in Health Economics among Producers and Users of Evidence in Nigeria: A Case Study in Getting Research Into Policy and Practice (GRIPP) in Anambra State." *Health Economics Review* 12 (1): 26.

- Fillol, A., E. Mcsween-Cadieux, B. Ventelou, M.P. Larose, U.B.N. Kanguem, K. Kadio, and V. Ridde. 2022. "When the Messenger Is More Important than the Message: An Experimental Study of Evidence Use in Francophone Africa." *Health Research Policy* and Systems 20 (1): 57.
- Gichane, M.W., M. Mutesa, and G. Chowa. 2019. "Translating Evidence into Policy Change: Advocacy for Community-Based Distribution of Injectable Contraceptives in Zambia." *Global Social Welfare* 6:41–47.
- Gilson, L., E. Barasa, L. Brady, N. Kagwanja, N. Nxumalo, J. Nzinga, and B. Tsofa. 2021. "Collective Sensemaking for Action: Researchers and Decision Makers Working Collaboratively to Strengthen Health Systems." *BMJ* 372.
- Goldman, I., A. Byamugisha, A. Gounou, L.R. Smith, S. Ntakumba, T. Lubanga, and K. Rot-Munstermann. 2018. "The Emergence of Government Evaluation Systems in Africa: The Case of Benin, Uganda and South Africa." *African Evaluation Journal* 6 (1): 1–11.
- Goldman, I., S. Ntakumba, and C. Jacob. 2013. "Reflections on the South African Experience with Evaluation and the Use of Evaluative Evidence to Orient Public Policy Formulation." In 3rd International Conference on National Evaluation Capacities: Solutions to Challenges Linked to Independence, Credibility and Use of Evaluations. Vol. 29.
- Griessel, A., S. Dumisa, Z. Ishmail, C. Adams, C. Waller, J. Robertsen, and G. Wilson. 2019. "Evaluation–Evaluating the National Evaluation System in South Africa: What Has Been Achieved in the First 5 Years?" *African Evaluation Journal* 7 (1): 1–11.
- Hajeebhoy, N., A. Rigsby, A. McColl, T. Sanghvi, T.H. Abrha, A. Godana, and B. Uddin. 2013. "Developing Evidence-Based Advocacy and Policy Change Strategies to Protect, Promote, and Support Infant and Young Child Feeding." *Food and Nutrition Bulletin* 34 (3_suppl2): 181–94.
- Harvey, B., Y.S. Huang, J. Araujo, K. Vincent, J.P. Roux, E. Rouhaud, and E. Visman. 2021. "Mobilizing Climate Information for Decision-Making in Africa: Contrasting User-Centered and Knowledge-Centered Approaches." *Frontiers in Climate* 2:589282.
- Hawkes, S., K. Aulakh, Jadeja B., Jimenez N., Buse M., Anwar K., I., and J. Whitworth.
 2016. "Strengthening Capacity to Apply Health Research Evidence in Policy Making Experience from Four Countries." *Health Policy and Planning* 31 (2): 161–70.
- Henriksson, D.K., S.S. Peterson, P. Waiswa, and M. Fredriksson. 2019. "Decision-Making in District Health Planning in Uganda: Does Use of District-Specific Evidence Matter?" *Health Research Policy and Systems* 17:1–11.
- Hjort, J., D. Moreira, G. Rao, and J.F. Santini. 2021. "How Research Affects Policy: Experimental Evidence from 2,150 Brazilian Municipalities." *American Economic Review* 111 (5): 1442–80.

- I.N.A.S.P. 2016a. "Approaches for Developing Capacity for the Use of Evidence in Policy Making." INASP. <u>https://www.inasp.info/publications/approaches-developing-</u> <u>capacity-use-evidence-policy-making</u>.
 - 2016b. "Improving Information Literacy for Urban Service Planning and Delivery at Local Government Level in Nigeria." <u>https://www.inasp.info/sites/default/files/2018-</u> 04/VakaYiko%20%E2%80%93%20CPPA%20study.pdf.
- 2017. "Building Capacity for the Use of Research Evidence in Ghana's Ministry of Employment." INASP. <u>https://www.inasp.info/sites/default/files/2018-04/Case%20study%20%E2%80%93%20Ghana%20Ministry%20of%20Employmen t.pdf</u>.
- Jessani, Nasreen, Caitlin Kennedy, and Sara Bennett. 2016. "The Human Capital of Knowledge Brokers: An Analysis of Attributes, Capacities and Skills of Academic Teaching and Research Faculty at Kenyan Schools of Public Health." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 14 (1): 58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-016-0133-</u> <u>0</u>.
- ——. 2017. "Enhancing Evidence-Informed Decision Making: Strategies for Engagement between Public Health Faculty and Policymakers in Kenya." *Evidence and Policy* 13 (2): 225–53.
- Johnson, E.A., I. Sombié, B.S. Uzochukwu, J.C. Uneke, M. Amadou, A. Abosede, and S. Okolo. 2020. "Policy Dialogue to Support Maternal Newborn Child Health Evidence Use in Policymaking: The Lessons Learnt from the Nigeria Research Days First Edition." *African Journal of Reproductive Health* 24 (4): 109–21.
- Johnston, M. 2013. "Improving African Cabinet Decision-Making through Evidence and Peer Support." In *Africa Cabinet Government Network*. <u>http://www.cabinetgovernment.net/wb-acgn.pdf</u>.
- Jones, N.A., and C. Walsh. 2008. "Policy Briefs as a Communication Tool for Development Research." <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/237773531_Policy_Briefs_as_a_Commun</u> ication_Tool_for_Development_Research.
- Kasonde, J.M., and S. Campbell. 2012. "Creating a Knowledge Translation Platform: Nine Lessons from the Zambia Forum for Health Research." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 10:1–8.
- Kawooya, I., I. Ddumba, E. Kayongo, and R. Mijumbi-Deve. 2020. "Rapidly Responding to Policy Queries with Evidence: Learning from Rapid Response Services in Uganda." In Using Evidence in Policy and Practice, 133–51. Routledge.
- Kawooya, I., T. Lubanga, A. Muwanika, E. Muhumuza, and R. Mijumbi-Deve. 2020. "The Influence of Local Ownership and Politics of the Use of Evaluations in Policy Making." *Using Evidence in Policy and Practice* 115.

- Keita, N., V. Lokossou, A. Berthe, I. Sombie, E. Johnson, and K. Busia. 2017. "The West African Experience in Establishing Steering Committees for Better Collaboration between Researchers and Decision-Makers to Increase the Use of Health Research Findings." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 15:113–24.
- Koduah, A., B.A. Asare, E. Gavor, M. Gyansa-Lutterodt, E. Andrews Annan, and F.W. Ofei. 2019. "Use of Evidence and Negotiation in the Review of National Standard Treatment Guidelines and Essential Medicines List: Experience from Ghana." *Health Policy and Planning* 34 (Supplement_2): 104–20.
- Kouakanou, B., D. Aguemon, M.S. Aina, A. Gounou, and E.M. David-Gnahoui. 2021. "9 The Potential and the Challenges of Evaluations to Positively Influence Reforms." *Using Evidence in Policy and Practice* 152.
- Langlois, E.V., V. Becerril-Montekio, T. Young, K. Song, J. Alcalde-Rabanal, and N. Tran. 2016. "Enhancing Evidence Informed Policymaking in Complex Health Systems: Lessons from Multi-Site Collaborative Approaches." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 14:1–11.
- Langlois, E.V., A. Mancuso, V. Elias, and L. Reveiz. 2019. "Embedding Implementation Research to Enhance Health Policy and Systems: A Multi-Country Analysis from Ten Settings in Latin America and the Caribbean." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 17:1–14.
- Lawson, E.T. 2016. "Negotiating Stakeholder Participation in the Ghana National Climate Change Policy." International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management 8 (3): 399–417.
- Mane, P.Y.B., A. Diagne, and S. Tiemtore. 2020. "12 Using Evidence for Tobacco Control in West Africa." *Using Evidence in Policy and Practice* 206.
- Marten, R., F. El-Jardali, A. Hafeez, J. Hanefeld, G.M. Leung, and A. Ghaffar. 2021. "Co-Producing the Covid-19 Response in Germany, Hong Kong." Lebanon, and Pakistan.
- Mbonye, A.K., and P. Magnussen. 2013. "Translating Health Research Evidence into Policy and Practice in Uganda." *Malaria Journal* 12:1–5.
- Mc Sween-Cadieux, E., C. Dagenais, and V. Ridde. 2018. "A Deliberative Dialogue as a Knowledge Translation Strategy on Road Traffic Injuries in Burkina Faso: A Mixed-Method Evaluation." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 16:1–13.
- Mc Sween-Cadieux, E., C. Dagenais, D.T. Somé, and V. Ridde. 2019. "A Health Knowledge Brokering Intervention in a District of Burkina Faso: A Qualitative Retrospective Implementation Analysis." *PloS One* 14 (7): 0220105.
- McCormick, B.J., P. Waiswa, C. Nalwadda, N.K. Sewankambo, and S.L. Knobler. 2020. "SMART Vaccines 2.0 Decision-Support Platform: A Tool to Facilitate and Promote Priority Setting for Sustainable Vaccination in Resource-Limited Settings." *BMJ Global Health* 5 (11): 003587.

- McKay, G., O. Baggio, C.A. Camara, E. Erlach, L.R. Dios, F. Checchi, and H. Rohan. 2022. "The Response Is like a Big Ship': Community Feedback as a Case Study of Evidence Uptake and Use in the 2018–2020 Ebola Epidemic in the Democratic Republic of Congo." *BMJ Global Health* 7 (2): 005971.
- Mehmood S., Naseer S., and Chen D.L. 2024. "Training policymakers in econometrics." Training.
- Mijumbi, R.M., A.D. Oxman, U. Panisset, and N.K. Sewankambo. 2014. "Feasibility of a Rapid Response Mechanism to Meet Policymakers' Urgent Needs for Research Evidence about Health Systems in a Low Income Country: A Case Study." *Implementation Science* 9:1–10.
- Mijumbi-Deve, R., S.E. Rosenbaum, A.D. Oxman, J.N. Lavis, and N.K. Sewankambo. 2017. "Policymaker Experiences with Rapid Response Briefs to Address Health-System and Technology Questions in Uganda." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 15:1–10.
- Mijumbi-Deve, R.M., I. Kawooya, E. Kayongo, R. Izizinga, H. Mamuye, K. Amog, and E.V. Langlois. 2022. "Paper 1: Demand-Driven Rapid Reviews for Health Policy and Systems Decision-Making: Lessons from Lebanon, Ethiopia, and South Africa on Researchers and Policymakers' Experiences." Systematic Reviews 11 (1): 154.
- Mirzoev, T.N., M.A. Omar, A.T. Green, P.K. Bird, C. Lund, A. Ofori-Atta, and V. Doku. 2012. "Policy Partnerships-Experiences of the Mental Health and Poverty Project in Ghana, South Africa, Uganda and Zambia." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 10:1–14.
- Miszczak, S.M., and Z. Patel. 2018. "The Role of Engaged Scholarship and Co-Production to Address Urban Challenges: A Case Study of the Cape Town Knowledge Transfer Programme." South African Geographical Journal 100 (2): 233– 48.
- Moat, K.A., J.N. Lavis, S.J. Clancy, F. El-Jardali, and T. Pantoja. 2014. "Evidence Briefs and Deliberative Dialogues: Perceptions and Intentions to Act on What Was Learnt." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 92:20–28.
- Moranker, S.M., and W. Mirkuzie. 2016. "Increasing Evidence Use among Ethiopia's Health Planners and Policy Makers." INASP. <u>https://www.inasp.info/sites/default/files/2018-</u>04/VakaYiko%20evidence%20and%20health%20%E2%80%93%20Jimma%20Uni versity.pdf.
- Motani, P., A. Walle, R. Aryeetey, and R. Verstraeten. 2019. "Lessons Learned from Evidence-Informed Decision-Making in Nutrition & Health (EVIDENT) in Africa: A Project Evaluation." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 17:1–15.
- Mpando, T.L., K. Sell, P. Delobelle, J. Osuret, J.B. Niyibizi, S. Ntawuyirushintege, and N.S. Jessani. 2021. "Integrated Knowledge Translation in Non-Communicable

Disease Research in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Comparison of Systematic and Ad Hoc Stakeholder Engagement." *Frontiers in Tropical Diseases* 2:753192.

- Munyoro, I. 2019. "Assessing Parliament of Zimbabwe's Informatics Database as a Tool for Providing Evidence-Based Information for Decision Making." *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science* 51 (1): 218–27.
- Mutatina, B., R. Basaza, N.K. Sewankambo, and J.N. Lavis. 2019. "Evaluating User Experiences of a Clearing House for Health Policy and Systems." *Health Information* & Libraries Journal 36 (2): 168–78.
- Mwendera, C.A., T. Mzilahowa, F. Njiokou, S. N'falé, J.A. Quach, E. Thomsen, and E. Worrall. 2022. "Knowledge Translation and Evidence Generation to Increase the Impact of Vector Control in Burkina Faso, Cameroon and Malawi." *BMJ Global Health* 7 (5): 008378.
- Nel, J.L., D.J. Roux, A. Driver, L. Hill, A.C. Maherry, K. Snaddon, and B. Reyers. 2016. "Knowledge Co-production and Boundary Work to Promote Implementation of Conservation Plans." *Conservation Biology* 30 (1): 176–88.
- Neves, J., J.N. Lavis, U. Panisset, and M.H. Klint. 2014. "Evaluation of the International Forum on Evidence Informed Health Policymaking: Addis Ababa, Ethiopia–27 to 31 August 2012." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 12:1–9.
- North, A., E. Unterhalter, and H. Makinda. 2017. "Engaging the Middle: Using Research to Support Progress on Gender, Education and Poverty Reduction Initiatives in Kenya and South Africa." <u>https://acs.r4d.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2018/03/Resources_Report.pdf#page=52</u>.
- Norton, T. 2019. "Exploring Knowledge Broker Influences on Sharing and Use of Evidence for Health Policy and Practice in Low-and Middle-Income Countries." (Doctoral dissertation, Ghent University.
- Norton, T.C., C. Howell, and C. Reynolds. 2016. "Exploratory Study of the Role of Knowledge Brokers in Translating Knowledge to Action Following Global Maternal and Newborn Health Technical Meetings." *Public Health* 140:235–43.
- Ogbonnaya, L.U., I.N. Okedo-Alex, I.C. Akamike, B. Azuogu, H. Urochukwu, O. Ogbu, and C.J. Uneke. 2021. "Assessing the Usefulness of Policy Brief and Policy Dialogue as Knowledge Translation Tools towards Contextualizing the Accountability Framework for Routine Immunization at a Subnational Level in Nigeria." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 19 (1): 154.
- Oliver, K., S Innvar, T. Lorenc, J. Woodman, and J. Thomas. 2014. A systematic review of barriers to and facilitators of the use of evidence by policymakers. BMC health services research 14:1-12.
- Ongolo-Zogo, P., J.N. Lavis, G. Tomson, and N.K. Sewankambo. 2014. "Initiatives Supporting Evidence Informed Health System Policymaking in Cameroon and Uganda: A Comparative Historical Case Study." *BMC Health Services Research* 14:1–15.

—. 2015. "Climate for Evidence Informed Health System Policymaking in Cameroon and Uganda before and after the Introduction of Knowledge Translation Platforms: A Structured Review of Governmental Policy Documents." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 13:1–17.

- —. 2018. "Assessing the Influence of Knowledge Translation Platforms on Health System Policy Processes to Achieve the Health Millennium Development Goals in Cameroon and Uganda: A Comparative Case Study." *Health Policy and Planning* 33 (4): 539–54.
- Onwujekwe, O., E. Etiaba, C. Mbachu, I. Arize, C. Nwankwor, U. Ezenwaka, and B. Uzochukwu. 2020. "Does Improving the Skills of Researchers and Decision-Makers in Health Policy and Systems Research Lead to Enhanced Evidence-Based Decision Making in Nigeria? A Short Term Evaluation." *PLoS One* 15 (9): 0238365.
- Onwujekwe, O., C. Mbachu, E. Etiaba, N. Ezumah, U. Ezenwaka, I. Arize, and B. Uzochukwu. 2020. "Impact of Capacity Building Interventions on Individual and Organizational Competency for HPSR in Endemic Disease Control in Nigeria: A Qualitative Study." *Implementation Science* 15:1–13.
- Opiyo, N., S. Shepperd, N. Musila, E. Allen, R. Nyamai, A. Fretheim, and M. English. 2013. "Comparison of Alternative Evidence Summary and Presentation Formats in Clinical Guideline Development: A Mixed-Method Study." *PLoS One* 8 (1): 55067.
- Organisation, World Health. 2021. "Evidence Informed Decision Making for Healthy Policy and Programmes." <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/349894/9789240036000-</u> eng.pdf?sequence=1.
- Oronje, R.N. 2017. "Working with Parliamentary Committees of Health to Tackle Health Issues in Africa: Achievements." In *Challenges and Opportunities of the Network of African Parliamentary Committees of Health (NEAPACOH.* <u>https://www.afidep.org/publication/working-with-parliamentary-committees-ofhealth-to-tackle-health-issues-in-africa-2/.</u>
- Oronje, R.N., V.I. Murunga, and E.M. Zulu. 2019. "Strengthening Capacity to Use Research Evidence in Health Sector Policy-Making: Experience from Kenya and Malawi." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 17 (1): 101.
- Oronje, R.N., and E.M. Zulu. 2018. "Contribution of a Network of Parliamentary Committees of Health to the Ecosystem of Evidence Use in African Parliaments." *Evidence & Policy* 14 (03): 523–35.
- Paing, P.Y., Z.L. Kyaw, M. Schojan, T. Traill, S. Thura, N. Tin, and C. Lee. 2021.
 "Development of a Knowledge Broker Group to Support Evidence-Informed Policy: Lessons Learned from Myanmar." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 19:1–8.
- Pappaioanou, M., M. Malison, K. Wilkins, B. Otto, R.A. Goodman, R.E. Churchill, and S.B. Thacker. 2003. "Strengthening Capacity in Developing Countries for Evidence-

Based Public Health: The Data for Decision-Making Project." *Social Science & Medicine* 57 (10): 1925–37.

- Phillips, S., I. Goldman, N. Gasa, I. Akhalwaya, and B. Leon. 2014. "A Focus on M&E of Results: An Example from the Presidency, South Africa." *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 6 (4): 392–406.
- Pophiwa, N., C.N. Deliwe, J. Mathe, and S. Taylor. 2020. "Using Evaluations to Inform Policy and Practice in a Government Department: The Case of the Department of Basic Education in South Africa." In Using Evidence in Policy and Practice, 75–91. Routledge.
- Porter, S., and I. Goldman. 2013. "A Growing Demand for Monitoring and Evaluation in Africa." *African Evaluation Journal* 1 (1): 9.
- Priest, N., E. Waters, N. Valentine, R. Armstrong, S. Friel, A. Prasad, and O. Solar. 2009.
 "Engaging Policy Makers in Action on Socially Determined Health Inequities: Developing Evidence-Informed Cameos." *Evidence & Policy* 5 (1): 53–70.
- Ranchod, R. 2017. "Building the Research-Policy Nexus in South Africa: Insights from a Skills Planning Policy Intervention." *Evidence and Policy* 13 (4): 669–86.
- Robson, R.C., S.M. Thomas, É.V. Langlois, R. Mijumbi, I. Kawooya, J. Antony, and A.C. Tricco. 2023. "Embedding Rapid Reviews in Health Policy and Systems Decision-Making: Impacts and Lessons Learned from Four Low-and Middle-Income Countries." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 21 (1): 45.
- Rodríguez, D.C., J. Shearer, A.R. Mariano, P.A. Juma, S.L. Dalglish, and S. Bennett. 2015. "Evidence-Informed Policymaking in Practice: Country-Level Examples of Use of Evidence for ICCM Policy." *Health Policy and Planning* 30 (suppl_2): 36–45.
- Rogger, D., and R. Somani. 2023. "Hierarchy and Information." *Journal of Public Economics* 219:104823.
- Rosenbaum, S.E., C. Glenton, C.S. Wiysonge, E. Abalos, L. Mignini, T. Young, and A.D. Oxman. 2011. "Evidence Summaries Tailored to Health Policy-Makers in Low-and Middle-Income Countries." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 89:54–61.
- Sakala, M., M.S. Chawani, I. Kazanga-Chiumia, H. Hara, L. Abdullahi, D. Kambalame, and R. Oronje. 2022. "A Review of the Functionality of Technical Working Groups (TWGs." In In Enabling Evidence Informed Decision Making (EIDM) within Malawi's Ministry of Health and Population: A Cross-Sectional Qualitative Study.

— 2023. "Functionality of Technical Working Groups in Enabling Evidence-Informed Decision-Making within Malawi's Ministry of Health: A Cross-Sectional Qualitative Study." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 21 (1): 44.

Sell, K., N.S. Jessani, F. Mesfin, E.A. Rehfuess, A. Rohwer, P. Delobelle, and L.M. Pfadenhauer. 2023. "Developing, Implementing, and Monitoring Tailored Strategies for Integrated Knowledge Translation in Five Sub-Saharan African Countries." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 21 (1): 91.

- Shroff, Z., B. Aulakh, L. Gilson, I.A. Agyepong, F. El-Jardali, and A. Ghaffar. 2015. "Incorporating Research Evidence into Decision-Making Processes: Researcher and Decision-Maker Perceptions from Five Low-and Middle-Income Countries." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 13:1–14.
- Siela, B.B. 2023. "Lessons Learned from Mobilising Research for Impact During the Covid-19 Pandemic." *IDS Bulletin* 54 (2).
- Siela Bossba, Benghong. 2023. "Lessons Learned from Mobilising Research for Impact During the Covid-19 Pandemic." *IDS Bulletin* 54 (2). <u>https://doi.org/10.19088/1968-</u> 2023.134.
- Smith, L., D. Bedu-Addo, M. Awal, and A. Mensah. 2020. "The Contribution of Civil Society Generated Evidence to the Improvement of Sanitation Services in Ghana."
- Spagnolo, J., L. Gautier, F. Champagne, N. Leduc, W. Melki, K. N'Guessan, and F. Charfi. 2020. "Reflecting on Knowledge Translation Strategies from Global Health Research Projects in Tunisia and the Republic of Côte d'Ivoire." *International Journal of Public Health* 65:1559–70.
- Stewart, R., Y. Erasmus, and UJ-BCURE team. 2017. "Working for Solutions: A Problem-Based and Relationship- Centred Approach to Building Capacity to Use Research Evidence in Africa." Africa Centre of Evidence. <u>https://africacentreforevidence.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Working-for-</u><u>solutions-in-Africa_UJ_BCURE-2014-2016-Report.pdf</u>.</u>
- Stewart, R., L. Langer, R. Wildeman, Y. Erasmus, L.G. Maluwa, S. Jordaan, and P. Motha. 2018. "Building Capacity for Evidence-Informed Decision Making: An Example from South Africa." *Evidence & Policy* 14 (02): 241–58.
- Stewart, R., M. Wiggins, J. Thomas, S. Oliver, G. Brunton, and G.T. Ellison. 2005. "Exploring the Evidence-Practice Gap: A Workshop Report on Mixed and Participatory Training for HIV Prevention in Southern Africa." *Education for Health* 18 (2): 224–35.
- Stewart, R., R. Wildeman, S. Jordaan, Y. Erasmus, L. Langer, L. Maluwa, and J. Mitchell. 2019. "Practical Reflections on Combining Workshops and Mentorships to Build Capacity in Demand and Use of Evidence in Government Organisations." *Evidence* & *Policy* 15 (2): 265–76.
- Struyk, R.J., and S.R. Haddaway. 2012. "Mentoring Policy Research Organizations: Project Evaluation Results." *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations* 23:636–60.
- Surgey, G., K. Chalkidou, W. Reuben, F. Suleman, J. Miot, and K. Hofman. 2020. "Introducing Health Technology Assessment in Tanzania." *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 36 (2): 80–86.
- Tilahun, B., K.D. Gashu, Z.A. Mekonnen, B.F. Endehabtu, M. Asressie, A. Minyihun, and L. Tadesse. 2021. "Strengthening the National Health Information System through a Capacity-Building and Mentorship Partnership (CBMP) Programme: A Health

System and University Partnership Initiative in Ethiopia." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 19:1–11.

- Tirivanhu, P., W. Olaleye, and A. Bester. 2017. "Advancing Evidence-Based Practice for Improved Public Sector Performance: Lessons from the Implementation of the Management Performance Assessment Tool in South Africa." *Journal of Public Administration* 52 (4): 681–704.
- Tran, N.T., S.C. Bennett, R. Bishnu, and S. Singh. 2013. "Analyzing the Sources and Nature of Influence: How the Avahan Program Used Evidence to Influence HIV/AIDS Prevention Policy in India." *Implementation Science* 8:1–11.
- Uneke, C.J., B.K. Aulakh, A.E. Ezeoha, C.D. Ndukwe, and F. Onwe. 2012. "Bridging the Divide between Research and Policy in Nigeria: The Role of a Health Policy Advisory Committee." *Journal of Public Health Policy* 33:423–29.
- Uneke, C.J., A. Ezeoha, C. Ndukwe, P. Oyibo, F. Onwe, and A. Bhupinder. 2014. "Sources and Resources." *Evidence & Policy* 10 (1): 137–59.
- Uneke, C.J., A.E. Ezeoha, C.D. Ndukwe, P.G. Oyibo, and F. Onwe. 2012. "Promotion of Evidence-Informed Health Policymaking in Nigeria: Bridging the Gap between Researchers and Policymakers." *Global Public Health* 7 (7): 750–65.
- Uneke, C.J., A.E. Ezeoha, H. Uro-Chukwu, C.T. Ezeonu, O. Ogbu, F. Onwe, and C. Edoga. 2015a. "Enhancing Health Policymakers' Information Literacy Knowledge and Skill for Policymaking on Control of Infectious Diseases of Poverty in Nigeria." Online Journal of Public Health Informatics 7 (2).

—. 2015b. "Enhancing the Capacity of Policymakers to Develop Evidence-Informed Policy Brief on Infectious Diseases of Poverty in Nigeria." *International Journal of Health Policy and Management* 4 (9): 599.

—. 2015c. "Improving Nigerian Health Policymakers' Capacity to Access and Utilize Policy Relevant Evidence: Outcome of Information and Communication Technology Training Workshop." *Pan African Medical Journal* 21 (1).

—. 2015d. "Promoting Evidence to Policy Link on the Control of Infectious Diseases of Poverty in Nigeria: Outcome of a Multi-Stakeholders Policy Dialogue." *Health Promotion Perspectives* 5 (2): 104.

- Uneke, C.J., A.E. Ezeoha, and H.C. Uro-Chukwu. 2018. "Promoting Evidence-Informed Policymaking through Capacity Enhancement in Implementation Research for Health Researchers and Policymakers in Nigeria: A Cross-Sectional Study." *Journal of Education and Health Promotion* 7 (1): 28.
- Uneke, C.J., A.E. Ezeoha, H.C. Uro-Chukwu, C.T. Ezeonu, and J. Igboji. 2018. "Promoting Researchers and Policy-Makers Collaboration in Evidence-Informed Policy-Making in Nigeria: Outcome of a Two-Way Secondment Model between University and Health Ministry." *International Journal of Health Policy and Management* 7 (6): 522.

- Uneke, C.J., E.V. Langlois, H.C. Uro-Chukwu, J. Chukwu, and A. Ghaffar. 2019. "Fostering Access to and Use of Contextualised Knowledge to Support Health Policy-Making: Lessons from the Policy Information Platform in Nigeria." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 17:1–12.
- Uneke, C.J., C.D. Ndukwe, A.A. Ezeoha, H.C. Uro-Chukwu, and C.T. Ezeonu. 2015.
 "Implementation of a Health Policy Advisory Committee as a Knowledge Translation Platform: The Nigeria Experience." *International Journal of Health Policy and Management* 4 (3): 161.
- Uneke, C.J., I. Sombie, H.C. Uro-Chukwu, E. Johnson, and F. Okonofua. 2017. "Using Equitable Impact Sensitive Tool (EQUIST) and Knowledge Translation to Promote Evidence to Policy Link in Maternal and Child Health: Report of First EQUIST Training Workshop in Nigeria." *Pan African Medical Journal* 28 (1).
- Uneke, C.J., I. Sombie, H.C. Uro-Chukwu, Y.G. Mohammed, and E. Johnson. 2018. "Promoting Evidence Informed Policymaking for Maternal and Child Health in Nigeria: Lessons from a Knowledge Translation Workshop." *Health Promotion Perspectives* 8 (1): 63.
- Uzochukwu, B., O. Onwujekwe, C. Mbachu, C. Okwuosa, E. Etiaba, M.E. Nyström, and L. Gilson. 2016. "The Challenge of Bridging the Gap between Researchers and Policy Makers: Experiences of a Health Policy Research Group in Engaging Policy Makers to Support Evidence Informed Policy Making in Nigeria." *Globalization and Health* 12:1–15.
- Vivalt, E., and A. Coville. 2023. "How do policymakers update their beliefs?" *Journal of Development Economics* 165:103121.
- Vogel, I., and M. Punton. 2016. "Building Capacity to Use Research Evidence (BCURE) Evaluation: Stage 1 Synthesis Report." Sussex: Itad. <u>http://itad.com/wpcontent/uploads/2016/06/BCURE-Evaluation-Synthesis-Report-June-2016.pdf</u>.
 - 2017. "Building Capacity to Use Research Evidence (BCURE) Evaluation: Stage
 Synthesis Report." Sussex: Itad. <u>https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/BCURE-Stage-2-Synthesis_Report_Revised-_310117-1.pdf</u>.
 - —. 2018. "Final Evaluation of the Building Capacity to Use Research Evidence (BCURE) Programme." Hove: Itad. <u>https://www.itad.com/knowledge-product/final-evaluation-of-the-building-capacity-to-use-research-evidence-bcure-programme/</u>.
- Walker, C. 2013. "Democracy Think Tanks in Action Translating Research into Policy in Young and Emerging Democracies." In *Democracy Think Tanks in Action*, 1–2.
- Waqa, G., H. Mavoa, W. Snowdon, M. Moodie, R. Nadakuitavuki, M. Mc Cabe, and B. Swinburn. 2013. "Participants' Perceptions of a Knowledge-Brokering Strategy to Facilitate Evidence-Informed Policy-Making in Fiji." *BMC Public Health* 13:1–9.
- White, R.G., S. Charalambous, V. Cardenas, P. Hippner, T. Sumner, F. Bozzani, and G. Churchyard. 2018. "Evidence-Informed Policy Making at Country Level: Lessons

Learned from the South African Tuberculosis Think Tank." *The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease* 22 (6): 606–13.

- Witter, S., A. Kardan, M. Scott, L. Moore, and L. Shaxson. 2017. "Generating Demand for and Use of Evaluation Evidence in Government Health Ministries: Lessons from a Pilot Programme in Uganda and Zambia." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 15:1–12.
- Yearwood, A.C. 2018. "Applying a Logical Theory of Change for Strengthening Research Uptake in Policy: A Case Study of the Evidence Informed Decision Making Network of the Caribbean." *Revista Panamericana de Salud Publica* 42:91.
- Yehia, F., and F. El Jardali. 2015. "Applying Knowledge Translation Tools to Inform Policy: The Case of Mental Health in Lebanon." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 13:1– 11.
- Young, T., J.C. Shearer, C. Naude, T. Kredo, C.S. Wiysonge, and P. Garner. 2018. "Researcher and Policymaker Dialogue: The Policy BUDDIES Project in Western Cape Province, South Africa." *BMJ Global Health* 3 (6): 001130.
- Zida, A., J.N. Lavis, N.K. Sewankambo, B. Kouyate, K. Moat, and J. Shearer. 2017. "Analysis of the Policymaking Process in Burkina Faso's Health Sector: Case Studies of the Creation of Two Health System Support Units." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 15:1–17.

Zida, A., J.N. Lavis, N.K. Sewankambo, B. Kouyate, and S. Ouedraogo. 2018. "Evaluating the Process and Extent of Institutionalization: A Case Study of a Rapid Response Unit for Health Policy in Burkina Faso." *International Journal of Health Policy and Management* 7 (1): 15.

Excluded studies

- Abdullahi, L., Hara, H., Kahurani, E., Kamthunzi, V., Nthakomwa, L., Oronje, R. and Madise, N. 2023. EIDM training as a key intervention among researchers to enhance research uptake and policy engagement: an evaluation study. Wellcome Open Research, 8.
- Acolet, D., Allen, E., Houston, R., Wilkinson, A.R., Costeloe, K. and Elbourne, D. 2011. Improvement in neonatal intensive care unit care: a cluster randomised controlled trial of active dissemination of information. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Fetal and Neonatal Edition, 96(6), pp.F434-F439.
- Ahmed, K., Ahmed, V., Arshad, M., Javed, S.A., Jillani, A., Khan, A., Khaver, A.A., Nadeem, U., Pellini, A., Shah, Q., Shaxson, L., Suleri, A.Q., Zaidi, A. and Zaidi, M. 2021. The role of evidence in policymaking in Pakistan: a political economy analysis report, SEDI: Oxford.

- AI, 2022. Development of evidence-based core competence-oriented nursing round model.
- Akerjordet, K., Lode, K. and Severinsson, E. 2012. Clinical nurses' attitudes towards research, management and organisational resources in a university hospital: part 1. Journal of Nursing Management, 20(6), pp.814-823.
- Albert, D., Fortin, R., Lessio, A., Herrera, C., Riley, B., Hanning, R. and Rush, B. 2013. Strengthening chronic disease prevention programming: The toward evidenceinformed practice (TEIP) program assessment tool.
- Alcalde-Rabanal, J.E., Becerril-Montekio, V.M. and Langlois, E.V. 2018. Evaluation of Communities of Practice performance developing implementation research to enhance maternal health decision-making in Mexico and Nicaragua. Implementation Science, 13, pp.1-11.
- Aldrich, R., Bonevski, B. and Wilson, A.2006. A case study on determining and responding to health managers' priorities for research to assist health service decision making. Australian Health Review, 30(4), pp.435-441.
- Alemu, M.B., Atnafu, A., Gebremedhin, T., Endehabtu, B.F., Asressie, M. and Tilahun, B.2021. Outcome evaluation of capacity building and mentorship partnership (CBMP) program on data quality in the public health facilities of Amhara National Regional State, Ethiopia: a quasi-experimental evaluation. BMC Health Services Research, 21, pp.1-13.
- Alexander, M., Viavattene, C., Faulkner, H. and Priest, S. 2014. Translating the complexities of flood risk science using KEEPER–a knowledge exchange exploratory tool for professionals in emergency response. Journal of Flood Risk Management, 7(3), pp.205-216.]
- Alleyne, J.O. and Jumaa, M.O. 2007. Building the capacity for evidence-based clinical nursing leadership: the role of executive co-coaching and group clinical supervision for quality patient services. Journal of nursing management, 15(2), pp.230-243.
- Alvandi, E., Sadoddin, A. and Sheikh, V. 2023. A web-based integrated Bayesian decision support system for rangeland management in semi-arid watersheds. Environmental Science & Policy, 141, pp.80-96.
- Alvarez, E., Lavis, J.N., Brouwers, M., Carmona Clavijo, G., Sewankambo, N., Solari, L. and Schwartz, L. 2019. Developing evidence briefs for policy: a qualitative case study comparing the process of using a guidance-contextualization workbook in Peru and Uganda. Health research policy and systems, 17, pp.1-11.
- Amsallem, E., Kasparian, C., Cucherat, M., Chabaud, S., Haugh, M., Boissel, J.P. and Nony, P. 2007. Evaluation of two evidence-based knowledge transfer interventions for physicians. A cluster randomized controlled factorial design trial: the CardioDAS Study. Fundamental & clinical pharmacology, 21(6), pp.631-641. Ancess J, (2007). Using research to inform the practice of teachers, schools, and school reform organizations.

- Apollonio, D.E. and Bero, L.A. 2017. Interpretation and use of evidence in state policymaking: a qualitative analysis. BMJ open, 7(2), p.e012738..
- Arnold, L., Bimczok, S., Clemens, T., Brand, H. and Starke, D. 2023. Implementing evidence ecosystems in the public health service: Development of a seven-step framework for designing tailored training programs. medRxiv, pp.2023-10.
- Asthana, S., Sheaff, R., Jones, R. and Chatterjee, A. 2020. eHealth technologies and the know-do gap: exploring the role of knowledge mobilisation. Evidence & Policy, 16(4), pp.687-701.
- Atkins, D., Fink, K. and Slutsky, J. 2005. Better information for better health care: the Evidence-based Practice Center program and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Annals of internal medicine, 142(12_Part_2), pp.1035-1041.
- Austin, S.B., Yu, K., Tran, A. and Mayer, B. 2017. Research to-policy translation for prevention of disordered weight and shape control behaviors: A case example targeting dietary supplements sold for weight loss and muscle building. Eating behaviors, 25, pp.9-14.
- Austvoll-Dahlgren A. 2012. Evaluation of a web portal for improving public access to evidence-based health information and health literacy skills: a pragmatic trial..
- Bache, I. 2019. How does evidence matter? Understanding 'what works' for wellbeing. Social Indicators Research, 142(3), pp.1153-1173.
- Bäck, A., Hasson, H. and Bergström, A. 2022. Enabling local political committees to support the implementation of evidence-based practice—a feasibility study. Pilot and Feasibility Studies, 8(1), p.191.
- Bainbridge, A., Troppe, T. and Bartley, J. 2022. Responding to research evidence in Parliament: A case study on selective education policy. Review of Education, 10(1), p.e3335.
- Bandola-Gill, J. 2023. Knowledge brokering repertoires: Academic practices at sciencepolicy interfaces as an epistemological bricolage. Minerva, 61(1), pp.71-92.
- Barclay, L., Kruske, S., Bar-Zeev, S., Steenkamp, M., Josif, C., Narjic, C.W., Wardaguga, M., Belton, S., Gao, Y., Dunbar, T. and Kildea, S. 2014. Improving Aboriginal maternal and infant health services in the 'Top End'of Australia; synthesis of the findings of a health services research program aimed at engaging stakeholders, developing research capacity and embedding change. BMC health services research, 14, pp.1-9.
- Barreto, J.O.M., Romão, D.M.M., Setti, C., Machado, M.L.T., Riera, R., Gomes, R., Machado, D.A., Abreu, J., de Andrade, K.R.C., Boeira, L.D.S. and Pozza, L. 2023. An evidence-informed policymaking (EIPM) competency profile for the Brazilian Health System developed through consensus: process and outcomes. Health Research Policy and Systems, 21(1), p.105.

- Barteit, S., Sié, A., Zabré, P., Traoré, I., Ouédraogo, W.A., Boudo, V., Munga, S., Khagayi, S., Obor, D., Muok, E. and Franke, J. 2023. Widening the lens of population-based health research to climate change impacts and adaptation: the climate change and health evaluation and response system (CHEERS). Frontiers in Public Health, 11, p.1153559.
- Barwick, M.A., Peters, J. and Boydell, K. 2009. Getting to uptake: do communities of practice support the implementation of evidence-based practice?. Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 18(1), p.16.
- Baumbusch, J.L., Kirkham, S.R., Khan, K.B., McDonald, H., Semeniuk, P., Tan, E. and Anderson, J.M. 2008. Pursuing common agendas: a collaborative model for knowledge translation between research and practice in clinical settings. Research in nursing & health, 31(2), pp.130-140.
- Bazarian, J.J., Davis, C.O., Spillane, L.L., Blumstein, H. and Schneider, S.M. 1999. Teaching emergency medicine residents evidence-based critical appraisal skills: a controlled trial. Annals of emergency medicine, 34(2), pp.148-154.
- Bell, D., Prain, M. and Layton, N. 2023. Assistive technology for people with deafblindness in Southern Africa: a Delphi study exploring dimensions of impact. Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology, 18(1), pp.30-43.
- Bennett, S., Whitehead, M., Eames, S., Fleming, J., Low, S. and Caldwell, E. 2016. Building capacity for knowledge translation in occupational therapy: learning through participatory action research. BMC medical education, 16, pp.1-11.
- Berger, J., Hardin, H.K. and Topp, R. 2011. Implementing a virtual journal club in a clinical nursing setting. Journal for Nurses in Professional Development, 27(3), pp.116-120.
- Bergin, R.J., Emery, J., Bollard, R. and White, V. 2019. Research evidence supports cancer policymaking but is insufficient for change: findings of key informant interviews from five countries. Health Policy, 123(6), pp.572-581.
- Billingsley, L., Rice, K., Bennett, M. and Thibeau, S. 2013. Using a multiuser virtual environment to facilitate nursing journal clubs: a mixed-methods study. Clinical Nurse Specialist, 27(3), pp.146-154.
- Bishop, J., Quilliam, C. and Shee, A.W. 2023. Using integrated knowledge translation to address a rurally based time-critical knowledge gap during the COVID-19 pandemic: a multimethods study in Victoria, Australia. BMJ open, 13(10), p.e075926.
- Black, N. and Hutchings, A. 2002. Reduction in the use of surgery for glue ear: did national guidelines have an impact?. BMJ Quality & Safety, 11(2), pp.121-124.
- Black, A.T., Balneaves, L.G., Garossino, C., Puyat, J.H. and Qian, H. 2015. Promoting evidence-based practice through a research training program for point-of-care clinicians. JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration, 45(1), pp.14-20.
- Boydell, K.M., Dew, A., Hodgins, M., Bundy, A., Gallego, G., Iljadica, A., Lincoln, M., Pignatiello, A., Teshima, J. and Willis, D. 2017. Deliberative dialogues between policy

makers and researchers in Canada and Australia. Journal of Disability Policy Studies, 28(1), pp.13-22.

- Bradley, P., Oterholt, C., Herrin, J., Nordheim, L. and Bjørndal, A. 2005. Comparison of directed and self-directed learning in evidence-based medicine: a randomised controlled trial. Medical education, 39(10), pp.1027-1035.
- Bristow, D., Carter, L. and Martin, S. 2018. Using evidence to improve policy and practice: the UK What Works Centres. In International and Interdisciplinary Insights into Evidence and Policy (pp. 40-51). Routledge.
- Brodowski, M.L., Counts, J.M., Gillam, R.J., Baker, L., Collins, V.S., Winkle, E., Skala, J., Stokes, K., Gomez, R. and Redmon, J. 2013. Translating evidence-based policy to practice: a multilevel partnership using the interactive systems framework. Families in Society, 94(3), pp.141-149.
- Brooks, S.G., Pawluk, M.A., Litvinov, I.V., Fradette, J., Chan, A.W., Philip, A., Croitoru, D. and Richardson, K.C. 2023. Informing a Canadian Skin Science Trainee Program Based on the State of Trainee Programs Offered by International Academic Societies. Journal of Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery, 27(1), pp.20-27.
- Brooks, M., Reath, J., McDonnell, L. and Abbott, P. 2021. Increasing general practitioner use of evidence-based medicine in teaching and clinical practice through evidencebased journal clubs. Australian journal of primary health, 27(4), pp.271-275.
- Brooks, F. and Scott, P. 2006. Exploring knowledge work and leadership in online midwifery communication. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 55(4), pp.510-520./
- Brownson, R.C., Diem, G., Grabauskas, V., Legetic, B., Potemkina, R., Shatchkute, A., Baker, E.A., Campbell, C.R., Leet, T.L., Nissinen, A. and Siegel, P.Z. 2007. Training practitioners in evidence-based chronic disease prevention for global health. Promotion & education, 14(3), pp.159-163.
- Brownson, R.C., Dodson, E.A., Kerner, J.F. and Moreland-Russell, S. 2016. Framing research for state policymakers who place a priority on cancer. Cancer Causes & Control, 27, pp.1035-1041.
- Brownson, R.C., Ballew, P., Brown, K.L., Elliott, M.B., Haire-Joshu, D., Heath, G.W. and Kreuter, M.W. 2007. The effect of disseminating evidence-based interventions that promote physical activity to health departments. American journal of public health, 97(10), pp.1900-1907.]
- Bruen, C. and Brugha, R. 2020. "We're not there to protect ourselves, we're there to talk about workforce planning": A qualitative study of policy dialogues as a mechanism to inform medical workforce planning. Health Policy, 124(7), pp.736-742.
- Brussoni, M., Towner, E. and Hayes, M. 2006. Evidence into practice: combining the art and science of injury prevention. Injury prevention, 12(6), pp.373-377.
- Boyko, J.A., Lavis, J.N., Abelson, J., Dobbins, M. and Carter, N. 2012. Deliberative dialogues as a mechanism for knowledge translation and exchange in health systems decision-making. Social science & medicine, 75(11), pp.1938-1945.
- Buchwald, D.S., Rogers, M.H., Rose, B.A., Bresnahan, B.W., Devine, B., LeResche, L., Nelson, L.A., Patrick, D.L., Lavallee, D.C., Garrison, M.M. and White, A.A. 2023. Evaluation of an experiential training program in patient-centered outcomes and comparative effectiveness research for diverse researcher communities and health care organizations. Journal of Clinical and Translational Science, 7(1), p.e81.
- Buckingham, S., Anil, K., Demain, S., Gunn, H., Jones, R.B., Kent, B., Logan, A., Marsden, J., Playford, E.D. and Freeman, J. 2023. Telerehabilitation for people with physical disabilities and movement impairment: development and evaluation of an online toolkit for practitioners and patients. Disability and Rehabilitation, 45(11), pp.1885-1892.]
- Burnett, S.M., Wun, J., Evance, I., Davis, K.M., Smith, G., Lussiana, C., Tesha, G., Quao, A., Martin, T., Alombah, F. and Robertson, M. 2019. Introduction and evaluation of an electronic tool for improved data quality and data use during malaria case management supportive supervision. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 100(4), p.889.
- Burstein, J.L., Hollander, J.E. and Barlas, D. 1996. Enhancing the value of journal club: use of a structured review instrument. The American journal of emergency medicine, 14(6), pp.561-563.
- Brennan, S.E., Cumpston, M., Misso, M.L., McDonald, S., Murphy, M.J. and Green, S.E. 2016. Design and formative evaluation of the Policy Liaison Initiative: a long-term knowledge translation strategy to encourage and support the use of Cochrane systematic reviews for informing health policy. Evidence & Policy, 12(1), pp.25-52.
- Cai, 2021. Evidence-based nursing training based on ADDIE teaching model. 基于ADDIE 教学模型的循证护理培训及效果.
- Cameron, D., Russell, D.J., Rivard, L., Darrah, J. and Palisano, R. 2011. Knowledge brokering in children's rehabilitation organizations: perspectives from administrators. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 31(1), pp.28-33.
- Camilleri, M., Gogolishvili, D., Giliauskas, D.L., Globerman, J. and Wilson, M. 2019. Evaluation of an HIV-specific rapid response service for community-based organisations in Ontario, Canada. Health Research Policy and Systems, 17, pp.1-13.
- Campbell, D., Donald, B., Moore, G. and Frew, D. 2011. Evidence check: knowledge brokering to commission research reviews for policy. Evidence & Policy, 7(1), pp.97-107.
- Campbell, C., Pollock, K., Briscoe, P., Carr-Harris, S. and Tuters, S. 2017. Developing a knowledge network for applied education research to mobilise evidence in and for educational practice. Educational Research, 59(2), pp.209-227.

- Campbell, L., Novak, I., McIntyre, S. and Lord, S. 2013. A KT intervention including the evidence alert system to improve clinician's evidence-based practice behavior—a cluster randomized controlled trial. Implementation science, 8, pp.1-15.
- Cardwell, F.S., Elliott, S.J. and Clarke, A.E. 2021. The value of hackathons in integrated knowledge translation (iKT) research: Waterlupus. Health research policy and systems, 19, pp.1-16.
- Cernada, G. and Sun, T.H. 1974. Knowledge into action: The use of research in Taiwan's family planning program.
- Chamberlain, P., Roberts, R., Jones, H., Marsenich, L., Sosna, T. and Price, J.M. 2012. Three collaborative models for scaling up evidence-based practices. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 39, pp.278-290.
- Chambers, D., Grant, R., Warren, E., Pearson, S.A. and Wilson, P. 2010, October. Use of systematic review evidence to inform local decision-making in the National Health Service: a case study of eating disorders. In Joint Cochrane and Campbell Colloquium. October (pp. 18-22)
- Chambers, D., Grant, R., Warren, E., Pearson, S.A. and Wilson, P. 2012. Use of evidence from systematic reviews to inform commissioning decisions: a case study. Evidence & Policy, 8(2), pp.141-148.
- Champagne, F., Lemieux-Charles, L., Duranceau, M.F., MacKean, G. and Reay, T. 2014. Organizational impact of evidence-informed decision-making training initiatives: a case study comparison of two approaches. Implementation Science, 9, pp.1-14.
- Chang, S.C., Huang, C.Y., Chen, S.Y., Liao, Y.C., Lin, C.H. and Wang, H.H. 2013. Evaluation of a critical appraisal program for clinical nurses: A controlled before-andafter study. The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing, 44(1), pp.43-48.]
- Chanyalew, M.A., Yitayal, M., Atnafu, A., Mengiste, S.A. and Tilahun, B. 2022. The effectiveness of the capacity building and mentorship program in improving evidence-based decision-making in the Amhara Region, Northwest Ethiopia: difference-in-differences study. JMIR Medical Informatics, 10(4), p.e30518.
- Chen, 2018. Building of interactive teaching platform for evidence-based practical and clinical hand surgery. 手外科學循證實踐與臨床互動教學平台搭建.
- Chiu, K., Thow, A.M. and Bero, L. 2023. A comparative analysis of the roles and use of evidence in pharmacy policy in Australia. Evidence & Policy, 19(2), pp.217-235.
- Chung, Y., Salvador-Carulla, L., Salinas-Pérez, J.A., Uriarte-Uriarte, J.J., Iruin-Sanz, A. and García-Alonso, C.R. 2018. Use of the self-organising map network (SOMNet) as a decision support system for regional mental health planning. Health research policy and systems, 16, pp.1-17.
- Ciliska, D., Clark, K., Hershfield, L., Jetha, N., Mackintosh, J. and Finkle, D. 2009. Using an Online Health Program Planner: : what's in it for you?

- Ciliska, D., Hayward, S., Dobbins, M., Brunton, G. and Underwood, J. 1999. Transferring public-health nursing research to health-system planning: assessing the relevance and accessibility of systematic reviews. Canadian journal of nursing research archive.
- Clark, E.C., Dhaliwal, B., Ciliska, D., Neil-Sztramko, S.E., Steinberg, M. and Dobbins, M. 2022. A pragmatic evaluation of a public health knowledge broker mentoring education program: a convergent mixed methods study. Implementation Science Communications, 3(1), p.18.
- Clark, R., Waters, E., Armstrong, R., Conning, R., Allender, S. and Swinburn, B. 2013. Evidence and obesity prevention: developing evidence summaries to support decision making. Evidence & Policy, 9(4), pp.547-556.
- Cockcroft, A., Masisi, M., Thabane, L. and Andersson, N. 2014. Building capacities of elected national representatives to interpret and to use evidence for health-related policy decisions: a case study from Botswana. Journal of public health policy, 35, pp.475-488.
- Coffman, J.M., HONG, M.K., Aubry, W.M., Luft, H.S. and Yelin, E. 2009. Translating medical effectiveness research into policy: lessons from the California Health Benefits Review Program. The Milbank Quarterly, 87(4), pp.863-902.
- Colquhoun, H.L., Helis, E., Lowe, D., Belanger, D., Hill, S., Mayhew, A., Taylor, M. and Grimshaw, J.M. 2016. Development of training for medicines-oriented policymakers to apply evidence. Health research policy and systems, 14, pp.1-9.
- Collins-Camargo, C., Chuang, E., Lauzus, N., Bonilla, A. and McBeath, B. 2020. Frontline worker perceptions of organizational supports to promote evidence use in private child welfare agencies. Child Welfare, 98(3), pp.55-96.
- Colquhoun, H.L., Lowe, D., Helis, E., Belanger, D., Ens, B., Hill, S., Mayhew, A., Taylor, M. and Grimshaw, J.M. 2016. Evaluation of a training program for medicines-oriented policymakers to use a database of systematic reviews. Health Research Policy and Systems, 14, pp.1-8.
- Conallin, J., Van Cauwenbergh, N., Duncan, N., Zin, W.W., Lunn, Z., Htike, H., Martin, G., Bogaard, T. and Franca, M.J. 2022. Supporting evidence-based decision-making: Capacity Building through Research. Water Policy, 24(5), pp.827-838.
- Conklin, J., Lusk, E., Harris, M. and Stolee, P. 2013. Knowledge brokers in a knowledge network: the case of Seniors Health Research Transfer Network knowledge brokers. Implementation Science, 8, pp.1-10
- Conway, A., Dowling, M. and Devane, D. 2019. Implementing an initiative promote evidence-informed practice: part 2—healthcare professionals' perspectives of the evidence rounds programme. BMC Medical Education, 19, pp.1-17.
- Conway, A., Dowling, M., Binchy, Á., Grosvenor, J., Coohill, M., Naughton, D., James, J. and Devane, D. 2019. Implementing an initiative to promote evidence-informed

practice: part 1—a description of the Evidence Rounds programme. BMC medical education, 19, pp.1-15.

- Cooper, S., Sanders, J. and Pashayan, N. 2021. Implementing a novel programme for nurses and allied health professionals to develop capacity for evidence-informed clinical practice. Journal of Research in Nursing, 26(5), pp.395-404.
- Corchon, S., Portillo, M.C., Watson, R. and Saracíbar, M. 2011. Nursing research capacity building in a Spanish hospital: an intervention study. Journal of clinical nursing, 20(17-18), pp.2479-2489.
- Corrao, G., Cesana, G., La Vecchia, C., VIttADINI, G.I.O.R.G.I.O., Catapano, A., Mancia, G., Brignoli, O., Filippi, A., Cantarutti, L., Merlino, L. and Zocchetti, C. 2013. The CRACK programme: a scientific alliance for bridging healthcare research and public health policies in Italy. Epidemiology biostatistics and public health, 10(3), pp.1-10.
- Cournan, M. 2012. Bladder management in female stroke survivors: translating research into practice. Rehabilitation Nursing Journal, 37(5), pp.220-230.
- Cramer, J.S. and Mahoney, M.C. 2001. Introducing evidence based medicine to the journal club, using a structured pre and post test: a cohort study. BMC Medical Education, 1, pp.1-4.
- Crawford, C., Boyd, C., Jain, S., Khorsan, R. and Jonas, W. 2015. Rapid Evidence Assessment of the Literature (REAL©): streamlining the systematic review process and creating utility for evidence-based health care. BMC research notes, 8, pp.1-9.
- Crowley, M., Scott, J.T.B. and Fishbein, D. 2018. Translating prevention research for evidence-based policymaking: results from the research-to-policy collaboration pilot. Prevention Science, 19, pp.260-270.
- Curran, J.A., Grimshaw, J.M., Hayden, J.A. and Campbell, B. 2011. Knowledge translation research: the science of moving research into policy and practice. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 31(3), pp.174-180.
- Curran, J.A., Murphy, A.L., Abidi, S.S.R., Sinclair, D. and McGrath, P.J. 2009. Bridging the gap: knowledge seeking and sharing in a virtual community of emergency practice. Evaluation & the health professions, 32(3), pp.314-327.
- Czerwinski, B.S., Cesario, S.K. and Ashley, M.H. 2004. Integrating research: Into daily nursing practice. JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration, 34(3), pp.117-119.
- Czyz, A. 2021. Evidence-based policymaking: survey data identify opportunities to strengthen capacity across federal agencies.
- D'Souza (2023). Indigenising systematic reviews with a collaborative model of 'training the trainers'.
- D'Souza, P., Nayak, B., Bhumika, T.V., Dickson, K. and Oliver, S. 2023. Indigenising systematic reviews with a collaborative model of 'training the trainers'. Nurse Researcher, 31(4).

- Dagenais, C., Ridde, V., Laurendeau, M.C. and Souffez, K. 2009. Knowledge translation research in population health: establishing a collaborative research agenda. Health Research Policy and Systems, 7, pp.1-10.
- Dallest, K., Strachan, H. and Flett, G., 2009. The online managed knowledge network that shares knowledge for eHealth in NHS scotland. In Connecting Health and Humans (pp. 49-53). IOS Press.
- Davis, J., Chryssafidou, E., Zamora, J., Davies, D., Khan, K. and Coomarasamy, A. 2007. Computer-based teaching is as good as face to face lecture-based teaching of evidence based medicine: a randomised controlled trial. BMC Medical Education, 7, pp.1-6.
- Day, T., Wainwright, S.P. and Wilson-Barnett, J. 2001. An evaluation of a teaching intervention to improve the practice of endotracheal suctioning in intensive care units. Journal of clinical nursing, 10(5), pp.682-696.
- Denis, J.L., Lomas, J. and Stipich, N. 2008. Creating receptor capacity for research in the health system: the Executive Training for Research Application (EXTRA) program in Canada. Journal of health services research & policy, 13(1_suppl), pp.1-7.
- de Goede, J., Putters, K. and van Oers, H. 2012. Utilization of epidemiological research for the development of local public health policy in the Netherlands: a case study approach. Social Science & Medicine, 74(5), pp.707-714.
- Di Pietro, T.L., Nguyen, H.A. and Doran, D.M. 2012. Usability evaluation: results from "evaluation of mobile information technology to improve nurses' access to and use of research evidence". CIN: Computers, Informatics, Nursing, 30(8), pp.440-448.
- Dilkes, H., Hill, S. and Ryan, R. 2008, October. Evidence for improving communication and participation: evaluation of Evidence Bulletin knowledge transfer. In 16th Cochrane Colloquium" Evidence in the era of globalisation" 2008; Freiburg, Germany (pp. 7-99).
- Dinh, M., Tan, T., Bein, K., Hayman, J., Wong, Y.K. and Dinh, D. 2011. Emergency department knowledge management in the age of Web 2.0: evaluation of a new concept. Emergency Medicine Australasia, 23(1), pp.46-53.
- Dobbins, M., Cockerill, R., Barnsley, J. and Ciliska, D. 2001. Factors of the innovation, organization, environment, and individual that predict the influence five systematic reviews had on public health decisions. International journal of technology assessment in health care, 17(4), pp.467-478.
- Dobbins, M., Thomas, H., O'brien, M.A. and Duggan, M. 2004. Use of systematic reviews in the development of new provincial public health policies in Ontario. International journal of technology assessment in health care, 20(4), pp.399-404.
- Dobbins, M., DeCorby, K. and Twiddy, T. 2004. A knowledge transfer strategy for public health decision makers. Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing, 1(2), pp.120-128.

- Dobbins, M., Robeson, P., Ciliska, D., Hanna, S., Cameron, R., O'Mara, L., DeCorby, K. and Mercer, S. 2009. A description of a knowledge broker role implemented as part of a randomized controlled trial evaluating three knowledge translation strategies. Implementation science, 4, pp.1-9.
- Dobbins, M., DeCorby, K., Robeson, P., Husson, H., Tirilis, D. and Greco, L. 2010. A knowledge management tool for public health: health-evidence. ca. BMC public health, 10, pp.1-16.
- Dobbins, M., Traynor, R.L., Workentine, S., Yousefi-Nooraie, R. and Yost, J. 2018. Impact of an organization-wide knowledge translation strategy to support evidence-informed public health decision making. BMC public health, 18, pp.1-15.
- Dobbins, M., Greco, L., Yost, J., Traynor, R., Decorby-Watson, K. and Yousefi-Nooraie, R., 2019. A description of a tailored knowledge translation intervention delivered by knowledge brokers within public health departments in Canada. Health Research Policy and Systems, 17, pp.1-8
- Donnelly, C.A. 2013. Evaluation as a mechanism for integrated knowledge translation. Queen's University (Canada).
- Driedger, S.M., Kothari, A., Graham, I.D., Cooper, E., Crighton, E.J., Zahab, M., Morrison, J. and Sawada, M. 2010. If you build it, they still may not come: outcomes and process of implementing a community-based integrated knowledge translation mapping innovation. Implementation Science, 5, pp.1-13
- Droese, P. and Peterson, N. 2006. Utilization of the medical librarian in a state Medicaid program to provide information services geared to health policy and health disparities. Journal of the Medical Library Association, 94(2), p.174.
- Dubois, A. and Lévesque, M. 2020. Public Health Network: Canada's National Collaborating Centres: facilitating evidence-informed decision-making in public health. Canada communicable disease report, 46(2-3), p.31.
- Dufault, M.A., Bielecki, C., Collins, E. and Willey, C. 1995. Changing nurses' pain assessment practice: a collaborative research utilization approach. Journal of advanced nursing, 21(4), pp.634-645.
- Dusabe, C., Abimpaye, M., Kabarungi, N. and Uwamahoro, M.D. 2023. Monitoring, evaluation and accountability evidence use for design, adaptation, and scale-up of an early childhood development program in Rwanda. Frontiers in Public Health, 11, p.1165353.
- Durán-Díaz, P. 2023. Sustainable land governance for water–energy–food systems: A framework for rural and peri-urban revitalisation. Land, 12(10), p.1828.
- Dykeman, S. and Williams, A. 2013. The Importance of Place and Time in Translating Knowledge about Canada's Compassionate Care Benefit to Informal Caregivers. Journal of Social Work in End-of-Life & Palliative Care, 9(4), pp.289-307.

- Ecoff, L. 2008. An evaluation of an educational initiative to promote evidence-based practice (EBP).
- Eboreime, E., Ogwa, O., Nnabude, R., Aluka-Omitiran, K., Banke-Thomas, A., Orji, N., Eluwa, A., Ezeokoli, A., Rotimi, A., Eze, L.U. and Offiong, V. 2022. Engaging stakeholders to identify gaps and develop strategies to inform evidence use for health policymaking in Nigeria. Pan African Medical Journal, 43(1).
- El-Jardali, F., Ataya, N., Jamal, D. and Jaafar, M. 2012. A multi-faceted approach to promote knowledge translation platforms in eastern Mediterranean countries: climate for evidence-informed policy. Health research policy and systems, 10, pp.1-11.
- El-Jardali, F., Makhoul, J., Jamal, D., Ranson, M.K., Kronfol, N.M. and Tchaghchagian, V. 2010. Eliciting policymakers' and stakeholders' opinions to help shape health system research priorities in the Middle East and North Africa region. Health policy and planning, 25(1), pp.15-27.
- El-Jardali, F., Saleh, S., Khodor, R., Abu Al Rub, R., Arfa, C., Ben Romdhane, H. and Hamadeh, R.R. 2015. An institutional approach to support the conduct and use of health policy and systems research: The Nodal Institute in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Health Research Policy and Systems, 13, pp.1-11.
- Ellen, M.E., Horowitz, E., Vaknin, S. and Lavis, J.N. 2016. Views of health system policymakers on the role of research in health policymaking in Israel. Israel journal of health policy research, 5, pp.1-15.
- Ellen, M.E., Lavis, J.N., Wilson, M.G., Grimshaw, J., Haynes, R.B., Ouimet, M., Raina, P. and Gruen, R. 2014. Health system decision makers' feedback on summaries and tools supporting the use of systematic reviews: a qualitative study. Evidence & Policy, 10(3), pp.337-359.
- Elliott, H. and Popay, J. 2000. How are policy makers using evidence? Models of research utilisation and local NHS policy making. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 54(6), pp.461-468.
- English, M., Irimu, G., Nyamai, R., Were, F., Garner, P. and Opiyo, N. 2017. Developing guidelines in low-income and middle-income countries: lessons from Kenya. Archives of disease in childhood, 102(9), pp.846-851.
- Eroğlu, M. and Erbil, A.Ö. 2022. Appraising science-policy interfaces in local climate change policymaking: Revealing policymakers' insights from Izmir Development Agency, Turkey. Environmental Science & Policy, 127, pp.48-56.
- Essomba Gelabert, M.A., Nadeu, M. and Tarrés Vallespí, A. 2023. Young educators' voices on interfaith dialogue and religious diversity in leisure time education.
- Farley-Ripple, E.N. and Buttram, J.L. 2014. Developing collaborative data use through professional learning communities: Early lessons from Delaware. Studies in Educational Evaluation, 42, pp.41-53.

- Flenady, T., Dwyer, T., Kahl, J., Sobolewska, A., Reid-Searl, K. and Signal, T. 2022. Research capacity building for clinicians: How does the research facilitator role foster engagement in the research process?
- Folz, C.E. 2006. Health policy roundtable: Producing and adapting research syntheses for use by health-system managers and public policymakers. Health Services Research, 41(3 Pt 1), p.905.
- Forsetlund, L., Bradley, P., Forsen, L., Nordheim, L., Jamtvedt, G. and Bjørndal, A. 2003. Randomised controlled trial of a theoretically grounded tailored intervention to diffuse evidence-based public health practice [ISRCTN23257060]. BMC Medical Education, 3, pp.1-12.
- Fortin, M., Couture, M., Bouhali, T., Leclerc, E. and Stewart, M. 2016. It takes two to tango: researchers and decision-makers collaborating to implement practice changes for patients with multimorbidity. Healthc Q, 19(2), pp.55-9.
- Fournier, M.F. 2012. Knowledge mobilization in the context of health technology assessment: an exploratory case study. Health Research Policy and Systems, 10, pp.1-13.
- Frijling, B.D., Lobo, C.M., Hulscher, M.E., Akkermans, R.P., Braspenning, J.C., Prins, A., Van Der Wouden, J.C. and Grol, R.P. 2002. Multifaceted support to improve clinical decision making in diabetes care: a randomized controlled trial in general practice. Diabetic medicine, 19(10), pp.836-842.
- Frost, H., Geddes, R., Haw, S., A. Jackson, C., Jepson, R., D. Mooney, J. and Frank, J. 2012. Experiences of knowledge brokering for evidence-informed public health policy and practice: three years of the Scottish Collaboration for Public Health Research and Policy. Evidence & Policy, 8(3), pp.347-359.
- Frost, H., Geddes, R., Haw, S., A. Jackson, C., Jepson, R., D. Mooney, J. and Frank, J. 2012. Experiences of knowledge brokering for evidence-informed public health policy and practice: three years of the Scottish Collaboration for Public Health Research and Policy. Evidence & Policy, 8(3), pp.347-359.
- Fry, M. and Dombkins, A. 2017. Interventions to support and develop clinician-researcher leadership in one health district. International journal of health care quality assurance, 30(6), pp.528-538.
- Fu, C.H., Hodges, B., Regehr, G., Goldbloom, D.S. and Garfinkel, P. 1999. Is a journal club effective for teaching critical appraisal skills? A controlled trial with residents in psychiatry. Academic Psychiatry, 23, pp.205-209.
- Fulmer, E.B., Barbero, C., Gilchrist, S., Shantharam, S.S., Bhuiya, A.R., Taylor, L.N. and Jones, C.D. 2020. Translating workforce development policy interventions for community health workers: application of a policy research continuum. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice, 26, pp.S10-S18.

- Gao, L. 2014. Application of ACE Star model in evidence-based nursing training. ACE Star模型在循證護理培訓中的應用.
- Gao, 2022. Progress in strengthening federal evidence-based policymaking.
- Gao, Y., Liao, L.P., Chen, P., Wang, K., Huang, C., Chen, Y. and Mou, S.Y. 2021. Application effect for a care bundle in optimizing nursing of patients with severe craniocerebral injury. World journal of clinical cases, 9(36), p.11265.
- Gabbay, J., le May, A., Jefferson, H., Webb, D., Lovelock, R., Powell, J. and Lathlean, J.
 2003. A Case Study of Knowledge Management in Multiagency Consumer-InformedCommunities of Practice': Implications for Evidence-Based Policy Development in Health and Social Services. Health:, 7(3), pp.283-310.
- Gagliardi, A.R., Fraser, N., Wright, F.C., Lemieux-Charles, L. and Davis, D. 2008. Fostering knowledge exchange between researchers and decision-makers: exploring the effectiveness of a mixed-methods approach. Health policy, 86(1), pp.53-63.
- Gagnon, J., Gagnon, M.P., Buteau, R.A., Azizah, G.M., Jette, S., Lampron, A., Simonyan, D., Asua, J. and Reviriego, E. 2015. Adaptation and evaluation of online self-learning modules to teach critical appraisal and evidence-based practice in nursing: An international collaboration. CIN: Computers, Informatics, Nursing, 33(7), pp.285-294.
- Galvao, M.C.B., Carmona, F., Grand, R., Pluye, P. and Ricarte, I.L.M. 2018. Disseminating health evidence summaries to increase evidence use in health care. Revista de saude publica, 52, p.57.
- Gardiner, N.B., Gilbert, N. and Liggett, D. 2023. Taming a 'fuzzy beast'? Stakeholder perspectives on Antarctic science-policy knowledge exchange practices in New Zealand. Plos one, 18(11), p.e0294063.
- Gattellari, M., Donnelly, N., Taylor, N., Meerkin, M., Hirst, G. and Ward, J.E. 2005. Does 'peer coaching'increase GP capacity to promote informed decision making about PSA screening? A cluster randomised trial. Family Practice, 22(3), pp.253-265.
- Gatune, J., Commodore, R., Darko, R., Atengble, K.O., Harris, D., Osei, D.R., Oteng-Abayie, F.E., Shah, N., Bainson, A.K., Fenny, A. and Osei, C. 2021. The role of evidence in policymaking in Ghana: A political economy analysis.
- Gehlbach, S.H., Bobula, J.A. and Dickinson, J.C. 1980. Teaching residents to read the medical literature. Academic Medicine, 55(4), pp.362-5.
- Gerrish, K., McDonnell, A., Nolan, M., Guillaume, L., Kirshbaum, M. and Tod, A. 2011. The role of advanced practice nurses in knowledge brokering as a means of promoting evidence-based practice among clinical nurses. Journal of advanced nursing, 67(9), pp.2004-2014.
- Ghebrehewet, S., Harries, A.D., Kliner, M., Smith, K., Cleary, P., Wilkinson, E. and Stewart, A. 2019. Adapting the Structured Operational Research Training Initiative (SORT IT) for high-income countries. Public Health Action, 9(2), pp.69-71.

- Gifford, W., Lefebre, N. and Davies, B. 2014. An organizational intervention to influence evidence-informed decision making in home health nursing. JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration, 44(7/8), pp.395-402.
- Girouard, S. 1978. The role of the clinical specialist as change agent: an experiment in preoperative teaching. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 15(2), pp.57-65.
- Glegg, S.M.N. 2019. Strengthening networks to improve knowledge translation in paediatric healthcare (Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia).
- Glegg, S.M.N. 2019. Strengthening networks to improve knowledge translation in paediatric healthcare (Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia).
- Goodenough, B., Fleming, R., Young, M., Burns, K., Jones, C. and Forbes, F. 2017. Raising awareness of research evidence among health professionals delivering dementia care: Are knowledge translation workshops useful?. Gerontology & geriatrics education, 38(4), pp.392-406.]
- Gorczynski, P., Burnell, K., Dewey, A. and Costello, J.T. 2017. Teaching evidence-based synthesis: an examination of the development and delivery of two innovative methodologies used at the University of Portsmouth. Journal of Evidence-based Medicine, 10(1), pp.11-15.
- Gordon, T., Power, C., Duck, T., Schmidt, H.M.A. and Holden, J. 2018. A priority-driven, policy-relevant research program to support a response to blood-borne viruses and sexually transmissible infections in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract, 28(3), p.e2831820.
- Green, M.L. and Ellis, P.J. 1997. Impact of an evidence-based medicine curriculum based on adult learning theory. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 12, pp.742-750.
- Grimshaw, J.M., Eccles, M.P., Lavis, J.N., Hill, S.J. and Squires, J.E. 2012. Knowledge translation of research findings. Implementation science, 7, pp.1-17.
- Gross, D.P. and Lowe, A. 2009. Evaluation of a knowledge translation initiative for physical therapists treating patients with work disability. Disability and Rehabilitation, 31(11), pp.871-879.
- Guillot-Wright, S. and Oliver, K. 2023. Improving the influence of evidence in policy creation: an ethnographic study of the research-to-policy collaborative. Evidence & Policy, 19(1), pp.58-73.
- Gülmezoglu, A.M., Langer, A., Piaggio, G., Lumbiganon, P., Villar, J. and Grimshaw, J. 2007. Cluster randomised trial of an active, multifaceted educational intervention based on the WHO Reproductive Health Library to improve obstetric practices. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 114(1), pp.16-23.
- Hao, 2021. Developing students' evidence-based nursing ability relying on an Evidencebased Nursing Research Center: practice and reflections. 依托循证护理研究中心培 养学生循证护理能力的实践与思考.

- Ha, T.C., McNamara, M., Melo, L., Frost, E.K. and Moore, G.M. 2023. Filling the gap between evidence, policy and practice: are 45 and Up Study researchers planning for impact?. Public Health Research & Practice, 33(1).
- Hadley, J., Kulier, R., Zamora, J., Coppus, S.F., Weinbrenner, S., Meyerrose, B., Decsi, T., Horvath, A.R., Nagy, E., Emparanza, J.I. and Arvanitis, T.N., 2010. Effectiveness of an e-learning course in evidence-based medicine for foundation (internship) training. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 103(7), pp.288-294.
- Hakeem, M.M., Goi, H.C., Frendy and Ito, H. 2023. Regional sustainable development using a Quadruple Helix approach in Japan. Regional Studies, Regional Science, 10(1), pp.119-138.
- Hakimjavadi, R., Hong, H.A., Fallah, N., Humphreys, S., Kingwell, S., Stratton, A., Tsai, E., Wai, E.K., Walden, K., Noonan, V.K. and Phan, P. 2023. Enabling knowledge translation: implementation of a web-based tool for independent walking prediction after traumatic spinal cord injury. Frontiers in Neurology, 14, p.1219307.
- Halabisky, B., Humbert, J., Stodel, E.J., MacDonald, C.J., Chambers, L.W., Doucette, S., Dalziel, W.B. and Conklin, J. 2010. eLearning, knowledge brokering, and nursing: strengthening collaborative practice in long-term care. CIN: Computers, Informatics, Nursing, 28(5), pp.264-273.
- Hallstrom, L.K. and Hvenegaard, G.T. 2021. Fostering Evidence-Informed Decision-Making for Protected Areas through the Alberta Parks Social Science Working Group. Land, 10(2), p.224.
- Hamilton, L., Halverson, R., Jackson, S.S., Mandinach, E., Supovitz, J.A., Wayman, J.C., Pickens, C., Martin, E. and Steele, J.L. 2009. Using student achievement data to support instructional decision making.
- Hammond, A. and Klompenhouwer, P. 2005. Getting evidence into practice: implementing a behavioural joint protection education programme for people with rheumatoid arthritis. British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 68(1), pp.25-33.
- Handoll, H. and Madhok, R. 2001. Utility of the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews for evidence-based health policy and practice: a case study. Journal of Clinical Excellence, 3, pp.59-68.a case study..
- Happell, B., Johnston, L. and Hill, C., 2003. Implementing research findings into mental health nursing practice: exploring the clinical research fellowship approach. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing, 12(4), pp.251-258.
- Harris, M., Smith, B.J., Veale, A., Esterman, A., Frith, P.A. and Selim, P., 2006. Providing patients with reviews of evidence about COPD treatments: a controlled trial of outcomes. Chronic Respiratory Disease, 3(3), pp.133-140.
- Harrison, A.M., Heaton, M. and Entwisle, D.C. 2023. Increasing road network resilience to the impacts of ground movement due to climate change: a case study from

Lincolnshire, UK. Quarterly Journal of Engineering Geology and Hydrogeology, 56(3), pp.qjegh2023-002.

- Harvey, E.J., Hand, K., Weston, D. and Ashiru-Oredope, D. 2023. Development of national antimicrobial intravenous-to-oral switch criteria and decision aid. Journal of Clinical Medicine, 12(6), p.2086.
- Haynes, E., Kramer, D.M., Strahlendorf, P., Holness, D.L., Kushner, R. and Tenkate, T. 2018. A cross-Canada knowledge transfer and exchange workplace intervention targeting the adoption of sun safety programs and practices: Sun Safety at Work Canada. Safety Science, 102, pp.238-250.
- Hazel, E., Chimbalanga, E., Chimuna, T., Nsona, H., Mtimuni, A., Kaludzu, E., Gilroy, K. and Guenther, T. 2017. Using data to improve programs: assessment of a data quality and use intervention package for integrated community case management in Malawi. Global Health: Science and Practice, 5(3), pp.355-366.
- Henderson, J.L., Chiodo, D., Varatharasan, N., Andari, S., Luce, J. and Wolfe, J. 2023. Youth Wellness Hubs Ontario: Development and initial implementation of integrated youth services in Ontario, Canada. Early Intervention in Psychiatry, 17(1), pp.107-114.
- Hemsley-Brown, J. 2005. Using research to support management decision making within the field of education. Management Decision, 43(5), pp.691-705.
- Hu, H., Allen, P., Yan, Y., Reis, R.S., Jacob, R.R. and Brownson, R.C. 2019. Organizational supports for research evidence use in state public health agencies: a latent class analysis. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice, 25(4), pp.373-381.]
- Hew, K.F. and Hara, N. 2008. An online listserv for nurse practitioners: a viable venue for continuous nursing professional development?. Nurse Education Today, 28(4), pp.450-457.
- Ho, K., Jarvis-Selinger, S., Norman, C.D., Li, L.C., Olatunbosun, T., Cressman, C. and Nguyen, A. 2010. Electronic communities of practice: guidelines from a project. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 30(2), pp.139-143.
- Hoffmann, T., Desha, L. and Verrall, K. 2011. Evaluating an online occupational therapy community of practice and its role in supporting occupational therapy practice. Australian occupational therapy journal, 58(5), pp.337-345.
- Holst, S.S., Møller, C.H., Vermehren, C., Trolle, S., Hansen, B., Kirkedal, A.B.K., Christensen, H.R., Jacobsen, T., Mathiasen, R., Andersen, J.Þ.T. and Gade, C. 2024. Establishment of a children's Drugs and Therapeutics Committee to ensure evidence-based and cost-effective medical treatment for children. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 90(2), pp.378-387.

- Hoens, A.M., Reid, W.D. and Camp, P.G. 2013. Knowledge Brokering: An Innovative Model for Supporting Evidence-Informed Practice in Respiratory Care. Canadian respiratory journal, 20(4), pp.271-274.
- Hoens, A.M., Ezzat, A., Anthony, J., Scott, A., Yates, M., Justesen, J.R. and Hughes, D. 2013. A knowledge translation initiative to enhance evidence-informed clinical management of Achilles tendinopathy: the purpose, process and outcomes of the BC tendinopathy toolkit. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 47(9), pp.e2-e2
- Hong SW (1990). The employment of ward opinion leaders for continuing education the hospital..
- Horbar, J.D., Carpenter, J.H., Buzas, J., Soll, R.F., Suresh, G., Bracken, M.B., Leviton, L.C., Plsek, P.E. and Sinclair, J.C. 2004. Collaborative quality improvement to promote evidence based surfactant for preterm infants: a cluster randomised trial. Bmj, 329(7473), p.1004.
- Househ, M.S., Kushniruk, A., Maclure, M., Carleton, B. and Cloutier-Fisher, D. 2011. The use of conferencing technologies to support drug policy group knowledge exchange processes: An action case approach. International Journal of Medical Informatics, 80(4), pp.251-261.
- Hsieh, P.L. and Chen, S.H. 2020. Effectiveness of an evidence-based practice educational intervention among school nurses. International journal of environmental research and public health, 17(11), p.4063.
- Hu, A. and Huang, L. 2021. Norwegian policy initiative of offering free homework assistance in schools. ECNU Review of Education, 4(3), pp.640-651.
- Hughes, C.E., 2007. Evidence-based policy or policy-based evidence? The role of evidence in the development and implementation of the Illicit Drug Diversion Initiative. Drug and Alcohol Review, 26(4), pp.363-368.]
- Hultqvist, S., Ekstam, L., Andersson, J., Nilsson, M.H., Overton, M., Zingmark, M. and Iwarsson, S., 2022. Conditions for uptake of evidence-based knowledge in municipal care for older people in Sweden: a developmental evaluation. BMC Research Notes, 15(1), p.243.
- Hunter, N., Walsh, B., Ramos, G.C.D., Greenwalt, J., Roberts, D., Oke, C., Nielsen, D. and Slotow, R. 2023. Cities and climate change science after Edmonton: Knowledge, people, and organisations' influence and outreach. Current Research in Environmental Sustainability, 6, p.100231.
- Husson, H., Howarth, C., Neil-Sztramko, S. and Dobbins, M. 2021. The National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools (NCCMT): Supporting evidenceinformed decision-making in public health in Canada. Canada Communicable Disease Report= Releve des Maladies Transmissibles au Canada, 47(56), pp.292-296.
- Hutchinson, A.M. and Johnston, L. 2008. An observational study of health professionals' use of evidence to inform the development of clinical management tools. Journal of

clinical nursing,	17(16),	pp.2203-2211.
-------------------	---------	---------------

- Hyndman, K.J. 2005. An evalution of a dissemination intervention to enhance registered nurses' use of clinical practice guidelines related to tobacco reduction (Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia)
- Hämalainen, R.M. 2017. Knowledge translation platform increasing use of research evidence in physical activity policy making-a case study in Finland. Global Journal of Health Science, 9(9), pp.126-126.
- Ibbotson, Grimshaw and Grant.1998. Evaluation of a programme of workshops for promoting the teaching of critical appraisal skills. Medical education, 32(5), pp.486-491.
- Ilic, D., Tepper, K. and Misso, M. 2012. Teaching evidence-based medicine literature searching skills to medical students during the clinical years: a randomized controlled trial. Journal of the Medical Library Association: JMLA, 100(3), p.190.
- Ilic, D., Nordin, R.B., Glasziou, P., Tilson, J.K. and Villanueva, E. 2015. A randomised controlled trial of a blended learning education intervention for teaching evidencebased medicine. BMC medical education, 15, pp.1-10.
- Imani-Nasab, M.H., Seyedin, H., Yazdizadeh, B. and Majdzadeh, R. 2017. A qualitative assessment of the evidence utilization for health policy-making on the basis of SUPPORT tools in a developing country. International Journal of Health Policy and Management, 6(8), p.457.
- Imms, C., Kerr, C., Bowe, S.J., Karlsson, P., Novak, I., Shields, N., Reddihough, D. and Best Service Best Time Author Group. 2021. Efficacy of a knowledge translation approach in changing allied health practitioner use of evidence-based practices with children with cerebral palsy: a before and after longitudinal study. Disability and Rehabilitation, 43(25), pp.3592-3605.
- Jacob, R.R., Parks, R.G., Allen, P., Mazzucca, S., Yan, Y., Kang, S., Dekker, D. and Brownson, R.C. 2022. How to "start small and just keep moving forward": mixed methods results from a stepped-wedge trial to support evidence-based processes in local health departments. Frontiers in Public Health, 10, p.853791.
- Jacobs, J.A., Clayton, P.F., Dove, C., Funchess, T., Jones, E., Perveen, G., Skidmore, B., Sutton, V., Worthington, S., Baker, E.A. and Deshpande, A.D. 2012. A survey tool for measuring evidence-based decision making capacity in public health agencies.
 BMC health services research, 12, pp.1-9.
- Jacobsson, K. and Meeuwisse, A. 2020. 'State governing of knowledge'–constraining social work research and practice. European Journal of Social Work, 23(2), pp.277-289.
- Jamerson, P.A. and Vermeersch, P. 2012. The role of the nurse research facilitator in building research capacity in the clinical setting. JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration, 42(1), pp.21-27.

- Jansen, M.W. and Hoeijmakers, M. 2013. A masterclass to teach public health professionals to conduct practice-based research to promote evidence-based practice: a case study from The Netherlands. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice, 19(1), pp.83-92.
- Janvrin, M.L., Korona-Bailey, J. and Koehlmoos, T.P. 2023. Designing a knowledge translation tool for women's health research in the US Military Health System. Health Research Policy and Systems, 21(1), p.47.
- Jayakumar, K.L., Lavenberg, J.A., Mitchell, M.D., Doshi, J.A., Leas, B., Goldmann, D.R., Williams, K., Brennan, P.J. and Umscheid, C.A. 2016. Evidence synthesis activities of a hospital evidence-based practice center and impact on hospital decision making. Journal of hospital medicine, 11(3), pp.185-192.
- Jessani, N. 2014. Academic knowledge brokers in Kenya: a mixed methods study of relationships, characteristics and strategies for informing public health policy (Doctoral dissertation, Johns Hopkins University).
- Jetha, N., Robinson, K., Wilkerson, T., Dubois, N., Turgeon, V. and DesMeules, M. 2008. Supporting knowledge into action: the Canadian best practices initiative for health promotion and chronic disease prevention. Canadian Journal of Public Health/Revue Canadienne de Sante'e Publique, pp.I1-I8.
- Jordaan, S., Stewart, R., Erasmus, Y., Maluwa, L., Mitchell, J., Langer, L., Wildeman, R., Tannous, N. and Koch, J. 2018. Reflections on mentoring experiences for evidenceinformed decision-making in South Africa and Malawi. Development in Practice, 28(4), pp.456-467.
- Jones, G., Rutkowski, N., Trudel, G., St-Gelais, C., Ladouceur, M., Brunet, J. and Lebel, S. 2020. Translating guidelines to practice: a training session about cancer-related fatigue. Current Oncology, 27(2), p.e163.
- Jones, S.C., Crookes, P.A. and Johnson, K.M. 2011. Teaching critical appraisal skills for nursing research. Nurse Education in Practice, 11(5), pp.327-332.
- Kaiser, S. 2006. Track D4: Workshop: Public health knowledge sharing in the European Union.
- Kaplan, G.E., Juhl, A.L., Gujral, I.B., Hoaglin-Wagner, A.L., Gabella, B.A. and McDermott,K.M. 2013. Peer Reviewed: Tools for Identifying and Prioritizing Evidence-BasedObesity Prevention Strategies, Colorado. Preventing Chronic Disease, 10.
- Karaulova, M. and Edler, J. 2024. Bringing research into policy: Understanding contextspecific requirements for productive knowledge brokering in legislatures. Evidence & Policy, pp.1-27.
- Kaseje, D., Olayo, R., Musita, C., Oindo, C.O., Wafula, C. and Muga, R. 2010. Evidencebased dialogue with communities for district health systems' performance improvement. Global public health, 5(6), pp.595-610.

- Kellum, J.A., Rieker, J.P., Power, M. and Powner, D.J. 2000. Teaching critical appraisal during critical care fellowship training: a foundation for evidence-based critical care medicine. Critical care medicine, 28(8), pp.3067-3070.
- Kenny, C., Rose, D.C., Hobbs, A., Tyler, C. and Blackstock, J. 2017. The role of research in the UK Parliament (Vol. 1). Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology.
- Khan,S., Dwarakanath, L.S., Pakkal,M., Brace,V., Awonuga, A.K. 1999. Postgraduate journal club as a means of promoting evidence-based obstetrics and gynaecology. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 19(3), pp.231-234.
- Keown, K., Van Eerd, D. and Irvin, E. 2008. Stakeholder engagement opportunities in systematic reviews: knowledge transfer for policy and practice. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 28(2), pp.67-72.
- Kim, H.R., Kim, S.M., Kang, W.S., Jeon, H.J., Jang, S.H., Jon, D.I., Hong, J. and Jeong, J.H. 2023. Development of a Guideline for Antipsychotic-induced Hyperprolactinemia in Korea Using the ADAPTE Process. Clinical Psychopharmacology and Neuroscience, 21(3), p.447.
- Kim, S.C., Ecoff, L., Brown, C.E., Gallo, A.M., Stichler, J.F. and Davidson, J.E. 2017. Benefits of a regional evidence-based practice fellowship program: A test of the ARCC model. Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing, 14(2), pp.90-98.
- King, O.A., Sayner, A.M., Beauchamp, A., West, E., Aras, D., Hitch, D. and Wong Shee, A. 2023. Research translation mentoring for emerging clinician researchers in rural and regional health settings: a qualitative study. BMC Medical Education, 23(1), p.817.
- Kirshbaum, M. 2008. Translation to Practice: A Randomised, Controlled Study of an Evidence-Based Booklet for Breast-Care Nurses in the United Kingdom. Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing, 5(2), pp.60-74.
- Klaic, M. 2018. Enhancing the uptake of evidence-based practice with allied health professionals: A quasi-experimental study (Doctoral dissertation, Monash University).
- Koehlmoos, T.P., Madsen, C., Banaag, A., Mitro, J.P., Schoenfeld, A.J., Learn, P.A., Cooper, Z. and Weissman, J.S., 2024. The Comparative Effectiveness and Providerinduced Demand Collaboration Project: A Pioneering Military-Civilian Academic Partnership to Build Health Services Research Capacity for the Military Health System. Military Medicine, 189(3-4), pp.e871-e877.
- Kogetsu, A., Isono, M., Aikyo, T., Furuta, J., Goto, D., Hamakawa, N., Hide, M., Hori, R., Ikeda, N., Inoi, K. and Kawagoe, N. 2023. Enhancing evidence-informed policymaking in medicine and healthcare: stakeholder involvement in the Commons Project for rare diseases in Japan. Research Involvement and Engagement, 9(1), p.107.

- Kothari, A., Birch, S. and Charles, C. 2005. "Interaction" and research utilisation in health policies and programs: does it work?. Health policy, 71(1), pp.117-125.
- Koufogiannakis, D., Buckingham, J., Alibhai, A. and Rayner, D. 2005. Impact of librarians in first-year medical and dental student problem-based learning (PBL) groups: a controlled study. Health Information & Libraries Journal, 22(3), pp.189-195.
- Kulier, R., Hadley, J., Weinbrenner, S., Meyerrose, B., Decsi, T., Horvath, A.R., Nagy, E., Emparanza, J.I., Coppus, S.F., Arvanitis, T.N. and Burls, A. 2008. Harmonising evidence-based medicine teaching: a study of the outcomes of e-learning in five European countries. BMC Medical Education, 8, pp.1-10.
- Kulier, R., Coppus, S.F., Zamora, J., Hadley, J., Malick, S., Das, K., Weinbrenner, S., Meyerrose, B., Decsi, T., Horvath, A.R. and Nagy, E. 2009. The effectiveness of a clinically integrated e-learning course in evidence-based medicine: a cluster randomised controlled trial. BMC medical education, 9, pp.1-7.
- Kumar, A., Ray, A.B. and Blanchard, C. 2022. Use of research evidence varied in efforts to expand specific pharmacist autonomous prescriptive authority: an evaluation and recommendations to increase research utilization. Health Research Policy and Systems, 20, pp.1-21.
- Kyratsis, Y., Ahmad, R., Hatzaras, K., Iwami, M. and Holmes, A.H. 2014. Making sense of evidence in management decisions: the role of research-based knowledge on innovation adoption and implementation in health care. Health Services and Delivery Research, 2(6), pp.1-192.
- Lacey, E.A. 1996. Facilitating research-basedpractice by educational intervention. Nurse Education Today, 16(4), pp.296-301.
- Lane, J.P. and Rogers, J.D. 2011. Engaging national organizations for knowledge translation: Comparative case studies in knowledge value mapping. Implementation Science, 6, pp.1-13.
- Lavis, J., Davies, H., Oxman, A., Denis, J.L., Golden-Biddle, K. and Ferlie, E. 2005. Towards systematic reviews that inform health care management and policy-making. Journal of health services research & policy, 10(1_suppl), pp.35-48.
- Lavis, J.N. 2006. Research, public policymaking, and knowledge-translation processes: Canadian efforts to build bridges. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 26(1), pp.37-45.
- Lavis, J.N., Boyko, J.A. and Gauvin, F.P. 2014. Evaluating deliberative dialogues focussed on healthy public policy. BMC public health, 14, pp.1-7.
- Leathers, S.J. and Strand, T.C. 2018. Social work training in the use of evidence-based treatments for children: What works?. Journal of Social Work Education, 54(sup1), pp.S41-S55.
- Lee, A.G., Boldt, H.C., Golnik, K.C., Arnold, A.C., Oetting, T.A., Beaver, H.A., Olson, R.J., Zimmerman, M.B. and Carter, K. 2006. Structured journal club as a tool to teach and

assess resident competence in practice-based learning and improvement. Ophthalmology, 113(3), pp.497-500.

- Leino, H., Santaoja, M. and Laine, M. 2018. Researchers as knowledge brokers: translating knowledge or co-producing legitimacy? An urban infill case from Finland. International Planning Studies, 23(2), pp.119-129.
- Lemay, M.A. and Sa, C. 2014. The use of academic research in public health policy and practice. Research Evaluation, 23(1), pp.79-88.
- Lerman, D.C., Vorndran, C.M., Addison, L. and Kuhn, S.C. 2004. Preparing teachers in evidence-based practices for young children with autism. School Psychology Review, 33(4), pp.510-526.
- Leslie, K., Bartram, M., Atanackovic, J., Chamberland-Rowe, C., Tulk, C. and Bourgeault, I.L. 2022. Enhancing the capacity of the mental health and substance use health workforce to meet population needs: insights from a facilitated virtual policy dialogue. Health Research Policy and Systems, 20(1), p.51.
- Levin, R.F., Fineout-Overholt, E., Melnyk, B.M., Barnes, M. and Vetter, M.J. 2011. Fostering evidence-based practice to improve nurse and cost outcomes in a community health setting: a pilot test of the advancing research and clinical practice through close collaboration model. Nursing Administration Quarterly, 35(1), pp.21-33.
- Liaw, S.T., Sulaiman, N.D., Barton, C.A., Chondros, P., Harris, C.A., Sawyer, S. and Dharmage, S.C. 2008. An interactive workshop plus locally adapted guidelines can improve general practitioners asthma management and knowledge: a cluster randomised trial in the Australian setting. BMC Family Practice, 9, pp.1-8.
- Liddy, C., Moroz, I., Joschko, J., Horsley, T., Kuziemsky, C., Burns, K.K., Kossey, S., Mitera, G. and Keely, E. 2018. Using an integrated knowledge translation (IKT) approach to enable policy change for electronic consultations in Canada. Healthcare Policy, 14(1), p.19.
- Linzalone, N., Coi, A., Lauriola, P., Luise, D., Pedone, A., Romizi, R., Sallese, D., Bianchi, F., Santoro, M., Minichilli, F. and Maurello, M.T. 2017. Participatory health impact assessment used to support decision-making in waste management planning: A replicable experience from Italy. Waste management, 59, pp.557-566.
- Linzer, M., Brown, J.T., Frazier, L.M., DeLong, E.R. and Siegel, W.C. 1988. Impact of a medical journal club on house-staff reading habits, knowledge, and critical appraisal skills: a randomized control trial. Jama, 260(17), pp.2537-2541.
- Liou, S.R., Cheng, C.Y., Tsai, H.M. and Chang, C.H. 2013. Innovative strategies for teaching nursing research in Taiwan. Nursing research, 62(5), pp.335-343.
- Liu, A., Luo, J. & Gong, G. 2017. Research on the effectiveness of evidence-based practical teaching in the teaching of "Internal Medicine Nursing" course for higher vocational nursing students. Journal of Kaifeng Institute of Education, 37(6), pp.165-166.

- Liu, Q. (2021). Practical research on rural teachers' evidence-based training in ethnic areas: Based on the training of rural teachers in Kuqa, Xinjiang.
- Liu, H.Y., Bartonova, A., Neofytou, P., Yang, A., Kobernus, M.J., Negrenti, E. and Housiadas, C. 2012. Facilitating knowledge transfer: decision support tools in environment and health. Environmental Health, 11, pp.1-13.
- Lo Hog Tian, J.M., Watson, J.R., Deyman, M., Tran, B., Kerber, P., Nanami, K., Norris, D., Samson, K., Cioppa, L., Murphy, M. and Mcgee, A. 2022. Building capacity in quantitative research and data storytelling to enhance knowledge translation: a training curriculum for peer researchers. Research Involvement and Engagement, 8(1), p.69.
- Lomas, J. 1991. Opinion leaders vs audit feedback to implement practice guidelinesreply. JAMA, 266(9), pp.1217-1217.
- Luck, J., Hagigi, F., Parker, L.E., Yano, E.M., Rubenstein, L.V. and Kirchner, J.E. 2009. A social marketing approach to implementing evidence-based practice in VHA QUERI: the TIDES depression collaborative care model. Implementation Science, 4, pp.1-12.
- Mou, W., Huang, Y., Li, Y., Xu, Q., Wang, C., Wang, B. & Shang, H. 2020. A preliminary study on the construction of a clinical joint decision-making model of Chinese and Western medicine based on narrative medicine and evidence-based medicine. Journal of Traditional Chinese Medicine, 61(18), pp.1598-1603.
- MacGregor, J.C., Kothari, A., LeMoine, K. and Labelle, J. 2013. Linking research to action for youth violence prevention: community capacity to acquire, assess, adapt and apply research evidence. Canadian journal of public health, 104, pp.e394-e399.
- MacRae, H.M., Regehr, G., McKenzie, M., Henteleff, H., Taylor, M., Barkun, J., Fitzgerald, G.W., Hill, A., Richard, C., Webber, E.M. and McLeod, R.S. 2004. Teaching practicing surgeons critical appraisal skills with an Internet-based journal club: a randomized, controlled trial. Surgery, 136(3), pp.641-646.
- Madden, L., Shiell, A. and King, L. 2009. How do government health departments in Australia access health economics advice to inform decisions for health? A survey. Australia and New Zealand Health Policy, 6(1).
- Majdzadeh, R., Sajadi, H.S., Yazdizadeh, B., Doshmangir, L., Ehsani-Chimeh, E., Mahdavi, M., Mehrdad, N., Lavis, J., Nikooee, S., Mohtasham, F. and Mohseni, M. 2022. Policy options for strengthening evidence-informed health policy-making in Iran: overall SASHA project findings. Health Research Policy and Systems, 20(1), p.10.
- Majumdar, S.R., Tsuyuki, R.T. and McAlister, F.A. 2007. Impact of opinion leader– endorsed evidence summaries on the quality of prescribing for patients with cardiovascular disease: a randomized controlled trial. American heart journal, 153(1), pp.22-e1.

- Makkar, R.S., Brennan, S., Turner, T., Williamson, A., Redman, S. and Green, S. 2016. The development of SAGE: a tool to evaluate how policymakers' engage with and use research in health policymaking. Research Evaluation, 25(3), pp.315-328.
- Makundi, E., Kapiriri, L. and Norheim, O.F. 2007. Combining evidence and values in priority setting: testing the balance sheet method in a low-income country. BMC Health Services Research, 7, pp.1-12.
- Mansilla, C., Herrera, C.A., Basagoitia, A. and Pantoja, T. 2018. The Evidence-Informed Policy Network (EVIPNet) in Chile: lessons learned from a year of coordinated efforts. Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública, 41, p.e36.
- Mariano, K.D., Caley, L.M., Eschberger, L., Woloszyn, A., Volker, P., Leonard, M.S. and Tung, Y. 2009. Building evidence-based practice with staff nurses through mentoring. Journal of Neonatal Nursing, 15(3), pp.81-87.
- Marquez, C., Johnson, A.M., Jassemi, S., Park, J., Moore, J.E., Blaine, C., Bourdon, G., Chignell, M., Ellen, M.E., Fortin, J. and Graham, I.D. 2018. Enhancing the uptake of systematic reviews of effects: what is the best format for health care managers and policy-makers? A mixed-methods study. Implementation Science, 13, pp.1-14.
- Marsh, J.A., Sloan McCombs, J. and Martorell, F. 2010. How instructional coaches support data-driven decision making: Policy implementation and effects in Florida middle schools. Educational policy, 24(6), pp.872-907.
- Marsh, J.A., Pane, J.F. and Hamilton, L.S. 2006. Making Sense of Data-Driven Decision Making in Education: Evidence from Recent RAND Research. Occasional Paper. Rand Corporation.
- Martin, B.A., Bruskiewitz, R.H. and Chewning, B.A. 2010. Effect of a tobacco cessation continuing professional education program on pharmacists' confidence, skills, and practice-change behaviors. Journal of the American Pharmacists Association, 50(1), pp.9-18a.
- Martinez, N. 2012. Developing nursing capacity for health systems and service research in Cuba, 2008-2011.
- Masny, A., Ropka, M.E., Peterson, C., Fetzer, D. and Daly, M.B., 2008. Mentoring nurses in familial cancer risk assessment and counseling: lessons learned from a formative evaluation. Journal of genetic counseling, 17, pp.196-207.
- Mason, S. 2002, April. Turning data into knowledge: Lessons from six Milwaukee public schools. In annual conference of the American Education Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Mason, J., Freemantle, N. and Browning, G. 2001. Impact of Effective Health Care bulletin on treatment of persistent glue ear in children: time series analysis. Bmj, 323(7321), pp.1096-1097
- Massell, D. 2011. The theory and practice of using data to build capacity: State and local strategies and their effects

- Mays, G.P., Hogg, R.A., Castellanos-Cruz, D.M., Hoover, A.G. and Fowler, L.C. 2013. Public health research implementation and translation: evidence from practice-based research networks. American journal of preventive medicine, 45(6), pp.752-762.
- McCance, T.V., Fitzsimons, D., Keeney, S., Hasson, F. and McKenna, H.P. 2007. Capacity building in nursing and midwifery research and development: an old priority with a new perspective. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 59(1), pp.57-67.
- McCluskey, A. and Lovarini, M. 2005. Providing education on evidence-based practice improved knowledge but did not change behaviour: a before and after study. BMC medical education, 5, pp.1-12.
- McDonald, P.W., Viehbeck, S., Robinson, S.J., Leatherdale, S.T., Nykiforuk, C.I. and Jolin, M.A. 2009. Building research capacity for evidence-informed tobacco control in Canada: a case description. Tobacco Induced Diseases, 5, pp.1-12.
- McDonald, S.K., Andal, J., Brown, K. and Schneider, B. 2007. Getting the Evidence for Evidence-Based Initiatives: How the Midwest States Use Data Systems to Improve Education Processes and Outcomes. Issues & Answers. REL 2007-No. 016. Regional Educational Laboratory Midwest.
- McGeown, S., Oxley, E., Ricketts, J. and Shapiro, L. 2023. Working at the intersection of research and practice: The love to read project. International journal of educational research, 117, p.102134.
- McGinty, E.E., Siddiqi, S., Linden, S., Horwitz, J. and Frattaroli, S. 2019. Improving the use of evidence in public health policy development, enactment and implementation: a multiple-case study. Health Education Research, 34(2), pp.129-144.
- McGowan, J., Hogg, W., Rader, T., Salzwedel, D., Worster, D., Cogo, E. and Rowan, M. 2010. A rapid evidence-based service by librarians provided information to answer primary care clinical questions. Health Information & Libraries Journal, 27(1), pp.11-21.
- McGrath, P.J. Lingley-Pottie, P., Emberly, D.J., Thurston, C. and McLean, C., 2009. Integrated knowledge translation in mental health: family help as an example. Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 18(1), p.30.
- McGuffin, T.A. 2020. The Effect of an Education Intervention on Nurses' Knowledge, Skills, and Attitudes regarding Evidence-Based Practice (Doctoral dissertation, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte).
- McIntosh, H.M., Calvert, J., Macpherson, K.J. and Thompson, L. 2016. The healthcare improvement Scotland evidence note rapid review process: providing timely, reliable evidence to inform imperative decisions on healthcare. JBI Evidence Implementation, 14(2), pp.95-101.
- McKenna, K., Bennett, S., Dierselhuis, Z., Hoffmann, T., Tooth, L. and McCluskey, A. 2005. Australian occupational therapists' use of an online evidence-based practice database (OTseeker). Health Information & Libraries Journal, 22(3), pp.205-214.

- McKibbon, K.A., Lokker, C., Keepanasseril, A., Colquhoun, H., Haynes, R.B. and Wilczynski, N.L., 2013. WhatisKT wiki: a case study of a platform for knowledge translation terms and definitions—descriptive analysis. Implementation Science, 8, pp.1-9.
- Moat, K.A., Bhuiya, A. and Voorheis, P. 2021. Establishing Supports for Evidenceinformed Health-system Transformation in Nova Scotia. McMaster University Health Forum.
- McNairy, M.L., Wurcel, A.G., Huang, F. and Daily, J.P. 2012. Health care workers in Africa access a broad range of topics using evidence-based online medical information. Global public health, 7(8), pp.823-839.
- McQueen, J., Nivison, C., Husband, V. and Miller, C. 2006. An investigation into the use of a journal club for evidence-based practice. International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation, 13(7), pp.311-317.
- McWilliam, C.L., Stewart, M., Brown, J.B., Feightner, J., Rosenberg, M., Gutman, G., Penning, M., Stewart, M., Tamblyn, R. and Morfitt, G. 2003. Promoting evidencebased health policy, programming, and practice for seniors: Lessons from a national knowledge transfer project. Canadian Journal on Aging/La Revue canadienne du vieillissement, 22(4), pp.415-430.
- Meagher-Stewart, D., Solberg, S.M., Warner, G., MacDonald, J.A., McPherson, C. and Seaman, P. 2012. Understanding the role of communities of practice in evidenceinformed decision making in public health. Qualitative Health Research, 22(6), pp.723-739
- Means, B., Padilla, C. and Gallagher, L. 2010. Use of education data at the local level: From accountability to instructional improvement. US Department of Education.
- Medeiros, P., Laur, C., Nguyen, T., Gilfoyle, M., Conway, A., Giroux, E., Hoekstra, F., Legasto, J.M., Ramage, E., Tittlemier, B. and Wood, B. 2022. Building capacity for integrated knowledge translation: a description of what we can learn from trainees' experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. Health Research Policy and Systems, 20(1), p.100.
- Meenan, C., King, A., Toland, C., Daly, M. and Nagy, P. 2010. Use of a wiki as a radiology departmental knowledge management system. Journal of digital imaging, 23, pp.142-151.
- Mehta, K.M., Petersen, K.L., Goodman, S., Sørensen, H.T., Bøgsted, M., Olesen, J.D., Burks, S., Shaw, R.E., Hove, J.D., Ousager, J. and Milla, C. 2023. The Danish-American Research Exchange (DARE): a cross-sectional study of a binational research education program. BMC medical education, 23(1), p.96.
- Meizhen, 2015. Training of evidence-based practice mentors under the model of Advancing Research and Clinical Practice Through Close Collaboration (ARCC).

- Melender, H.L., Salmela, S. and Pape, B. 2020. A quasi-experimental study of a basics of evidence-based practice educational intervention for health and social care professionals. SAGE open nursing, 6, p.2377960820925959.
- Melo, S. and Bishop, S. 2020. Translating healthcare research evidence into practice: The role of linked boundary objects. Social Science & Medicine, 246, p.112731.
- Mesic, A., Damsere-Derry, J., Gyedu, A., Mock, C., Larley, J., Opoku, I., Wuaku, D.H., Kitali, A., Osei-Ampofo, M., Donkor, P. and Stewart, B. 2023. Generating consensus on road safety issues and priorities in Ghana: A modified Delphi approach. Injury, 54(9), p.110765.
- Meyer, I., Aavik-Märtmaa, G., Poppe, A., Müller, S., Lewis, L., Terris, A., Kaljuste, D., Rummo, M., Rootalu, K. and Bucik, M. 2023. Drilling for 'New Oil'in Care Integration– Co-Production of the Concept and Specification of an Integrated Data Centre for Policy Decision Making, Care Planning, and Research in Estonia. International Journal of Integrated Care, 23(1).
- Middleton, J.W., Piccenna, L., Lindsay Gruen, R., Williams, S., Creasey, G., Dunlop, S., Brown, D., Batchelor, P.E., Berlowitz, D.J., Coates, S. and Dunn, J.A. 2015. Developing a spinal cord injury research strategy using a structured process of evidence review and stakeholder dialogue. Part III: outcomes. Spinal Cord, 53(10), pp.729-737.
- Milne, D.J., Krishnasamy, M., Johnston, L. and Aranda, S. 2007. Promoting evidencebased care through a clinical research fellowship programme. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 16(9), pp.1629-1639.
- Mitton, C. and Patten, S. 2004. Evidence-based priority-setting: what do the decisionmakers think?. Journal of Health Services Research & Policy, 9(3), pp.146-152.
- Minian, N., Ahad, S., Zawertailo, L., Ravindran, A., de Oliveira, C., Baliunas, D., Mulder, C. and Selby, P. 2020. The role of a remote knowledge broker from an academic setting using an adaptive approach to implement evidence-based practice in primary care settings: A case study of integrating mood management interventions for treatment seeking tobacco users.
- Mohammadi, M., Bergh, A.M., Jahdi, N.S., Valizadeh, L., Hosseini, M. and Hakimi, S. 2023. Launching continuous kangaroo mother care through participatory action research in Iran. BMC Health Services Research, 23(1), p.436.
- Molfenter, SM, Ammoury, A., Yeates, EM and Steele, CM. 2009. Decreasing the knowledge-to-action gap through research-clinical partnerships in speech-language pathology.
- Monsivais, P., Francis, O., Lovelace, R., Chang, M., Strachan, E. and Burgoine, T., 2018. Data visualisation to support obesity policy: case studies of data tools for planning and transport policy in the UK. International Journal of Obesity, 42(12), pp.1977-1986.

- Moore, J.L., Carpenter, J., Doyle, A.M., Doyle, L., Hansen, P., Hahn, B., Hornby, T.G., Roth, H.R., Spoeri, S., Tappan, R. and Van Der Laan, K. 2018. Development, implementation, and use of a process to promote knowledge translation in rehabilitation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 99(1), pp.82-90.
- Moore, G., Redman, S., Rudge, S. and Haynes, A. 2018. Do policy-makers find commissioned rapid reviews useful?. Health Research Policy and Systems, 16, pp.1-14.
- Moore, J.L., Raad, J., Ehrlich-Jones, L. and Heinemann, A.W. 2014. Development and use of a knowledge translation tool: the rehabilitation measures database. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 95(1), pp.197-202.
- Moreira, D. and Santini, J.F. 2022. Connecting research to municipal management: do impact assessments influence public policy formulation?.
- Moreno, A., Solanki, A.A., Xu, T., Lin, R., Palta, J., Daugherty, E., Hong, D., Hong, J., Kamran, S.C., Katsoulakis, E. and Brock, K. 2023. Identification of Key Elements in Prostate Cancer for Ontology Building via a Multidisciplinary Consensus Agreement. Cancers, 15(12), p.3121.
- Morgan, M., Barry, C.A., Donovan, J.L., Sandall, J., Wolfe, C.D. and Boaz, A. 2011. Implementing 'translational'biomedical research: convergence and divergence among clinical and basic scientists. Social Science & Medicine, 73(7), pp.945-952.
- Morgan, L.A. 2012. A mentoring model for evidence-based practice in a community hospital. Journal for Nurses in Professional Development, 28(5), pp.233-237.
- Moraes, R.F.D. 2022. O uso de evidências científicas no enfrentamento à Pandemia de COVID-19 no Brasil: uma comparação das políticas dos governos estaduais.
- Moriarty, T.W. 2013. Data-driven decision making: Teachers' use of data in the classroom. University of San Diego.Morton, S. and Seditas, K., 2018. Evidence synthesis for knowledge exchange: balancing responsiveness and quality in providing evidence for policy and practice. Evidence & Policy, 14(1), pp.155-167.
- Morton, S. and Seditas, K. 2018. Evidence synthesis for knowledge exchange: balancing responsiveness and quality in providing evidence for policy and practice. Evidence & Policy, 14(1), pp.155-167.
- Morrato, E.H., Elias, M. and Gericke, C.A. 2007. Using population-based routine data for evidence-based health policy decisions: lessons from three examples of setting and evaluating national health policy in Australia, the UK and the USA. Journal of Public Health, 29(4), pp.463-471.
- Mpofu, M., Semo, B.W., Grignon, J., Lebelonyane, R., Ludick, S., Matshediso, E., Sento, B. and Ledikwe, J.H. 2014. Strengthening monitoring and evaluation (M&E) and building sustainable health information systems in resource limited countries: lessons learned from an M&E task-shifting initiative in Botswana. BMC Public Health, 14, pp.1-8.

- Mulley, C. and Reedy, L. 2015. Research into policy: A case study of improving the research evidence base for transport policy makers in NSW, Australia. Case studies on transport policy, 3(2), pp.215-221.
- Mylabathula, S., Macarthur, C., Guttmann, A., Colantonio, A. and Tator, C. 2022. Development of a concussion public policy on prevention, management and education for schools using expert consensus. Injury prevention, 28(5), pp.453-458.
- Nagy, P., Kahn, C.E., Boonn, W., Siddiqui, K., Meenan, C., Knight, N. and Safdar, N. 2006. Building virtual communities of practice. Journal of the American College of Radiology, 3(9), pp.716-720.
- Nango, E. and Tanaka, Y. 2010. Problem-based learning in a multidisciplinary group enhances clinical decision making by medical students: a randomized controlled trial. Journal of medical and dental sciences, 57(1), pp.109-118.\
- Nasr, J.A., Falatko, J. and Halalau, A. 2018. The impact of critical appraisal workshops on residents' evidence based medicine skills and knowledge. Advances in medical education and practice, pp.267-272.
- Nath, C. 2011. Use of scientific and technological evidence within the Parliament of Uganda. Parliamentary Office of.
- Neil-Sztramko, S.E., Belita, E., Levinson, A.J., Boyko, J. and Dobbins, M. 2019. Evaluation of an online knowledge translation intervention to promote cancer risk reduction behaviours: findings from a randomized controlled trial. BMC cancer, 19, pp.1-13.
- Neil-Sztramko, S.E., Smith-Turchyn, J., Richardson, J. and Dobbins, M. 2019. A mobilityfocused knowledge translation randomized controlled trial to improve physical activity: process evaluation of the Move4Age study. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 21(6), p.e13965.
- Newman, L., Biedrzycki, K., Patterson, J. and Baum, F. 2011. Partnership in knowledge creation: lessons learned from a researcher–policy actor partnership to co-produce a rapid appraisal case study of South Australia's Social Inclusion Initiative. Evidence & Policy, 7(1), pp.77-96.
- Newson, R.S., Rychetnik, L., King, L., Milat, A.J. and Bauman, A.E. 2021. Looking for evidence of research impact and use: a qualitative study of an Australian research policy system. Research Evaluation, 30(4), pp.458-469.
- Nohynek, H., Wichmann, O., D'Ancona, F. and Gatekeepers, V.N. 2013. National Advisory Groups and their role in immunization policy-making processes in European countries. Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 19(12), pp.1096-1105.
- Nwaichi, E.O., Chidebe, I., Osuoha, J.O., Chimezie, E., Mbaoji, C., Ifeanyi-Obi, C.C., Ugwoha, E.O., Odogwu, B., Okengwu, U., Olua, V. and Oghenekaro, L.U., 2020. Institutionalizing an Evidence-Based Practice in a Selected Government Agency in Nigeria. bioRxiv, pp.2020-12.

- O'Connor, S. 2021. Connecting Research, Policy, and Practice: Knowledge Translation in the Context of Child and Family Early Intervention and Prevention-Based Research in Ireland. National University of Ireland, Maynooth (Ireland).
- O'Connor, L., Bennett, P., Gardner, A., Hawkins, M.T. and Wellman, D. 2009. Implementing a journal club in a palliative care setting: a link in the chain of evidencebased practice. Collegian, 16(3), pp.147-152.
- Oermann, M.H., Roop, J.C., Nordstrom, C.K., Galvin, E.A. and Floyd, J.A. 2009. Effectiveness of an intervention for disseminating Cochrane reviews to nurses. Urologic nursing, 29(1).
- Oliver, K.B., Dalrymple, P., Lehmann, H.P., McClellan, D.A., Robinson, K.A. and Twose, C. 2008. Bringing evidence to practice: a team approach to teaching skills required for an informationist role in evidence-based clinical and public health practice. Journal of the Medical Library Association: JMLA, 96(1), p.50.
- Opiyo, N., Shepperd, S., Musila, N., English, M. and Fretheim, A. 2012. The "Child Health Evidence Week" and GRADE grid may aid transparency in the deliberative process of guideline development. Journal of clinical epidemiology, 65(9), pp.962-969.
- Owen, S. and Milburn, C. 2001. Implementing research findings into practice: improving and developing services for women with serious and enduring mental health problems. Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing, 8(3), pp.221-231.
- Owens, M.D., Ngo, S., Grinnell, S., Pearlman, D., Bekemeier, B. and Walker, S.C. 2022. Co-producing evidence-informed criminal legal re-entry policy with the community: an application of policy codesign. Evidence & Policy, 18(2), pp.356-375.
- Padwa, H. and Kaplan, C.D. 2018. Translating science to practice: Lessons learned implementing evidence-based treatments in US substance use disorder treatment programs. European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research, 24, pp.171-182.
- Peirson, L., Ciliska, D., Dobbins, M. and Mowat, D. 2012. Building capacity for evidence informed decision making in public health: a case study of organizational change. BMC public health, 12, pp.1-13.
- Peirson, L., Catallo, C. and Chera, S., 2013. The Registry of Knowledge Translation Methods and Tools: a resource to support evidence-informed public health. International journal of public health, 58, pp.493-500.
- Pennington, L., Roddam, H., Burton, C., Russell, I. and Russell, D. 2005. Promoting research use in speech and language therapy: a cluster randomized controlled trial to compare the clinical effectiveness and costs of two training strategies. Clinical rehabilitation, 19(4), pp.387-397.
- Percy-Smith, J. 2002. Promoting change through research: The impact of research in local government. York Publishing Services.
- Pike, I., Smith, J., Al-Hajj, S., Fuselli, P. and Macpherson, A. 2017. The Canadian atlas of child and youth injury: mobilizing injury surveillance data to launch a national

knowledge translation tool. International journal of environmental research and public health, 14(9), p.982.

- Pineault, R., Tousignant, P., Roberge, D., Lamarche, P., Reinharz, D., Larouche, D., Beaulne, G. and Lesage, D. 2007. Involving Decision-Makers in Producing Research Syntheses: The Case of the Research Collective on Primary Healthcare in Quebec. Healthcare Policy, 2(4), p.e193.
- Pluye, P., Grad, R., Granikov, V., Theriault, G., Frémont, P., Burnand, B., Mercer, J., Marlow, B., Arroll, B., Luconi, F. and Légaré, F. 2012. Feasibility of a knowledge translation CME program: Courriels Cochrane. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 32(2), pp.134-141.
- Poku, B.A. and Pilnick, A. 2022. Research knowledge transfer to improve the care and support of adolescents with sickle cell disease in Ghana. Health Expectations, 25(5), pp.2515-2524.
- Poldrugovac, M., Kuchenmüller, T., Dobrin, P.T., Ivanuša, M. 2016. The evidenceinformed policy-making context in Slovenia: groundwork for a knowledge translation platform. Public health panorama, 2(03), pp.313-318.
- Poulos, R.G., Lord, S.R. and Zwi, A.B. 2007. Towards enhancing national capacity for evidence informed policy and practice in falls management: a role for a" Translation Task Group"?. Australia and New Zealand Health Policy, 4(1).
- Prakash, R., Dehury, B., Yadav, C., Tripathi, A.B., Sodhi, C., Bilal, H., Vasanthakumar, N., Isac, S., Ramesh, B.M., Blanchard, J. and Boerma, T. 2021. Establishing evidence-based decision-making mechanism in a health eco-system and its linkages with health service coverage in 25 high-priority districts of Uttar Pradesh, India. BMC Health Services Research, 21, pp.1-10.
- Provvidenza, C., Townley, A., Wincentak, J., Peacocke, S. and Kingsnorth, S. 2020. Building knowledge translation competency in a community-based hospital: a practice-informed curriculum for healthcare providers, researchers, and leadership. Implementation Science, 15, pp.1-12.
- Purtle, J., Dodson, E.A. and Brownson, R.C. 2016. Uses of research evidence by State legislators who prioritize behavioral health issues. Psychiatric services, 67(12), pp.1355-1361.
- Ransing, R., Hawk, M., McDonald, M., Jones, J., Bhatia, T., Verma, V., Shah, G.D., Brar, J., Egan, J.E., Konsale, P. and Kaur, J. 2023. A mentored hands-on training model for scaling up implementation and intervention research in India:"connecting the dots". Health Research Policy and Systems, 21(1), p.33.
- Rashiq, S., Barton, P., Harstall, C., Schopflocher, D., Taenzer, P. 2006. The Alberta Ambassador Program: delivering health technology assessment results to rural practitioners. BMC Medical Education, 6, pp.1-6.
- Reed, R.L., McIntyre, E., Jackson-Bowers, E. and Kalucy, L. 2017. Pathways to research impact in primary healthcare: What do Australian primary healthcare researchers

believe works best to facilitate the use of their research findings?. Health Research Policy and Systems, 15, pp.1-8.

- Rehfuess, E.A., Durão, S., Kyamanywa, P., Meerpohl, J.J., Young, T. and Rohwer, A. 2015. An approach for setting evidence-based and stakeholder-informed research priorities in low-and middle-income countries. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 94(4), p.297.
- Sylvia, R. 2009. Knowledge translation in health research: a novel approach to health sciences education. Medical Education Online, 14(1), p.4520.
- Reviriego, E., Cidoncha, M.Á., Asua, J., Gagnon, M.P., Mateos, M., Gárate, L., de Lorenzo, E. and González, R.M. 2014. Online training course on critical appraisal for nurses: adaptation and assessment. BMC medical education, 14, pp.1-10.
- Ridde, V. and Dagenais, C. 2017. What we have learnt (so far) about deliberative dialogue for evidence-based policymaking in West Africa. BMJ Global health, 2(4), p.e000432.
- Rikard-Bell, G., Waters, E. and Ward, J. 2006. Evidence-based clinical policy: case report of a reproducible process to encourage understanding and evaluation of evidence. Internal medicine journal, 36(7), pp.452-457.
- Rispel, L.C. and Doherty, J. 2011. Research in support of health systems transformation in South Africa: the experience of the centre for health policy. Journal of Public Health Policy, 32, pp.S10-S29.
- Ritter, A. and Lancaster, K. 2013. Measuring research influence on drug policy: a case example of two epidemiological monitoring systems. International journal of drug policy, 24(1), pp.30-37.
- Rivard, L.M., Russell, D.J., Roxborough, L., Ketelaar, M., Bartlett, D.J. and Rosenbaum, P. 2010. Promoting the use of measurement tools in practice: a mixed-methods study of the activities and experiences of physical therapist knowledge brokers. Physical therapy, 90(11), pp.1580-1590.
- Rose, D.C., Kenny, C., Hobbs, A. and Tyler, C. 2020. Improving the use of evidence in legislatures: the case of the UK Parliament. Evidence & Policy, 16(4), pp.619-638.
- Rovati, L., Zec, S., Dziuba, D., Masoodi, A., Tekin, A., Zambrano, C.C., Brown, M., Khavryuchenko, O., Bugay, O., Khytryi, G. and Loskutov, O. 2023. Implementation of a multimodal knowledge-exchange platform to provide trauma critical care education during the ongoing conflict in Ukraine. JAMA Network Open, 6(2), pp.e230050-e23005.
- Romney, W., Salbach, N., Parrott, J.S. and Deutsch, J.E. 2020. A knowledge translation intervention designed and implemented by a knowledge broker improved documented use of gait speed: a mixed-methods study. Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy, 43(3), pp.E1-E10.
- Russell, D.J., Rivard, L.M., Walter, S.D., Rosenbaum, P.L., Roxborough, L., Cameron, D., Darrah, J., Bartlett, D.J., Hanna, S.E. and Avery, L.M. 2010. Using knowledge

brokers to facilitate the uptake of pediatric measurement tools into clinical practice: a before-after intervention study. Implementation science, 5, pp.1-17.

- Sahay, A., Mittman, B.S., Gholami, P., Lin, S. and Heidenreich, P.A. 2022. How successful was the use of a community of practice for the implementation of evidence-based practices for heart failure within the United States Department of Veterans Affairs: Insights from a formative evaluation. Health research policy and systems, 20(1), p.79.
- Shaxon, L., Tshengela, M., Bohler-Muller, N., Datta, A., Funke, N., Godfrey, L., Matomela, B., Pienaar, G., Pophiwa, N. and Strydom, W. 2015. Evidence-informed policymaking in practice: an overview from South Africa's Department of Environmental Affairs. Republic of South Africa: Department of Environmental Affairs.
- Sarkies, M.N. 2018. Effectiveness of research implementation strategies for evidence informed healthcare policy and practice (Doctoral dissertation, Monash University).
- Schoenfeld, P., Cruess, D. and Peterson, W. 2000. Effect of an evidence-based medicine seminar on participants' interpretations of clinical trials: a pilot study. Academic Medicine, 75(12), pp.1212-1214.
- Sabey, A. 2020. An evaluation of a training intervention to support the use of evidence in healthcare commissioning in England. JBI Evidence Implementation, 18(1), pp.58-64.
- Sackett, D.L. and Straus, S.E. 1998. Finding and applying evidence during clinical rounds: the evidence cart. Jama, 280(15), pp.1336-1338.
- Sajadi, H.S., Majdzadeh, R., Ehsani-Chimeh, E., Yazdizadeh, B., Nikooee, S., Pourabbasi, A. and Lavis, J. 2021. Policy options to increase motivation for improving evidence-informed health policy-making in Iran. Health Research Policy and Systems, 19(1), p.91.
- Sanchez, M.A., Vinson, C.A., Porta, M.L., Viswanath, K., Kerner, J.F. and Glasgow, R.E. 2012. Evolution of Cancer Control PLANET: moving research into practice. Cancer Causes & Control, 23, pp.1205-1212.
- Sardo, A.M. and Weitkamp, E. 2012. Exploring the ways environmental science is used and valued by policy-makers in Portugal: a case study. Journal of Science Communication, 11(3), p.C05.
- Schick-Makaroff, K., Sawatzky, R., Cuthbertson, L., Öhlén, J., Beemer, A., Duquette, D., Karimi-Dehkordi, M., Stajduhar, K.I., Suryaprakash, N., Terblanche, L. and Wolff, A.C. 2021. Knowledge translation resources to support the use of quality of life assessment tools for the care of older adults living at home and their family caregivers. Quality of Life Research, pp.1-21.
- Schmidt, A.M., Ranney, L.M. and Goldstein, A.O. 2014. Communicating program outcomes to encourage policymaker support for evidence-based state tobacco control. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(12), pp.12562-12574.

- Schreiber, J. and Dole, R.L. 2012. The effect of knowledge translation procedures on application of information from a continuing education conference. Pediatric Physical Therapy, 24(3), pp.259-266.
- Schreiber, J., Stern, P., Marchetti, G. and Provident, I. 2009. Strategies to promote evidence-based practice in pediatric physical therapy: a formative evaluation pilot project. Physical Therapy, 89(9), pp.918-933.
- Sellig, C.B. 1991. Affecting residents' literature reading attitudes, behaviors, and knowledge through a journal club intervention. Journal of general internal medicine, 6, pp.330-334.
- Semenic, S., Edwards, N., Premji, S., Olson, J., Williams, B. and Montgomery, P. 2015. Decision-making and evidence use during the process of prenatal record review in Canada: a multiphase qualitative study. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 15, pp.1-16.
- Serruya, S.J., Gómez Ponce de León, R., Bahamondes, M.V., De Mucio, B., Costa, M.L., Durán, P., Díaz-Rosello, J.L., Kim, C., Lavelanet, A.F., Artigas, A. and Forster, T.A. 2020. EviSIP: using evidence to change practice through mentorship–an innovative experience for reproductive health in the Latin American and Caribbean regions. Global Health Action, 13(1), p.1811482.
- Shaban-Nejad, A., Lavigne, M., Okhmatovskaia, A. and Buckeridge, D.L. 2017. PopHR: a knowledge-based platform to support integration, analysis, and visualization of population health data. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1387(1), pp.44-53.
- Shearer, J.C., Dion, M. and Lavis, J.N. 2014. Exchanging and using research evidence in health policy networks: a statistical network analysis. Implementation Science, 9, pp.1-12.
- Shearer, J.C., Lavis, J., Abelson, J., Walt, G. and Dion, M. 2018. Evidence-informed policymaking and policy innovation in a low-income country: does policy network structure matter?. Evidence & Policy, 14(03), pp.381-401.
- Shi, W. 2023. Implications of the "boosting method" for the evidence-based practice of think tanks: The example of the London Centre, a British think tank.
- Shuval, K., Berkovits, E., Netzer, D., Hekselman, I., Linn, S., Brezis, M. and Reis, S. 2007. Evaluating the impact of an evidence-based medicine educational intervention on primary care doctors' attitudes, knowledge and clinical behaviour: a controlled trial and before and after study. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice, 13(4), pp.581-598.
- Sibbald, W.J. and Kossuth, J.D. 1998. The Ontario health care evaluation network and the critical care research network as vehicles for research transfer. Medical decision making, 18(1), pp.9-16.

- Smith, K.E. and Joyce, K.E. 2012. Capturing complex realities: understanding efforts to achieve evidence-based policy and practice in public health. Evidence & Policy, 8(1), pp.57-78.
- Smith, C.A., Ganschow, P.S., Reilly, B.M., Evans, A.T., McNutt, R.A., Osei, A., Saquib, M., Surabhi, S. and Yadav, S. 2000. Teaching residents evidence-based medicine skills: a controlled trial of effectiveness and assessment of durability. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 15(10), pp.710-715.
- Sortedahl, C. 2012. Effect of online journal club on evidence-based practice knowledge, intent, and utilization in school nurses. Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing, 9(2), pp.117-125.
- Sortedahl, C., Wical, S.H. and Benike, J. 2018. Promoting evidence-based practice through a live online nursing journal club: It takes a team. Journal of Hospital Librarianship, 18(1), pp.15-30.
- South, J. and Cattan, M. 2014. Developing evidence for public health policy and practice: the implementation of a knowledge translation approach in a staged, multi-methods study in England, 2007–09. Evidence & Policy, 10(3), pp.379-396.
- Stark, C., Innes, A., Szymczynska, P., Forrest, L. and Proctor, K., 2013. Dementia knowledge transfer project in a rural area. Rural and Remote Health, 13(1), pp.284-291.
- Steglitz, J. 2017. Online tools for evidence-based behavioral practice: A mixed-methods evaluation among graduate students and clinicians (Doctoral dissertation, Northwestern University).
- Stevenson, K., Lewis, M. and Hay, E. 2006. Does physiotherapy management of low back pain change as a result of an evidence-based educational programme?. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical practice, 12(3), pp.365-375.
- Sullivan, B.M., Wolcott, C.C., Ashley, L.A., Cambron, J.B. and Cramer, G.D, 2008. Implementing an Evidence-Based Journal Club in a Complementary and Alternative Medicine University. Journal of Chiropractic Education (Association of Chiropractic Colleges), 22(1).
- Suter, E. and Armitage, G.D. 2011. Use of a knowledge synthesis by decision makers and planners to facilitate system level integration in a large Canadian provincial health authority. International journal of integrated care, 11.
- Sutherland, S. 2004. Creating a culture of data use for continuous improvement: A case study of an Edison Project school. American Journal of Evaluation, 25(3), pp.277-293.
- Sweet, M. and Moynihan, R. 2007. Improving population health: The uses of systematic reviews

- Swenson-Britt, E. and Reineck, C. 2009. Research education for clinical nurses: a pilot study to determine research self-efficacy in critical care nurses. The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing, 40(10), pp.454-461.
- Tangney, P. 2017. The UK's 2012 Climate Change Risk Assessment: How the rational assessment of science develops policy-based evidence. Science and Public Policy, 44(2), pp.225-234.
- Taylor, R.S., Reeves, B.C., Ewings, P.E. and Taylor, R.J. 2004. Critical appraisal skills training for health care professionals: a randomized controlled trial [ISRCTN46272378]. BMC medical education, 4, pp.1-10.
- Ter Brugge, B.P., Bartelink, M.L.E., Damoiseaux, R.A. and de Groot, E. 2017. The use of evidence during group meetings of Dutch general practitioners. Education for Primary Care, 28(6), pp.307-312.
- Tetroe, J.M., Graham, I.D., Foy, R., Robinson, N., Eccles, M.P., Wensing, M., Durieux, P., Legare, F., Nielson, C.P., Adily, A. and Ward, J.E. 2008. Health research funding agencies' support and promotion of knowledge translation: an international study. The Milbank Quarterly, 86(1), pp.125-155.
- Thomson, D., Brooks, S., Nuspl, M. and Hartling, L. 2019. Programme theory development and formative evaluation of a provincial knowledge translation unit. Health Research Policy and Systems, 17, pp.1-9.
- Tobin, R., Crawford, G., Hallett, J., Maycock, B. and Lobo, R. 2022. Utilizing Causal Loop Diagramming to Explore a Research and Evaluation Capacity Building Partnership. Frontiers in Public Health, 10, p.857918.
- Tomm-Bonde, L., Schreiber, R.S., Allan, D.E., MacDonald, M., Pauly, B. and Hancock, T. 2013. Fading vision: knowledge translation in the implementation of a public health policy intervention. Implementation Science, 8, pp.1-11.
- Tranmer, J.E., Lochhaus-Gerlach, J. and Lam, M. 2002. The effect of staff nurse participation in a clinical nursing research project on attitude towards, access to, support of and use of research in the acute care setting. Canadian journal of nursing leadership, 15(1), pp.18-26.
- Tripney, J., Kenny, C. and Gough, D. 2014. Enabling the use of research evidence within educational policymaking in Europe: Lessons from the EIPEE project. European education, 46(1), pp.55-74.\Tsai, S.L., 2003. The effects of a research utilization inservice program on nurses. International journal of nursing studies, 40(2), pp.105-113.
- Tsugihashi, Y., Kakudate, N., Yokoyama, Y., Yamamoto, Y., Mishina, H., Fukumori, N., Nakamura, F., Takegami, M., Ohno, S., Wakita, T. and Watanabe, K. 2013. A novel Internet-based blended learning programme providing core competency in clinical research. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice, 19(2), pp.250-255.

- Tyler, I., Pauly, B., Wang, J., Patterson, T., Bourgeault, I. and Manson, H. 2019. Evidence use in equity focused health impact assessment: a realist evaluation. BMC Public Health, 19, pp.1-11.
- Uneke, C.J., Ezeoha, A.E., Ndukwe, C.D., Oyibo, P.G. and Onwe, F. 2013. Promotion of health sector reforms for health systems strengthening in Nigeria: perceptions of policy makers versus the general public on the Nigeria health systems performance. Social Work in Public Health, 28(6), pp.541-553.
- Uneke, C.J., Ezeoha, A.E., Ndukwe, C.D., Oyibo, P.G. and Onwe, F. 2010. Development of health policy and systems research in Nigeria: lessons for developing countries' evidence-based health policy making process and practice. Healthcare policy, 6(1), p.e109.
- Uneke, C.J., Ezeoha, A.E., Ndukwe, C.D., Oyibo, P.G. and Onwe, F.D. 2012. Enhancing leadership and governance competencies to strengthen health systems in Nigeria: assessment of organizational human resources development. Healthcare Policy, 7(3), p.73.
- Uneke, C.J., Ezeoha, A.E., Ndukwe, C.D., Oyibo, P.G., Onwe, F. and Aulakh, B.K. 2014. Research priority setting for health policy and health systems strengthening in Nigeria: the policymakers and stakeholders perspective and involvement. Pan African Medical Journal, 16(1).
- Uneke, C.J., Sombie, I., Johnson, E., Uneke, B.I. and Okolo, S. 2022. Promoting the use of evidence in health policy-making in the economic commission of the West African States Region: exploring the perception of policy-makers on the necessity of an evidence-based policy-making guidance. Annals of African Medicine, 21(3), pp.223-230.
- Urquhart, R., Porter, G.A. and Grunfeld, E. 2011. Reflections on knowledge brokering within a multidisciplinary research team. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 31(4), pp.283-290.
- Vallance, K., Stockwell, T., Wettlaufer, A., Giesbrecht, N., Chow, C., Card, K.G. and Farrell-Low, A. 2022. Strategies for engaging policy stakeholders to translate research knowledge into practice more effectively: Lessons learned from the Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation project. Drug and Alcohol Review, 41(1), pp.246-255.
- Van Baalen, P., Bloemhof-Ruwaard, J. and Van Heck, E. 2005. Knowledge Sharing in an Emerging Network of Practice:: The Role of a Knowledge Portal. European Management Journal, 23(3), pp.300-314.
- Van Gerpen, R.E. 2013. Development of an evidence-based exercise and education cancer recovery program. Number 5/October 2013, 17(5), pp.539-543.
- van der Putten, I.M., Paulus, A.T., Hiligsmann, M., Hutubessy, R.C. and Evers, S.M. 2019. Evidence-informed vaccine decision making: The introduction of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccination in the Netherlands. Health Policy, 123(3), pp.260-266.

- Van Kammen, J., de Savigny, D. and Sewankambo, N. 2006. Using knowledge brokering to promote evidence-based policy-making: the need for support structures. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 84, pp.608-612.
- Van Gasse, R., Vanlommel, K., Vanhoof, J. and Van Petegem, P. 2017. The impact of collaboration on teachers' individual data use. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 28(3), pp.489-504.
- Varkevisser, C.M., Mwaluko, G.M. and Le Grand, A. 2001. Research in action: the training approach of the Joint Health Systems Research Project for the Southern African Region. Health Policy and Planning, 16(3), pp.281-291.
- Vogel, J.P., Oxman, A.D., Glenton, C., Rosenbaum, S., Lewin, S., Gülmezoglu, A.M. and Souza, J.P. 2013. Policymakers' and other stakeholders' perceptions of key considerations for health system decisions and the presentation of evidence to inform those considerations: an international survey. Health research policy and systems, 11, pp.1-9.
- Wagenaar, B.H., Hirschhorn, L.R., Henley, C., Gremu, A., Sindano, N. and Chilengi, R. 2017. Data-driven quality improvement in low-and middle-income country health systems: lessons from seven years of implementation experience across Mozambique, Rwanda, and Zambia. BMC health services research, 17, pp.65-75.
- Wallen, G.R., Mitchell, S.A., Melnyk, B., Fineout-Overholt, E., Miller-Davis, C., Yates, J. and Hastings, C. 2010. Implementing evidence-based practice: effectiveness of a structured multifaceted mentorship programme. Journal of advanced nursing, 66(12), pp.2761-2771.
- Waller, D., Robards, F., Schneider, C.H., Sanci, L., Steinbeck, K., Gibson, S., Usherwood, T., Hawke, C., Jan, S., Kong, M. and Kang, M. 2022. Building evidence into youth health policy: a case study of the Access 3 knowledge translation forum. Health Research Policy and Systems, 20(1), p.44.
- Walsh, J.C., Dicks, L.V. and Sutherland, W.J. 2015. The effect of scientific evidence on conservation practitioners' management decisions. Conservation Biology, 29(1), pp.88-98.
- Wang, A., Jiang, B., Yang, P. & Chen, Y. 2016. Application research of evidence-based nursing practice teaching guided by core questions in thoracic and cardiovascular nursing teaching. Chinese Continuing Medical Education, 8(35), pp.16-17.
- Wang, C., Hu, Y., Zhou, Y., Gu, Y., Xing, W. & Fu, Y. 2017. Study on the design and implementation effect of an evidence application training program. Chinese Journal of Nursing, 52(4), pp.464-469.
- Wang, H.C., Xue, A.H., Hu, J., Xu, P.R., Xue, S.M. and Wang, M.X. 2012. Effects of evidence-based nursing training on clinical nursing teachers' evidence-based practice ability. Nursing Research: Mid-term Edition, 26(12), pp.3342-3343.
- Wang, A., Jiang, B., Yang, P. Xue, S.M. and Chen, Y. 2016. Application of evidencebased nursing committee in promoting evidence-based nursing practice.

- Ward, M. and Mowat, D. 2012, October. Creating an organizational culture for evidenceinformed decision making. In Healthcare management forum (Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 146-150). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Warner, G., Lyons, R., Parker, V. and Phillips, S. 2011. Advancing coordinated care in four provincial healthcare systems: evaluating a knowledge-exchange intervention. Healthcare Policy, 7(1), p.80.
- Warren, P. 2020. Evidence reviews in energy and climate policy. Evidence & Policy, 16(1), pp.83-98.
- Wathen, C.N., Sibbald, S.L., Jack, S.M. and MacMillan, H.L. 2011. Talk, trust and time: a longitudinal study evaluating knowledge translation and exchange processes for research on violence against women. Implementation Science, 6, pp.1-15.
- Weatherly, H., Drummond, M. and Smith, D. 2002. Using evidence in the development of local health policies: Some evidence from the United Kingdom. International journal of technology assessment in health care, 18(4), pp.771-781.
- Wehrens, R., Bekker, M. and Bal, R. 2010. The construction of evidence-based local health policy through partnerships: Research infrastructure, process, and context in the Rotterdam 'Healthy in the City'programme. Journal of public health policy, 31, pp.447-460.
- Wei, H., 2022. Impact evaluations of evidence-based nursing course on the development of evidence-based nursing practice skills of undergraduate nursing students. 循证护 理学课程 对本科护生循证护理实践能力培养的效果研究.
- Weldon, I. and Parkhurst, J., 2022. Governing evidence use in the nutrition policy process: evidence and lessons from the 2020 Canada food guide. Nutrition Reviews, 80(3), pp.467-478.
- Welti, R., Chinotti, M., Walsh, O., Arcus, M., Asgari, J., Phillips, K., Wallace, J., Do, L., Moynihan, P. and Silva, M. 2023. Oral health messages for Australia: A national consensus statement. Australian dental journal, 68(4), pp.247-254.
- Wenke, R.J., Thomas, R., Hughes, I. and Mickan, S. 2018. The effectiveness and feasibility of TREAT (Tailoring Research Evidence and Theory) journal clubs in allied health: a randomised controlled trial. BMC medical education, 18, pp.1-14.
- Wentworth, L., Mazzeo, C. and Connolly, F. 2017. Research practice partnerships: A strategy for promoting evidence-based decision-making in education. Educational Research, 59(2), pp.241-255.
- Werner, L., Seymour, D., Puta, C. and Gilbert, S. 2019. Three waves of data use among health workers: the experience of the Better Immunization Data Initiative in Tanzania and Zambia. Global Health: Science and Practice, 7(3), pp.447-456.
- Weyrauch, V. 2021. Lesson learned on promoting better links between research and policy in Latin America.

- White, L.A., Wexler, L., Weaver, A., Moto, R., Kirk, T., Rataj, S., Trout, L. and McEachern, D. 2022. Implementation beyond the clinic: Community-driven utilization of research evidence from PC CARES, a suicide prevention program. American journal of community psychology, 70(3-4), pp.365-378.
- White, S., Nuttall, J., Down, B., Shore, S., Woods, A., Mills, M. and Bussey, K. 2018. Strengthening a research-rich teaching profession for Australia.
- Whitehead, M., Petticrew, M., Graham, H., Macintyre, S.J., Bambra, C. and Egan, M. 2004. Evidence for public health policy on inequalities: 2: assembling the evidence jigsaw. Journal of epidemiology & community health, 58(10), pp.817-821.
- Wihbey, J.P. 2023. Accelerating Knowledge Communities: Learning and Evaluation Dynamics Within a National Research Network (Doctoral dissertation, Northeastern University).
- Wijnakker, R., van Maaren, M.S., Bode, L.G., Bulatovic, M., Hendriks, B.J., Loogman, M.C., Lutgens, S.P., Middel, A., Nieuwhof, C.M., Roelofsen, E.E. and Schoones, J.W. 2023. The Dutch Working Party on Antibiotic Policy (SWAB) guideline for the approach to suspected antibiotic allergy. Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 29(7), pp.863-875.
- Wills, A., Tshangela, M., Bohler-Muller, N., Datta, A., Funke, N., Godfrey, L., Matomela, B., Pienaar, G., Pophiwa, N., Shaxson, L. and Strydom, W. 2016. Evidence and policy in South Africa's department of environmental affairs.
- Wilson, D.C., Smith, N.A., Blakey, N.C. and Shaxson, L. 2007. Using research-based knowledge to underpin waste and resources policy. Waste Management & Research, 25(3), pp.247-256.
- Wilson, M., Lavis, J. and Grimshaw, J. 2012. Supporting the use of research evidence in the Canadian health sector. Healthcare Q, 15, pp.58-62.
- Wilson, M.G., Lavis, J.N. and Gauvin, F.P. 2015. Developing a rapid-response program for health system decision-makers in Canada: findings from an issue brief and stakeholder dialogue. Systematic reviews, 4, pp.1-11.
- Wilson, M.G., Grimshaw, J.M., Haynes, R.B., Hanna, S.E., Raina, P., Gruen, R., Ouimet, M. and Lavis, J.N. 2015. A process evaluation accompanying an attempted randomized controlled trial of an evidence service for health system policymakers. Health Research Policy and Systems, 13, pp.1-8.
- Wilson, R., Hemsley-Brown, J., Easton, C. and Sharp, C. 2003. Using research for school improvement: The LEA's role.
- Worton, S., Loomis, C., Pancer, S., Nelson, G. and Peters, R. 2017. Evidence to impact: A community knowledge mobilisation evaluation framework. Gateways: International Journal of Community Research and Engagement, 10, pp.121-142.
- Wyatt, J.C., Paterson-Brown, S., Johanson, R., Altman, D.G., Bradburn, M.J. and Fisk, N.M. 1998. Randomised trial of educational visits to enhance use of systematic reviews in 25 obstetric units. Bmj, 317(7165), pp.1041-1046.
- Yang, X. 2022. Evidence-based practice for the safety of hospital transport of critically ill patients in the emergency department.
- Yao, Y.,Wang, J.,Yuan, H. and Zhu, M., 2020. Analysis of the effect of the implementation of "independent-collaborative-inquiry" learning model for medical students based on evidence-based practice capability..
- Yao, J., Zhang, X., Xue, H., Zhu, M., Wang, J., Wang, Q., Chen, Z. and Yuan, H., 2022. The experiences of nursing master's students with dialogic case-based learning in an evidence-based nursing course: A qualitative study. Nurse Education Today, 114, p.105395.
- Yates, M.J., MacLellan-Wright, M.F., Wolbeck Minke, S., Horne, T., Davachi, S., Ortiz, L. and Moscardelli, S. 2011. Case study of the use of evaluation evidence to inform diabetes prevention programming in two Canadian health regions: Effectiveness of evaluation evidence. Global health promotion, 18(1), pp.72-75.
- Yousefi Nooraie, R., Lohfeld, L., Marin, A., Hanneman, R. and Dobbins, M. 2017. Informing the implementation of evidence-informed decision making interventions using a social network analysis perspective; a mixed-methods study. BMC health services research, 17, pp.1-14.
- Yin, 2018. Development of evidence-based nursing practice skills of vocational college nursing students in clinical internship
- Yin, C. 2021. The effects of theory and practice integrated model on nurses' evidencebased practice beliefs and implementation level.
- Yost, J., Dobbins, M., Traynor, R., DeCorby, K., Workentine, S. and Greco, L. 2014. Tools to support evidence-informed public health decision making. BMC public health, 14, pp.1-13.
- Yost, J., Mackintosh, J., Read, K. and Dobbins, M. 2016. Promoting awareness of key resources for evidence-informed decision-making in public health: an evaluation of a webinar series about knowledge translation methods and tools. Frontiers in Public Health, 4, p.72.
- Yost, J., Ciliska, D. and Dobbins, M. 2014. Evaluating the impact of an intensive education workshop on evidence-informed decision making knowledge, skills, and behaviours: a mixed methods study. BMC Medical Education, 14, pp.1-9.
- Young, A.M., Cameron, A., Meloncelli, N., Barrimore, S.E., Campbell, K., Wilkinson, S., McBride, L.J., Barnes, R., Bennett, S., Harvey, G. and Hickman, I. 2023. Developing a knowledge translation program for health practitioners: Allied Health Translating Research into Practice. Frontiers in Health Services, 3, p.1103997.

- Yousefi-Nooraie, R., Dobbins, M., Marin, A., Hanneman, R. and Lohfeld, L. 2015. The evolution of social networks through the implementation of evidence-informed decision-making interventions: a longitudinal analysis of three public health units in Canada. Implementation Science, 10, pp.1-12.
- Zeng, T. 2015. A collaborative research and practice facilitation model for improving evidence-based nursing practice among nurses.
- Zhou, 2021. Strategies to improve evidence-based practice ability of nurses. 临床护士循 证实践能力培养策略.
- Zarin, W., Lunny, C., Chaudhry, S., Thomas, S.M., LeBlanc, A., Clement, F., Abou-Setta, A.M., Curran, J.A., Hutton, B., Florez, I.D. and Li, L.C. 2022. A Canadian model for providing high-quality, timely and relevant evidence to meet health system decisionmaker needs: the SPOR evidence alliance. FACETS, 7(1), pp.420-434.
- Zhao, N., Chung, M., Lischko, A. and Koch-Weser, S. 2021. Knowledge Translation and WIC Food Package Regulation Change. Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 40(7), pp.598-607.
- Zhu, L.M., Stinson, J., Palozzi, L., Weingarten, K., Hogan, M.E., Duong, S., Carbajal, R., Campbell, F.A. and Taddio, A. 2012. Improvements in pain outcomes in a Canadian pediatric teaching hospital following implementation of a multifaceted, knowledge translation initiative. Pain Research and Management, 17(3), pp.173-179.
- Zhang, Y. 2021. A study on the application of evidence-based librarianship in the establishment and practice of patron-driven acquisition models: Xi'an Jiaotong University as an example.

Other references

- Ategeka, John., S.Booth, R. Cavatassi, B. Curtis, V. Filippi, D Sun Kim, Y. Kim, L.Langer, C. Blaser-Mapitsa, E. Mokgano, and P. Nduku, 2022. Behavioural science interventions within the development and environmental fields in developing countries: A systematic review.
- Banuri, Sheheryar, Stefan Dercon, and Varun Gauri. 2019. "Biased Policy Professionals." *The World Bank Economic Review* 33 (2): 310–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/lhy033</u>.
- Borenstein, Michael, Larry V. Hedges, Julian P. T. Higgins, and Hannah R. Rothstein. 2009. *Introduction to Meta-Analysis*. 1st ed. Wiley. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470743386</u>.
- Collaboration for Environmental Evidence 2013. 2013. "Guidelines for Systematic Review and Evidence Synthesis in Environmental Management." Version 4.2. Environmental Evidence.

www.environmentalevidence.org/Documents/Guidelines/Guidelines4.2.pdf.

- Crowley, D. Max, J. Taylor Scott, Elizabeth C. Long, Lawrie Green, Azaliah Israel, Lauren Supplee, Elizabeth Jordan, et al. 2021. "Lawmakers' Use of Scientific Evidence Can Be Improved." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118 (9): e2012955118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2012955118.
- De La Rue, Lisa, Joshua R. Polanin, Dorothy L. Espelage, and Terri D. Pigott. 2017. "A Meta-Analysis of School-Based Interventions Aimed to Prevent or Reduce Violence in Teen Dating Relationships." *Review of Educational Research* 87 (1): 7–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654316632061</u>.
- Ellis, Paul D. 2010. The Essential Guide to Effect Sizes: Statistical Power, Meta-Analysis, and the Interpretation of Research Results. 1st ed. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511761676.
- Gough, David, Annette Boaz, and Richard Simmons. 2011. "Different Patterns of Evidence Production and Use." *Evidence & Policy* 7 (1): 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1332/174426411X552963.
- Gough, David, Sandy Oliver, and James Thomas. 2017. *An Introduction to Systematic Reviews*. 2nd edition. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Gray, Mel, Elyssa Joy, Debbie Plath, and Stephen A. Webb. 2013. "Implementing Evidence-Based Practice: A Review of the Empirical Research Literature." *Research* on Social Work Practice 23 (2): 157–66. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731512467072.
- Hedges, Larry V., and Ingram Olkin. 2014. *Statistical Methods for Meta-Analysis*. Saint Louis: Elsevier Science.
- Higgins, J. P T. 2003. "Measuring Inconsistency in Meta-Analyses." *BMJ* 327 (7414): 557–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557</u>.
- Higgins, J. P. T., J. Thomas, J. Chandler, M. Cumpston, T. Li, M. J. Page, and V. A. Welch. 2023. "Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions." Cochrane. www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- Higgins, Julian P. T., and Simon G. Thompson. 2002. "Quantifying Heterogeneity in a Meta-analysis." *Statistics in Medicine* 21 (11): 1539–58. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.1186.
- Jann, W. and Wegrich, K., 2017. Theories of the policy cycle. In *Handbook of public policy analysis* (pp. 69-88). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315093192</u>
- Keef, Stephen P., and Leigh A. Roberts. 2004. "The Meta-analysis of Partial Effect Sizes." British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology 57 (1): 97–129. https://doi.org/10.1348/000711004849303.
- Langer, Laurenz, Janice Tripney, and David Gouch. 2016. "The Science of Using Science: Researching the Use of Research Evidence in Decision-Making." London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, UCL Institute of Education, University College

https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=v8Mp32AHtOg%3d&tabid=3504

- Lester, Louise, Michelle M. Haby, Evelina Chapman, and Tanja Kuchenmüller. 2020. "Evaluation of the Performance and Achievements of the WHO Evidence-Informed Policy Network (EVIPNet) Europe." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 18 (1): 109. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-020-00612-x.
- Lwamba, Etienne, Will Ridlehoover, Meital Kupfer, Shannon Shisler, Ada Sonnenfeld, Laurenz Langer, John Eyers, Sean Grant, and Bidisha Barooah. 2021. "PROTOCOL: Strengthening Women's Empowerment and Gender Equality in Fragile Contexts towards Peaceful and Inclusive Societies: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis." *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 17 (3): e1180. https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1180.
- Macdonald, Geraldine, Julian Pt Higgins, Paul Ramchandani, Jeffrey C. Valentine, Latricia P. Bronger, Paul Klein, Roland O'Daniel, et al. 2012. "Cognitive-Behavioural Interventions for Children Who Have Been Sexually Abused: A Systematic Review." *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 8 (1): 1–111. https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2012.14.
- Michie, Susan, Maartje M. van Stralen, and Robert West. 2011. "The Behaviour Change Wheel: A New Method for Characterising and Designing Behaviour Change Interventions." *Implementation Science* 6 (1): 42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-6-42</u>.
- Moore, Gabriel, Sally Redman, Mary Haines, and Angela Todd. 2011. "What Works to Increase the Use of Research in Population Health Policy and Programmes: A Review." *Evidence* & *Policy* 7 (3): 277–305. https://doi.org/10.1332/174426411X579199.
- Nduku, Promise, John Ategeka, Andile Madonsela, Tanya Mdlalose, T. Galada, T. Mutanha, Tanja Kuchenmüller, et al. 2024a. "The Art and Science of Using Evidence: An Evidence Map." Technical Report. in press.
- Nduku, Promise, John Ategeka, Andile Madonsela, Tanya Mdlalose, Jennifer Stevenson, Shannon Shisler, Suvarna Pande, and Laurenz Mahlanza - Langer. 2024b. "PROTOCOL: What Works to Increase the Use of Evidence for Policy Decision-Making: A Systematic Review."
- Nutley, Sandra M., Isabel Walter, and Huw T.O. Davies. 2007. Using Evidence: How Research Can Inform Public Services. 1st ed. Bristol University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt9qgwt1.
- Oliver, Kathryn, Simon Innvar, Theo Lorenc, Jenny Woodman, and James Thomas. 2014. "A Systematic Review of Barriers to and Facilitators of the Use of Evidence by Policymakers." *BMC Health Services Research* 14 (1): 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-14-2</u>.
- Petkovic, Jennifer, Vivian Welch, Marie Helena Jacob, Manosila Yoganathan, Ana Patricia Ayala, Heather Cunningham, and Peter Tugwell. 2018. "Do Evidence Summaries Increase Health Policy-makers' Use of Evidence from Systematic

Reviews? A Systematic Review." *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 14 (1): 1–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2018.8</u>.

- Polanin, Joshua R., Emily E. Tanner-Smith, and Emily A. Hennessy. 2016. "Estimating the Difference Between Published and Unpublished Effect Sizes: A Meta-Review." *Review of Educational Research* 86 (1): 207–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315582067</u>.
- Sackett, D. L., and W. M. Rosenberg. 1995. "The Need for Evidence-Based Medicine." Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine 88 (11): 620–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/014107689508801105.
- Snilstveit, Birte. 2012. "Systematic Reviews: From 'Bare Bones' Reviews to Policy Relevance." *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 4 (3): 388–408. https://doi.org/10.1080/19439342.2012.709875.
- Statistical Methods for Meta-Analysis. 1985. Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/C2009-</u> 0-03396-0.
- Sterne, Jonathan Ac, Miguel A. Hernán, Barnaby C. Reeves, Jelena Savović, Nancy D. Berkman, Meera Viswanathan, David Henry, et al. 2016. "ROBINS-I: A Tool for Assessing Risk of Bias in Non-Randomised Studies of Interventions." *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 355 (October):i4919. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i4919.
- Stewart, Lesley A., Mike Clarke, Maroeska Rovers, Richard D. Riley, Mark Simmonds, Gavin Stewart, Jayne F. Tierney, and PRISMA-IPD Development Group. 2015.
 "Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses of Individual Participant Data: The PRISMA-IPD Statement." JAMA 313 (16): 1657–65. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.3656.
- Stewart, Ruth, Laurenz Langer, Natalie Rebelo Da Silva, Evans Muchiri, Hazel Zaranyika, Yvonne Erasmus, Nicola Randall, et al. 2015. "The Effects of Training, Innovation and New Technology on African Smallholder Farmers' Economic Outcomes and Food Security: A Systematic Review." *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 11 (1): 1–224. https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2015.16.
- Thomas, J, S Graziosi, J Brunton, O O'Driscoll, M Bond, and A Koryakina. 2022. "EPPI Reviewer: Advanced Software for Systematic Reviews, Maps and Evidence Synthesis." EPPI-centre, UCL Social Research Institute, University College London.
- Thompson, David S, Carole A Estabrooks, Shannon Scott-Findlay, Katherine Moore, and Lars Wallin. 2007. "Interventions Aimed at Increasing Research Use in Nursing: A Systematic Review." *Implementation Science* 2 (1): 15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-2-15</u>.
- Valentine, Jeffrey C., Ariel M. Aloe, and Timothy S. Lau. 2015. "Life After NHST: How to Describe Your Data Without 'p-Ing' Everywhere." *Basic and Applied Social Psychology* 37 (5): 260–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2015.1060240</u>.

- Verboom, Ben, and Aron Baumann. 2022. "Mapping the Qualitative Evidence Base on the Use of Research Evidence in Health Policy-Making: A Systematic Review." International Journal of Health Policy and Management 11 (7): 883–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.34172/ijhpm.2020.201.</u>
- Viechtbauer, Wolfgang. 2010. "Conducting Meta-Analyses in *R* with the **Metafor** Package." *Journal of Statistical Software* 36 (3). <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v036.i03</u>.
- Waddington, Hugh, Howard White, Birte Snilstveit, Jorge Garcia Hombrados, Martina Vojtkova, Philip Davies, Ami Bhavsar, et al. 2012a. "How to Do a Good Systematic Review of Effects in International Development: A Tool Kit." *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 4 (3): 359–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19439342.2012.711765</u>.
- Weiss, Carol H. 1979. "The Many Meanings of Research Utilization." *Public Administration Review* 39 (5): 426. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3109916</u>.
- Wilson, David B., David Weisburd, and David McClure. 2011. "Use of DNA Testing in Police Investigative Work for Increasing Offender Identification, Arrest, Conviction and Case Clearance." *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 7 (1): 1–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2011.7</u>.
- Xu, Chengxin, Yuan Daniel Cheng, Shuping Wang, Weston Merrick, and Patrick Carter.
 2024. "Evaluating Use of Evidence in US State Governments: A Conjoint Analysis." Shuping and Merrick, Weston and Carter, Patrick, Evaluating Use of Evidence in US State Governments: A Conjoint Analysis (January 12, 2024) (2024).

8 Appendices

8.1 Appendix A: Search Strategy

8.1.1 Appendix A.1 Overall Search Terms

(#1 OR #2 OR #3) AND #4

#1 Comprehensive evidence use terms

"evidence use" OR "evidence utilisation" OR "evidence utilization" OR "evidence dissemination" OR "evidence diffusion" OR "evidence uptake" OR "evidence mobilisation" OR "evidence mobilization" OR "evidence application" OR "evidence translation" OR "evidence transfer" OR "evidence adoption" OR "evidence sharing" OR "evidence implementation" OR "evidence exchange"

OR

"research use" OR "research utilisation" OR "research utilization" OR "research dissemination" OR "research diffusion" OR "research uptake" OR "research mobilisation" OR "research mobilization" OR "research application" OR "research translation" OR "research transfer" OR "research adoption" OR "research sharing" OR "research implementation" OR "research exchange"

OR

"knowledge use" OR "knowledge utilisation" OR "knowledge utilization" OR "knowledge dissemination" OR "knowledge diffusion" OR "knowledge uptake" OR "knowledge mobilisation" OR "knowledge mobilization" OR "knowledge application" OR "knowledge translation" OR "knowledge transfer" OR "knowledge adoption" OR "knowledge sharing" OR "knowledge implementation" OR "knowledge exchange"

OR

"evaluation use" OR "evaluation utilisation" OR "evaluation utilization" OR "evaluation dissemination" OR "evaluation diffusion" OR "evaluation uptake" OR "evaluation mobilisation" OR "evaluation mobilization" OR "evaluation application" OR "evaluation translation" OR "evaluation transfer" OR "evaluation adoption" OR "evaluation sharing" OR "evaluation implementation" OR "evaluation exchange"

#2 Evidence into Action terms (supplement)

"evidence broker*" OR "evidence champion*" OR "evidence into action" OR "evidence into practice" OR "evidence into policy" OR "evidence to action" OR "evidence to practice" OR "evidence to policy"

"research broker*" OR "research champion*" OR "research into action" OR "research into practice" OR "research into policy" OR "research to action" OR "research to practice" OR "research to policy"

"knowledge broker*" OR "knowledge champion*" OR "knowledge into action" OR "knowledge into practice" OR "knowledge into policy" OR "knowledge to action" OR "knowledge to practice" OR "knowledge to policy"

"evaluation broker*" OR "evaluation champion*" OR "evaluation into action" OR "evaluation into practice" OR "evaluation into policy" OR "evaluation to action" OR "evaluation to practice" OR "evaluation to policy"

#3 Evidence-informed decision-making terms

("evidence-based" OR "evidence-informed") AND (policy OR policies OR decision* OR "decision-making" OR "decision making" OR "policy-making" OR "policy making" OR policymaking)

OR

"data use" OR "research impact" OR "evidence ecosystem" OR "evidence system" OR "knowledge system" OR "evidence movement" OR "evidence agenda"

OR

("use of evidence" OR "use of research" OR "use of knowledge" OR "use of evaluation" OR "uptake of research" OR "uptake of evidence" OR "uptake of knowledge" OR "uptake of evaluation")

#4 Country terms

Andorra OR "Antigua and Barbuda" OR Aruba OR Australia OR Austria OR Bahamas OR Bahrain OR Barbados OR Belgium OR Bermuda OR "British Virgin Islands" OR "Brunei Darussalam" OR Canada OR "Cayman Islands" OR "Channel Islands" OR Chile OR Croatia OR Curacao OR Cyprus OR Czechia OR Denmark OR Estonia OR "Faroe islands" OR Finland OR France OR "French Polynesia" OR Germany OR Gibraltar OR Greece OR Greenland OR Guam OR "Hong Kong" OR Hungary OR Iceland OR Ireland OR "Isle of Man" OR Israel OR Italy OR Japan OR "South Korea" OR Kuwait OR Latvia OR Liechtenstein OR Lithuania OR Luxembourg OR Macao OR Malta OR Monaco OR Nauru OR Netherlands OR "New Caledonia" OR "New Zealand" OR "Northern Mariana Islands" OR "Norway" OR Oman OR Panama OR "Poland" OR "Portugal" OR "Puerto Rico" OR Qatar OR Romania OR "San Marino" OR "Saudi Arabia" OR "Seychelles" OR Singapore OR "Sint Maarten" OR "Slovak Republic" OR "Slovenia" OR Spain OR "St Kitts and Nevis" OR "St Martin" OR Sweden OR "Switzerland" OR Taiwan OR "Trinidad and Tobago" OR "Turks and Caicos Islands" OR "United Arab Emirates" OR UAE OR "United Kingdom" OR UK OR Britain OR "United States" OR USA OR Uruguay OR "developed countr*" OR "developed nation*" OR "developed world" OR "high-developed countr*" OR "high-developed world" OR "high income countr*" OR "high-income countr*" OR HIC OR "high income nation*" OR "high-income nation*" OR "wealthy countr*" OR "wealthy nation*" OR "developed econom*" OR "high income econom*" OR "high-income econom*" OR "first world countr*" OR "industrialized countr*" OR "industrialised countr*" OR "Global North"

OR

Africa OR Asia OR Caribbean OR "West Indies" OR "South America" OR "Latin America" OR "Central America" OR Afghanistan OR Albania OR Algeria OR Angola OR Antigua OR Barbuda OR Argentina OR Armenia OR Azerbaijan OR Bahamas OR Bahrain OR Bangladesh OR Barbados OR Benin OR Belize OR Bhutan OR Bolivia OR Bosnia OR Herzegovina OR Hercegovina OR Botswana OR Brasil OR Brazil OR Darussalam OR "Burkina Faso" OR "Burkina Fasso" OR "Upper Volta" OR Burundi OR Urundi OR Cambodia OR "Khmer Republic" OR Kampuchea OR Cameroon OR Cameroons OR Cameron OR Camerons OR "Cabo Verde" OR "Cape Verde" OR "Central African Republic" OR CAR OR Chad OR Chile OR China OR Colombia OR Comoros OR "Comoro Islands" OR Comores OR "Cook Islands" OR Congo OR Zaire OR "Costa Rica" OR "Cote d'Ivoire" OR "Ivory Coast" OR Croatia OR Cuba OR Cyprus OR Czechoslovakia OR "Czech Republic" OR Slovakia OR "Slovak Republic" OR Djibouti OR "French Somaliland" OR Dominica OR "Dominican Republic" OR "United Arab Republic" OR "El Salvador" OR Eritrea OR Estonia OR Ethiopia OR Fiji OR Gabon OR "Gabonese Republic" OR Gambia OR Georgia OR Ghana OR "Gold Coast" OR Greece OR Grenada OR Guatemala OR Guinea OR Haiti OR Honduras OR India OR Maldives OR Indonesia OR Iran OR Iraq OR Israel OR Jamaica OR Jordan OR Kazakhstan OR Kazakh OR Kenya OR Kiribati OR Korea OR Kosovo OR Kyrgyzstan OR Kirghizia OR "Kyrgyz Republic" OR Kirghiz OR Kirgizstan OR "Lao PDR" OR Laos OR Latvia OR Lebanon OR Lesotho OR Basutoland OR Liberia OR Libya OR Macedonia OR Madagascar OR "Malagasy Republic" OR Malaysia OR Malaya OR Malay OR Maldives OR Malawi OR Nyasaland OR Mali OR Mauritania OR Mauritius OR Mexico OR Micronesia OR "Middle East" OR Moldova OR Moldovia OR Mongolia OR Montenegro OR Morocco OR Mozambique OR Mocambique OR Myanmar OR Myanma OR Burma OR Namibia OR Nauru OR Nepal Nicaragua OR Niger OR Nigeria OR "Northern Mariana Islands" OR Niue OR Oman OR Pakistan OR Palau OR Palestine OR Panama OR Paraguay OR Peru OR Philippines OR Philipines OR Philippines OR "Puerto Rico" OR Romania OR Rumania OR Roumania OR Rwanda OR Ruanda OR "Saint Kitts" OR "St Kitts" OR Nevis OR "Saint Lucia" OR "St Lucia" OR "Saint Vincent" OR "St Vincent" OR Grenadines OR Samoa OR "Samoan Islands" OR "Sao Tome" OR Principe OR "Saudi Arabia" OR Senegal OR Serbia OR Montenegro OR Seychelles OR "Sierra Leone" OR Slovenia OR "Sri Lanka" OR Singapore OR "Solomon Islands" OR Somalia OR Sudan OR Suriname OR Surinam OR Swaziland OR Syria* OR Tajikistan OR Tadzhikistan OR Tadjikistan OR Tadzhik OR Tanzania OR Thailand OR Togo OR "Togolese Republic" OR Tonga OR Trinidad OR Tobago OR Tunisia OR Turkey OR Turkmenistan OR Turkmen OR Tuvalu OR Uganda OR Ukraine OR "United Arab Emirates" OR UAE OR Uruguay OR Uzbekistan OR Uzbek OR Vanuatu OR "New Hebrides" OR Venezuela OR Vietnam OR "Viet Nam" OR "West Bank" OR Yemen OR Zambia OR Zimbabwe OR "developing country" OR "developing countries" OR "developing nation" OR "developing nations" OR "developing world" OR "less-developed countr*" OR "less developed countr*" OR "lessdeveloped world" OR "less-developed world" OR "lesser-developed countr*" OR "lesser developed countr*" OR "lesser-developed nation" OR "lesser developed nation*" OR "lesser developed world" OR "lesser-developed world" OR "under-developed countr*" OR "under developed countr*" OR "under-developed nation*" OR "under developed nation*" OR "under-developed world" OR "underdeveloped world" OR "under developed world" OR "underdeveloped countr*" OR "under-developed countr*" OR "Under developed countr*" OR "under developed nation*" OR "under-developed nation*" OR "underdeveloped nation*" OR "lower middle income countr*" OR "lower middle-income countr*" OR "lower middle income nation*" OR "lower middle-income nation*" OR "upper middle-income countr*" OR "upper middle income countr*" OR "upper middle-income nation*" OR "upper middle income nation*" OR "low-income countr*" OR "low income countr*" OR "low-income nation*" OR "low income nation*" OR "lower income countr*" OR "lower-income countr*" OR "lower income nation*" OR "lower-income nation*" OR "Lowand Middle- Income countr*" OR "Low and Middle Income Countr*" OR "underserved country" OR "underserved countries" OR "underserved nation" OR "underserved nations" OR "underserved world" OR "under served country" OR "under served countries" OR "under served nation" OR "under served nations" OR "under served world" OR "deprived country" OR "deprived countries" OR "deprived nation" OR "deprived nations" OR "deprived world" OR "poor country" OR "poor countries" OR "poor nation" OR "poor nations" OR "poor world" OR "poorer country" OR "poorer countries" OR "poorer nation"

OR "poorer nations" OR "poorer world" OR "developing economy" OR "developing economies" OR "less developed economy" OR "less developed economies" OR "lesser developed economies" OR "under developed economy" OR "under developed economy" OR "under developed economies" OR "under developed economy" OR "under developed economies" OR "indule income economy" OR "under developed economies" OR "low income economy" OR "lower income economy" OR "low income economies" OR "lower income economy" OR "lower income economy" OR "low income economies" OR "lower income economy" OR "lower income economy"

8.2 Appendix B: Search Sources

8.2.1 Appendix B.1 Electronic academic databases

Appendix Table 1: Search results from electronic academic sources

Database	Search results
Healthcare:	
1. Medline/PubMed	
Broad Social Sciences:	
 Web of Science (Science Citation Index Expanded, Social Science Citation Index, Emerging Sources Citation Index) 	
3. Scopus	
All searched via EbscoHost	
Education:	
4. ERIC	

Psychology/Behavioural Sciences:	
5. PsycINFO	
Organisational:	
6. Business Source Ultimate	
Communication:	
7. Communication and Mass Media complete	
Political Science:	
8. Political Science Complete	

8.2.2 Appendix B.2. Grey literature sources

Appendix Table 2: List of grey literature sources

Website	URL
1. Africa Centre for Evidence	https://africacentreforevidence.org/
2. Africa Evidence Network	https://www.africaevidencenetwork.org/en/
3. BCURE	https://bcureglobal.wordpress.com

4. African Institute for Development Policy (AFIDEP)	https://www.afidep.org/
5. African Academy of Sciences	https://www.aasciences.africa/
 Africa Centre for Systematic Reviews and Knowledge Translation (ACSRKT) 	https://chs.mak.ac.ug/afcen/
7. Zimbabwe Evidence Informed Policy Making Network (ZEIPNET)	https://www.zeipnet.co.zw/
8. PACKS-Africa	https://www.packs-africa.org/
9. Africa Cabinet Network	http://www.cabinetgovernment.net/
10. The Overseas Development Institute (ODI)	https://odi.org/en/
11. International Network for the Availability of Scientific Publications (INASP)	https://www.inasp.info/
12. 3ie	https://www.3ieimpact.org/evidence-hub

13. WACIE	https://www.3ieimpact.org/our-work/west-africa-capacity- building-and-impact-evaluation
14. International Network for Government Science Advice (INGSA)	https://www.ingsa.org/
15. South African Department of Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation (DPME)	https://www.dpme.gov.za/Pages/default.aspx
16. Twende Mbele	https://twendembele.org/
17. Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC)	http://www.hsrc.ac.za/en
18. Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR)	https://www.csir.co.za/
19. University of Cape Town (UCT)	https://www.uct.ac.za/
20. Makerere University	https://www.mak.ac.ug/
21. SDG Hub	https://sdg.iisd.org/
22. eBase Africa	https://www.ebaseafrica.org/

23. Centre for the Development of Best Practices in Health (Cameroon)	http://www.cdbph.org/index.php/en/
24. Ethiopian Public Health Institute (Ethiopia)	http://www.ephi.gov.et/
25. Ebonyi State University (Nigeria)	https://www.ebsu.edu.ng/#
26. Ministry of Health (Burkina Faso)	https://www.sante.gov.bf/accueil
27. School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Antioquia (Colombia)	https://bit.ly/2hHkosq
28. Veredas Institute (Brazil)	https://www.veredasinstitute.com/
29. Foundation for Scientific and Technological Development in Health (FIOTEC)	https://www.fiotec.fiocruz.br/en/access-to-information
30. Ministry of Health (Chile)	https://www.minsal.cl/
31. Centre of Studies and Research,	https://mohcsr.gov.om/

Ministry of Health (Oman)	
32. Lanzhou University	https://en.lzu.edu.cn/
33. Knowledge to Policy Center, American University of Beirut (Lebanon)	https://www.aub.edu.lb/k2p/Pages/default.aspx
34. EPPI Centre, UCL Institute of Education, University College London (United Kingdom)	https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/
35. Results for All	https://results4america.org
36. Jimma University Ethiopia	https://www.ju.edu.et/
37. Partnership for African Social and Governance Research (PASGR)	https://www.pasgr.org/
38. CEE Joburg	https://ceejoburg.com/
39. African Union	https://au.int/
40. Alliance for Health Policy and Systems Research	http://www.who.int/alliance-hpsr/en/

41. EVIPNet	https://www.who.int/evidence/en/
42. McMaster KT+ Database	http://plus.mcmaster.ca/kt/
43. UNICEF	https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications
44. Human Development research foundation	https://hdrfoundation.org/evidence-synthesis-analysis-team/
45. USAID	https://www.usaid.gov/
46. FCDO	https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/foreign- commonwealth-development-office
47. Oxfam	https://www.oxfam.org/en
48. IDC	https://idc.co.za/
49. IDRC	https://www.idrc.ca/en?gclid=Cj0KCQiA1sucBhDgARIsAFoytUuJY XCUfJGIPfRVAaw9g_CrIDY1Z- MqJWb5g0RFWhHNoX9bFvhqVnQaApwLEALw_wcB https://www.idrc-crdi.ca/en
50. GIZ	https://www.giz.de/en/html/index.html
51. Deval	https://www.deval.org/en/
52. IRC	https://www.rescue.org/

53. World Bank Evaluation office	https://ieg.worldbankgroup.org/
54. FAO	https://www.fao.org/home/en
55. OECD	https://www.oecd.org/southafrica/
56. WHO	https://www.who.int/
57. UNDP	https://www.undp.org/
58. US Data coalition	https://www.datacoalition.org/
59. US coalition for evidence-based policy	http://coalition4evidence.org/
60. Results 4 America	https://results4america.org/
61. Results for development	https://r4d.org/
62. Behavioural insights team	https://www.bi.team/
63. Alliance for Useful Evidence_NESTA	https://www.nesta.org.uk/project/alliance-useful-evidence/
64. Agora	https://agora.unicef.org/
65. Centre for Science and Policy	https://www.csap.cam.ac.uk/

66. APO	https://apo-opa.com/
67. Community NI	https://www.communityni.org/
68. Epistemonikos (Chile)	https://www.epistemonikos.org/#
69. Hewlett foundation	https://hewlett.org/
70. William T Grant Foundation	https://wtgrantfoundation.org/
71. Monash University in Australia	https://www.monash.edu/
72. On Think Tanks	https://onthinktanks.org/
73. Asian Development Bank	https://www.adb.org/
74. Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	https://www.gatesfoundation.org/
75. Center for Effective Global Action Research Publications	https://vcresearch.berkeley.edu/research-unit/center- effective-global-action
76. Innovations for Poverty Action Publications	https://www.poverty-action.org/publications

77. Inter-American Development Bank	https://www.iadb.org/en/topics-effectiveness-improving- lives/impact-evaluations-repository
78. Millennium Challenge Corporation	https://www.mcc.gov/
79. National Bureau of Economic Research, USA	https://www.nber.org
80. USAID Evaluations Clearinghouse	http://dec.usaid.gov/
81. Thünen-Institute, GER	www.thuenen.de/
82. Observatory for Public Sector Innovation	https://oecd-opsi.org/bi-projects/
83. Campbell Collaboration	https://campbellcollaboration.org/
84. Data Coalition	https://www.datacoalition.org
85. Bosch Stiftung	https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/de/story/es-kann-nicht- genuegend-stiftungen-geben
86. Mastercard Foundation	https://mastercardfdn.org
87. Evidence Commission	https://www.mcmasterforum.org/networks/evidence- commission

88. COVID-END	https://www.mcmasterforum.org/networks/covid-end
89. Centre for Evidence and Implementation	https://www.ceiglobal.org
90. Centre for Global Development	https://www.cgdev.org
91. IDInsights	https://www.idinsight.org

8.3 Appendix C: Data extraction and critical appraisal

.

8.3.1 Appendix C.1 Descriptive data extraction tool (all included studies)

Variable	Description
Publication year	Year of study publication
Publication type	Publication type of study(e.g., journal articles)
Project name	State name of the project
Region (socio-economic)	World Bank country classifications by income level
Region (geographical)	World bank classification.

Country	Country(s) of intervention
Sector	Intervention sector Health Agriculture, fishing and forestry Social protection Education Industry, trade and services Public administration Energy and extractives Financial sector Water, sanitation and waste management Transportation Information and communications technologies
Nature of the evidence	Denote if the intervention focuses on the art or science of using evidence
Evidence Use Mechanism	 EIDM interventions according to mechanisms of change namely: M1 Awareness: Awareness for, and positive attitudes towards EIDM M2 Agree: Mutual understanding & agreement on evidence needs & policy-relevant evidence

	 M3 Access: Providing communication of, and access to, evidence M4 Interact: Interaction between decision-makers and researchers M5 Skills: Supporting decision-makers skills in accessing and making sense of evidence M6 Structure & Process: Influencing decision-making structures and processes
Intervention description	Provide detailed description of the intervention and its different components. Include details of sections of the manuscript and page numbers where authors describe details of the intervention.
Intervention theory of change / logic model	Does the study mention a theory of change or logic model? If yes, provide page number and provide a short description of the theory of change and the pathway discussed by the authors which explain the reported effects.
Intervention implementation	Does the study describe the process of implementing the intervention or programme? If yes, please provide page number and provide a short description of the information reported in the study.
Stage of the policy cycle	Policy Design; Policy Implementation

Single vs multicomponent interventions	
Year of the intervention	The earliest date (year) observations are exposed to the intervention.
Length of follow up	How many months have elapsed between the start of the intervention (earliest date observations are exposed to the intervention) and the date of the final outcome measurement.
Exposure to intervention	For how long are the observations exposed to the intervention (in months)?
Type of policymaker	Does the study describe the policymaking population targeted by the intervention or programme? If yes, please provide page number and provide a short description of the information reported in the study.
Level of policymaking	Global, Regional, National, subnational,
Seniority of policymaker	- junior -mid-level -senior
Gender of policymaker	Where reported, please comment on the gender composition of the policymakers targeted by the intervention or programme.

Resource / information setting	Where reported, please comment on the setting in which the policymakers targeted by the intervention or programme operate; in particular, do they have access to information (eg internet, libraries) and access to resources (eg academic databases, knowledge management systems, KT staff)
--------------------------------	---

8.3.2 Appendix C.2 Descriptive extraction tool for mapping project cycle

Variable	Description
Publication year	Year of study publication
Study Name	Complete study title
Author(s)	Fill in full author names
Project cycle step of the study	Fill in the stated project cycle step measured in the study - Agenda setting, Policy formulation, Decision-making, Implementation, Evaluation. If no particular step specified, please report as unclear
Project cycle step of the study - supporting text and page numbers	Please specify text that supports the stage of project cycle that the authors aimed to cover with page numbers.

8.3.3 Appendix C.3 Critical appraisal tool

Methodological appraisal criteria	Response		
Methodological appraidal ontena	Yes	No	Comment

IF RAI		ED CONTROL TRIAL, S	TART AFTER CO	ONFOUNDING			
BIAS.	Bias in s	election of participants	into the study	τ <u>Ε</u> .			
Are pa	articipants	selected in a way that i	minimizes selectio	on bias?			
<u>Apprai</u>	isal indica	tors					
Consid	der wheth	er:					
i.	there is chosen	an adequate descriptior (i.e., identified/selected/	n of how and why recruited)	sample was			
ii.	there is a statistica	adequate sample size to ally significant conclusio	o allow for represe ns	entative and/or			
iii.	participa populatio	ents in the control group on as that of the treatme	were sampled fro	om the same			
iv.	group al using co	location process minimi mputer algorithms)	sed potential risk	of bias (e.g.,			
V.	the select based of the inter	ction of participants into n participant characteris vention	the study (or into tics observed afte	the analysis) is er the start of			
Low b	risk of bias	Moderate Risk of bias	High risk of bias	Critical risk of bias	Worth	Worth to continue: Y/N?	
I. Bia	as due to	confounding					
Is con	founding	potentially controllable in	n the context of th	is study?			
<u>Apprai</u>	isal indica	tors:					
Consid	der wheth	er:					
i.	there is in this st commer	potential for confounding udy. If yes, provide exa ht box.	g of the effect of t mple of confound	he intervention ing domain in			
ii.	ii. where matching was applied, it featured sufficient criteria						
iii.	iii. where relevant, the authors conducted an appropriate analysis that controlled for all potential/remaining critical confounding domains after matching had been applied						
iv. the authors avoided adjusting for variables identified after the intervention has been administered							
V.	the treat	ment and control group	are comparable a	after			
matching/controls have been done. Select one of the following:							
		ii. □Statistically sig	nificance difference	ces			

	 iii. □Negligible descriptive differences iv. □Significant descriptive differences 						
Low risk of bias	Moderate Risk of bias	High risk of bias	Critical risk of bias	Worth	Worth to continue: Y/N		
IF RANDOMISE HERE!	ED CONTROL TRIAL, S	KIP I + II (ABOVE	E) AND START				
Bias due to con	founding (because of ind	effective randomis	<u>sation)</u>				
Is allocation of t	reatment status truly rai	ndom?					
Appraisal indica	tors						
Consider wheth	er:						
i. eligibility	r criteria for study entry a	are specified					
ii. there is methods	a clear description of the s are robust	e randomisation p	rocess and				
iii. the unit of randomisation and number of participants is clearly stated (pay special attention to treatment and control locations/ balance)			nts is clearly htrol locations/				
 iv. characteristics of both baseline and endline sample are provided and at endline the treatment and control group are comparable. Select one of the following: i. □No statistically significant differences ii. □Statistically significance differences iii. □Negligible descriptive differences iv. □Significant descriptive differences 							
Low risk of bias	Moderate Risk of bias	High risk of bias	Critical risk of bias	If criti treat a study	cal risk as non-	of bias, random	
I. <u>Bias due to</u> Was the interve <u>Appraisal indica</u> Consider wheth	departures from intende ntion implemented as la tors er:	ed interventions hid out in the study	/ protocol?				
<i>i.</i> the critical co-interventions were balanced across intervention and control groups							
i. treatmen the estim	t switches were low eno ated effect of the interve	ugh to not threate ention	en the validity of				

i. implementation failure was minor and unlikely to threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention						
v. it is possi (contamii	ible that the intervention nation and possible cros	was taken by the ssing-over)	controls			
r. it is possi two study interventi	ible that knowledge of g / groups are treated dur ion	roup allocation af ing delivery and e	fects how the valuation of the			
Low risk of bias	Moderate Risk of bias	High risk of bias	Critical risk of bias	Worth	ו to con	tinue: Y/N?
 Bias due to Are the intervent participants with Appraisal indica Consider wheth 	missing/incomplete data ntion and control groups n missing/incomplete da ntors er:	<u>a (attrition)</u> free of critical diff ta?	erences in			
i. outcome	e data are reasonably co	omplete (80% or a	above)			
<i>i.</i> If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incomplete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?						
i. If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incomplete data) is more than 20%, do the authors demonstrate similarity between remaining participants and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participants with missing/incomplete data and reasons for missing/incomplete data similar across groups?						
 If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incomplete data) is more than 20%, were appropriate statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis) 			mplete data) is hods used to sis)			
 If not possible to control for missing/incomplete data, are outcomes with missing/incomplete data excluded from analysis? 						
Low risk of biasModerate Risk of biasHigh risk of biasCritical risk of biasWorth				ו to con	tinue: Y/N?	
 <u>Bias in meas</u> Are measurement <u>Appraisal indica</u> Consider wheth 	surement of outcomes ents appropriate, e.g., clo ators er:	ear origin, or valic	lity known?			
<i>i.</i> there was an adequate period for follow up						

ii.	the outcome measure (e.g., employment status, income) was clearly defined and objective						
iii.	outcome indicator	es were assessed using rs	ז standardised ins	struments and			
iv.	outcome measure	e measurements reflect	what the experin	nent set out to			
V.	the meth groups	ods of outcome asses	sment were comp	parable across			
vi.	were ou study pa	tcome assessors aware articipants?	e of the intervention	on received by			
Low r bias	isk of	Moderate Risk of bias	High risk of bias	Critical risk of bias	Worth	ו to con	tinue: Y/N?
I. <u>Bi</u> Are th the pr <u>Appra</u>	Bias in selection of results reported Are the reported outcomes consistent with the proposed outcomes at the protocol stage? Appraisal indicators						
Consi	der wnein	er:	the state is the second	i la stad			
1.	i. it is unlikely that the reported effect estimate has been selected for publication due to it being a particularly notable finding among numerous exploratory analyses						
ii.	ii. it is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is prone to selective reporting from among multiple outcome measurements within the outcome domain						
iii.	iii. it is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is prone to selective reporting from among multiple analyses of the outcome measurements, including sub-group analysis						
iv.	iv. if sub-group/ancillary/adjusted analyses are presented, are these pre-specified or exploratory?						
1.	the analysis includes an intention to treat analysis. (If so, was this appropriate and were appropriate methods used to account for missing data?)						
vi.	vi. do the authors report on all variables they aimed to study (as specified in their protocol or study aims/research questions)?						
Low r bias	isk of	Moderate Risk of bias	High risk of bias	Critical risk of bias			
OVEF	RALL RISK	OF BIAS:					

OVERAL RISK OF BIAS: Decision rule:	 A single critical risk of bias judgement in any of the 6 RoB domains leads to a critical overall judgement. 2 or more high risk of bias judgements in any of the 6 appraisal domains lead to an overall high risk of bias rating. 2 or more moderate risk of bias judgements in any of the 6 appraisal domains lead to an overall moderate risk of bias. This means that for a study to be rated of low risk of bias least 5 RoB domains need be rated as of low RoB.
LOW RISK OF BIAS	The experimental results reported are of high probability to reflect the impact of the intervention accurately and are not significantly influenced by the study design or implementation.
MODERATE RISK OF BIAS	The experimental results reported are of fair probability to reflect the impact of the intervention accurately but are somewhat influenced by the study design or implementation. This influence, however, only has a moderate effect on the overall impact reported and is unlikely to alter the impact reported significantly.
HIGH RISK OF BIAS	The experimental results reported are of low probability to reflect the impact of the intervention accurately and are significantly influenced by the study design or implementation. This influence carries the risk that the overall impact reported is mistaken.
CRITICAL RISK OF BIAS EXCLUDE FROM SYNTHESIS	The experimental results reported are of high probability to reflect the influence of the study design or implementation rather than the impact of the intervention.
Sources used in this section Stewart et al (2012); Higgins Gough et al (2007)	(in weighted order): Cochrane (2014); Stewart et al (2014); s et al (2011); Greenhalgh & Brown (2014); Pluye et al (2011);

8.3.4 Appendix C.4 Critical appraisal tool for qualitative studies

Methodological appraisal criteria	Response

Study type								Comment / Confidence judgment		
	I. RESEARC research stra	H IS DEFE ategy that a	NSIBI ddress	LE IN DESIG	N (providing a ion)					
	Appraisal ind	licators:								
	✓ Is the research design clearly specified and appropriate for aims and objectives of the research?									
	Consider whe	ether								
	i. there design	is a discus	sion o	f the rationale	e for the study					
	ii. the res inquiry	search ques	stion is	s clear, and s	suited to the					
	iii. there a features of th	re convinci ne study des	ng arg sign	juments for d	lifferent					
	iv. limitation for the resear	ons of the ro rch evidenc	esearo e are	ch design and discussed	d implications					
1.	Defensible	Arguabl e		Critical	Not defensible	Worth to continue:				
Qualitati ve and						1	1	1		
descripti ve quantitati	SAMPLE (fol participants)	CH FEATUR llowing an a	RES A adequa	ate strategy f	RIATE or selection of					
ve, and process evaluatio	Appraisal ind	<u>licators:</u>								
ns	Consider whe	ether								
	i. there how/why it w	is a descrip as chosen	otion c	of study locati	on and					
	ii. the res were selecte	searcher ha d	has explained how the participants							
	iii. the selected participants were appropriate to collect rich and relevant data									
	iv. reasor chose not tal	ns are giver ke part in st	n why udy	potential par	ticipants					
	Appropriate sample	e Functio I samp	na le	Critical sample	Flawed sample	Wc	orth	to continue:		
						T				
	III. RESEAR	CH IS RIGO	DROU	S IN CONDU	ICT	-				
	(providing a s research pro	systematic a cess)	and tra	ansparent ac	count of the					
	Appraisal indicators:									

Consider wh	nether						
i. researchers provide a clear account/description of the process by which data was collected (e.g. for interview method, is there an indication of how interviews were conducted?/procedures for collection or recording of data?)					;		
ii. resea targeted dep interview/ob	nrchers demo oth, detail and servation sch	nstrate thai 1 richness (iedu <u>le)</u>	t data c of infori	ollection nation (e.g.			
iii. there categories, and used	is evidence of classes, label	f how desc s, etc. have	riptive a e been	analytical generated			
iv. prese the data, the interpretatio	entation of dat analytical fra n	a distinguis ame used,	shes cl and the	early between			
v. meth so, has the	nods were mo researcher ex	dified durir plained ho	ng the s w and	study; and if why?			
Rigorous conduct	Considera conduct	te Critic cond	cal uct	Flawed conduct	Wo	rth	to continue:
Appraisal indicators: Consider whether							
original data	ne a crear ac	of data are	nreser	nted to			
support inte	rpretations ar	nd findings/	conclu	sions			
iii. the researchers explain how the data presented were selected from the original sample to feed into the analysis process (i.e. commentary and cited data relate; there is an analytical context to cited data, not simply repeated description; is there an account of frequency of presented data?)							
iv. there is interpretatio	s a clear and n, and finding	transparen js/conclusio	nt link b on	etween data,			
v. there negative cas	is evidence (ses/outliers e	of attempts, tc.) to giv	e attention to			
Credible claims	Credible claimsArguable claimsDoubtful claimsNot credible					ndii 1 da	ngs not credible, ata still be used?
/. REASEARCH ATTENDS TO CONTEXTS describing the contexts and particulars of the study)							

	<u>Appraisal</u>	indicators:				
	Consider	whether				
	i. contexts c portrayed					
	ii. placed in					
	iii. findings re influenced	appropriat elate to the co by or influen	e consideration is ontexts (how findi oce the context)	s given to how ngs are		
	iv. explicit) th appropriat	the study h nat infer gener teness)	makes any claim ralisation (if yes,	s (implicit or comment on		
	Context central	Contex consider	t Context ed mentioned	No context attention		
	VI. RESEA (assessing output of r	ARCH IS REI g what factors research)	FLECTIVE s might have sha	bed the form and		
	Appraisal	indicators:				
	<u>rippraidar</u>					
	Consider	whether				
	i. appropri relate to re and select	iate considera esearchers' ir tion of data fo	ation is given to h nfluence/own role or presentation	ow findings during analysis		
	ii. researc of findings more than	hers have att s (e.g. triangu n one analvst)	empted to validat lation, responder	te the credibility at validation,		
	iii. researd that occur	chers explain red during the	their reaction to o	critical events		
	iv. researchers discuss ideological perspectives/values/philosophies and their impact on the methodological or other substantive content of the research (implicit/explicit)					
	Reflecti	Unreflective	NB:	Can override		
OVERAL			AL DECISION	IESEAILII	pret	
Decision	rule:					
- 2 or moi overall hig	re high criti gh risk of b	cal appraisal ias / low qual	judgements in ar ity rating.	ly of the 6 apprais	sal de	omains lead to an

- 2 or more moderate critical appraisal judgements in any of the 6 appraisal domains lead to an overall moderate risk of bias / moderate quality rating.

- which means that for a study to be rated of low risk of bias / high quality at least 5 appraisal domains need be rated as of low critical appraisal.

HIGH QUALITY	MODERATE QUALITY		LOW QUALITY		CRITICAL QUALITY				
EMPIRICAL RESEARCH	EMPIRICAL RESEARCH		EMPIRICAL RESEARCH		EMPIRICAL RESEARCH				
(study generates new evidence relevant to the review question and complies with all methodologic al criteria to ensure reliability and empirical grounding of the evidence).	(study genera evidence relev review questic complies with methodologica ensure reliabil empirical grou evidence).	tes new vant to the on and reasonable al criteria to ity and inding of the	(study generates new evidence relevant to the review question and complies with minimum methodological criteria to ensure reliability and empirical grounding of th evidence).	D	(the evidence generated by the study does not comply with minimum methodological criteria to ensure reliability and empirical grounding of the evidence).				
Sources used in this section (in alphabetical order); Campbell et al (2003); CASP (2006); CRD (2009); Dixon-Woods et al (2004); Dixon-Woods et al (2006) ; Greenhalgh & Brown (2014); Harden et al (2004); Harden et al (2009); Harden & Gough (2012); Mays & Pope (1995); Pluye et al (2011); Spencer et al 2006; Thomas et al (2003); SCIE (2010).				2006); Brown Pope					
				Response					
Study type		Methodologica	al appraisal criteria		Ye s	N o	Comme nt /confide nce judgmen t		
2. Mixed-metho	ods2	I. RESEARCH	INTEGRATION/SYNTHE	SIS					
		(assessing the	value-added of the mixed-						
	lauatani	methods approach)							
design	lanatory								
The quantitativ is followed by t The purpose is quantitative res qualitative findi quantitative findi selection of qua sources and da	e component he qualitative. to explain sults using ings. E.g., the sults guide the alitative data ata collection.	Applied mixed-methods design:							

interpretation of quantitative results.			
Sequential exploratory design The qualitative component is followed by the quantitative. The purpose is to explore, develop and test an instrument (or taxonomy), or a conceptual framework (or theoretical model). E.g., the qualitative findings inform the quantitative data collection, and the quantitative results allow a generalization of the qualitative findings. Triangulation designs The qualitative and quantitative components are concomitant. The purpose is to examine the same phenomenon by interpreting			
qualitative and quantitative results (bringing data analysis together at the interpretation stage), or by integrating qualitative and quantitative datasets (e.g., data on same cases), or by transforming data (e.g., quantization of qualitative	Sequential explanatory design		
data). <u>Embedded/convergent</u> <u>design The qualitative and</u> <u>quantitative components are</u> <u>concomitant. The purpose is</u> <u>to support a qualitative study</u> <u>with a quantitative sub-study</u> <u>(measures), or to better</u> <u>understand a specific issue</u> <u>of a quantitative study using</u> <u>a qualitative sub-study, e.g.,</u> <u>the efficacy or the</u> <u>implementation of an</u> <u>intervention based on the</u> <u>views of participants.</u>	Sequential explorative design		
	Triangulation design		
	Embedded design		

				-	
	Appraisal indicators:				
	Consider whether				
	i. the rationale for integrating qualitativ	/e and			
	quantitative methods to answer the re	search			
	question is explained				
	[DEFENSIBLE]				
	ii. the mixed-methods research desigr	n is			
	relevant to address the qualitative and	1			
	quantitative research questions, or the	e tha			
	mixed methods research question	uie			
	IDEEENSIBI EI				
	iii there is evidence that data gathere	d by	_		
	both research methods was brought to	a by Daether			
	to inform new findings to answer the n	nixed-			
	methods research question (e.g. form	а			
	complete picture, synthesise findings,				
	configuration)				
	[CREDIBLE]				
iv. the approach to data integration is					
	findings from both the qualitative and	y ali			
	quantitative module (danger of cherry-	-			
	picking)				
	[RIGOROUS]				
	v. appropriate consideration is given to	o the			
	limitations associated with this integra	tion,			
	e.g., the divergence of qualitative and				
	quantitative data (or results)?				
For mixed-methods research	studies, each component undergoes it	s individ	laud	Crit	ical od rick of
bias assessment is facilitated	and the assigned risk of bias from the	aeu, no c auantit	ativ	DILIO D	ed fisk of
component similarly holds for	the mixed-methods research.	quantit	anv	0	
The above appraisal indicato	rs only refer to the applied mixed-meth	ods des	ign.	lf t	his
design is not found to comply	with each of the four mixed-methods a	appraisa	al cri	teri	a below,
then the quantitative/qualitativ	ve components will individually be inclu	ided in t	he r	evi	ew:
Mixed-methods critical	Qualitative critical appraisal:	<u>Quantit</u>	ativ	e ci	ritical
appraisal:		apprais	<u>sai:</u>		
design	Include / Exclude	1. Low	risk	of	bias
2. Research is rigorous in					
conduct		2. Risk	of b	las	
3. Research is credible in		3 High	risk	of	bias
claim		o. riign	130		5105

4. Research is reflective	4. Critical risk of bias			
Combined appraisal:				
Include / Exclude mixed-methods findings judged with				
Section based on Pluye et al	(2011). Further sources consulted (in alphabetical order):			
Creswell & Clark (2007); Crov	v (2013); Long (2005); O'Cathain et al (2008); O'Cathain			
(2010); Pluye & Hong (2014);	Sirriyen et al (2011).			

8.4 Appendix D: Characteristics of studies

8.4.1 Appendix D.1 Characteristics of included impact evaluations

Here, we characterise each of the included impact evaluations in terms of their intervention and control group condition. Studies may appear under multiple categories as a number of them included multiple treatment arms.

Access to new evidence (3 studies)

- Rogger and Somani (2023) provided evidence briefings to public officials with summarised administrative data on the population they were serving. The control group received no evidence briefing.
- Masset and colleagues (2013), also reported in Beynon and colleagues (2012), conducted a multi-arm trial that tested sending a simple version of a policy brief on the topic of biofortification and home garden effectiveness to various mailing lists. They also tested different versions of the policy brief, containing the same content but varying whether the views of a sector expert or an unnamed researcher were presented in the brief. The control group were sent another publication on a different topic but not a policy brief.
- Nellis and colleagues (2019) undertook an experiment at an event in Washington DC with mid-level and senior policymakers and practitioners, varying whether professionals saw single study impact evaluation results, meta-analytic results or a "placebo" presentation on upcoming research.

Access: communication and dissemination of evidence (8 studies)

- Fillol and colleagues (2022) evaluated seven different versions of the same policy brief, varying the author location and organisations. All trial arms received a version of the policy brief.
- Brownson and colleagues (2011) evaluated different versions of the same policy brief on the topic of screening to reduce breast cancer mortality, varying a more narrative (story) presentation of evidence compared to a data driven presentation, and whether local or state level data is presented. All trial arms received a version of the policy brief.
- Toma and Bell (2022) undertook a lab in the field experiment with US federal policymakers, varying how hypothetical programmes, the impacts and total costs of those programmes were presented to participants. In one treatment arm, the programmes and their impact were presented side-by-side on one page rather than in isolation. In the other treatment arm, participants were presented with an impact calculator - the annual cost per person impacted.
- Dobbins and colleagues (2009) was a multiple-arm trial that tested sending of tailored, targeted messages with systematic review evidence plus access to health-evidence.ca. The control group had access to health-evidence.ca. The other arm of the trial is discussed below.
- Makkar and colleagues (2016) sent Australian policymakers tailored articles and blogs, drawing on evidence from the Web CIPHER online tool designed to help policymakers better engage with research.
- Opiyo and colleagues (2013) evaluated the impact of evidence packaged in three different formats in the context of a guidelines development workshop: specifically, systematic review reports alone, systematic reviews with summary-of-findings tables, and 'graded-entry' formats (a 'front-end' summary and a contextually framed narrative report plus the systematic review reports). All trial arms received a version of the systematic reviews.
- Vivalt and Coville (2023) varied how much quantitative information on point estimates and their variance was provided to participants in the context of a policy workshop.
- Di Noia and colleagues (2003) evaluated the impact of sharing summarised information about the problem of adolescent substance abuse and research evidence about effective programmes through different dissemination channels, specifically through the internet, CD, or printed pamphlet.

We identified three studies that tested an intervention worked through building the skills of policymakers to access and / or make sense of evidence. These three studies are described briefly below.

- Brownson and colleagues (2017) evaluated a multiday training on evidence-based decision making in the USA, with a set of supplemental capacity-building activities, compared to a control that received no training but received a list of EIDM resources, web links, and state-specific baseline and post-intervention findings.
- Jacobs and colleagues (2014) evaluated the delivery of an Evidence-Based Public Health (EBPH) training curriculum in the USA compared to a control group that received businessas-usual.
- Mehmood and colleagues (2024) evaluated a quantitative research methods training centered around a mastering metrics book for junior ministers in Pakistan, compared to a control group that received a placebo condition, specifically training on a self-help book.

We identified three studies, reported in five papers, that tested an intervention that combined activities working through access, interaction, skills and structure and process mechanisms. The interaction mechanism emphasises the importance of decision-makers interacting with

researchers to build trusted relationships, collaborate, and gain exposure to a different type of social influence, while the structure and process mechanism emphasises the importance of decision-makers' psychological, social, and environmental structures and processes as a means or barrier to action. These three studies are described below.

- Crowley and colleagues (2021a; 2021b) report on an evaluation of a rapid response programme targeting both researchers and congressional offices in the USA, described as an outreach model for supporting legislative use of research evidence regarding child and family policy issues (Research-to-Policy Collaboration (RPC). The programme begins with a needs assessment of policymaker priorities, objectives and need for evidence, before matching them with researchers from a rapid response network with relevant expertise. The network of researchers participates in training on engagement with congressional offices and research translation. Meetings with the relevant offices and researchers are facilitated, with the goal of developing long-term collaborations. The control group of congressional offices had the offer of provision of publicly available, research-based resources.
- Wilson and colleagues (2017a; 2017b) report on an evaluation of two different evidence briefing services for health service commissioners, both providing EIDM training, access to evidence and interaction with researchers compared to a comparison receiving business-as-usual service provision.
- Dobbins and colleagues (2009) evaluated the impact of access to a knowledge repository, tailored messaging on content from the repository, plus access to one full time knowledge broker. The knowledge broker made sure that the decision makers received accessible, relevant research when needed, helped them to develop their skills and capacity for EIDM and translated evidence into the local context. The control group had access to the repository, health-evidence.ca.

Scott and colleagues (2023) evaluated the SciComm Optimizer for Policy Engagement (SCOPE) model, which combined activities working through the access and interaction mechanisms. This model connected legislative staff in the USA with researchers by email during the COVID-19 pandemic. Researchers developed accessible summaries of research evidence on topics relevant to social issues occurring during the pandemic, which were shared with legislative staff (both state legislators and their staff) by email on a weekly basis over a year period, who could respond with further questions and requests, including for meetings or to present research at hearings.

Finally, Hjort and colleagues (2020) report on an evaluation of a research information session for Brazilian municipality mayors at a national conference that introduced the idea of impact evaluation and presented findings from impact studies testing reminder letters on tax compliance. Mayors were also provided with a policy brief. This study evaluated an intervention that worked through access and skills mechanisms.

8.4.2 Appendix D.2 Included studies (research question 2)

Authors Study title EIDM Intervention mechanism Cou	ntry
---	------

Abd El Razik & Salem (2019)	From public health and demographic research to decision making: An intervention study in Giza Governorate- Egypt.	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Egypt
Agweyu, Opiyo & English (2012)	Experience developing national evidence-based clinical guidelines for childhood pneumonia in a low- income setting - making the GRADE?	M3: Access to evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Kenya
Ali & Osman (2016)	Capacity building for decision makers to use evidence in policy making in Sudan	M5: Skills to use evidence	Sudan
Amadou et al (2020)	Qualitative evaluation of a knowledge transfer training programme in maternal and child health in Burkina Faso, West Africa	M5: Skills to use evidence	Burkina Faso
Amisi, Buthelezi & Magangoe (2020)	Use of evidence in a complex social programme Case of an evaluation of the state's response to violence against women and children in South Africa	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	South Africa
Aryeetey et al (2017)	Evidence-informed decision making for nutrition: African experiences and way forward	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Benin, Ghana, South Africa
Ashford et al (2006)	Creating windows of opportunity for policy change: Incorporating evidence into decentralized planning in Kenya.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Kenya
Asiimwe & Engel (2020)	Effects of the Parliamentary Capacity	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision-	Benin, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi,

	Strengthening Initiatives – Tracer Study Report	makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria, Rwanda, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia
Awang et al (2023)	Development of the National Policy for Quality in Healthcare for Malaysia.	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Malaysia
Ayuso-Mateos et al (2019)	Effective methods for knowledge transfer to strengthen mental health systems in low- and middle- income countries	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Ethiopia, India, Nigeria, South Africa, Uganda
Ba-Nguz et al (2019)	Supporting national immunization technical advisory groups (NITAGs) in resource- constrained settings. New strategies and lessons learned from the Task Force for Global Health's Partnership for influenza vaccine introduction	M5: Skills to use evidence	Cote d'Ivoire, Vietnam
Bennett et al (2012)	Influencing policy change: the experience of health think tanks in low- and middle-income countries	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Bangladesh, Ghana, India, South Africa, Uganda, Vietnam
Bennett et al (2013)	The impact of Fogarty International Center research training programs on public health policy and program development in Kenya and Uganda	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Kenya, Uganda
Berman et al (2015)	Building a knowledge translation platform in Malawi to support evidence-informed health policy	M3: Access to evidence M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Malawi

Bossba (2023)	Lessons Learned from Mobilising Research for Impact During the Covid-19 Pandemic	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Cambodia
Braa, Heywood & Sahay (2012)	Improving quality and use of data through data-use workshops:. Zanzibar, United Republic of Tanzania	M5: Skills to use evidence	Tanzania
Brites et al (2021)	Science-based Stakeholder Dialogue for Environmental Policy Implementation	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Brazil
Carrasco et al (2023)	Assessing Use, Usefulness, and Application of the High Impact Practices in Family Planning Briefs and Strategic Planning Guides.	M1: Awareness of EIDM	Burkina Faso, Colombia, Ethiopia, India, Mali, Mexico, Nigeria, Pakistan, Senegal
Cash-Gibson, Guerra & Salgado-de- Snyder (2015)	SDH-NET: a South- NorthSouth collaboration to build sustainable research capacities on social determinants of health in low- and middle-income countries.	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Colombia, Kenya, Mexico, South Africa, Tanzania
Club (2020)	"Not Just a Journal Club - It's Where the Magic Happens": Knowledge Mobilization through Co-Production for Health System Development in the Western Cape Province, South Africa.	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	South Africa
Cockburn et al (2016)	Evaluating the outcomes and processes of a research-action	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence	South Africa

	partnership: The need for continuous reflective evaluation	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	
COHRED (2000)	Lessons in Research to Action and Policy: Case studies from seven countries, The Council on Health Research for Development	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Brazil, Burkina Faso, Indonesia, Lithuania, Pakistan, South Africa, Uruguay
Courtenay- Quirk et al (2016)	Building capacity for data-driven decision making in African HIV testing programs: Field perspectives on data use workshops	M5: Skills to use evidence	South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zambia, Zimbabwe
Cruz & Walt (2013)	Brokering the boundary between science and advocacy: the case of intermittent preventive treatment among infants	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Tanzania
Culwick et al (2019)	CityLab reflections and evolutions: nurturing knowledge and learning for urban sustainability through co- production experimentation	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	South Africa, Tanzania
D'Ambruoso et al (2019)	Rethinking collaboration: developing a learning platform to address under-five mortality in Mpumalanga province, South Africa.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	South Africa
Dagenais, Queuille & Ridde (2013)	Evaluation of a knowledge transfer strategy from a user fee exemption program for vulnerable populations in Burkina Faso	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Burkina Faso

	1		
Dagenais et al (2015)	Collaborative development and implementation of a knowledge brokering program to promote research use in Burkina Faso, West Africa	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Burkina Faso
Dagenais et al (2016)	A Knowledge Brokering Program in Burkina Faso (West Africa): Reflections from Our Experience.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Burkina Faso
Datta (2017)	Improving effectiveness of evidence use to support Zimbabwe's youth	M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Zimbabwe
Datta et al (2016)	Enhancing the use of evidence in South Africa's Department of Environmental Affairs	M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	South Africa
Doughman, Kantengwa & Hakizinka (2017)	Using knowledge brokerage to strengthen African voices in global decision-making on HIV and AIDS	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, Senegal, Zambia
Dovlo et al (2016)	Policy dialogues-the "bolts and joints" of policy-making: Experiences from Cabo Verde, Chad and Mali	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Cabo Verde, Chad, Mali
Drimie & Quinlan (2011)	Playing the role of a 'boundary organisation': getting smarter with networking	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Kenya, Malawi, South Africa, Uganda, Zambia
El-Jardali et al (2014)	Capturing lessons learned from evidence-to-policy initiatives through structured reflection	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Argentina, Bangladesh, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Ethiopia, Nigeria, Sudan, Uganda, Zambia

Ezenduka & Onwujekwe (2022)	Evaluating a capacity development intervention in health economics among producers and users of evidence in Nigeria: a case study in Getting Research Into Policy and Practice (GRIPP) in Anambra State	M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Fillol et al (2022)	When the messenger is more important than the message: an experimental study of evidence use in francophone Africa	M3: Access to evidence	Benin, Belgium, Burkina Faso, Canada, Chad, France, Guinea, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Senegal, Switzerland, Togo
Gichane, Mutesa & Chowa (2019)	Translating Evidence into Policy Change: Advocacy for Community- Based Distribution of Injectable Contraceptives in Zambia	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Zambia
Gilson et al (2021)	Collective sensemaking for action: researchers and decision makers working collaboratively to strengthen health systems	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Kenya
Goldman, Ntakumba & Jacob (2013)	Reflections on the South African experience with evaluation and the use of evaluative evidence to orient public policy formulation	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	South Africa
Goldman et al (2018)	The emergence of government evaluation systems in Africa : the case of Benin, Uganda and South Africa - original research	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Benin, Uganda, South Africa

Griessel et al (2019)	Evaluating the national evaluation system in South Africa: What has been achieved in the first 5 years?	M3: Access to evidence M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	South Africa
Hajeebhoy et al (2013)	Developing evidence-based advocacy and policy change strategies to protect, promote, and support infant and young child feeding	M1: Awareness of EIDM M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Vietnam
Harvey et al (2021)	Mobilizing Climate Information for Decision-Making in Africa: Contrasting User-Centered and Knowledge- Centered Approaches	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Burkina Faso, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Senegal, South Africa, Tanzania
Hawkes et al (2016)	Strengthening capacity to apply health research evidence in policy making: experience from four countries.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Bangladesh, Gambia, India, Nigeria
Henriksson et al (2019)	Decision-making in district health planning in Uganda: does use of district- specific evidence matter?	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Uganda
Hjort et al (2020)	How Research Affects Policy: Experimental Evidence from 2,150 Brazilian Municipalities	M3: Access to evidence M5: Skills to use evidence	Brazil
INASP (2016a)	Approaches for developing capacity for the use of evidence in policy making	M5: Skills to use evidence	Ghana, Nigeria, Philippines, South Africa, Uganda, Zimbabwe
INASP (2016b)	Improving information literacy for urban service planning and delivery at local	M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria

			1
	government level in Nigeria		
INASP (2017)	Building capacity for the use of research evidence in Ghana's Ministry of Employment	M5: Skills to use evidence	Ghana
Jessani, Kennedy & Bennett (2017)	Enhancing evidence-informed decision making: strategies for engagement between public health faculty and policymakers in Kenya	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Kenya
Johnson et al (2020)	Policy dialogue to support maternal newborn child health evidence use in policymaking: The lessons learnt from the Nigeria research days first edition	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Nigeria
Johnston (2013)	Improving African Cabinet Decision- Making Through Evidence and Peer Support	M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Sierra Leone
Jones & Walsh (2008)	Policy briefs as a communication tool for development research.	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence	Bolivia, Cambodia, China, Ghana, India, Nicaragua, Zambia
Kasonde & Campbell (2012)	Creating a Knowledge Translation Platform: nine lessons from the Zambia Forum for Health Research	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Zambia
Kawooya et al (2020) b	Rapidly responding to policy queries with evidence Learning from Rapid Response Services in Uganda	M3: Access to evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Uganda
Kawooya et al (2020) a	The influence of local ownership and politics of the use of evaluations in policy	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence	Uganda

	making The case of the public procurement evaluation in Uganda	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	
Keita et al (2017)	The West African experience in establishing steering committees for better collaboration between researchers and decision-makers to increase the use of health research findings	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Burkina Faso, Nigeria, Senegal, Sierra Leone
Koduah et al (2019)	Use of evidence and negotiation in the review of national standard treatment guidelines and essential medicines list: experience from Ghana.	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Ghana
Kouakanou et al (2020)	The potential and the challenges of evaluations to positively influence reforms Working with producers in the Benin agricultural	M3: Access to evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Benin
Langlois et al (2016)	Enhancing evidence informed policymaking in complex health systems: Lessons from multi-site collaborative approaches	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Mexico, Nicaragua, South Africa
Langlois et al (2019)	Embedding implementation research to enhance health policy and systems: a multi- analysis from ten settings in Latin America and the Caribbean.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Peru

Lawson (2016)	Negotiating stakeholder participation in the Ghana national climate change policy	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Ghana
Mane, Diagne & Tiemtore (2020)	Using evidence for tobacco control in West Africa	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Cote d'Ivoire Senegal
Marten et al (2021)	Co-producing the covid-19 response in Germany, Hong Kong, Lebanon, and Pakistan	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Lebanon Pakistan
Mbonye & Magnussen (2013)	Translating health research evidence into policy and practice in Uganda	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Uganda
Mc Sween- Cadieux et al (2019)	A health knowledge brokering intervention in a district of Burkina Faso: A qualitative retrospective implementation analysis	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Burkina Faso
McCormick et al (2020)	SMART Vaccines 2.0 decision-support platform: a tool to facilitate and promote priority setting for sustainable vaccination in resource-limited settings	M3: Access to evidence M5: Skills to use evidence	Uganda
McKay et al (2022)	The response is like a big ship': community feedback as a case study of evidence uptake and use in the 2018-2020 Ebola epidemic in the Democratic	M3: Access to evidence	Democratic Republic of the Congo

	Republic of the Congo		
McSween- Cadieux, Dagenais & Ridde (2018)	A deliberative dialogue as a knowledge translation strategy on road traffic injuries in Burkina Faso: A mixed- method evaluation	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Burkina Faso
Mehmood, Naseer & Chen (2024)	Training Policymakers in Econometrics	M5: Skills to use evidence	Pakistan
Mijumbi et al (2014)	Feasibility of a rapid response mechanism to meet policymakers' urgent needs for research evidence about health systems in a low income : a case study	M3: Access to evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Uganda
Mijumbi-Deve et al (2017)	Policymaker experiences with rapid response briefs to address health-system and technology questions in Uganda	M3: Access to evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Uganda
Mijumbi-Deve et al (2022)	Paper 1: Demand- driven rapid reviews for health policy and systems decision- making: lessons from Lebanon, Ethiopia, and South Africa on researchers and policymakers' experiences	M3: Access to evidence	Ethiopia, Lebanon, South Africa
Mirzoev et al (2012)	Research-policy partnerships - experiences of the Mental Health and Poverty Project in Ghana, South Africa, Uganda and Zambia	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Ghana, Uganda, Zambia
Miszczak & Patel (2018)	The role of engaged scholarship and co-		South Africa

	production to address urban challenges: a case study of the Cape Town Knowledge Transfer Programme	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	
Moat et al (2013)	Evidence briefs and deliberative dialogues: perceptions and intentions to act on what was learnt	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Ethiopia, Nigeria, Uganda, Zambia
Motani et al (2019)	Lessons learned from Evidence- Informed Decision- Making in Nutrition & Health (EVIDENT) in Africa: A project evaluation	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Ethiopia, Ghana, Morocco, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda
Mpando et al (2021)	Integrated Knowledge Translation in Non- Communicable Disease Research in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Comparison of Systematic and Ad Hoc Stakeholder Engagement	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Ethiopia, Malawi, Rwanda, South Africa, Uganda
Munyoro (2019)	Assessing Parliament of Zimbabwe's informatics database as a tool for providing evidence-based information for decision making	M3: Access to evidence	Zimbabwe
Mutatina et al (2019)	Evaluating user experiences of a clearing house for health policy and systems.	M3: Access to evidence	Uganda
Mwendera et al (2022)	Knowledge translation and evidence generation to increase the impact of vector control in Burkina	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Cameroon, Malawi

	Faso, Cameroon and Malawi		
Nel et al (2016)	Knowledge co- production and boundary work to promote implementation of conservation plans	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M5: Skills to use evidence	South Africa
Neves et al (2014)	Evaluation of the international forum on evidence informed health policymaking: Addis Ababa, Ethiopia-27 to 31 August 2012	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Ethiopia
North, Unterhalter & Makinda (2017)	Engaging the middle: Using research to support progress on gender, education and poverty reduction initiatives in Kenya and South Africa	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Kenya, South Africa
Norton (2019)	Exploring knowledge broker influences on sharing and use of evidence for health policy and practice in low-and middle- income countries	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Afghanistan, Albania, Bangladesh, Burkina Faso, Cote d'Ivoire, Guatemala, Guinea, Haiti, India, Kenya, Malawi, Nigeria, Rwanda, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia
Norton, Howell & Reynolds (2016)	Exploratory study of the role of knowledge brokers in translating knowledge to action following global maternal and newborn health technical meetings	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Bangladesh, South Africa
Ogbonnaya et al (2021)	Assessing the usefulness of policy brief and policy dialogue as knowledge translation tools towards contextualizing the accountability framework for	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria

	routing		
	immunization at a subnational level in Nigeria		
Ongolo-Zogo et al (2014)	Initiatives supporting evidence informed health system policymaking in Cameroon and Uganda: a comparative historical case study.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Cameroon, Uganda
Ongolo-Zogo et al (2015)	Climate for evidence informed health system policymaking in Cameroon and Uganda before and after the introduction of knowledge translation platforms: a structured review of governmental policy documents.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Cameroon, Uganda
Ongolo-Zogo et al (2018)	Assessing the influence of knowledge translation platforms on health system policy processes to achieve the health millennium development goals in Cameroon and Uganda: A comparative case study	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Cameroon, Uganda
Onwujekwe et al (2020)	Does improving the skills of researchers and decisionmakers in health policy and systems research lead to enhance devidence-based decision making in Nigeria?—A short term evaluation	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria

Onwujekwe et al (2020)	Impact of capacity building interventions on individual and organizational competency for HPSR in endemic disease control in Nigeria: a qualitative study	M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Opiyo et al (2013)	Comparison of alternative evidence summary and presentation formats in clinical guideline development: a mixed-method study.	M3: Access to evidence	Kenya
Oronje (2017)	Working with Parliamentary Committees of Health to Tackle Health Issues in Africa	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Uganda
Oronje & Zulu (2018)	Contribution of a network of parliamentary committees of health to the ecosystem of evidence use in African parliaments	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Kenya, Malawi, Uganda
Oronje et al (2019)	Strengthening capacity to use research evidence in health policy- making: experience from Kenya and Malawi	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Kenya, Malawi
Paing et al (2021)	Development of a knowledge broker group to support evidence-informed policy: lessons learned from Myanmar	M1: Awareness of EIDM M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Myanmar
Pappaioanou et al (2003)	Strengthening capacity in developing countries for evidence-based	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Bolivia, Cameroon, Mexico, Philippines

	public health: the data for decision- making project	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	
Phillips et al (2014)	A focus on M&E of results: an example from the Presidency, South Africa	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	South Africa
Pophiwa et al (2020)	Using evaluations to inform policy and practice in a government department The case of the Department of Basic Education in South Africa	M1: Awareness of EIDM M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs	South Africa
Porter & Goldman (2013)	A Growing Demand for Monitoring and Evaluation in Africa	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Benin, Ghana, Kenya, Senegal, South Africa, Uganda
Priest et al (2009)	Engaging policy makers in action on socially determined health inequities: Developing evidence-informed cameos	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Bangladesh, Uganda
Ranchod (2017)	Building the Research-Policy Nexus in South Africa: Insights from a Skills Planning Policy Intervention	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	South Africa
Robson et al (2023)	Embedding rapid reviews in health policy and systems decision-making: Impacts and lessons learned from four low- and middle-income countries.	M3: Access to evidence	Georgia, India, Malaysia, Zimbabwe
Rodriguez et al (2015)	Evidence-informed policymaking in practice: -level examples of use of evidence for iCCM policy. Health Policy Plan	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Kenya, Mozambique, Niger

Rogger & Somani (2023)	Hierarchy and Information	M3: Access to evidence	Ethiopia
Rosenbaum et al (2011)	Evidence summaries tailored to health policy- makers in low- and middle-income countries	M3: Access to evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Argentina, China, Colombia, South Africa
Sakala et al (2022)	A review of the functionality of Technical Working Groups (TWGs) in enabling Evidence Informed Decision Making (EIDM) within Malawi's Ministry of Health and Population: A cross-sectional qualitative study	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Malawi
Sakala et al (2023)	Functionality of technical working groups in enabling evidence-informed decision-making within Malawi's Ministry of Health: a cross-sectional qualitative study	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Malawi
Sell et al (2023)	Developing, implementing, and monitoring tailored strategies for integrated knowledge translation in five sub-Saharan African countries.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Ethiopia, Malawi, Rwanda, South Africa, Uganda
Shroff et al (2015)	Incorporating research evidence into decision- making processes: researcher and decision-maker perceptions from five low- and middle-income countries	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Argentina, Bangladesh, Cameroon, Nigeria, Zambia
Smith et al (2020)	The contribution of civil society generated evidence to the improvement	M1: Awareness of EIDM M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision-	Ghana

		1	1
	of sanitation services in Ghana	makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	
Spagnolo et al (2020)	Reflecting on knowledge translation strategies from global health research projects in Tunisia and the republic of Côte d'ivoire	M1: Awareness of EIDM M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Cote d'Ivoire
Stewart et al (2005)	Exploring the Evidence-Practice Gap: A Workshop Report on Mixed and Participatory Training for HIV prevention in Southern Africa	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Lesotho, Mozambique, South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zambia, Zimbabwe
Stewart et al (2017)	Working for solutions: a problem-based and relationship centred approach to building capacity to use research evidence in Africa	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Malawi, South Africa
Stewart et al (2018)	Building capacity for evidence-informed decision making: an example from South Africa	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	South Africa
Stewart et al (2019)	Practical reflections on combining workshops and mentorships to build capacity in demand and use of evidence in government organisations	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Malawi, South Africa
Struyk & Haddaway (2012)	Mentoring Policy Research Organizations: Project Evaluation Results.	M1: Awareness of EIDM M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Argentina, Bangladesh, Guatemala, Indonesia, India, Kenya, Mexico, Nigeria, Philippines, Tanzania, Uganda
Sudhakar & Woldie (2016)	Increasing evidence use among Ethiopia's health	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision-	Ethiopia

	planners and policy makers	makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	
Surgey et al (2019)	Introducing health technology assessment in Tanzania	M1: Awareness of EIDM M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Tanzania
Tilahun et al (2021)	Strengthening the national health information system through a capacity- building and mentorship partnership (CBMP) programme: a health system and university partnership initiative in Ethiopia	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Ethiopia
Tirivanhu, Olaleye & Bester(2017)	Advancing evidence-based practice for improved public performance : lessons from the implementation of the management performance assessment tool in South Africa	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	South Africa
Tran et al (2013)	Analyzing the sources and nature of influence: how the Avahan program used evidence to influence HIV/AIDS prevention policy in India	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	India
Uneke et al (2018)	Promoting evidence informed policymaking for maternal and child health in Nigeria: lessons from a knowledge translation workshop.	M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2012)	Promotion of evidence-informed		Nigeria
· ·/			J

	health policymaking in Nigeria: bridging the gap between researchers and policymakers.	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	
Uneke et al (2012)	Bridging the divide between research and policy in Nigeria: The role of a health policy advisory committee	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2014)	Enhancing policy makers' capacity for evidence-informed policy making through mentorship: A reflection on the Nigeria experience	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2015)	Enhancing health policymakers' information literacy knowledge and skill for policymaking on control of infectious diseases of poverty in Nigeria.	M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2015)	Improving Nigerian health policymakers' capacity to access and utilize policy relevant evidence: outcome of information and communication technology training workshop	M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2015)	Enhancing the Capacity of Policy- Makers to Develop Evidence-Informed Policy Brief on Infectious Diseases of Poverty in Nigeria.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2015)	Implementation of a health policy advisory committee as a knowledge translation platform: the Nigeria experience.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Nigeria

Uneke et al (2015)	Promoting Evidence to Policy Link on the Control of Infectious Diseases of Poverty in Nigeria: Outcome of A Multi- Stakeholders Policy Dialogue.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Nigeria
Uneke, Ezeoha & Uro- Chukwu (2018)	Promoting evidence-informed policymaking through capacity enhancement in implementation research for health researchers and policymakers in Nigeria: A cross- sectional study	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2018)	Promoting Researchers and Policy-Makers Collaboration in Evidence-Informed Policy-Making in Nigeria: Outcome of a Two-Way Secondment Model between University and Health Ministry.	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2019)	Fostering access to and use of contextualised knowledge to support health policy-making: lessons from the Policy Information Platform in Nigeria	M3: Access to evidence	Nigeria
Uneke et al (2017)	Using equitable impact sensitive tool (EQUIST) and knowledge translation to promote evidence to policy link in maternal and child health: report of first EQUIST training workshop in Nigeria	M5: Skills to use evidence	Nigeria
Uzochukwu et al (2016)	The challenge of bridging the gap		Nigeria

	between researchers and policy makers: experiences of a Health Policy Research Group in engaging policy makers to support evidence informed policy making in Nigeria	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	
Vivalt & Coville (2023)	How do policymakers update their beliefs?	M3: Access to evidence	Mexico, Nigeria, Portugal, Senegal, United States of America
Vogel & Punton (2016)	Building capacity to use research evidence (BCURE) evaluation stage 1 synthesis report	M5: Skills to use evidence	Bangladesh, India, Kenya, Sierra Leone, Zimbabwe
Vogel and Punton (2017)	Building capacity to use research evidence (BCURE) evaluation stage 2 synthesis report	M5: Skills to use evidence	Bangladesh, Kenya, Pakistan, Sierra Leone, South Africa, Zimbabwe
Vogel and Punton (2018)	Final evaluation of the Building Capacity to Use Research Evidence programme	M5: Skills to use evidence	Bangladesh, Kenya, Pakistan, Sierra Leone, South Africa, Zimbabwe
Walker (2013)	Democracy think tanks in action: Translating Research into Policy in Young and Emerging Democracies	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Romania, South Korea, Slovakia, Turkey
Waqa et al (2013)	Participants' perceptions of a knowledge- brokering strategy to facilitate evidence-informed policy-making in Fiji.	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Fiji
White et al (2018)	Evidence-informed policy making at level: lessons learned from the South African Tuberculosis Think Tank	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	South Africa

Witter et al (2017)	Generating demand for and use of evaluation evidence in government health ministries: lessons from a pilot programme in Uganda and Zambia	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence	Uganda, Zambia
World Health Organization (2021)	Evidence Informed decision making for health policy and programmes.	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Indonesia, Uganda
Yearwood (2018)	Applying a logical theory of change for strengthening research uptake in policy: a case study of the Evidence Informed Decision Making Network of the Caribbean	M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence	Not specified
Yehia & El Jardali (2015)	Applying knowledge translation tools to inform policy: the case of mental health in Lebanon	M2: Agreement on evidence & policy needs M3: Access to evidence M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers	Lebanon
Young et al (2018)	Researcher and policymaker dialogue: the Policy BUDDIES Project in Western Cape Province, South Africa.	M4: Interaction of decision- makers & researchers M5: Skills to use evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	South Africa
Zida et al (2017)	Analysis of the policymaking process in Burkina Faso's health : case studies of the creation of two health system support units	M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Burkina Faso
Zida et al (2018)	Evaluating the Process and Extent of Institutionalization: A Case Study of a Rapid Response Unit for Health	M3: Access to evidence M6: Structure & Process for EIDM	Burkina Faso

Policy in Burkina Faso.		
----------------------------	--	--

8.5 Appendix E: Outcome measures

Appendix Table 3 presents an overview of how the measures used in the seven impact evaluations that assessed evidence use by policymakers, either at the individual, team or institutional level. All seven measured an indicator of evidence use for policy design, while two of the seven also measured an indicator of evidence use for policy implementation. Most of the studies relied on self-reported measures of evidence use

Study	Measure(s)		Level	Source of data	If a survey, is the instrument available in paper?
Crowley et al. 2021a	 Proportion of child & family Congressional bills that include use of research evidence legislative language. Proportion of child & family Congressional bills that do not include use of research evidence legislative language. 	No	Institution	Administrative data - public record of bills introduced to Congress, coded for reference to scientific evidence	NA
Mehmood et al. 2024	 Letter sent about evidence-based policy (deworming) to the Federal Government Letter sent recommending funds for evidence-based policy (deworming) 	No	Individual	Administrative data	NA
Hjort et al. 2020	Adoption of an evidence-based policy (tax compliance letters)	Yes	Institution	Phone survey with municipal officials (mayor and / or bureaucrat responsible for tax policy).	No
Dobbins et al. 2009	 Extent to which research evidence was considered in a recent program planning decision. How many of 11 evidence-based interventions were being implemented. 	Yes	Team	Phone survey with public health decision- makers	Upon request.

Appendix Table 3. Evidence use outcome measures used in the impact evaluations

Study	Measure(s)	Self- report	Level	Source of data	If a survey, is the instrument available in paper?
Beynon et al. 2012	 Completed evidence use actions: Change current policies/ practice. Reviewed approach to researching/ evaluating intervention. Reviewed current policies / practice. Commissioned new related research. 	Yes	Individual	Online survey with participants	No
Fillol et al. 2022	 Instrumental use of evidence, measured through statements for which participants estimated the probability that they would perform actions: Change my current policies or practices. Develop or sponsor new studies on the topic. 	Yes	Individual	Online survey with participants	<u>Yes</u>
Brownson et al. 2017	 Factor created from agreement with statements on use of programme evaluation in department, specifically my work unit: plans for evaluation of interventions before implementation 	Yes	Team	Online survey with public health policymakers	No

Study	Measure(s)	Self- report	Level	Source of data	If a survey, is the instrument available in paper?
	 uses evaluation data to monitor and improve interventions 				
	 distributes evaluation findings to other organisations 		Individual		
	 Mean of responses to questions on use of research evidence, specifically how often do you use research evidence to: 				
	Write a grant application				
	Plan or conduct a needs assessment				
	Select policies, programs, or other interventions				
	 Justify selection of interventions to funders, agency leadership, 				
	Evaluate interventions				
	Develop materials for local public health, partners				

8.6 Appendix F: Forest plots from meta-analysis

This appendix presents additional forest plots and tables reporting results of studies included to address research question 1.

8.6.1 Access to evidence use interventions

Appendix Figure 1. Effect of access interventions on motivation to use evidence outcomes

Author Year	Standardised Mean		
Intervention - Outcome	Difference	SMD	95%-CI
Beynon et al. 2012"	1		
Policy brief (simple) - Source further research on brief topic		-0.45	[-0.82; -0.08]
Policy brief (simple) - Sent policy brief to someone Policy brief (expert) - Sent policy brief to someone		-0.30	[-0.67; 0.06]
Policy brief (simple) - will commission new research		-0.25	[-0.52; 0.02]
Policy brief (researcher) - will source information on studies in brief		-0.25	[-0.52; 0.02]
Policy brief (simple) - Re-read the policy brief		-0.25	[-0.61; 0.12]
Policy brief (simple) - Source further information on brief studies Policy brief (researcher) - Source further research on brief tonic		-0.25	[-0.61; 0.12] [-0.58: 0.12]
Policy brief (researcher) - will send brief to someone else		-0.23	[-0.50; 0.04]
Policy brief (simple) - will source information on studies in brief		-0.20	[-0.47; 0.07]
Policy brief (expert) - will commission new research		-0.18	[-0.45; 0.10]
Policy brief (researcher) - Sent policy brief to someone Policy brief (researcher) - will commission new research		-0.16	[-0.53, 0.16] [-0.43: 0.11]
Policy brief (simple) - will review approach to researching intervention		-0.16	[-0.43; 0.11]
Policy brief (researcher) - Re-read the policy brief		-0.15	[-0.51; 0.20]
Policy brief (expert) - Source further information on brief studies Policy brief (cimple) - will review policies (practices		-0.15	[-0.51; 0.22]
Policy brief (simple) - Will review policies / practices		-0.12	[-0.39, 0.15]
Policy brief (expert) - will source information on studies in brief		-0.08	[-0.35; 0.20]
Policy brief (researcher) - will source other research		-0.07	[-0.35; 0.20]
Policy brief (expert) - will send brief to someone else Bolicy brief (cimple) - will read study from policy brief		-0.04	[-0.32; 0.23]
Policy brief (simple) - will read study from policy brief Policy brief (researcher) - Source further information on brief studies		-0.04	[-0.37; 0.23]
Policy brief (simple) - will source other research		-0.01	[-0.28; 0.26]
Policy brief (expert) - Re-read the policy brief	<u> </u>	-0.01	[-0.38; 0.35]
Policy brief (simple) - Wrote a blog or article Bolicy brief (expert), will course other research		-0.01	[-0.37; 0.36]
Policy brief (expert) - will source other research Policy brief (researcher) - will read study from policy brief		0.00	[-0.26, 0.27] [-0.26, 0.28]
Policy brief (expert) - will read study from policy brief		0.01	[-0.26; 0.29]
Policy brief (researcher) - will review policies / practices	- <u>e</u> -	0.04	[-0.24; 0.31]
Policy brief (simple) - Informed someone about brief messages Bolicy brief (cimple) - will cond brief to compone alon		0.07	[-0.30; 0.43]
Policy brief (simple) - will send brief to someone about brief messages		0.07	[-0.20, 0.34] [-0.20: 0.34]
Policy brief (researcher) - Read the full report		0.09	[-0.27; 0.44]
Policy brief (expert) - Read the full report		0.09	[-0.27; 0.46]
Policy brief (expert) - Source further research on brief topic Policy brief (simple) - will write blog or article		0.09	[-0.27; 0.46]
Policy brief (smple) - will inform someone about brief messages		0.13	[-0.14; 0.40]
Policy brief (expert) - will review policies / practices		0.14	[-0.13; 0.42]
Policy brief (expert) - will review approach to researching intervention		0.15	[-0.13; 0.42]
Policy brief (simple) - will change policies / practice Policy brief (researcher) - will re-read policy brief		0.15	[-0.12; 0.42] [.0.11: 0.44]
Policy brief (researcher) - will change policies / practice		0.17	[-0.10: 0.44]
Policy brief (researcher) - will review approach to researching intervention		0.17	[-0.10; 0.45]
Policy brief (expert) - will re-read policy brief	12-	0.17	[-0.10; 0.45]
Policy brief (simple) - will re-read policy brief Policy brief (expert) - will change, policies / practice		0.18	[-0.09; 0.45] [-0.08: 0.47]
Policy brief (researcher) - Informed someone about brief messages		0.21	[-0.15; 0.56]
Policy brief (researcher) - Wrote a blog or article		0.25	[-0.11; 0.60]
Policy brief (expert) - will inform someone about brief messages Policy brief (expert) Informed someone about brief messages		0.33	[0.05; 0.60]
Policy brief (expert) - morned someone about brief messages		0.34	[0.10: 0.64]
Policy brief (expert) - will write blog or article		0.44	[0.16; 0.71]
Policy brief (expert) - Wrote a blog or article		0.49	[0.12; 0.86]
Heterogeneity: $I^{2} = 39\%, \tau^{2} = 0.0147, p < 0.01$			
Brownson et al. 2011*			
Policy brief (story, local data) - Policy brief likely to be shared		-0.05	[-0.38; 0.27]
Policy brief (story, state data) - Policy brief likely to be shared		-0.05	[-0.36; 0.26]
Policy brief (story, local data) - Policy brief credible	_	0.00	[-0.32; 0.32]
Policy brief (local data) - Policy brief likely to be used		0.00	[-0.32; 0.32]
Policy brief (local data) - Policy brief likely to be shared		0.05	[-0.27; 0.37]
Policy brief (story, local data) - Policy brief likely to be used		0.05	[-0.27; 0.38]
Policy brief (story, state data) - Policy brief credible		0.12	[-0.19; 0.43]
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $\rho = 1.00$			
Fillol et al. 2022*			
Policy brief (African university) - Perceived guality of knowledge		-0.80	[-1.27; -0.34]
Policy brief (IO) - Perceived quality of knowledge		-0.21	[-0.57; 0.15]
Policy brief (African organisation) - Perceived quality of knowledge		-0.08	[-0.54; 0.38]
Policy brief (African IO) - Perceived quality of knowledge		0.07	[-0.40, 0.27] [-0.06 ⁺ 0.98]
Policy brief (African donor) - Perceived quality of knowledge		0.56	[0.07; 1.06]
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 76\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.1461$, $p < 0.01$			
Opivo et al. 2013°			
SR summary-of-findings - accessibility and clarity of information		-0.06	[-0.40; 0.28]
SR Graded-entry - accessibility and clarity of information		0.40	[0.05; 0.74]
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 71\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0744$, $p = 0.06$ Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 38\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0155$, $p < 0.01$			
10000 general. r = 0070, r = 0.0100, p < 0.01	1 -05 0 05 1		

** indicates low risk of bias, * indicates some concerns

8.6.2 Skills to use evidence interventions

Evidence use

Skills interventions had a moderate positive but not statistically significant effect on *evidence use*. The overall weighted average effect from the two included estimates is 0.29 standard deviations (95% CI: -0.12 to 0.70; p= .17) (Appendix Figure 2). There is substantial heterogeneity across included estimates (Q1= 6.30, p= .01, $\hat{\tau}^2 = 0.27$, $I^2 = 84.14$.%). Given the small number of included studies, this result should be interpreted with caution.

Appendix Figure 2. Forest plot showing observed outcomes and estimates of the random-effects model for the effect of skills interventions on evidence use.



Note: A synthetic effect size was created for both included studies.

8.7 Appendix G: Detailed risk of bias assessments

Appendix Table 4: RCT full risk of bias assessment results – bias due to confounding and bias due to departures from intended interventions

	Bias due t	o confounding				Bias due to departures from intended interventions Was the intervention implemented as laid out in the study protocol?								
Study	Eligibility criteria for study entry are specified	There is a clear description of the randomisation process and methods are robust	Unit of randomisation and number of participants is clearly stated (pay special attention to treatment and control locations/ balance)	Characteristics of both baseline and endline sample are provided and at endline the treatment and control group are comparable. Select one of the following:	Overall risk of bias	Critical co- interventions were balanced across intervention and control groups	Treatment switches were low enough to not threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	Implementation failure was minor and unlikely to threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	It is possible that the intervention was taken by the controls (contamination and possible crossing-over)	It is possible that knowledge of group allocation affects how the two study groups are treated during delivery and evaluation of the intervention	Overall risk of bias			
Beynon et al. 2012	Yes	Yes	Yes	No statistically significant differences	Low risk	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Some concerns			
Brownson et al. 2011	Yes	Yes	Yes	No statistically significant differences	Low risk	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Some concerns			
Brownson et al. 2017	Yes	Yes	Yes	Significant descriptive differences	High risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Low risk			

	Bias due to confounding						Bias due to departures from intended interventions Was the intervention implemented as laid out in the study protocol?ICritical co- interventions were balanced across intervention the validity groupsTreatment switches were low enough to not threaten the validity of the estimated effect of theImplementation failure was minor and unlikely to threaten the validity of the estimated effectIt is possible that the intervention allocation affects how the two study groups are treatedIt is possible this possible that the that the two study groups are treatedO o the the controls estimated effect of the interventionIt is possible that the two study groups are treatedO o the the controls the wostudy groups are treated							
Study	Eligibility criteria for study entry are specified	There is a clear description of the randomisation process and methods are robust	Unit of randomisation and number of participants is clearly stated (pay special attention to treatment and control locations/ balance)	Characteristics of both baseline and endline sample are provided and at endline the treatment and control group are comparable. Select one of the following:	Overall risk of bias	Critical co- interventions were balanced across intervention and control groups	Treatment switches were low enough to not threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	Implementation failure was minor and unlikely to threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	It is possible that the intervention was taken by the controls (contamination and possible crossing-over)	It is possible that knowledge of group allocation affects how the two study groups are treated during delivery and evaluation of the intervention	Overall risk of bias			
Crowley et al. 2021a	Yes	No	Yes	No statistically significant differences	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk			
Crowley et al. 2021b	Yes	No	Yes	No statistically significant differences	No statistically significant differences		Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk			
Di Noia et al. 2003	Yes	No	Yes	No statistically significant differences	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk			
Dobbins et al. 2009	Yes	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Low risk			
Fillol et al. 2022	Yes	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Some concerns	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk			

	Bias due to confounding Bias due to departures from intended interventions Was the intervention implemented as laid out in the study protocol?							ol?			
Study	Eligibility criteria for study entry are specified	There is a clear description of the randomisation process and methods are robust	Unit of randomisation and number of participants is clearly stated (pay special attention to treatment and control locations/ balance)	Characteristics of both baseline and endline sample are provided and at endline the treatment and control group are comparable. Select one of the following:	Overall risk of bias	Critical co- interventions were balanced across intervention and control groups	Treatment switches were low enough to not threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	Implementation failure was minor and unlikely to threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	It is possible that the intervention was taken by the controls (contamination and possible crossing-over)	It is possible that knowledge of group allocation affects how the two study groups are treated during delivery and evaluation of the intervention	Overall risk of bias
Hjort et al. 2020	Yes	Yes	Yes	No statistically significant differences	Low risk	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Some concerns
Mehmood et al. 2024	Yes	No	Yes	No statistically significant differences	No statistically significant differences		Yes	Yes	No	No	Some concerns
Nellis et al. 2019	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Some concerns
Opiyo et al. 2013	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk
Rogger & Somani, 2023	Yes	No	Yes	No statistically significant differences	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Some concerns

	Bias due t	o confounding				Bias due to departures from intended interventions Was the intervention implemented as laid out in the study protocol?							
Study	Eligibility criteria for study entry are specified	There is a clear description of the randomisation process and methods are robust	Unit of randomisation and number of participants is clearly stated (pay special attention to treatment and control locations/ balance)	Characteristics of both baseline and endline sample are provided and at endline the treatment and control group are comparable. Select one of the following:	Overall risk of bias	Critical co- interventions were balanced across intervention and control groups	Treatment switches were low enough to not threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	Implementation failure was minor and unlikely to threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	It is possible that the intervention was taken by the controls (contamination and possible crossing-over)	It is possible that knowledge of group allocation affects how the two study groups are treated during delivery and evaluation of the intervention	Overall risk of bias		
Scott et al. 2023	Yes	Yes	Yes	No statistically significant differences	No statistically significant differences		Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Some concerns		
Toma & Bell, 2022	Yes	No	Yes	NA	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk		
Vivalt et al. 2023	Yes	No	Yes	Unclear	Some concerns	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk		

	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr n missing/inco	omplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti ?	icipants	Bias in measurement of outcomes Are measurements appropriate, e.g., clear origin, or validity known?						?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ incomplete data similar across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Beynon et al. 2012	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	High risk	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk

Appendix Table 5: RCT full risk of bias assessment results – bias due to missing/incomplete data and measurement of outcomes
	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr h missing/inco	mplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti l?	icipants	ļ	Are measur	Bias in r ements appro	neasurement of opriate, e.g., cle	f outcomes ar origin, or v	alidity known	?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ incomplete data similar across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Brownso n et al. 2011	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	High risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk
Brownso n et al. 2017	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	High risk	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk

	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr n missing/inco	mplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti ?	icipants	ļ	Are measur	Bias in r ements appro	neasurement of opriate, e.g., cle	f outcomes ar origin, or v	alidity known	?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ incomplete data similar across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Crowley et al. 2021a	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk
Crowley et al. 2021b	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk

	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr า missing/inc	mplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti ?	cipants	ļ	Are measur	Bias in r ements appro	neasurement o opriate, e.g., cle	f outcomes ar origin, or v	alidity known	?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ incomplete data similar across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Di Noia et al. 2003	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Low risk
Dobbins et al. 2009	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Low risk

	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr missing/inco	mplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti ?	icipants	ļ	Are measur	Bias in i rements appro	neasurement o opriate, e.g., cle	f outcomes ar origin, or v	alidity known	?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ incomplete data similar across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Fillol et al. 2022	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	NA	Some concern s
Hjort et al. 2020	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Low risk

	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr n missing/inco	mplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti l?	cipants	ļ	Are measur	Bias in i rements appro	measurement o opriate, e.g., cle	f outcomes ar origin, or v	alidity known	?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ incomplete data similar across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Mehmoo d et al. 2024	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Low risk
Nellis et al. 2019	Yes	NA	NA	NA	Yes	Low risk	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Some concern s

	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr n missing/inco	mplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti l?	icipants	Ļ	Are measur	Bias in r ements appro	neasurement o ppriate, e.g., cle	ł outcomes ar origin, or v	alidity known	?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Opiyo et al. 2013	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk
Rogger & Somani, 2023	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk

	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr n missing/inco	mplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti ?	cipants	Ļ	Are measur	Bias in i ements appro	neasurement of opriate, e.g., clea	f outcomes ar origin, or v	alidity known	?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ incomplete data similar across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Scott et al. 2023	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Low risk
Toma & Bell, 2022	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Some concern s

	Are the in	Bias due to tervention and con with	missing/inco trol groups fr missing/inco	mplete data ee of critical omplete data	(attrition) differences in parti ?	cipants	F	Are measur	Bias in r rements appro	neasurement of opriate, e.g., clea	f outcomes ar origin, or v	alidity known	?
Study	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incompl ete data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstra te similarity between remaining participant s and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of participant s with missing/ incomplete data and reasons for missing/ incomplete data similar across groups?	If level of attrition Is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)	If not possible to control for missing/incompl ete data, are outcomes with missing/incompl ete data excluded from analysis?	Overa II risk of bias	There was an adequat e period for follow up	Outcom e measur e was clearly defined and objectiv e	Outcomes were assessed using standardis ed instrument s and indicators	outcome measuremen ts reflect what the experiment set out to measure	Methods of outcome assessme nt were comparabl e across groups	Were outcome assessors aware of the interventio n received by study participant s?	Overall risk of bias
Vivalt et al. 2023	Yes	NA	NA	NA	NA	Low risk	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Some concern s

Appendix Table 6: RCT full risk of bias assessment results – bias due to selection of results reported and overall assessment

	Bias in selection of r Are the reported out	esults reported comes consistent with th	e proposed outcomes at th	e protocol stage?				Overall risk of bias
Study	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate has been selected for publication due to it being a particularly notable finding among numerous exploratory analyses	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is prone to selective reporting from among multiple outcome measurements within the outcome domain	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is prone to selective reporting from among multiple analyses of the outcome measurements, including sub-group analysis	If sub- group/ancillary/adjusted analyses are presented, are these pre-specified or exploratory?	The analysis includes an intention to treat analysis. (If so, was this appropriate and were appropriate methods used to account for missing data?)	Do the authors report on all variables they aimed to study (as specified in their protocol or study aims/research questions)?	Overall risk of bias	Overall risk of bias
Beynon et al. 2012	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Some concerns
Brownson et al. 2011	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Some concerns
Brownson et al. 2017	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes	Low risk	High risk
Crowley et al. 2021a	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Low risk
Crowley et al. 2021b	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Low risk
Di Noia et al. 2003	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Low risk
Dobbins et al. 2009	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Low risk

	Bias in selection of r Are the reported out	esults reported comes consistent with th	e proposed outcomes at th	e protocol stage?				Overall risk of bias
Study	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate has been selected for publication due to it being a particularly notable finding among numerous exploratory analyses	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is prone to selective reporting from among multiple outcome measurements within the outcome domain	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is prone to selective reporting from among multiple analyses of the outcome measurements, including sub-group analysis	If sub- group/ancillary/adjusted analyses are presented, are these pre-specified or exploratory?	The analysis includes an intention to treat analysis. (If so, was this appropriate and were appropriate methods used to account for missing data?)	Do the authors report on all variables they aimed to study (as specified in their protocol or study aims/research questions)?	Overall risk of bias	Overall risk of bias
Fillol et al. 2022	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	Low risk	Some concerns
Hjort et al. 2020	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Low risk
Mehmood et al. 2024	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Some concerns
Nellis et al. 2019	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Some concerns
Opiyo et al. 2013	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Low risk
Rogger & Somani, 2023	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Some concerns
Scott et al. 2023	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low risk	Low risk

	Bias in selection of r Are the reported out	esults reported comes consistent with th	e proposed outcomes at th	e protocol stage?				Overall risk of bias
Study	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate has been selected for publication due to it being a particularly notable finding among numerous exploratory analyses	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is prone to selective reporting from among multiple outcome measurements within the outcome domain	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is prone to selective reporting from among multiple analyses of the outcome measurements, including sub-group analysis	If sub- group/ancillary/adjusted analyses are presented, are these pre-specified or exploratory?	The analysis includes an intention to treat analysis. (If so, was this appropriate and were appropriate methods used to account for missing data?)	Do the authors report on all variables they aimed to study (as specified in their protocol or study aims/research questions)?	Overall risk of bias	Overall risk of bias
Toma & Bell, 2022	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	Low risk	Low risk
Vivalt et al. 2023	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	NA	Yes	Low risk	Some concerns

Appendix Table 7: QED full risk of bias assessment results – bias due to selection of participants into the study and confounding

	Bias in selection of p Are participants sele	participants intended in a way t	o the study. hat minimizes	selection bias?		Bias due to c Is confoundi	onfounding ng potential	(a) ly controllable i	n the context of	this study?	
Study	There is an adequate description of how and why sample was chosen (i.e., identified/selected/ recruited)	Participants in the control group were sampled from the same population as that of the treatment	Group allocation process minimised potential risk of bias (e.g., using computer algorithms)	Selection of participants into the study (or into the analysis) is based on participant characteristics observed after the start of the intervention	Overall risk of bias	There is potential for confounding of the effect of the intervention in this study.	Where matching was applied, it featured sufficient criteria	Where relevant, the authors conducted an appropriate analysis that controlled for all potential/ remaining critical confounding domains	Authors avoided adjusting for variables identified after the intervention has been administered	The treatment and control group are comparable after matching/controls have been done	Overall risk of bias

								after matching had been applied			
Jacobs et al. 2014	Yes	Yes	No	No	Some concerns	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Significant descriptive differences	High risk
Wilson et al. 2017a	Yes	Yes	No	No	High risk	Yes	NA	No	No	No statistically significant differences	Some concerns
Wilson et al. 2017b	Yes	Yes	No	No	High risk	Yes	NA	No	No	No statistically significant differences	Some concerns

Appendix Table 8: QED full risk of bias assessment results – bias due to departures from intended interventions and missing/incomplete data

	Bias due to departures from intended interventions Was the intervention implemented as laid out in the study protocol?							Bias due to missing/incomplete data (attrition) Are the intervention and control groups free of critical differences in participants with missing/incomplete data?						
Study	Critical co- intervention s were balanced across intervention and control groups	Treatment switches were low enough to not threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the	Implementatio n failure was minor and unlikely to threaten the validity of the estimated effect of the intervention	It is possible that the intervention was taken by the controls (contaminatio n and possible crossing- over)	It is possible that knowledge of group allocation affects how the two study groups are treated during	Overa Il risk of bias	Outcome data are reasonabl y complete (80% or above)	If level of attrition (or other forms of missing/incomple te data) is more than 20%, are reasons for the missing data reported?	If level of attrition is more than 20%, do the authors demonstrate similarity between remaining participants and those lost to attrition and are the proportion of	If level of attrition is more than 20%, were appropriat e statistical methods used to account for	If not possible to control for missing/incomple te data, are outcomes with missing/incomple te data excluded from analysis?	Overall risk of bias		

		interventio n			delivery and evaluation of the interventio n				participants with missing/incomple te data and reasons for missing/incomple te data similar across groups?	missing data? (e.g., sensitivity analysis)		
Jacob s et al. 2014	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Some concern s
Wilso n et al. 2017a	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	High risk
Wilso n et al. 2017b	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Low risk	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	High risk

Appendix Table 9: QED full risk of bias assessment results – bias due to measurement of outcomes and in selection of results reported

	Bias in measurement of outcomes Are measurements appropriate, e.g., clear origin, or validity known?						Bias in selection of results reported Are the reported outcomes consistent with the proposed outcomes at the protocol stage?								
Stud y	There was an adequ ate period for	Outco me measu re (e.g., incom	Outcome s were assessed using standardi sed	Outcome measurem ents reflect what the experiment	Methods of outcome assessm ent were compara	Were outcome assessor s aware of the interventi	Overal I risk of bias	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimat	It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is	iii) it is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is	If sub- group/ancillary/adj usted analyses are presented, are these pre-	Analys is includ es an intenti on to	The authors report on all variables they	Over all risk of bias	Over all Risk of Bias

	follow up	e) was clearly define d and objecti ve	instrumen ts and indicators	set out to measure	ble across groups	on received by study participan ts?		e has been selected for publicati on due to it being a particul arly notable finding	prone to selective reporting from among multiple outcome measurem ents within the outcome domain	prone to selective reporting from among multiple analyses of the outcome measureme nts, including sub-group analysis	specified or exploratory?	treat analys is.	aimed to study (as specified in their protocol or study aims/rese arch questions)		
Jaco bs et al. 2014	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Some concer ns	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Uncle ar	Yes	Low risk	High risk
Wilso n et al. 2017 a	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes	Low risk	High risk
Wilso n et al. 2017 b	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Low risk	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes	Low risk	High risk

8.8 Appendix H: R output

8.8.1 Appendix H.1: R-output from Interaction/Skills/Structure/Access on MotivationRandom-Effects Model (k = 2; tau² estimator: DL)

tau^2 (estimated amount of total heterogeneity): 0.0097 (SE = 0.0789)
tau (square root of estimated tau^2 value): 0.0986
I^2 (total heterogeneity / total variability): 17.42%
H^2 (total variability / sampling variability): 1.21

Test for Heterogeneity:

Q(df = 1) = 1.2110, p-val = 0.2711

Model Results:

estimate	se	zval	pval	ci.lb	ci.ub
-0.0925	0.1664	-0.5560	0.5782	-0.4185	0.2336

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

8.8.2 Appendix H.2: R outputs meta-analysis

R-output from Access on Capability

Random-Effects Model (k = 2; tau² estimator: DL)

tau² (estimated amount of total heterogeneity): 0 (SE = 0.0153)

tau (square root of estimated tau^2 value): 0

I^2 (total heterogeneity / total variability): 0.00%

H^2 (total variability / sampling variability): 1.00

Test for Heterogeneity:

Q(df = 1) = 0.0008, p-val = 0.9780

Model Results:

estimate se zval pval ci.lb ci.ub 0.1042 0.0490 2.1270 0.0334 0.0082 0.2002 *

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

R-output from Skill on Evidence Use

Random-Effects Model (k = 2; tau² estimator: DL)

tau² (estimated amount of total heterogeneity): 0.0750 (SE = 0.1261)

tau (square root of estimated tau^2 value): 0.2739

I^2 (total heterogeneity / total variability): 84.14%

H^2 (total variability / sampling variability): 6.30

Test for Heterogeneity:

Q(df = 1) = 6.3040, p-val = 0.0120

Model Results:

estimate se zval pval ci.lb ci.ub

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

R-output from Skill on Capability

Random-Effects Model (k = 3; tau² estimator: DL)

tau^2 (estimated amount of total heterogeneity): 0 (SE = 0.0127)
tau (square root of estimated tau^2 value): 0
I^2 (total heterogeneity / total variability): 0.00%
H^2 (total variability / sampling variability): 1.00

Test for Heterogeneity:

Q(df = 2) = 0.0002, p-val = 0.9999

Model Results:

estimate se zval pval ci.lb ci.ub 0.3349 0.0617 5.4256 <.0001 0.2140 0.4559 *** ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

R-output from Skill on Motivation

Random-Effects Model (k = 3; tau² estimator: DL)

tau² (estimated amount of total heterogeneity): 0.3934 (SE = 0.4254)

tau (square root of estimated tau^2 value): 0.6272

I^2 (total heterogeneity / total variability): 96.80%

263

H^2 (total variability / sampling variability): 31.26

Test for Heterogeneity:

Q(df = 2) = 62.5107, p-val < .0001

Model Results:

estimate se zval pval ci.lb ci.ub 0.3576 0.3687 0.9699 0.3321 -0.3651 1.0802

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1